THE USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA IN SUPPLY CHAIN BY SME'S

BY Esere Ovie

Submitted in accordance with the requirement for a degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Leeds University Leeds University Business School Management division

Dec 2018

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is his/her own and that appropriate credit has been given where reference has been made to the work of others.

This copy has been supplied with the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

Acknowledgement

Many thanks to my supervisor, Dr Nicky Shaw without whose knowledge, friendship and mentorship, the thesis would not have been successful. Similarly, thank you to Dr Alistair Norman and Dr Thomas F. Burgess for their expertise and invaluable contribution to this thesis. This thesis involved several people performing different roles from those who provided advice, information, contacts, data, opinions, and suggestions all these names are too numerous to list; however, their help and kind advice is highly appreciated. In collecting data, the numerous business firms, business executive, scholars and friends in the UK and Nigeria offered valuable assistance. The number of participants and contacts who gave data, information, opinions are too many to list individually. Nevertheless, their assistance was highly appreciated. Finally, thanks to all those whom I dragged into this undertaking and put up with the consequences, my dear family. To Ken, I say a big thank you. To Alan, you come into my life and to a large extent, your happiness helped in many ways to have this thesis completed.

Abstract

Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) play a crucial role in the UK and Nigerian economy and contribute significantly to revenue, employment, and competition. However, increased competition has created a tougher environment for SMEs, with an increased environmental uncertainty, cyber-security issues and a rise in the number of suppliers (local and global). For improved competitive advantage, SMEs are increasingly looking to collaborative relationships with and between their supply chains to provide a source of competitive advantage. The idea of having collaborative relationships between buyers and suppliers and within suppliers represents a profound departure from conventional practice. Managing relationships in supply chains can be supported by technology tools that facilitate better interaction and sharing of information with other members -social media is one of such tools. Its fast speed can help promote social interactions and support information sharing. Nevertheless, the use of social media from a marketing context has been well studied while little is known about social media use in supply chains. Given this view, this study aims to explore the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs it addresses how does social media use by SMEs affect relationships with and between supply chain members.

The TAM 2, together with the relational view of the firm, formed the basis for the theoretical framework of the study. This study utilized the case study strategy. An exploratory qualitative study was conducted using six multiple cases based locally in the UK and Nigeria to arrive at the findings. This study focused on relationship triads -three, case comprised of one company and two suppliers with at least one SME in each supply chain triad. The focus was on firms with a minimum of one SME in each supply chain triad. Specifically, a total of 18 semi-structured interviews (9 in each country) were used in the analysis of participating firms from the manufacturing (food), high technology (IT) and low technology (fashion) sector for comparative purposes. The data were subsequently analyzed through thematic coding using template analysis. The research makes the following findings. First, Facebook emerged to be the most widely used form of social media in SMEs triads. Followed by Twitter, LinkedIn was viewed as the least social and interactive tool by SMEs. Secondly, the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs was found to be a relatively new concept. This is a result of the findings which showed that the collective use of social media in supply chains were only fully utilised in the SME triad of the creative sector. The collective use of social media in the supply chain of low tech triads were not found, and interestingly, the high-tech sector did not use public social media in their SME triad as well. Third, there were no significant differences between SME buyers and suppliers use of social media. However, it was found that there were degrees of influence (either directly or indirectly) and power exerted by the key or influential buyer or supplier on the other member of the supply chain to use social media. Fourth, SMEs differed from larger businesses in terms of lack of dedicated staff and the cost restraints) resources (e.g. and formalised/informalized structures. Fifth, trust and transactional exchange were the foundational elements for social media use in supply chain by SMEs; the drivers include: perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness social influences and the external environment while, the facilitators/constraints to social media use includes: innovativeness, power and control, internet infrastructure, resources, security concerns nature of relationships and industry. Sixth, the use of social media in this study influenced the buyer-supplier and supplier-supplier relationships positively by improving interactions and facilitating better collaborative relationships through information sharing, provided the foundational elements trust and transactional exchanges are present. We conclude that the use of social media cannot be overstated, however, in terms of SMEs it was found that the nature of relationships with, and between supply chain members influenced the use of social media. Practical recommendations were made discussed based on the findings of this study. Finally, the limitations of the current study were presented, and directions for future research were proposed.

Keywords: Supply chain management, social media, collaboration, information sharing, relationship management, SMEs, business-to-business relationships, triads, buyer-supplier relationships, supplier-supplier relationship.

Acknowledgementii				
Abst	ract			iii
Table	e of	Conte	ents	v
List	of T	ables		х
List	of F	igures	5	.xii
List	of A	bbrev	iations	xiii
Chap	oter	1 INT	RODUCTION	.14
1.	.1	Introd	luction	.14
1.	.2	Resea	arch background	.14
1.	.3	Gaps	in literature	.16
1.	.4	Resea	arch question	.20
	1.	4.1	The justification for SMEs	.20
	1.	4.2	The justification for triads	.22
	1.	4.3	The justification for the three business sectors	.23
1.	.5	Resea	arch aim	.25
1.	.6	Contr	ibution from the study	.27
	1.	6.1	Contribution to theory	.27
	1.	6.2	Contribution to practice	.29
	1.	6.3	Contribution to policy	.29
1.	.7	Autho	or motivations	.29
	1.	7.1	The justification for Nigeria and the UK	.29
1.	.8	Resea	arch limitation	.31
	1.	8.1	Limited data on Nigerian SMEs	.31
	1.	8.2	Evolving usefulness of social media	.31
1.	.9	Resea	arch methodology and method	.32
1.	.10	Thesi	s structure	.32
1.	.11	Chap	ter summary	.33
Chap	oter	2 LITI	ERATURE REVIEW	.34
2.	.1	Introd	luction	.34
	2.	1.1	The justification for the structure	.34
2.	.2	Back	ground of social media	.34
2	.3	Defini	ing social media (SM)	.35
	2.	3.1	Classification of social media	.38
	2.	3.2	Types of social media	.40

Table of Contents

	2	.3.3	Social media management	.43
	2	.3.4	Benefits and challenges of social media	.44
	2.4	Defin	ing Supply chain	.46
	2	.4.1	Supply Chain Management	.52
	2	.4.2	Benefits and challenges of SCM	.56
	2.5	Defin	ing Relationships	.58
	2	.5.1	Relationship management	.59
	2	.5.2	Benefits and challenges of relationship management	.61
	2.6	Small	and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs)	.64
	2	.6.1	SMEs as source of competitive advantage	.64
	2	.6.2	SMEs as relationship drivers	.65
	2.7	Them conte	nes surrounding the use of social media in supply chain from SM xt	1Es .65
	2	.7.1	Supply chain relationships	.65
	2	.7.2	Exchanges/ Transactions	.76
	2	.7.3	Competition and competitive advantage	.77
	2	.7.4	Social media use	.82
	2	.7.5	Business environment	.89
	2.8	Them	es outline	.93
	2.9	Chap	ter summary	.95
Ch	apter	r 3 : RE	ESEARCH METHODOLOGY	.97
	3.1	Introd	luction	.97
	3.2	The tl	heory of choice	.97
	3	5.2.1	Technology Acceptance Model 2	100
	3	.2.2	The Relational view of the firm	108
	3.3	The o	ontological and epistemological considerations	110
	3	5.3.1	The philosophical assumptions of the study- social constructivis interpretivism	sm/ 112
	3.4	Rese	arch approach	114
	3	.4.1	The rationale for the qualitative research	115
	3	.4.2	Research designs	116
	3	.4.3	The rationale for the cross-sectional design	117
	3.5	Natur	e of research	117
	3	5.1	The rationale for an exploratory approach	118
	3.6	Rese	arch context	119
	3.7	Rese	arch strategy	123

	3.7.1 The rationale for case study strategy		The rationale for case study strategy	125
	3.8 Ethical considera		al considerations	125
	3.8.1		Access	125
	3	8.8.2	Anonymity	126
	3.9	Analy	/sis techniques	126
	3	8.9.1	Template analysis	126
	3.10	Critic	ism of qualitative case research	127
	3.11	Chap	oter summary	129
Cł	napte	r 4 : D	ATA ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS	130
	4.1	Introd	duction	130
	4.2	Profil	e of cases	130
	4	.2.1	Case study A	130
	4	.2.2	Case study B	130
	4	.2.3	Case study C	131
	4	.2.4	Case study D	131
	4	.2.5	Case study E	131
	4	.2.6	Case study F	131
	4.3 Approach to the data co		oach to the data collection	131
	4.4	Profil	e of interview participants and study sample	136
	4	.4.1	SMEs definition	136
	4	.4.2	Triadic relationships in supply chains	136
	4	.4.3	Sector/ Industry	137
	4	.4.4	Targeted cases	138
	4	.4.5	Geographical location/country	138
	4	.4.6	Business experience	139
	4	4.7	Management level of participants	139
	4.5	Data	analysis	142
	4.6	Final	template	145
	4.7	Findi	ngs	146
	4	.7.1	Supply chain relationships	146
	4	.7.2	Transactional exchanges	148
	4	.7.3	Competitive advantage	156
	4	.7.4	Social media use	159
	4	.7.5	Environment	162
	4	.7.6	SME attributions	164
	4.8	Chap	oter summary	167

Ch	Chapter 5 DISCUSSIONS168					
	5.1	Int	Introduction			
	5.2 Findings on the use o		ndings on the use of social media	168		
	5.2.1 The foundational b		The foundational building block for the use of social media	170		
	5.3	Dr	ivers for social media use in supply chain by SMEs	172		
		5.3.1	Perceived usefulness	173		
		5.3.2	2 Perceived ease of use	175		
		5.3.3	3 Social influence	176		
		5.3.4	1 The business environment	177		
	5.4	Fa 1	acilitators / constraints to the use of social media in supply chain by 77	/ SMEs		
		5.4.1	Nature of relationships	178		
		5.4.2	2 Internet infrastructure	178		
		5.4.3	3 Security issues	179		
		5.4.4	Power and control	179		
5.4.5 Innovativeness			5 Innovativeness	181		
		5.4.6	8 Resources	183		
		5.4.7	7 Nature of industry	184		
	5.5	Fir wi	ndings on how does social media use by SMEs affect the relation the and between supply chain members	onships 186		
		5.5.1	I The interactive context	186		
		5.5.2	2 The relational context	188		
	5.6	Di	scussion of findings	190		
	5.7	Cł	napter summary	192		
Ch	apte	er 6 (CONCLUSIONS	193		
	6.1	Int	troduction	193		
	6.2	O١	verview of thesis	193		
	6.3	Sı	ummary of key findings	195		
	6.4	Re	esearch contributions	196		
		6.4.1	Contributions to theory	196		
		6.4.2	2 Contribution to practice	199		
		6.4.3	3 Contribution to policy	204		
	6.5	Re	esearch limitation	206		
	6.6	Fu	uture research direction	207		
	6.7	Cł	napter summary	208		

References	209
APPENDICES	280
Appendix A 4.1: Interview questions for buyers	
Appendix A 4.2: Interview questions for suppliers	
Appendix A 4.3: Cover/Request letter	
Appendix A 4.4: Research information sheet	
Appendix A 4.5: Consent forms	
Appendix A 4.6: Additional Information	
Appendix A 4.7 Evolving templates	

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Number of hits on "Web of Science" using keywords search
Table 1.2 Number of hits on "Web of Science" using keywords search in 2018 16
Table 1.3 Number of hits and Search Strategy17
Table 1.4 Number of hits on ABI using keywords search
Table 1.5 The limited papers discussing social media from a supply chain context 19
Table 1.6 Differences in technology infrastructure and country ratios
Table 1.7 Updates on technology infrastructure and country ratios
Table 1.8 The Thesis Outline
Table 2.1 Differences in social media definitions 37
Table 2.2: Classification of social media 40
Table 2.3 Differences in supply chain management (SCM) definitions51
Table 2.4 The evolving themes in supply chain management construct
Table 2.5 Different trust definitions 67
Table 2.6: Concepts of trust
Table 2.7: Share of internet traffic via devices 83
Table 2.8 Relevant data for technology infrastructure and country ratios
Table 2.9 Initial themes undergirding the use of social media in supply chains
Table 3.1 Studies using TAM in supply chain management articles 99
Table 3.2 Differences between qualitative and quantitative research
Table 3.3 Differences between primary and secondary sources
Table 3.4 Difference between cross-sectional and longitudinal research design 117
Table 3.5 Difference between descriptive, explanatory and exploratory research 118
Table 3.6 A priori template
Table 3.7 Difference between experiment, surveys and case study strategy 124
Table 4.1 Triadic relationships 137
Table 4.2: ndustries interviewed
Table 4.3 Main targeted Businesses 138
Table 4.4: Total number of years in business
Table 4.5 Positions of Participants 140
Table 4.6 Years of managerial experience and description of Nigerian research
participants141
Table 4.7 Recap of Initial Themes 144
Table 4.8 Final template on the use of social media by SMEs145
Table 4.9 Additional details of the transactional relationship triad A
Table 4.10 Additional details of the collaborative relationship triad C 153
Table 4.11: The use of social media in SME triads Error! Bookmark not defined.

Table 4.12 Summary	of dvadic relationships in triads	164
		101

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 A triadic relationship between three parties in a supply chain relationship.	23
Figure 1.2 The honeycomb of social media	26
Figure 2.1 The conversation prism	39
Figure 2.2 Classification of supply chains based on channel relationship	47
Figure 2.3 Classification of supply chains	48
Figure 2.4: A model of trust development	69
Figure 2.5: Categories of innovativeness	81
Figure 2.6: Supply chain selection decision flow	93
Figure 3.1 Technology Acceptance Model (TAM 1) 1	00
Figure 3.2 Technology Acceptance Model (TAM2) 1	02
Figure 4.1: showing a generic example of WhatsApp1	60
Figure 5.1 The use of social media in supply chains by SMEs 1	69
Figure 6.1 An example of a social media decision tree showing the probability of	
various events occurring2	203
Figure 6.2: The use of social media in supply chain by SMEs	208

List of Abbreviations

- B2B Business-to-Business
- B2C Business-to-Consumer
- SCM Supply Chain Management
- RM Relationship Management
- SM Social Media
- SME Small and Medium Size Enterprises
- PEOU Perceived Ease of Use
- PU Perceived Usefulness
- TCE Transactional Cost Economies
- IS Information Systems
- IT Information Technology
- ERP Enterprise Resource Planning
- GDP Gross Domestic Product
- GVA Gross Value Added
- GSCOP Grocery Supply Code of Practice
- OM Operations Management

Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

This chapter provides a brief overview of the topic of study. Following this introductory section, the chapter is organized as follows: sections1.2 and 1.3 discuss the research background and the gaps in the literature that spur this study as well as the research question. Sections 1.4 and 1.5 presents the research question and aim of the study. Sections 1.6, examines the expected contributions at the theoretical, practical and policy level. Section 1.7 and 1.8 discuss the motivations and limitations of the study. Sections 1.9 and 1.10 presents the research method and thesis format. The chapter concludes with a summary.

1.2 Research background

The increase in internet use and e-commerce activities has led to the current popularity of social media (Al-qirim, 2008; KPMG, 2011a). According to HBR (2010), there has been an increase in the use of social media (SM) by businesses. However, SME's use of SM has been less than its use by large organizations (HBR 2010: FT, 2012a: Gartner, 2011a &b, 2012). Probably, because of this, there is sparse research on SM in SME's. Although SM use by large organizations has been on the increase, research on the subject has been mainly in the context of marketing (see Mangold and Faulds, 2009; Kaplan and Haenlien 2010; Teece, 2010; Weinberg and Pehlivan, 2011; Evans, 2012; Anderson 2010). A glaring gap exists in the study of SM (and other new frontier technologies) in the context of supply chains (see section 1.3).

SMEs have been continuously identified as being vital for the economic sustenance of countries in which they operate (Ayyagariet al, 2003: Abor and Quartey, 2010). In many countries, they provide for a large percentage of employment figures (BIS 2012), sometimes outstripping employment provided directly by governments and large organizations (Abor and Quartey, 2010). They have also been identified as capable of being innovative and are seen as having the potential for growth, competitiveness, and development (European Commission. 2011: Khalifa and Davison (2006). Examples of businesses that were once considered as small but are now FTSE 100 companies are Microsoft and Facebook. Considering the importance of SMEs, research in SCM has

focused mainly on large organizations and little remains known of SMEs in SCM (see sections 1.3).

Despite the globalization of supply chains, there are significant technological differences between countries and regions. Some nations have better-developed internet infrastructure than others. For example, Africa is a region grappling with IT infrastructural challenges (ITU 2012 & 2013). Challenges include insufficient fixed telephone lines, scarcity of broadband connections and the high cost of broadband connectivity (ITU, 2012). With limited fixed broadband connectivity, users in Africa have leapfrogged over fixed internet connectivity to mobile internet connectivity via their mobile devices such as smartphones. Consequently, there has been an increase in popularity of social media via mobile phone internet use. Social media like Facebook, Twitter and YouTube, are amongst the most visited social media sites across African countries. Such challenges translate to Africa having the highest growth rate for mobile internet use (African Renewal, 2010). Nigeria specifically is an excellent example of such countries.

A 2010 United Nations article on social media in Africa had estimated that one in ten people would become internet users in 2010 (Africa renewal, 2010 p3). This shows a growth trend from an estimated 1 in 5,000 in the year 1998 (Lown et al., 1998). There has been a further growth. According to Internet World Stats (2017), of the 1,246,504,865-people living in Africa in 2017, 335,453,374 have access to the internet. This is a penetration rate of 26.9% accounting for 9.1% of the world's total Internet usage. Such growth has aroused the interest of IT businesses such as Blackberry and Facebook. Indeed, Facebook now offers a Nigerian local language version -Hausa. The use of social media in Nigeria has generally been on the increase solely with the use of mobile internet. On the other hand, the use of SM in the UK has been on the increase via fixed (broadband) and mobile internet connections (ITU, 2012). Such disparity in the use of the IT and its infrastructure lends itself to a comparative study. By doing this, it also provides an opportunity to benchmark the use of SM in Supply chains by SMEs within the two countries. Additionally, a comparative study allows for exploring themes and patterns across multiple cases. This should help provide rich contextual information on the areas of interest. Another motivation for the country choices is because the researcher is from Nigeria, and studying in the UK. This study aims to fill gaps that have been highlighted in this chapter -gaps in knowledge about the use of social media in supply chains by SME's.

1.3 Gaps in literature

There is limited research addressing the use of social media and supply chain management. Evidence of this is shown in the table below show that there is a plethora of research conducted on social media from a marketing context. However, little research has been done on social media use from an SCM context as the start of this study. In August 2013, the researcher carried out an electronic search using the web of science database (which is provided by University of Leeds). The search was limited to scholarly journals, full text, and search in the abstract. The key words (or phrases) inputted were: "Social Media" OR "Web 2.0" AND "Business Relationships" OR "Relationship Management" AND "Supply Chain Management" OR "Supply Chain." The search was updated in March 2016 as (social media tends to be fast paced) with the result shown in Table 1.1.

Key Words (using search to find in "Topic."	Number of Hits
"Social Media" and "Marketing"	479
"Social Media" AND "Supply Chain"	13
"Social Media" AND "Relationships" AND "Marketing"	35
"Social Media" AND "Relationships" AND "Supply Chain"	3
Source: Author	•

Table 1.1 Number of hits on "Web of Science" using keywords search

The same search was updated in January 2018 with the result shown in Table 1.2 below.

Table 1.2 Number of hits on "Web of Science"	" using keywords search in 2018
--	---------------------------------

Key Words (using search to find in "Topic."	Number of Hits
"Social Media" and "Marketing"	869
"Social Media" AND "Supply Chain"	30
"Social Media" AND "Relationships" AND "Marketing"	104
"Social Media" AND "Relationships" AND "Supply Chain"	3

Source: Author

Furthermore, it is worth noting that prior studies on technology use in supply chains have primarily focused on the use of traditional ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning) application systems (Forslund, 2010: Forslund and Jonsson 2010: Li, 2012: Clegg and Wan, 2013), leaving a gap in the understanding of new technologies like social media in supply chains.

A literature search for empirical studies in the existing literature was carried out to explore extant research on the use of social media in supply chains. In August 2013, the researcher carried out an electronic search using six top academic business and management journal databases (which is provided by University of Leeds) were employed Web of science, ProQuest ABI/Inform, Business Source Premier, Science Direct, Google scholar and Springer (see Table 1.3). The search was loosened to full text and topic. The keywords (phrases) inputted were: "Social Media" AND "Relationships" AND "Supply Chain" (see Table 1.4). The search was updated in March 2016 with the result shown in Table 1.3.

Name of database	The Initial list	Preliminary	Abstract	Full document	Retained
	of papers	screening of	Screening	Screening	for data
		titles			extraction
Web of Science	30	6	3	3	3
ProQuest ABI	4	2	1	1	1
Business Source Premier	2	2	1	1	1
Science Direct	1	0	0	0	0
Google Scholar	495	12	10	10	10
Springer	17	6	3	3	3
Total	549	28	17	17	17

Source: Author

The search was limited to scholarly journals, full text, and search in the abstract. There were few articles at the time that used the term social media, so the search was loosened to accommodate similar words/meanings such as "Web 2.0". The key words

(or phrases) inputted were: "Social Media" OR "Web 2.0" AND "Business Relationships" OR "Relationship Management" AND "Supply Chain Management" OR "Supply Chain." The search was updated in March 2016 with the result shown in Table 1.4. A drill down using the syntax mentioned showed four articles, three of which explored ideas related to the concepts that this research seeks to study (see table 1.4 for details). Upon further probing of these four (4) articles, only one (1) article thoroughly explored the concepts (see table 1.5) anywhere related to the concept that the research seeks to study and overlapped with ABI search.

Table 1.4 Number of hits on ABI using keywords search

Key Words (limited to "Full Text," "Scholarly Journals" and find in "Abstract."	Number of hits
"Social Media" OR "Web 2.0" AND "Marketing"	194
"Social Media" OR "Web 2.0" AND "Supply Chain Management" OR "Supply Chain"	39
"Social Media" OR "Web 2.0" AND "Business Relationships" OR "Relationship Management" AND "Marketing"	15
"Social Media" OR "Web 2.0" AND "Business Relationships" OR "Relationship Management" AND "Supply Chain Management" OR "Supply Chain"	4

Source: Author

Authors and year	Title	Journals	Focus of study
Markova and Petkovska- Mircevska, (2013).	Social Media and Supply Chain.	Amfiteatru Economic	The authors seek to explore social media in supply chains from a transactional/ commercial viewpoint. They also highlight social profiles, social applications, brand outposts and communities, and the social ecosystem.
Li, A. (2011).	Social media & supply chain management: Don't copy, be inspired.	Supply & Demand Chain Executive	This is a one-page report on how "corporate social media" tool might work in supply chains. The author highlights that SM has the potential to solve latency challenges in supply chains by using SM "tag" function to can keep information on a "need to know" basis.
Kosk, N. (2012).	Social media drives B2B collaborative efforts in the supply chain.	SDCExec. Com (Trade Journal)	The author advocates that SM can drive B2B collaborative efforts in the Supply Chain.
Mcentire, C. (2012).	Effective social media in supply chain: The search is on.	SDCExec. Com	This report advocates that for social adoption in the B2B supply chain to expand, capability factors must be considered.
Gonzalez, A. (2013).	The social side of supply chain management.	Supply Chain Manageme nt Review	The author advocates that SM has the potential to facilitate people-to-people communication and collaboration. However, many supply chain executives are more receptive in terms of exploring social networks opportunities to manage their supply chain processes than in communication and collaboration.

Table 1.5 The limited papers discussing social media from a supply chain context

Source: Author

A second deficiency of the extant literature is that many SCM studies have focused on the buyer aspect of relationships, paying less attention to the supplier aspect of the relationship. Such continued focus is probably due to the power exerted by the buyer in the buyer-seller view of relationships underpinning Transaction Cost Economics (opportunities for cost reduction) (Williamson, 1985). However, a number of critics argue that supply chain relationships need to move beyond the transactional cost approach to a more collaborative (relational) approach (Wu and Choi, 2005 & 2009; Dubois and Fredriksson, 2008; Rossetti and Choi, 2005 & 2008).

Research to date on Supply Chain Relationships tend to focus on buyer-supplier relationships leaving out relationships amongst suppliers (see Sanfiel-Fumero et al., 2012: Rossetti, 2006: Kim, 2012: Ambrose, et al., 2010). Buyer-supplier and supplier-supplier relationships can help to achieve economies scale, reduce transaction costs and provide support for technology (Bai et al., 2009). In particular, buyer-supplier

relationships are equally as crucial as supplier-supplier relationships; they can help to integrate the suppliers and the supply chain, primarily as the suppliers, often seem removed from the market (Cetrángolo et al., 2002: Bai et al., 2009: Huang et al., 2014). The study focuses on supply chain relationships between buyers and suppliers as well as across suppliers.

Additionally, the third deficiency of the extant literature is that much of prior research on the broader SCM literature has focused on larger firms. A number of studies focus on the manufacturing industry with automotive firms such as Toyota and Nissan (Jarillo and Stevenson 1991). Lamming et al. (2000) pointed out that one limitation is that research is usually focused on the manufacturing industry and few mass services enterprises. However, this limits the understanding and insight of the theoretical concept, especially in SMEs, not- for- profit and public sectors. Accordingly, the motivation of this study is to address the aforementioned critical gaps in the B2B relationships and social media in SCM literature, this means addressing the dearth of suppliers, SMEs and lastly social media gap in SCM literature.

1.4 Research question

Having identified the significant research gaps in SCM literature above, this study aims to build on the SCM scholarship in general and the information management studies in particular, by providing the fundamental research question: "*How does the use of social media by SMEs affect relationships with and between supply chain members?*"

1.4.1 The justification for SMEs

SMEs were chosen for these reasons: 1). Extant research showed that majority of Supply Chain Management (SCM) literature focused on large firms leaving little room for SMEs. 2). SMEs are significant contributors to the Nigerian and UK economy, competitiveness, innovation and employment. SMEs play a crucial part in the nations' economic growth (Kauffmann, 2005). Specifically, SMEs account for 87.9% of private employment and can be considered as sustainable mediums to reduce the country's long reliance on oil (Kadiri, 2012; Onakoya & Somoye, 2013; Eniola and Ektebang, 2014). Given that SMEs are critical for economic growth, drivers of innovation, an opportunity for flexibility and sources of competition (see section 2.5), it is essential to fully explore the research topic on SMEs and better understand the impact on their supply chains. The UK and Nigerian government have provided support programmes

and policies to improve the SME sector. However, these policies and programmes are often questionable and may not offer practical solutions to SMEs who are prone to high failure rates and/or operate in competitive environments.

According to Tadesse (2009), SMEs in developing economies often contribute less than 20% to Gross Domestic Product (GDP) even though they have the potential to achieve up to 60% in high-income countries. There are many challenges that constraint SME growth in Nigeria, hindrances such as poor infrastructure, high energy cost, uncertain financial and political times (FT, 2017). One major challenge Nigerian SMEs face is the poor intranet infrastructure needed to grow and compete. The lack of adequate infrastructure places SMEs in a vulnerable position to ward-off international and online competitors both short and long-term. For SMEs to come out strong, they would need to adapt to the ever-changing business environment and successfully compete by building and maintaining collaborative B2B relationships with members of their supply chain.

Various countries have varying definitions of SMEs. There are three many criteria used in defining SMEs. For example, in the United States, SMEs are defined as firms with fewer than 500 employees (The US Small Business Administration, 2016). In the European Union, SMEs refer to companies with fewer than 250 employees. In Nigeria, SMEs refers to firms with less than 300 employees (CBN, 2010). In the UK, a statistical release from the BIS department in Oct 2016: p14 titled "Business population estimates for the UK and regions 2016" define SMEs as businesses with 0-249 employees. Specifically, firms with fewer than 49 workers are known as small businesses, companies with 50-249 employees are classified as medium-sized business and firms with 250 or more employees are considered large business in the UK (BIS, 2016). It is worth mentioning that there are other criteria used in defining SMEs aside from employee numbers. They include turnover and total assets of the firm. The Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS, 2016) estimates SMEs represent 99.9% of all employer firms, employing about 60% of the total private payroll in the UK. In total, SMEs account for about 47% of the UK GDP, almost 10% of manufacturing employment and 5% of ICT employment. Given these benefits and opportunities for social, economic and competitive development in a nation, SMEs still face high failure rates (BIS, 2016). SMEs, therefore, play an essential role in a nation's economic growth as they act as a source of competition, employment, drivers of innovation, an opportunity for flexibility. To this end, exploring the use of social media from an SME context is reasonably justified. The study adopts the BIS definition of SME, narrowing down the number of employees 10-249 and excludes micro firms. The decision to exclude micro firms was

mainly due to a dearth of information and limited research that exists on micro firms in academic databases. Although, there are limited studies on SMEs, there are even fewer studies on micro firms in SCM literature. Hence, micro firms may not provide a better understanding and insight into the phenomenon under study.

1.4.2 The justification for triads

This study takes a triadic perspective for these reasons: 1). Scholars have argued that triads, not dyads are the least foundational building block of networks and should be used as a unit of analysis. 2). Dyads have received much attention in SCM literature to the neglect of triads. 3). To provide a better understanding of the influences (direct and indirect) and different perspectives on triadic relationships, thereby providing a holistic and balanced view.

Extant SCM and Operations Management (hereafter OM) literature has focused mainly on dyadic relationships (e.g., buyer-supplier) paying little attention to relationships between suppliers (supplier-supplier dyad) also known as horizontal supply chain relationships (Anderson, et al.,1994: Anderson, et al.,2000: Wilhelm, 2011, van der Valk & van Iwaarden, 2011, Huang et al., 2016;). Studies by Wu and Choi, 2005, Choi and Wu, 2009 and Wu et al., 2010 reveal a growing trend of suppliers competing and collaborating (coopetition).

According to Choi and Wu (2009a), triads are the fundamental building blocks and the smallest unit of supply chain networks rather than dyads. They further argue that although most supply chain relationships start off as a dyad and remain the most common unit of measurement networks in SCM research, "dyads do not capture the essence of a network" (p 8). Simmel (1950) provides a summary by arguing that indeed triads are the simplest forms of relationship with dyadic linkages. Similarly, Nooteboom, (2006) adds that a triad consists of three embedded dyadic relationships between three businesses. As such, the triads in this study consist of three dyads (one buyer-supplier and two supplier-supplier relationships) and each triad consist of a firm and two suppliers or a buyer and two suppliers as shown in the figure below.



Figure 1.1 A triadic relationship between three parties in a supply chain relationship.

Source: Choi and Wu (2009a p264)

Figure 1.1 shows a triad formed by three organizations X, Y, Z with direct relationships with each other. Firm X may influence the relationship between Y and Z and vice versa, in another word each firm X, Y, Z can affect the indirect relationship in a triad (Choi and Wu, 2009a &b: Wu et al., 2010). Each triad comprised of three embedded dyadic relationships between firms X, Y, Z - two buyer-supplier relationships and one supplier-supplier relationship. Triadic structures by its three-dimensional nature differ from the dyadic structure that is linear, vertical and two-dimensional.

1.4.3 The justification for the three business sectors

The rationale for selecting three sectors: low-tech (food manufacturing), high-tech (IT), and creative (fashion) industries are to provide a comparative and diverse basis to explore the nature of the industry on social media use or non-use.

1.4.3.1 The high-tech (IT) Industry

The high (digital) technology industry comprises of a variety of businesses involved in cloud computing; data centres; cybersecurity; IT infrastructure; software development; mobile devices; research networks, digital and IT support. The fast pace and dynamic growth of the high (digital) technology industry have been a significant contributor to the UK economy. Collectively, the UK's digital (high) tech sector is estimated at £170bn (Tech Nation Report, 2017) in 2015 which saw a 28% growth. However, the ongoing Brexit negotiation may provide opportunities for UK competitors and uncertain times for

UK business in this sector. Other challenges facing businesses that operate in this sector include a skills shortage and intense competition. On the other hand, many argue that the industry by its nature is ever changing and so businesses must be agile to remain competitive. Unfortunately, there is no known statistic available for Nigeria. Given, the fast pace of the industry, the high-tech industry and specifically IT, was chosen to provide this study with a comparative basis and diversity regarding social media use.

1.4.3.2 The low-tech (food and drinks manufacturing) industry

The food and drinks manufacturing industry in the UK remains one of the most significant manufacturing sectors, holding up to the likes of the automotive and aerospace industry combined (Lloyds Research Report, 2016). The food and drinks firms contribute to the social and economic development, accounting for a turnover of £95.4bn and employs over 400,000 staff (GOV.UK, 2015, AON, 2016). Furthermore, the sector comprised of a variety of businesses performing roles such as buying and supplier and businesses such as catering, farming, manufacturing and retailing. Despite this, there are challenges afflicting the food and drinks manufacturing sector such as the ongoing Brexit negotiation, intense competition (by overseas, local and online competitors) reflected in the battle to drive down prices, poor supply chain relationships (particularly retailer-supplier) and a skills shortage. Although, there is no known statistic available for the Nigerian food and drinks industry, this remains important to the Nigerian economy. However, all these firms are part of some supply chain and finding ways to improve their relationships and ultimately improve their competitiveness is critical.

1.4.3.3 The creative (fashion) industry

The creative industry in the UK consists of several businesses in advertising, architecture, arts and culture, crafts, design, games, music, publishing, TV & Films and fashion. This study focuses on the fashion industry. The fashion industry comprises of a variety of products (such as footwear; lingerie; bag & luggage, jewellery & watches; accessories, cosmetics; perfumes & hair products; women, men & children's wear) and businesses such as fashion retailing; accounting; charities; advertising and public relations. Collectively, in 2014, these firms contributed to the social and economic development, accounting for a turnover of £26bn in the UK and employed over 797,000 staff (Oxford economies, 2015). There is limited data available for Nigeria. Nevertheless, according to BOF and Mckinsey (2017), Nigeria remains key to the fashion industry with an estimated 2% growth in the number of middle to upper-class households between

2017 and 2025. This roughly translates to a potential market size of 16 million people by 2025, ensuring that the fashion industry continues to grow and is a relevant comparative basis in this study.

The ongoing Brexit negotiation has brought about many uncertainties to the UK economy, and the fashion industry is not left out (FT, 2017a; Business Telegraph, 2017). Other challenges that plague the UK fashion industry include 1. Difficulties in accurately forecasting sales (as customers are becoming less predictable) 2. Changing customer preferences (e.g., customers are becoming more shrewd; environmental and ethically conscious; sophisticated and technologically savvy challenging not only firms but their supply chains as well) 3. The Increased demand to produce more in less time, with less money and less effort. 4. Increased competition from online, local and global competitors. 5. Speed to market and fashion cycle (BOF and Mckinsey 2017). Despite these challenges, the fashion industry looks promising, as a result, many fashion firms are becoming agile in a bid to respond to abrupt drops and the bullwhip effect short-term (Chen et al. 2000; Isaksson and Seifert, 2016). Many firms also look inwards to their business relationships and technology use in a bid to tackle these challenges and build a competitive edge long term.

Firstly, the fashion industry was chosen in this study as it remains a visual and fastpaced sector by nature which can require fashion firms to accept and adopt social and interactive tools such as social media. Secondly, the prior acceptance and uptake of ecommerce and other technological tools in the fashion industry provide a useful opportunity to explore social media use or non-use. E-commerce and e-shopping have increased the intensity of competition in the fashion industry particularly over the last decade and have witnessed greater ease of online purchases and technology-led interactions. Thirdly, this study aims to provide a balance and a spectrum of social media use- from high social media use to non-social media use. For example, social media can introduce innovative ways of interacting and reacting with customers (and or supply chains) in the fashion sector, while social media use can be a new concept in other industries.

1.5 Research aim

In seeking to address the above-mentioned research question, the section begins by defining social media. One of the influential and widely cited journal articles on social media is Kaplan & Haenlein, (2010). Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010 p:61 define social media

as "a group of Internet-based applications that build on the ideological and technological foundations of Web 2.0 and that allow the creation and exchange of user-generated content". This study introduces the notion that social media has the capability to be used as a tool to facilitate collaborative relationships and the sharing of valuable information in supply chains that is yet to be investigated.

This study's ground is backed by another influential study on social media use in a business context Kietzmann et al. (2011 & 2012). It is worth noting that Kietzmannn et al.'s (2012) article forms the theoretical potential to explore the use social media as a tool for collaborative relationships (Butler and Matook, 2015) in supply chains (see figure 1.2). Fig 1.2 presents the topology of social media use in business by Kietzmann and colleagues. They argue that social media can be used as tools for 1) conversations, 2) sharing 3) groups, 4) presence, 5) identity, 6) reputation and 7) relationships. For the relational aspect of the topology, they suggest that SM can be used as a tool for developing and sustaining relationships.





Source: Kietzmann et al. (2011)

The findings should provide a better understanding of the building blocks for social media use in supply chain by SMEs and the factors underlying the use or non-use of social media. Finally, the study aims to provide valuable insights and suggestions to

researchers, practitioners and policymakers on how SMEs may build their competitive advantage by sharing valuable information and better collaborative B2B relationships via social media use.

1.6 Contribution from the study

This study is focused on the notion that social media use with and between supply chain members builds and maintains collaborative relationships and promotes the exchange of valuable information. Whereas most SCM research has focussed on larger firms, research on how SMEs can better their collaborative relationships to benefit from information sharing via social media is sparse in literature. This is surprising considering the fact that literature clearly stresses that increased competition has led to supply chains to become increasingly reliant on collaborative relationships rather than transactional exchanges to develop their competitive advantage (Huang et al., 2016). This study seeks to contribute in three important ways: 1) theory; 2) practice and 3) policy.

1.6.1 Contribution to theory

The study's contribution is as follows: 1) It contributes to SCM literature particularly, social media and B2B relationships literature on SMEs which was found to be limited. 2) The application of TAM 2 and the relational view in addressing the research questions offers contemporary insights and lays a foundation on which SCM scholars can build on. 3). It integrates two main fields -SCM and Information Management, to understand the research topic better.

Firstly, consistent with Kietzmannn et al.'s (2012) conceptualization of social media capabilities, i.e. tools for relationships, the study explores the notion that social media can be used as a relational tool by SMEs for better information sharing and improved B2B relationships. To the author's knowledge, the study is the first to build on Kietzmannn et al.'s (2012) work on the conceptualization of relationships as one of the multifunctional uses of social media with SMEs and the unit of analysis being triadic relationships. In this regard, the study lays a strong foundation for future research in an effort to investigate social media use in SCM, mainly from a SMEs perspective which Gligor and Autry 2012 found limited. As such, this study makes a contextual contribution by examining the use of social media (in SCM) by SMEs.

Secondly, as little is known about social media from an SCM context, the study draws from Technology Acceptance Model (TAM2) and the relational view of firms' literature to gain a better understanding of the topic and address the research question. TAM2 is positioned as better articulating how users have come to accept and use social media, particularly as the effects of alternative theories such as social capital tend to be overly complicated. The relational view further explores sources of competitive advantage (relation-specific assets, knowledge exchange, resources and capabilities; and governance) by carefully examining triadic (buyer-supplier and supplier- supplier) relationships.

TAM was proposed as a useful tool for better understanding of how SMEs have come to accept and use social media as it had constructs that catered for the perceived usefulness and ease of use of Social Media. However, TAM currently has three versions. They are TAM1, TAM2 and TAM3. TAM1 was eliminated as it did not consider "social factors" themes which literature pointed to as being important to SMEs. Although TAM3 included social factors, TAM3 was deemed inappropriate for these reasons: 1). TAM3 is an overly complicated model, precisely as that the current internet penetration rate in developing country- Nigeria is below 50% (see section 1.7) and as such social media use may or may not be in its advanced stages. 2). TAM3 is focused on the actual use of sophisticated physical technologies. 3). The study sought to explore the perceived use of social media from the users' perspective rather than the actual technology itself which TAM2 is better suited. In other words, this study adopts the theoretical lens of TAM2 and the relational view collectively. By doing so, the study helps us to learn about social media from a supply chain context that is how some SMEs use social media in supply chains while other SMEs may not. The understanding of how does the use of social media by SMEs affect relationships with and between supply chain members which also has relevant implications for their competitiveness.

Another contribution of this study lies in the fresh and contemporary application of TAM 2 and the relational view of firms in addressing the research question and aim. Generally, many SCM studies have focused on traditional forecasting and planning applications like Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) (Forslund, 2010: Forslund and Jonsson 2010, Li, 2012): Applying TAM2 (and the relational view) to social media offers new insights, and presents a foundation for contemporary information and approaches in supply chains.

Thirdly, the examination of social media use in supply chains has underlying roots mainly in SCM and Information management (IM). this study contributes to knowledge by merging the two bodies of information on SCM and IM, thereby laying a foundation for future cross-discipline scholarly contributions.

Social media has been relatively more researched in developed countries; not much has been done on the topic in developing countries. Therefore, this study applies the frontiers of SCM and IM literature to a context previously unexamined, a developing country- Nigeria. Yet, social media use could be of great importance in Nigeria not only because of the opportunities for internet penetration and social adoption but also because they are more vulnerable to infrastructural challenges compared to their UK counterparts.

1.6.2 Contribution to practice

On a practical level, this study provides SMEs with insights regarding social media use. Considering the fact that social media use can be a double-edged sword offering both buyer and supplier benefits like sharing of useful information and constraints like vulnerability to opportunistic members, managers are provided with information on how to leverage its benefit. Also, the study intends to provide top and middle managers of SME firms with insights for improving their B2B relationship and competitive advantage.

1.6.3 Contribution to policy

The study furnishes policymakers with insights into the likely beneficial outcomes and constraints of social media use that is useful in the formulation of policies that support and promote the competitiveness of SMEs.

1.7 Author motivations

1.7.1 The justification for Nigeria and the UK

The reasons for selecting Nigeria and the UK are in two folds: 1). It is embedded in the internet infrastructure and 2). the researcher is originally from Nigeria. United Kingdom's internet infrastructure emphasizes both fixed and mobile connectivity. Social media users in this country are able to access the internet from both connectivity's using Desktops, Laptops, mobile phone, tablets and other devices. While, the use of SM in Nigeria has been predominantly on the backbone of Mobile internet technology (ITU, 2013: Akpan-Obong, 2009; we are Social research & analysis, 2015) as there exist poor

fixed landline infrastructure (see table 1.6). Consequently, users in Nigeria characteristically access social media using mobile devices such as smartphones (Africa renewal, 2010).

Attribute	Nigeria	UK
Population in thousands in 2012	174,510	63,390
Internet users per thousand population in 2009	252	811
Fixed landline users per thousand population in 2011	4	524
Mobile phone users per thousand population in 2011	545	1287
Active Facebook per thousand population in 2012	37	517
Active Twitter users per thousand population in 2011	25	104
*Real Gross Domestic Product in 2012 per capita	\$2,545.11	\$36,488.41

 Table 1.6 Differences in technology infrastructure and country ratios

With regards to the fixed landline users for both countries, at the year 2012 penetration rate for Nigeria and UK were 4 and 524 respectively (We are Social research & analysis, 2012; World Bank, 2012; Nigeria Communications Commission-NCC, 2012), with Nigeria's landline users being considerably lower. Unfortunately, the figure for 2016 shows a further dip in Nigeria and UK rates of 1 and 505 (see Table 1.2). Despite these disparities, there remains a massive opportunity for social media use in Nigeria via mobile phones.

This shows that as widely adopted as social media is, there is still room for more adoption. In developing countries like the Nigeria, where internet penetration is still growing despite poor landline connectivity, there remains a need to understand the use of SM (in supply chains).

Attributes	Nigeria	UK
Population in thousands in 2016	193,400	66,380
Internet users per thousand population in 2016	490	950
Fixed landline users per thousand population in 2016	1	505
Mobile phone subscription per thousand population in 2016	836	1103
Active social media user per thousand population in 2016	98	663
Active mobile social media users per thousand population	88	572
in 2016		
Gross Domestic Product in 2016 per capita	\$2,177.99	\$39,899.39

Table 1.7 Updates on technology infrastructure and country ratios

Sources: We are social, 2018: World Bank (2016), United States Census Bureau (2016)

1.8 Research limitation

1.8.1 Limited data on Nigerian SMEs

Statistics, data, and research into the areas of the research interest are limited and scarce for Nigeria. For example, United Nations Statistics division (2013; pp 9) writing on Nigeria comments: "Data available are either limited in scope, not representative due to poor respondent's attitude or non-response, insufficient funds to carry out a comprehensive survey. Because of non- conduct of annual surveys many data series are not available."

Furthermore, studies by Ayyagari et al., 2007 also demonstrated the dearth of research from Nigeria in particular, and African SMEs in general. A highlighted limitation is difficulty in accessing valid and relevant information on the topics of interest. In order to achieve the aim of this research, both primary and secondary sources of information will be explored. This is because insights obtained from these sources will be used to provide a better quality of the interview sessions and critical depth for analysis of findings.

1.8.2 Evolving usefulness of social media

Kaplan and Haenlein (2010) point out that social media use can differ based on the type of social networking platforms, the popularity, and purpose resulting in potentially

different outcomes. The very concept of SM predisposes it to be a social interaction tool. Consequently, there is a blur in isolating it as either a personal or business tool. Unfortunately, because of this overlap, it would be difficult to separate personal from corporate use so information obtained may not be exclusive to business use.

1.9 Research methodology and method

The research methodology used a triangulated approach where interviews were conducted and findings cross-validated by a buyer and their two suppliers. Interviews were carried out with management and business owners from 18 supply chain organizations in Nigeria and the UK. Template analysis was used to 1). develop an extensive template based on prior research, theoretical perspectives and/or a large (rich) data set that captures the research question and broadly capturing other areas of interest. 2). allow for the use of an initial template to interrogate how well the existing theoretical concepts apply (or not) to the data set. Six cases were used to show the main findings of the study with respect to the research question.

1.10Thesis structure

This thesis is organized into six chapters: 1) Introduction 2) Literature Review 3) theoretical framework 4) Research Methodology 5) Qualitative data analysis and findings 6) Discussions and conclusion. Chapter one (1) provides an overview of the research and introduces concepts such as supply chains, relationship management and information sharing in SCM. It gives the background of how much research has been conducted on social media in a supply chain context. It also provides an overview of the unit of analysis used and the types of businesses in focus. In the end, the introductory chapter explains the research question, contributions, limitations and finally the format of the study.

Chapter two (2) draws on existing literature on SCM, RM, social media and SMEs for three main reasons. 1) To provide a view of research topic 2) To provide a plethora of knowledge that allows information to flow in the direction of the study context and afford the examination of the different perspectives 3) To identify and reaffirm the research gap which supports the central research question raised. The literature review, in so doing, provides a rationale for studying the use of social media in supply chains, for studying

the use from SMEs in supply chain triads perspective, and for studying the impact on B2B relationships in supply chains.

Chapter three (3) presents Technology Acceptance Model 2 (hereafter TAM 2) complemented by the relational view of firms. The chapter also details the research methodology by explaining and justifying the exploratory approach, case study strategy, semi-structured interview method, cross-sectional design, sampling and template analysis. The chapter also details the analytical techniques adopted and findings of the qualitative data from the semi-structured interview of 18 participants. Chapter four (4) presents an in-depth discussion of the overall research findings and analysis. chapter five (5) provides the discussion of the findings, and finally, the thesis concludes with chapter six (6) highlighting useful areas for future research and conclusions drawn from the findings of the study. Specifically, a summary of findings with respect to the research questions is presented. In addition, the theoretical, practical and managerial contribution of the study findings is presented. The reference and appendices are followed. A full layout of this thesis is provided in the table below.

Chapter	Research Focus
Chapter 1	Overview of the study
Chapter 2	Review of SCM, RM, SM and SMEs literature
Chapter 3	Research model, Philosophical foundations and research methodology
Chapter 4	Data analysis
Chapter 5	Discussion of findings
Chapter 6	Conclusions, implications and limitation of the study

Table 1.8 The Thesis Outline

1.11 Chapter summary

This introductory chapter has presented the gaps in the SCM literature motivating this study. The chapter begins with a background in the research context. It highlights the gap in the literature and how the current study attempts to address them. It also discussed the contributions, motivation and limits of the research. In the chapter that follows next, a review of literature is presented.

Chapter 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

This chapter provides an overview of the underlying and relevant literature on the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. Following this overview, section 2.2 begins with a background in social media. Section 2.3 and 2.4 presents a review of supply chain management (SCM) and relationship management (RM) literature. This is followed by a review of SMEs. By doing so, the themes in social media from a supply chain context in general and particularly the SME literature are uncovered.

2.1.1 The justification for the structure

In this section, specific attention is given underlying research areas (social media, SCM, RM, and SMEs) to reflect the priority an in-depth review of literature rather than the flow of gaps or literature. This chapter provides an overview of the four main and relevant literature – 1). SM, 2). SCM 3). RM, and 4). SMEs. These four areas pave the course for this study. The purpose of this chapter is to deepen the understanding of the theoretical knowledge of the topics in focus. It is worth mentioning that a comprehensive review of the literature regarding the areas of interest can be an ambitious and timeconsuming undertaking for three reasons. 1). The literature can be voluminous, and there is a high risk of omitting significant themes and references. 2). A detailed examination of research topics requires an interdisciplinary approach which can provide a better understanding of the different themes and conceptual approaches. 3). The fields of interest like social media, for example, is fast pace and attracts a high level of scholarly interest and so, research in the area requires continuous updating and revision. Nevertheless, the study addresses the first two of these challenges by limiting the individual topics to discussions surrounding: an introduction the definitions; benefits and challenges.

2.2 Background of social media

A review of literature into social media reveals that there is yet to be a universal census on the terms used to describe social media. For example, these terms "Social Software" (Richter & Koch, 2007); "User-generated Media" (McConnel and Huba 2007); "Web 2.0" (Constantinides, 2008); "Social communication platforms" (Jansen et al. 2009); "Social networking" (Cox et al. 2008); "Social networking sites" (De Valck et al, 2009); "Social networks" (Miguens et al. 2008); "Social websites" (Kim et al. 2010); "Social technology McKinsey, 2012) have been used interchangeably to describe social media. Although there are many varied and numerous terms used to describe social media, these same terms may also signify that social media had been viewed from other perspectives.

The word "social" in social media suggests that people are social beings that interact and have some level of influence over one another. The word "media" refers to a means/tool to engage with an audience via storytelling or sharing of information (Markova and Petkovska-Mircevska, 2013). Examples of traditional media include television and newspapers. The use of social media can provide a new set of tools for different kinds of firms that can pose a challenge to traditional processes and operations in businesses (Tang et al. 2012; Ngai et al., 2015). Particularly as a critical attribute of web 2.0 is the ability to not only interact but rather to push and pull information as well (Markova and Petkovska-Mircevska, 2013). For example, the use of social media over traditional media is the ability to mass customization products to suit the public based on information push and pull which replaces the standardized marketing promotion models (Peters, 1998; Hanna et al. 2011; Ngai et al., 2015). As such, customers are now able for the first time to offer open and public review online which businesses and marketers tend to formulate their strategy around (Ngai et al., 2015). The use of social media has been credited for providing substantial changes in the way businesses, communities and people communicate and interact (Kaplan and Haenlein, 2010; Ngai et al., 2015). As new uses of social media are being discovered, social media remains an emerging phenomenon with its definition and classification still evolving.

2.3 Defining social media (SM)

Social media has been defined by extant studied in a variety of ways see table 2.1. Table 2.1 shows a summary of the definitions of social media. collectively these definitions could indicate the different perspective in which social media is being viewed. For example, Mangold and Faulds (2009, p. 359) define social media as "*a hybrid in that it springs from mixed technology and media origins that enable instantaneous, real-time communications, and utilizes multi-media formats and numerous delivery platforms with global reach capabilities*". Individually, Mangold and Faulds' definition reflects social media as a type of technology, type of media and a usefulness tool. Another definition from Table 2.1 by Hoffman et al. (2013, p.29) describes social media as "*the set of web-based and mobile tools and applications that allow people to create (consume) content that can be consumed (created) by others and which enables and facilitates*

connections". Hoffman and colleagues' definition reflects social media as a type of software application and tool. Another definition from Table 2.1 by Kaplan & Haenlein (2010, p. 61) is defined as "a group of Internet-based applications that build on the ideological and technological foundations of web 2.0 and allow the creation and exchange of user-generated content". Kaplan & Haenlein definition, on the other hand, reflects the platform, technology and content. Their definition draws attention to the technical innovation (web 2.0) underpinning the application that allows users to create, share and exchange information. Kavanaugh et al. (2012, p482) describe social media as "a group of Internet-based applications designed to facilitate social interactions and for using, developing and diffusing information through society." Kavanaugh et al. (2012) definitions reflect social media as a platform and useful tool for information exchange with the public as the end user. Weinberg and Pehlivan (2011: p276) explain social media as "an important conduit to consumers and others (e.g., competitors, employees, suppliers) for a variety of purposes such as listening, information gathering and communication". Similarly, Weinberg and Pehlivan (2011) definition reflect social media as a useful tool for information gathering and users. However, they make no mention of the platform, technology or software feature of social media. Furthermore, Kietzmann et al. (2011, p. 241) describe social media as "those interactive web platforms via which individuals and communities share, co-create, discuss, and modify user-generated content". Kietzmann et al.'s (2011) definition reflect social media as a web-based, interactive and for information sharing by communities.

Collectively, these aforementioned definitions view social media in terms of its platform, software, media, content and tool. Kaplan & Haenlein (2010) definition was adopted in this study based on the previous discussions (definition highlighted the platform and content), their influential work on social media and for the purpose of this study.
Authors	Year	Definition	Field/Journal
Mangold and Faulds	2009, p. 359).	Social media is a hybrid in that it springs from mixed technology and media origins that enable instantaneous, real-time communications, and utilizes multi-media formats and numerous delivery platforms with global reach capabilities	Business Horizon
Kaplan and Haenlein,	2010, p. 61	a group of Internet-based applications that build on the ideological and technological foundation of Web 2.0 and that allow the creation and exchange of User Generated Content	Business Horizon
Henderson and Bowley	2010, p. 239	social media is collaborative online applications and technologies that enable participation, connectivity user- generated content, sharing of information, and collaboration amongst a community of users	Communication Management
Malita	2011, p. 748	social media are the tools that facilitate the socialization of contentsocial media services encourage collaboration, interaction, and communication through discussion, feedback, voting, comments, and sharing of information from all interested parties	Computer science
Weinberg and Pehlivan	2011: p 276	social media is "an important conduit to consumers and others (e.g., competitors, employees, suppliers) for a variety of purposes such as listening, information gathering and communication".	Business Horizon
Kietzmann et al.	2011, p. 241	social media as "those interactive web platforms via which individuals and communities share, co-create, discuss, and modify user-generated content."	Business Horizon
Kavanaugh et al.	2012: p 482	Social media is a group of Internet-based applications designed to facilitate social interaction and for using, developing and diffusing information through society	Government information
Hoffman et al.	2013, p.29	"The set of web-based and mobile tools and applications that allow people to create (consume) content that can be consumed (created) by others and which enables and facilitates connections."	

Table 2.1 Differences in social media definitions

The use of social media has been credited for providing substantial changes in the way businesses, communities and people communicate and interact (Kaplan and Haenlein, 2010; Ngai et al., 2015). As new uses of social media are being discovered, social media remains an emerging phenomenon with its definition and classification still evolving. There appears to be a consensus that social media has the potential to be used as a channel for improving interactions, facilitating networking and building relationships with the broader public. However, the use of social media by businesses has received guarded reservations (Everett 2010; Dijick 2013). Everett raises doubts about the benefits of Social Media to businesses. Some literature seems to propagate the perception that businesses that are not engaged with social media are on the verge of failure. For example, Mentzer (2004) is of the view that the adoption of technology by businesses will be an essential determinant of the ability of businesses to survive and

succeed. Despite such advocacy, it is not unlikely that many successful businesses outside the FTSE visibility are non-users of social media.

Within the literature in the field of business, a glaring gap is that social media is researched mainly within the context of marketing literature and less studied from a Supply Chain context. Indeed, some literature that attempts to explore social media within a supply chain context ends up quickly situating it at the business-to-consumer extremity of the supply chain. This invariably places such studies within the Marketing and Sales field (e.g. Andzulis, et al., (2012; Markova and Petkovska-Mircevska, 2013). However, this study focuses on how the use of social media affects b2b relationships with and between supply chain members.

2.3.1 Classification of social media

In addition to the numerous and varied terms used to describe social media and social media definition as explained previously, there are also many taxonomies of social media. For example, (Kim et al. 2010) presents their classification as - Social Networking Sites and social media. Constantinides (2009) presents their classification as Social Networks; Blogs; Content Communities (Video sharing, Photo sharing, Social bookmarking, Wikis) Forums / Bulletin Boards and Content Aggregators. Mangold and Faulds (2009) their classification as User-sponsored blogs; Company sponsored blogs; Creativity works sharing sites; Collaborative websites; Social Bookmarking; Virtual worlds; Social Networking sites; Invitation only; Business networking sites and others (e.g. help sites). Fischer and Reuber (2011) present their classification as Professional networking; Blogs; Microblogging; Picture sharing; Video sharing; Social Bookmarking; User forums and Social Networking. Solis (2010) presents their classification as Social Networks; Blog/Microblogs; Crowd Wisdom; Q&A; Comments; Social Commerce; Social Marketplace; Social streams; Location; Nicheworking; Enterprise; Wiki; Discussion & Forums; Business; Service Networking; Reviews & Ratings; Social Curation; Video; Content / Documents; Events; Music; Livecasting Pictures, Social Bookmarks; Influence and Quantified Self (see figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1 The conversation prism

Source: Solis (2013)

Lastly, Kaplan and Haenlein (2010) present their classification as Blogs; Collaborative projects; Content communities; Social networking sites; Virtual game-worlds and Virtual social worlds. Collectively the aforementioned authors provide useful taxonomies of social media. However, individually, Kaplan and Haenlein (2010) stands out in terms of the systematic effort for the development of their classification scheme and is thus adopted in this study. See Table 2.2 for the systematic approach is based on theoretical frameworks from social presence and media richness and social processes

Table 2.2: Classification of social media

		Social presence/ Media richness			
		Low	Medium	High	
Self- presentation/ Self- disclosure	High	Blogs	Social networking sites (e.g., Facebook)	Virtual social worlds (e.g., Second Life)	
	Low	Collaborative projects (e.g., Wikipedia)	Content communities (e.g., YouTube)	Virtual game worlds (e.g., World of Warcraft)	

Source: Kaplan and Haenlein (2010)

Although, Kaplan and Haenlein (2010) classification in table 2.2 did not include social media sites like Twitter and LinkedIn, however, for the purpose of the study and the contextual emphasis, virtual game world, virtual social worlds content communities, collaborative projects will not be further discussed given the context of this study.

2.3.2 Types of social media

HBR (2010) found that most used social media by businesses are Facebook (85%), Twitter (77%), LinkedIn (58%) and YouTube (49%). Facebook and Twitter are popular with both individual and businesses, whereas LinkedIn is popular with businesses and professionals. It is worth noting that SM channels are not limited to the public ones like Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, YouTube and Pinterest. There are also private SM like Yammer (from Microsoft) and Stream Works (from SAP). As a result of the proposed classification of social media by Kaplan and Haenlein (2010): (1) Blogs and Microblogs (e.g. Twitter); (2) Collaborative projects; (3) Content communities (e.g. YouTube); (4) Social networking sites (e.g. Facebook and LinkedIn); (5) Virtual game-worlds (e.g. World of Warcraft); (6) Virtual social worlds (e.g. Second Life). Only these two: Microblogs (e.g. Twitter) and Social networking sites (e.g. Facebook and LinkedIn) will be further studied to provide an integrated view on social media in supply chain from an SME context. A cursory review of three popular social media platforms, Facebook, LinkedIn, and Twitter is presented in the next.

2.3.2.1 Social Networking Sites (SNS) - Facebook

Social networking sites (SNS) also known as "social network sites" are types of social media (Richter and Koch 2008). According to Kaplan and Haenlein (2010, p.63), social network sites are defined as "...applications that enable users to connect by creating personal formation profiles, inviting friends and colleagues to have access to those profiles, and sending e-mails and instant messages between each other." Kaplan and Haenlein's definitions refine SNS to friends and colleagues and define its use to e-

mailing, profile access, and instant messaging. There are many SNS platforms like Xing, Wayn and RenRen, Orkut (in Brazil and India); Vkontakte.ru and Odnoklassniki.ru (popular in Russia), however, the most popular are Facebook, LinkedIn, and Google+ (Colliander and Dahlen, 20011; Digit.ru 2013).

A further attempt to categorize SM was made by Kavanaugh et al. (2012). Kavanaugh et al. (2012) developed a honeycomb framework based on seven Social Media functionalities. The seven interconnected categories are: (1) Identity; (2) Conservation; (3) Reputation; (4) Groups; (5) Presence; (6) Sharing; (7) Relationship. Kavanaugh and colleagues argue that social media sites can exist in more than one group in the framework. For instance, Facebook can occur in several categories such as the relationships, sharing and conversation cell. Facebook facilitates the interaction and building of relationships between users (individuals and businesses) on the online platform. These connections might already have existed offline or could transit from online to other offline connections. Online, users are allowed to define their friends, users create profiles, and according to the specific settings this information can be publicly viewed.

A friend request is sent, and if accepted these friends are permitted to view pictures, videos, chart and post comments on their pages (Markova and Petkovska-Mircevska, 2013). Alternatively, the friend request can be declined, leaving no access to their page or content. Other activities on Facebook include picture tagging, advertising, and marketing. Businesses use social media in a number of ways. For example, business users of Facebook are allowed to interact not only with customers but buyers and suppliers as well. Additionally, information and insights can be obtained from their customers, suppliers and other stakeholders. For example, recommendations, fans, walls (part of a user's social profile where friends and fans with access can leave their comments or critic), likes and dislikes can be viewed (Kietzmann et al. 2011). In summary, Facebook has the potential to generate a flow of information, interactions and foster relationships that ultimately develop into trust amongst members of the supply chain.

2.3.2.2 Microblogs-Twitter

Kaplan and Haenlein 2011, p.106 define microblogs as "internet based applications which allow users to exchange small elements of content such as short sentences, individual images, or video links". There many microblogs like Jaiku, Plurk, and Weibo, however, the most popular one is twitter (Kaplan and Haenlein 2011). According to

Twitter (2014), there were 255 million monthly active users and 78% of active mobile Twitter users in 2014. Twitter is a micro-blogging tool designed to allow users to send messages of just 140 characters or fewer in length that could contain links. Twitter users are both individuals and businesses can be grouped into Information sources, friends and information seekers. Users are allowed to post updates, pictures, information, videos, converse with other users, sharing and seeking URLs Fischer & Reuber (2011). Twitter is a public social media site, and tweets are searchable via search engines and therefore available to view by other users as well. Users can be followed and become "followers". Followers may ignore, read or retweet (resend) tweets of interest to other users (Jansen et al. 2009). Twitter differs from other social networking sites like Facebook as relationships with the users do not require strong relationship ties and following other users require no approval. Kaplan and Haenlein (2011) highlight some standout features of Twitter: 1). the push-push-pull nature of communication 2). The ability to provide awareness due to its popularity 3). It serves as a platform for virtual display.

There is no doubt that Twitter can serve as a tool for information sharing as such businesses in the fashion industry like Zara and New Look post information on new arrivals and shipment. It can be said that in these examples Twitter is being used as a channel for transactional information. Twitter also has the potential to coordinate several members of the supply chain that would be interested in this information and other information like delays, accidents, and natural disasters. This tool is popular with celebrities, top executives, and politicians, who have online followers that are desirous of receiving information broadcasted by these celebrities (Beirut, 2009; Lee et al., 2013a&b). Studies by Fischer & Reuber (2011) found that Twitter was broadly used by small businesses in more contexts other than marketing.

Social media can allow for sharing of information, pictures, interest, blogging, wallposting, and interactions between individual, online communities, and social networks organizations. However, the boundaries for differentiation seem to overlap and are not clearly defined. For example, Shi et al. (2013) argue that Twitter have overlapping categories as both social networking sites and microblogs.

2.3.2.3 LinkedIn

LinkedIn use is highest among professional and highest among employees aged 26 – 45 (Skeels and Grudin, 2009). LinkedIn is a structured, formal and regulated site where the users can benefit from 1). Fosters information sharing 2). It serves as a source of

credibility rather than unofficial public information. 3). It also used to augment official document such as CV. 4) it serves as a source of scrutiny for supporting systems like hiring. The use of LinkedIn can help SMEs to interact with members of their supply chain to improve collaborative relationships (Michaelidou et al., 2011)

2.3.3 Social media management

Technology, in general, has been a critical tool for economic development and business success (Buhalis, 1998: Wong, 2005; Bayo-moriones and Lera-lópez, 2007). For example, it has been said by technological determinism that technology will change the way business is done. They argue that digital technologies like social media can create new opportunities on the end customer side (identify new opportunities, reduce costs & improve services) and on the supply chain side (improve competitiveness and productivity). While, much attention has been given to demand side (or end customer), on the supply side, however, one crucial factor, relationships are often left out.

For supply chains, technology use is viewed as critical for attaining a level of resource capability and competitive advantage (see: Grant, 1991: Peteraf, 1993: Bharadwaj, 2000: Powell and Dent-Micallef, 1997). Some authors have argued that developing countries have benefited from technology transfers from developed countries (Matsura, 1991: Lall, 2001). On the other hand, many authors have argued that the general living standards of the population in developing countries have not been significantly affected by technology transfer (Gupta and Madhavan, 1995: Lall, 2001). Technology transfer can mean different things to different nations and businesses. For example, to many, technology transfer may mean more competition and fewer technology monopolies, while to others technology transfer can mean exploitation and dominance by few firms (Matsura, 1991). Challenges facing developed countries (such as the UK) include: huge debts and declining export incomes (Matsura, 1991), while challenges facing developing countries (such as Nigeria) includes: a massive population growth, lack of investment capital, lack of adequate infrastructure and lack of political structure (Matsura, 1991). Despite these challenges, both UK and Nigeria have their unique IT infrastructure that supports businesses as well as individuals.

Technology can potentially become a source of conflict between nations, businesses and their supply chain (Matsura, 1991: Lall, 2001). For example, conflicts may arise if the recipient firm perceives that the focal firm/nations are trying to dominate through technology, capital, and production (Matsura, 1991: Yafei and Qianlong 2009). Also, for nations, dependence on foreign technology such as the internet can be viewed as a threat to its national defence and economic independence (Matsura, 1991: Yafei and Qianlong 2009). For example, in 2014, Google a search engine technology firm revealed that there had been an increase in the request for user data by the government, particularly the US government (Times, 2014). Other technology firms such as Microsoft, Facebook, and Twitter have called for more transparency particularly in the wake of the PRISM surveillance system brought to light by whistleblower Edward Snowden (Times, 2014). As a result, recipient countries like Russia and China are beginning to turn to their local technology. Matsura (1991) points out that country which export technology may experience certain disadvantages besides conflicts of interest. Disadvantages such as unemployment in the home country and future loss of technological advantage can arise as well.

Managing relationships with and between supply chains include understanding the realities of B2B supply chain relationships, designing, defining exceptions, planning for change, facilitating communication between stakeholder, monitoring risks and nurturing interaction (Porter & Donthu, 2008; Mangold & Faulds, 2009; Ngai et al., 2015). As such, the effective flow of valuable information within and across supply chain firms are crucial to managing supply chain relationships, and such SCM may not be effective without IT management. In a similar vein, the ineffective use of IT is also a major hurdle to effective SCM (Mentzel et al., 2000; 2001; 2004 & Fawcett et al., 2008). As such, information sharing is critical to supply chains, and information management is crucial to developing a competitive advantage.

2.3.4 Benefits and challenges of social media

The popularity of social media has expanded rapidly within the past decades. For businesses, this provides a significant basis for direct economic, monetary growth; building reputations; exploring new opportunities. Social media scholars believe that "social media can also sever as tools facilitating intra-organizational and interorganizational activities among peers, customers, business partners, and organisations such as collaborative product development; creation of knowledge sharing communities; implementation of corporate dialog of financial institutions; market strategies for brand management; collaborative learning and creativity (Ngai et al., 2015 p 33).

The benefits that accrue to firms are therefore numerous in areas such as sales & marketing; operations & distributions; product development; information sharing & portability; real-time information; speedy responses; improving relationships and collaboration (Porter and Donthu, 2008; Mangold and Faulds, 2009; Fernando, 2010;

Kasavana et al 2010; Peppler and Solomou, 2011; Yates and Paquette, 2011; Bonson and Flores, 2011; Andzulis et al., 2012; Jin and Ryan, 2012; Allen, 2013; Laroche et al., 2013). For example, information sharing has mainly been explored from transactional, task and enterprise perspective used to increase efficiency and performance (Lee and Whang, 2000; Yang and Maxwell, 2011). Also, social media can bring information together and make it more accessible which can improve collaborations (CISCO, 2010). However, there exist other perspectives such as information sharing as a means of improving the competitive advantage of supply chains as well (Mason-Jone and Towill, 1997). With the popularity of social media and the increase in internet usage, social media can be considered as one of the ways of sharing information within and across supply chains.

Given these benefits that can accrue to firms for using social media, and given the rising competition (Armano, 2009), SMEs in both developed and developing countries are increasingly compelled to be outward looking in their business relationships to improve information sharing, collaboration and ultimately improve competitive edge.

Although, the importance of social media use in firms cannot be understated, (Everett, 2010) observed that social media use is not without its challenges. The plethora of challenges can be enormous, including regulatory issues; security concerns; technological and operational difficulties; infrastructural differences; differences innovativeness and policies and controls. SCM scholars observe that some challenges (or barriers) can place significant inhibitions on the firm's use of social media (Aula, 2010). Additionally, other challenges have been identified at the level of the decision maker of the firms (see figure) and their environment (Aula, 2010; Kavanaugh et al., 2012; Mcentire, 2012). It is said that challenges can be effective in limiting the benefits that can be earned from social media use (Aula, 2010: Bird et al., 2012).

Given the above and other benefits and challenges associated with social media usage, many researchers consider social media use as a challenging and at the same time, a field of opportunities for business and their business relationships (Ngai et al., 2015) and several efforts have been expended into exploring social media in related themes including social media in SCM (Markova and Petkovska-Mircevska, 2013). Regarding ways of improving businesses acceptance of social media, researchers have examined the technological acceptance of social media (Ngai et al., 2015). Many businesses may readily accept the use of social media, while other businesses may demonstrate resistance to them (Nolan, 2009; Everett, 2010). In other words, business and their employees may accept technological changes, while others can resist such technological changes. The number of people who accept the use of technological innovations like social media easily and those who resist it may differ from industry to industry and country to country. Generally, there are five classifications of individuals ranked according to their innovativeness: innovators, early adopters, early majority, and resisters. The individuals or firms in each division may depend on the industry and society. For example, if resisters make up a vast majority, the society is predominantly traditional, and the introduction of new technologies and ideas can be met with difficulties (Patterson et al. 2003). In contrast, some modern societies may have a large percentage of innovators, which makes the introduction of new technologies and ideas more acceptable. Such resistance, mentioned earlier may be against some technological products (and its impact), particularly foreign cultures or innovativeness (AT&T, 2011). As such, it is needful to explore the effects of social media use in the supply chain from both the buyer and supplier's point of view.

2.4 Defining Supply chain

Supply chain by definition is "a network of firms interacting to deliver product or service to the end customer, linking flows from raw material supply to final delivery" (Ellram 1991: p14). Kopezak (1997: p 226) describes a supply chain as "the set of entities, including suppliers, logistics services providers, manufacturers, distributors and resellers, through which materials, products, and information flow." Mentzer et al. (2001: p 4) also describe supply chain as "a set of three or more entities (organizations or individuals) directly involved in the upstream and downstream flows of products, services, finances, and/or information from a source to a customer."

At a general level, these definitions may appear varied, reflecting the environment in which they operate and focused on particular aspects of supply chains such as functional or organizational elements. For example, Ellram's definition is primarily focused on the materials flow, while, Kopezak's definition emphases the flow of materials and information. However, Mentzer and colleague's definition is focused on integrating the flow of materials and information with the management of relationships in a chain. Amongst these descriptions regarding supply chains, Mentzer et al. (2001) definition are suitable for the aim of this study for three reasons. (1) It provides a broader perspective and dynamics of supply chain than the previous definition. (2) It represents the smallest unit of a chain as a set of three firms (triad), whilst, opening the number of member/actors that can exist. And lastly, (3) supply chains comprises of not only business processes and activities but also about their relationships than the previous

definition, which focused mainly on the movement of materials/goods. In the section that follows next information surrounding the types of the supply chain is discussed.

The typologies of supply chain environment are categorized based on the organizational or functional context (Mentzer et al. 2001). Supply chains, from an organizational context, can be categorized based on either the degree of separation from the focal firms or by their nature (see figure 2.2). The degree of separation of organizations in a supply chain can be categorized as direct, extended and ultimate (Mentzer et al. 2001). The direct supply chain consists of the focal firm, the immediate suppliers, and customers (Mentzer et al. 2001). The extended supply chain is slightly more complicated than the direct ones and seems to be in-between the direct supply chain and ultimate supply chain spectrum. Ultimately, supply chains are composed of all organizations involved with an upstream and downstream relationship with the focal firms, from the ultimate supplier through to the ultimate consumer (Mentzer et al. 2001).



Figure 2.2 Classification of supply chains based on channel relationship

Source: Mentzer et al. 2001

Additionally, an organization in a supply chain can also be classified according to the degree of separation from the focal firm as tier 1, 2 &3 as seen in Fig 2.2 (Lambert and Cooper, 2000). The number of tiers refers to the horizontal ties of the supply chain, which can be short or long depending on the number of suppliers, nature of goods or products and the dynamics of the industry (Mesquita and Lazzarini, 2008). The vertical ties/structure of the supply chain describes the number of organizations within each tier (Lambert and Cooper 2000).



Figure 2.3 Classification of supply chains

Source: Lambert and Cooper (2000)

The nature of the organization in supply chains can be categorized into either primary or support firms. Primary firms can be businesses that directly add value to the specific output while supporting firms can be businesses that add value indirectly or by supporting the primary firms to achieve a specific output. Supply chains in many industries can be more or less complicated than in other business environments due to the diversity of elements at play. The diversity in supply chains across different industries and countries would have to take the environmental and management aspects into consideration.

The supply chain environment is composed of multiple and different independent firms such as buying firms, supplying firms, supplier's suppliers, customers, customer's customer (Mentzer et al. 2001). It is also worth mentioning that every business operates within a supply chain irrespective of size, age, location or industry. As Mentzer et al. (2001, p) highlight this sometimes-overlooked point, "It is important to note that any one organization can be part of numerous supply chains." Tesco, for example, can be part of the supply chain for fashion, for mobile technology, for fresh produce, and for many other products. These multiple links in supply chain demonstrate the supply chain nature that many possess. For example, firms like EE (Britain's largest mobile group) and BT (British Telecoms) might find Huawei (world's second-biggest telecoms equipment provider) to be a customer in one supply chain, a partner in second, a supplier in a third, and finally, a competitor in the fourth supply chain.

Supply chains can combine structures of operation, functions, products, services, technology, geographic formats, and benefits (Myers, and Cheung, 2008a; Myers, 2010). Such supply chains can allow for quick response to market conditions, better competitive advantage, information sharing, geographic flexibility and functional efficiency (Ortmann, 2001.). A supply chain can be more complicated in certain industries than others due to the dynamics of the industry and nature of product or services offered. For example, the personal computer (PC) supply chain may be more complicated than a fresh food supply chain. This is probably because the personal computer (PC) manufacturing firms by its nature involve the supply of many component products/parts and various tiers of suppliers (Christopher, 2011). A supply chain for local fresh produce, such as a restaurant can involve the supply of fresh agricultural produce from the farmers market and transportation from geographical location. In other words, the fresh food supply chain previously mentioned might have lower operational and distribution capabilities than in the case of the PC supply chain. The supply chain is commonly used with the term value chains, commodity chains, global production networks and filière (Raikes et al., 2000, Kaplinsky et al. 2002; Henderson et al. 2002). Supply chains can be managed to varying degrees; this may involve the use of long and short-term business relationships approaches and contracts (Cheung and Rowlinson, 2011). These relationships can vary from a simple transaction to a complex interdependence on, all requiring some level of management of relationships and activities among the members of a chain. As such, there are ongoing debates that competitions are among supply chains as opposed to single firm.

SCM is by definition "the management of upstream and downstream relationships with suppliers and customers in order to deliver superior customer value at less cost to the supply chain as a whole" (Christopher 2011 p 3). Another definition by Stadtler (2005 pp 576) describes SCM as "the task of integrating organizational units along a supply chain and coordinating materials, information and financial flows in order to fulfil (ultimate) customer demands with the aim of improving the competitiveness of the supply chain as a whole." As such, it seems to be widely acceptable to talk about SCM as the flow of information, transactions, materials, and services. Mentzer et al. (2001 pp18) explains SCM as "the systemic, strategic coordination of the traditional business functions and the tactics across these business functions within a particular company and across businesses within the supply chain, for the purposes of improving the long-term performance of the individual companies and the supply chain as a whole." Tan et al. (1998 pp 3) provides a summary of SCM, emphasizing that SCM "focuses on how firms utilize their suppliers' processes, technology, and capability to enhance competitive advantage." In general, SCM can cover a wide range of activities,

approaches, and practices, including but not limited to sourcing, marketing, procurement, logistics and collaboration with channel partners such as suppliers, third party service providers, manufacturers, distributors and customers (Chopra and Meindl 2001). According to these aforementioned definitions, SCM is collectively viewed as the subject of the supply chain, consisting of two main components: (1) the firms that comprise a supply chain, and (2) processes that constitute the flows (forward and backward) of movement across the supply chain. Ultimately, the role of SCM is to improve activities, approaches, and practices along supply chains. Christopher's (2011) definition views SCM as a means of providing value by cost reduction. Stadtler's (2005) definition presents the goal of SCM as a means of improving competitiveness. Mentzer et al.'s. (2001) definition present the goal of SCM as a means of improving the performance of the supply chain. Whereas, Tan et al.'s (1998) definition view SCM as a means of improving competitiveness by using the supplier's resources. Collectively the combined definitions of supply chain and SCM involve the integrating of suppliers, and its effective fulfilment to improve financial gains, information and relationship management along supply chains. It is worth mentioning that though there are many varying definitions of SCM and there appears to be no consensus on single, universally accepted definition. It is not however surprising that the various definitions differ in most cases. The definition for SCM used in this study is Christopher's (2011) definition. The key emphasis here is on the management of relationships with and between the supply chain. The notion that competition is no longer amongst individual businesses but between the supply chains is beginning to make businesses collaborate with members of their chain to gain a better competitive advantage (see section 2.3.3).

Table 2.1 shows the evolving pathways (e.g., purchasing, supply management and logistics); aims (e.g., profits, efficiency, effectiveness, competitive advantage) and multidisciplinary fields (marketing; logistics; management and operations management) of SCM. These differences in the pathway, focus and multidisciplinary fields of SCM may help to account for the variances in SCM definitions. As a result, the definition of SCM adopted in the study mainly depends on the research pathway and areas of interest (SCM, RM, social media and SME competitiveness). Tan et al.'s (1998) definition are relevant to the aim of research because it focuses on improving competitive advantage via the resource (e.g., technology use) of the supplier which matches the aim of research. It is worth noting that many early definitions focused on filtering and integrating the ethos across the network of supply chain firms. However, these definitions remain heavily focused on activities like scheduling, planning,

purchasing and cost, leaving little room for deliberation on supply chain relationships and relationship management.

Authors	Year	Definition	Field/Discipline
Berry et al	1994, p. 20	"Supply chain management aims at building trust, exchanging information on market needs, developing new products, and reducing the supplier base to a particular OEM (Original Equipment Manufacturer) so as to release management resources for developing meaningful, long- term relationship."	Physical Distribution & Logistics Management
Harland	1996 p, 64	"Network of connected and interdependent organizations mutually and cooperative working together to control, manage and improve the flow of materials and information front suppliers to end customers."	Management
Cooper et al	1997, p. 2	"The integration of business processes from end-user through original suppliers (that provides products, services, and information), which adds value to customers."	Logistics Management
Lee and Ng	1997, p. 191	"The management of upstream and downstream relationships with suppliers and customers in order to deliver superior customer value at less cost to the supply chain as a whole."	Production & Operations management
Tan et al.,	1998, p.3	"SCM focuses on how firms utilize their suppliers' processes, technology, and capability to enhance competitive advantage. It is a management philosophy that extends traditional intra-enterprise activities by bringing trading partners together with the common goal of optimization and efficiency."	SCM
Lambert et al.	1998a, p.1	"SCM is the integration of key business processes from end user through original suppliers that provides products, services, and information that add value for customers and other stakeholders."	Logistics Management
Simchi-Levi et al	2003, p.1	"a set of approaches utilized to efficiently integrate suppliers, integrate suppliers, manufacturers, warehouses, and stores so that merchandise is produced and distributed in the right quantities, to the right locations, and at the right time, in order to minimize system-wide costs while satisfying service level requirements."	SCM
Van der Vorst and Beulens	2001, p 410	"SCM is the integrated planning, coordination, and control of all business processes and activities in the supply chain to deliver superior consumer value at minimum cost to the end-consumer while satisfying requirements of other stakeholders."	Logistics Management
Ellram et al.	2004, p .17	"Supply chain management is the management of information, processes, goods, and funds from the earliest supplier to the ultimate customer, including disposal."	SCM
Monczka et al	2011, p.12	"SCM endorses a supply chain orientation and involve proactively managing the two-way movement and coordination of goods, services, information and funds (i.e., the various flow) from raw material through end user."	Purchasing & SCM
Christopher	2011, p.3	"The management of upstream and downstream relationships with suppliers and customers in order to deliver superior customer value at less cost to the supply chain as a whole."	Logistics & SCM

Table 2.3 Differences in supply chain management (SCM) definitions

Source: Author

2.4.1 Supply Chain Management

Although the precise origin of SCM is not well known, its introduction has been largely attributed to consultants in the early 1980s, and to a key influential author who is equally commonly cited -Jay W. Forrester (Forrester, 1968; Bueno-Solano and Cedillo-Campos, 2014). Over five decades later, Forrester's ideas relating to distribution (physical), industrial dynamics, organizational relationships, and transportation are still relevant (Cooper et al., 1997; Mentzer et al. 2001; Croom et al. 2000). Despite the invaluable contributions made by Forrester, SCM literature is not only riddled with a variety of definitions and perspectives (e.g., Chin and Tat 2015) but a lack of a common consensus on relevant SCM constructs as well. Table 2.4 shows the variation in constructs or instruments in studying SCM practices. In their study of the underlying measurements of SCM practices, Lambert and Cooper (2000) grouped 9 individual SCM practices into two categories; the technical and the managerial management factors. The following 9 factors are briefly outlined next: 1) planning and control; 2) workflow; 3) organizational structure; 4) communication and information flow; 5) product flow; 6) management methods; 7) power and leadership structure; 8) risks and rewards; 9) culture and attitude.

The first construct -planning and control, refer to the necessary practice that helps move supply chains into a preferred direction (Carter et al., 1998; Lambert and Cooper 2000). The second construct -the workflow can refer to the activities and task a firm performs, and the integration of the supply chain (Lambert and Cooper, 2000). The third construct, -organizational structure- refers to a process approach that involves the key firm, their cross-functional team and the supply chain in which they operate in (Lambert and Cooper, 2000). The fourth construct, -Communication and information flow- refers to the kind of interaction and information shared among supply chain members (Lambert and Cooper, 2000). The fifth construct, -product flow- refers to the structure for distributing, manufacturing and sourcing among the chain (Lambert and Cooper, 2000). The sixth construct -management methods encompass the techniques and philosophy of businesses (Lambert and Cooper, 2000). The seventh construct, -power and leadership structure- does influence supply chains as this can positively or negatively drive the strategic direction of the business (Lambert and Cooper, 2000). The eighth construct, risk and rewards- do positively or negatively influence the commitment of supply chain members (Lambert and Cooper, 2000). The ninth construct, -culture and attitude of supply chains firms- do influence the level of flexibility and efficiencies (Lambert and Cooper, 2000).

Furthermore, Chen and Paulraj (2004) provided a list of 9 individual SCM practices. The following 9 factors are briefly outlined next: 1) environmental uncertainty; 2) customer satisfaction (focus); 3) top management support; 4) supply strategy (competition); 5) IT; 6) supply network structure; 7) managing buyer-supplier relationships; 8) integration of logistics; 9) performance management. The first construct, -environmental uncertaintycan be grouped into three forms: supplier, manufacturer and demand uncertainty (Tang 2006). The level of market uncertainty can be influenced by the degree of competition and technological innovation (see, Miller, 1992; Handfield, 1993; St. John and Heriot, 1993; Stuart, 1993; Van Hoek, 1998; Krause, 1999; Chen and Paulraj 2004). The second construct, -customer focus- refers to the firm's ability to sense and respond to the demand of their customers (Koh and Tan 2006). As such, the customer (B2B or B2C) are a key element to any strategy (Stalk et al., 1992; Ahire et al., 1996; Carson et al., 1997; Tan et al., 1999; Berthon et al., 2007). The focus of customer demand has resulted in the increased variety of products and services in markets. The third construct, -top management support- refers to the commitment of resources such as financial, time, and staff members to support the supplier (or buyers) (Hahn et al., 1990; Monczka et al., 1993; Ward et al., 1995; Krause, 1999; Chen and Paulraj 2004). The role of top management in the allocation of resources particularly relationship development and the adoption of IT cannot be understated (Hahn et al., 1990; Monczka et al., 1993; Krause and Ellram, 1997; Krause, 1999; Chen and Paulraj 2004). The fourth construct, -supply strategy- integrates interactions; competitive advantage and purchasing influence among supply chain members (Corbett and Van Wassenhove, 1993; Miller and Roth, 1994; Stock et al., 1998; Kathuria, 2000; Santos, 2000; Jaafar and Rafiq 2005).

The fifth construct, -IT- helps to transform the way exchanges are carried out and can possibly affect the nature of the linkages between supply chain counterparts (Kumar and van Dissel, 1996; Greis and Kasarda, 1997; Karoway, 1997; Palmer and Griffith, 1998; Radstaak and Ketelaar, 1998; Carr and Pearson, 1999; Christiaanse and Kumar, 2000). The sixth construct, -supply network structure- refers to a firm and its supply chain members. This encompasses the authority, coordination, and task across supply chain firms that can improve supply chain performances (Miles and Snow, 1986; Snow et al., 1992; Alter and Hage, 1993; Jones et al., 1997; Stock et al., 1998, 2000; Harland et al., 1999; Lambert and Cooper, 2000; Croom, 2001; Chen and Paulraj, 2004). The seventh construct, -managing buyer-supplier relationships refers to the selection of members; developing long and collaborative relationships; plus, the coordinating of communication and interaction among supply chains (Li et al. 2006). As such, managing supply chain relationships involves collaborative and profoundly relationship management with suppliers and buyers long-term (Krause and Ellram, 1997; Shin et al., 2000; Mentzer et

al., 2008). The eighth construct, -logistics integration- partakes to the firms and their supply chain for which inventory is concentrated and requires jointly managed the exchange of information between the supply chain counterparts (Sink and Langley 1997; Stock et al., 1998 & 2000; Perçin and Min 2013). The ninth construct, -performance management- can be said to be interwoven and has significant effect on quality (Vickery et al., 1995; Beamon, 1999; Jayaram et al., 1999; Neely, 1999; Kathuria, 2000; Medori and Steeple, 2000; Rahman 2004; Mistry 2005a & 2005b; Teng et al., 2005; Cavusgil and Cavusgil 2012). Despite, these many and varied SCM practices by scholars, i.e. Lambert and Cooper (2000) & Chen and Paulraj (2004), managing relationships -buyer-supplier (the 6th construct) (as well as supplier-supplier) cannot be overstated.

These relevant and previously mentioned literature provide knowledge and information that SCM can enhance supply chains and their relations which can provide a competitive edge. Although, these studies as Tan (2001) points out were targeted at many large (automobile) manufacturing and (few) services firms, this argument can also be applied to SMEs. For instance, collaborative supply chain relationships with buyers or suppliers, including effective relationship management and information sharing, could result in better competitive advantage (Choi and Messinger, 2015) that is needed and provides stability. Furthermore, relationships with buyers and suppliers are generally found to be an essential factor for SMEs to understand their competitive advantage, strategic selection; information sharing, information systems use and relationship management process (Bruque and Moyano, 2007). In the section that follows next, the benefits and challenges of SCM are discussed.

			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		
Author (s) and year	Year	Key themes and constructs		Type of study	Key findings
Lambert and Cooper	2000	Planning and control; workflow; Organizational structure; Communication and Information flow; product flow; Management methods; Power and Leadership structure; Risks and rewards; Culture and attitude		Empirical research	The study provides a conceptual view of SCM and addresses questions about implementation.
Mentzer et al.	2001	Integrating the definition of SCM; Integration of behaviour and processes; Mutual information sharing; Mutual Risks and rewards; Cooperation; Alignment of goals; Long- term relationships.		Conceptual research	The study provides a broad conceptual view of SCM and integrates the many frameworks of SCM from different perspectives.
Chen and Paulraj	2004	Environmental uncertainty; customer satisfaction (focus); top management support; Supply strategy(Competition); Information Technology; Supply network structure; managing Buyer-supplier relationships; Integration of logistics; Performance management		Conceptual research	The study identifies and validates key constructs underlying SCM studies. They conclude that SCM should not focus on individual efforts, but rather, collectively as supply chains.
Stadtler	2005	Supply networks; Partnership selection; Leadership; ICT; Planning and control; business processes		Conceptual research	The study provides a broad conceptual view of SCM and advanced planning.
Li et al.	2005	strategic supplier partnership; customer relationship; information sharing; information quality; internal lean practices; and postponement		Conceptual research	The study provides a parsimonious measurement instrument for evaluating the supply chain performance.
Burgess et al	2006	Leadership; Intra and inter- organizational relationships; Logistics; Process improvement; information sharing; Results and outcomes		Theoretical research	The study highlights SCM as an evolving field with multi- disciplinary roots. They also point out the lack of consensus on a single definition and raise concerns on how SCM research has focused heavily on the manufacturing industry; predominantly.
Williamson	2008	Transactional cost; Contracting; Outsourcing; Supply chain actors		Conceptual research	The study suggests that transaction is the basic unit of analysis. They view contracts from an economic perspective, discuss the different styles of outsourcing, and operationalization of TCE for the supply chain literature.
Cheung et al.,	2010	Knowledge sharing; Value creation; Buyer-seller relationships; Cross-border research		Empirical research	The study conceptualizes B2B (supply chain) relationships as collaborative learning activities that both buyers and suppliers can aim to create value collectively rather than individually.

Table 2.4 T	he evo	lving	themes	in sup	ply	chain	manager	nent	construc	ct

Source: Author

2.4.2 Benefits and challenges of SCM

The manufacturing supply chain is still of importance to the nation's economy. In 2013, it contributed an estimated £148 billion to the UK economy in terms of Gross Value Added (GVA), thus accounting for 10% of the UK economy (HM Government, 2015; Hennik Research, 2016). This provides a significant basis for the economic development and growth for the UK government and provides an avenue for expansion, competitive advantage and innovation for individual businesses. SCM scholars believe in "(1) mutual Information sharing; (2) integrated behaviour (3) mutual risks and rewards sharing; (4) cooperation (5) shared goal and focus; (6) process integration; (7) building and maintain long-term relationships among supply chain members are required to implement an SCM philosophy" (Mentzer et al. 2001, p.7-10). The benefits of SCM to supply chain firms are numerous: SCM can: create (and sustain) their competitive advantage (Mentzer et al., 2001; Gimenez, and Ventura, 2003; Sheffi, 2005; Li et al., 2006; Ireland and Webb, 2007); improve collaboration (Attaran, 2004); improve information sharing (Mentzer et al, 2001; Cooper et al. 1997) improve B2B relationships (Mentzer et al. 2000 & 2001) and innovation (Cooper et al., 1997; Kim, 2000; Bruce et al., 2004; Zhu and Sarkis, 2004; Håkansson and Persson, 2004). Additionally, it is a source of inventory reduction (Bechtel and Jayaram 1997; Christopher, 2011), improved delivery service (St John and Heriot, 1993), and shorter product development cycles (Chicksand et al., 2012).

Some scholars (Cannon and Perreault, 1999; Cannon et al. 2010; Claycomb, and Frankwick, 2004; Ambrose et al., 2010) are quick to differentiate the benefits of SCM to the buying and supplier firm while other scholars provide generalizable merit of using SCM. For example, SCM can also be a means for increased inventory turnover (Callioni et al., 2005) increased revenue (Attaran, 2004; Ferdows et al., 2004); cost reduction (Daugherty et al., 2005); decreased order cycle times (Christopher, 2011); managing the bullwhip effect (Lee et al, 1997; Attaran, 2004); and improved product availability (Leonard and Cronan, 2002; Leonard and Cronan, 2002). And finally, it can improve forecasting (Stank et al., 1999) market responsiveness (Ferdows et al., 2004); added economic value (Anderson et al., 2000; Fine, 2000;); capital utilization (Christopher, 2005) decreased time (Metz, 1998; Mentzer et al., 2000; Lee, 2004;); and logistics cost reduction (Cooke, 1997; van der Vorst and Beulens, 1999; Lee, 2004). Petersen et al., (2008) posit the benefits of SCM to buyers as means of cost reduction; better time delivery (compression) and innovation while (Cousins et al., 2006) posit the benefits to suppliers are better (order) volumes and growth.

Despite these benefits of SCM to the success of many firms, New (1997) observes that SCM is not without its challenges. There exist a plethora of challenges, including the inability to meet or sense (customer) demand (Hendricks and Singhal, 2003); managing supply chain relationships (Christopher, 1996; Goffin et al, 2006; Contractor and Lorange, 1988); quality and production issues (Sharma, and Bhagwat, 2007); control issues (Kotler, 1997); poor collaborative planning (Christopher, 2005); risk (Arifin, 2013); higher inventory (Dubois and Gadde, 2000); and lower sales growth (Hendricks and Singhal, 2005). SCM scholars like Fawcett et al., (2008) observe that these challenges can have a significant impact on the firm's ability to meet (and/or sense) demand and cost incurred. Other challenges have been identified as having numerous and varied definitions of SCM. For example, Burgess et al. (2006) also add that of the 100 randomly selected SCM articles analyzed, only 12 articles made use of distinctive definitions, 21 referred to previously established ones, 9 modified slightly and over half the sample size (58) left SCM undefined. Additionally, Stock and Boyer (2009) further highlights that over 173 definitions were obtained from the 100 books and journals reviewed. It is argued that many SCM literature tend to refer to similar concepts or ideas using different acronyms and idiom which adds to the confusion and limits the benefits that can be obtained from SCM practice (Mentzer et al., 2001; Lambert et al. 2005; Fawcett et al., 2008).

Given these benefits and challenges associated with supply chains, researchers are beginning to consider supply chains as a challenging and yet at the same time, a promising area of interest (Contractor and Lorange, 1988; Adobor, 2006; Selviaridis et al. 2008). Many attempts have been made to explore a variety of supply chain relates themes including relationships with and between supply chain firms (Choi et al., 2002 & 2005). SCM researchers have examined several important themes including the market environment (eq., Seuring, and Müller, 2008; Alexiev et al., 2016); supply chain strategies (e.g., Lee, 2002; Hilletofth and Hilmola, 2010.); firm size (eg., Awheda et al, 2016; Harland et al, 2007; Ceci and lubatti, 2012;); supply chain firm characteristics (e.g., Mohr and Spekman 1994; Knemeyer and Murphy, 2005; Dey et al, 2008); strategic orientations towards the markets (e.g., Skinner, 1969; Slack, 1991; Sunil and Meindl, 2001) resources and capabilities (e.g., Sako, 2004; Lai et al, 2008); information sharing (e.g., Lee et al, 2000; Fiala, 2005; Zhang and Cheung, 2011.); trust and commitment (e.g., Das et al, 1998; O'Leary, 2012; Johnston et al 2004; Chen at al, 2011); level of transactional exchange (e.g., Dyer, 1997; Sahay, and Maini, 2002; Whipple et al, 2010); innovativeness (e.g., Ahuja, 2000; Ceci, and Iubatti, 2012: Fawcett et al 2012); competitive advantage (e.g., Gimenez and Ventura, 2003; Cousins, 2005; Li et al 2006).

There seems to be a lack of consensus on a universal definition of SCM (Burgess et al., 2006; Storey et al., 2006; Chicksand et al., 2012; Fayezi et al., 2012; Pilbeam et al., 2012; Wilding and Wagner, 2012). Since the early nineties, much research into SCM has focused mainly on improving the manufacturer's efficiency that resolves problems such as delays; uncertainties; transportation; warehousing; inventory management and logistics. However, there is a scarcity of research that supports the benefits of SCM, and a number of studies focus on the manufacturing industry with automotive firms such as Toyota and Nissan (Jarillo and Stevenson 1991). Lamming et al. (2000) pointed out that one limitation is that research is usually focused on the manufacturing industry and a few mass services enterprises. As such, the benefits of SCM are self-evident for many larger firms (Hong and Jeong, 2006; Emitt & Christoffersen 2009) but less apparent with other supply chain members (smaller firms). It can be said that these studies have played key roles in understanding the determinants of supply chain relationships that can better their competitive advantage and improve innovation. Nonetheless, there is a need to understand the contributing factors that affect relationships with and between supply chain members better. Consequently, the sections that follow next collectively paint a picture of the themes that affect relationships with and across supply chains based on the literature assessment of SCM and related literature such as relationship management.

2.5 Defining relationships

The development of sustainable competitive advantage has been closely linked to collaborative relationships (Balakrishnan and Geunes 2004). Although the definition of relationships is covered sparingly within business literature sources, one discipline that provides a definition is psychology. Berscheid and Pelau (1983 p.12) explain that people or parties are in a relationship if they "have an impact on each other . . . if they are 'interdependent' in the sense that a change in one person causes a change in the other and vice versa." The Berscheid and Pelau definition explains that relationships exist when separate parties (a buyer and a supplier for example) form associations that have an influence on each other. This simply means that an action by the buyer can affect the supplier in the same relationship. Relationships can be said to reflect their environment (Pagell and Krause, 2004; Wong et al. 2011), they can be simple or complex in nature, formal or informal and they can develop over time or short-term (Dwyer et al. 1987). Hingley, (2005) argues that relationships are deeply embedded in the environment in which they operate and the degree of transaction making it challenging to manage and change.

2.5.1 Relationship management

The management of relationships is not fully understood, particularly as there are ongoing debates from the different viewpoints (buyer vs supplier; SMEs vs non-SMEs; transactional vs relational) and as competition within supply chains continue to increase (Contractor and Lorange, 1988; Blackburn, 1991). Although the efficacy of relationship management has been well researched, relationship management in supply chains remains not well understood. There appears to be a limited understanding of the perspectives of the different supply chain counterparts (e.g., suppliers, buyers, and customers) and their approaches (supplier management & relationship management). It is believed that the use of (business) relationship management can provide conditions for improved competencies, increased transactions, better flexibility, better collaboration, information sharing and ultimately improved opportunities to compete (Wilding, 2006; Selviaridis et al., 2008: Solakivi et al., 2011). Relationship management (RM) is a relational oriented approach borrowed from a marketing concept known as relationship marketing (Gronroos, 2000; Gummesson, 2001) which can be traced back to the industrial and service marketing literature of the 1980's. Some influential authors in this field include Berry (1983: 1995& 2002) and Kotler (1997). RM, in many cases, replaces the traditional transactional-oriented with relationship-oriented, single exchange with continuous exchanges. However, like SCM, there appears to be no universal consensus on a single and universal definition of RM as such there are many definitions of RM that appear varied.

For example, Berry (1983, p. 25) describe RM as activities that "Attracting, maintaining, and—in multi-service organizations- enhancing customer relationships." Similarly, Morgan and Hunt (1994, p. 22) present RM as "activities directed toward establishing, developing, and maintaining successful relational exchanges." Gronroos (1997, p. 407) explain RM as a "process of identifying and establishing, maintaining, enhancing, and when necessary terminating relationships with customers and other stakeholders, at a profit, so that the objectives of all parties involved are met, where this is done by a mutual giving and fulfilment of promises." Harker (1999, p. 16) describe RM as "organization engaged in proactively creating, developing and maintaining committed, interactive and profitable exchanges with selected customers [partners] over time." According to Sheth and Parvatiyar (2000, p. 9) RM is "the ongoing process of engaging in cooperative and collaborative activities and programs with immediate and end-user customers to create or enhance mutual economic value at reduced cost."

These aforementioned definitions overlap in term of 1) target audience (business to consumers-B2C, business to business-B2B or both relationships); 2) relationship phases (identifying, building, sustaining or terminating) and 3) benefits (focal firm or stakeholders). For example, Berry's definition is focused on two stages of relationshipsbuilding and sustain. The author appears to target "B2C" relationships but makes no mention of the beneficiaries of RM. Similarly, Morgan and Hunt's definition adds that "identifying" to the phase of relationships, the authors appear to take targets all supply chain parties and claim benefits are collective. Gronroos' definition goes further to add terminating to the stages of relationships; the author appears to target both B2B and B2C relationships and makes a common claim that benefits both focal firms and the wider stakeholders. In contrast, Harker's definition does not make mention of the "terminating" phase but make mention of identifying, building, sustaining phases of relationships. The author appears to target only the B2C relationship and claims the focal firm as the beneficiary of RM. And finally, Sheth and Parvatiyar definition focuses on only two of the four established phases- identifying and developing relationships. The authors seem to target B2C relationships only and make a collective claim to the benefits of RM. It can be said that individually these definitions tend to overlap, however, collectively they all testify to the usefulness of RM as improved transactional exchanges (resulting in profits); or/and collaboration between supply chain members.

Leonard Berry argues that relational thinking could bring about multiple party benefits (much like the stakeholder paradigm), rather than inequality of benefits in other traditional transactional or adversarial approach. Similarly, Chung, 2011 points out that a change in culture is necessary for other to forge genuinely beneficial relationships. A shift from traditional hierarchies towards a more flat and collaborative supply chain. One common theme is that relationships are fundamental platforms for future exchanges (or profits) and collaborative conditions. RM principles are premised on both collaborative relationships and supply chain member's interactions (Contractor and Lorange, 1988; Choi et al., 2002). However, there are ongoing debates as to the exact focus of relationship management (customers or stakeholders). Some scholars emphasise focusing on the customer to improve profits. This reinforces the traditional transactional approach. Others emphasise focusing on the relationship with and between supply chains as a source of profit. This reinforces the contemporary collaborative approach (much like the stakeholder paradigm) (Hingley 2001; Lambert et al., 1998a; 1988b). This has led to change in the way supply chains are viewed. For example, many will argue that competition is not amongst individual firms but rather amongst supply chains. This means that firm 'A' no longer competes with just firms B or C but rather firm A and their supply chain compete with firm B and their supply chain. In other words, supply chains

network competes with each other. There is no doubt that firms do not exist solely but belongs to a supply chain. However, Lambert (2004) refutes these claims and argues that competition is not between supply chains but rather centred on relationships. His argument is that for firm A and B's supply chains to truly compete firm A would not buy from a supplier who sold to firm B or their supply chain. Likewise, firm B would not sell to the firm A and their supply chain. It can be argued that if firm A buys and sells from a shared pool of suppliers and customers as firm B, can supply chains truly compete with each other?

Collaborative relationships can be grouped as Type 1, 2, and 3. Type 1 collaborative relationships are characterized by coordinating and planning of activities with and between supply chain firms on a short-term basis. Type 2 collaborative relationship is characterized by the coordination and integration of activities on a long-term basis. Finally, Type 3 collaborative relationship is characterized by significant levels of operational integration on a permanent basis. In this case, each firm of the chain is viewed as an extension of their own firm. Thus, the ability to obtain collaborative relationships with and between members of a chain is becoming viewed as a source of competitive advantage.

Despite these proposals, many relationships, particularly in the food retailers and their suppliers, have been characterized as adversarial, which aim at cost reduction for customers, price war for their competitors and potentially improve profit (Hingley 2001). Authors (e.g. Selviaridis & Spring, 2007; Selviaridis et al., 2008; Li et al., 2012; Bachmann and Witteloostuijn, 2009) have advocated that in B2B relationships, both parties need to manage issues rooted in trust, information sharing, interactions, contracts, culture and support. Although, the need for collaborative supply chain relationships through RM, is beginning to attract attention, however, the concept of RM in SCM still remains underdeveloped (Hingley 2001).

2.5.2 Benefits and challenges of relationship management

One of the main benefits of adopting relationship management is to achieve collaborative relationships. Building and maintaining collaborative relationships with supply chain firms is important for all firms including SMEs and their supply chain. For supply chains, it provides increased competitive edge; flexibility; drives down cost/prices; improve operations and efficiency; reduce conflict; information sharing and creating better value for money. For individual business, it provides increased competitive edge, fostering innovation, building and sustaining beneficial relationships;

improve operations and efficiency (Cooper et al., 1997; Chen et al., 2009; Juga et al., 2010; Knemeyer and Murphy, 2005a: 2005b). The rationale is that in cases of increased market competition and scarce resources, forging collaborative relationships with key suppliers facilitates trust. This provides opportunities to share information and discover inefficiencies in supply chains. Myers and Cheung's (2008a) study supports this view. Myers and Cheung's suggest that many supply chains are finding ways of improving their competitive advantage by eliminating waste and creating innovative means to make collaborative relationships in supply chains become more beneficial in formerly unexplored ways. Other innovative ways include: reducing operational costs within the chain and increasing sales volume from downstream buyers and word-of-mouth referrals. This point is buttressed by the number of supply chain partnerships that have survived due to collaborative relationships with buyers and suppliers (Myers and Cheung, 2008b; Myers, 2010). The first argument by Myers, (2010) (presented in this paragraph of this section) views supply chain relationships from cost efficiencies and economic conveniences standpoint. While, the second argument which is also by Myers, (2010) (presented in this paragraph) goes beyond cost efficiencies and economic conveniences, it shows an inclusive and collaborative standpoint.

Given these benefits that can accrue to firms for collaborative relationship management, and given the rising competition (Qureshi et al., 2009; Tsai et al., 2012), businesses in both developed and developing economies are increasingly compelled to look into their business relationships. Despite the importance of collaborative relationships with firms and their supply chains, scholars (like Myers, 2010) have provided some criticisms on the benefits of long-term collaborative relationships in supply chains. This contrary perspective, view long-term collaborative relationships in the supply chain are only beneficial in the long run. The argument here is based on the 'survival of the fittest' (Darwinian struggle). The rationale is that as market competition become fierce, the competition for resources such as raw materials, energy, and financial funding become fiercer. Competition within the supply chains for increasingly diminishing profits will increase, and collaborative relationships amongst formally collaborating suppliers or buyers will inevitably unravel. This point is buttressed by the number of supply chain partnerships (relationships) that have deteriorated between buyers and suppliers over the past eight years (Myers, 2010).

Authors (e.g., Hilletofth and Hilmola, 2010; Lai et al., 2012) suggests that collaborative relationships require high degrees of trust and commitment and interdependence which can be challenging. The plethora of challenges (or barriers) to collaborative relationships include; transactional issues (i.e. late payment and budget pressures); power abuse;

culture (innovativeness); low reputation, low reciprocity; lack of transparency; poor interactions; reluctance to adopt changes and opportunistic behaviours (Kemppainen and Vepsalainen, 2003; Wilding and Humphries, 2006; Humphries and McComie, 2012). There is also a possibility of falling into opportunistic relationships. For example, a supplier or buyer could divulge trade secrets to competitors or turn from the partnerships to become competitors themselves. It is not surprising that effective collaborative relationships are seldom achieved in practice and serve as a continued source of missed opportunities and frustration. Other barriers have been identified include the level of trust, commitment, and risk of increased dependency with and between supply chain firms (Halldorsson and Skjøtt-Larsen, 2006; Hilletofth and Hilmola, 2010). It can be argued that these challenges can be operative and effective in limiting the benefits that can be earned from the management of supply chains (Chen et al., 2011; Tsai et al., 2012).

2.6 Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs)

2.6.1 SMEs as source of competitive advantage

The SCM literature studies competitive importance mainly from large firm's perspective rather than from small business perspective (Danagyach and Deshmukh 2001; Rytter et al., 2007; Chi 2010; Nauhria et al., 2011; Zannon et al., 2012). Thus, there is limited knowledge about the competitive advantage of SMEs. Despite this negligence, scarce studies like (Littunen, 2000: Gupta and Muita, 2013; Baker, and Sinkula, 2009) have found that the perceived competitive priority in SMEs tends to be owner-centric by following the business owner's informal strategies. Porter (2008) maintain that firms should drive competitiveness through cost or differentiation. Kethuria (2010) agree that quality (differentiation) and cost as an essential prerequisite for firm's competition and success. He goes further to add that quality is also needful as products/services with poor quality fail to sell.

Although, there is no common consensus in SCM literature regarding which strategy is most suited to the unique nature of SMEs. However, given that SMEs suffer more restraints than their larger counterparts the question is if SMEs should focus on a single source rather than multiple sources/priorities of competitive edge. For example, findings from Thürer et al., (2013) revealed that SMEs in Brazil manufacturing sectors used multiple strategies focused on cost, price, quality, flexibility and innovativeness to compete better. Lawrence (2008) also found that small businesses competed on either "cost, delivery and quality" or "flexibility and quality". More studies (e.g. Kathuria, 2000: Sum et al., 2004 and Ebben and Johnson 2005) supports the view that SMEs focused on multiple sources to improve their competitive edge. Ebben and Johnson 2005 found that SMEs which focused on efficiency or flexibility had a better competitive advantage.

On the other hand, authors (e.g. Arias-Aranda, 2002: Wood et al., 2014) advocate that SMEs should pursue fewer sources of competitiveness. Aris-Aranda et al. (2001) add that larger firms are more inclined to pursue service-oriented strategies while small businesses were more inclined to pursue more custom-oriented strategies and medium-sized businesses were more inclined to pursue process-oriented ones. However, authors (e.g. Lowson, 2003: Zanon et al., 2012) notes that essential factors like the type and nature of the industry and market could also influence these strategies.

2.6.2 SMEs as relationship drivers

SMEs have been well recognized for their ability to drive collaborative (positive) relationships with their customers and their supply chains (Ardjouman, 2014). These relationships with their supply chains can directly or indirectly influence the SMEs ability to compete better. Thus, the importance of maintaining and sustaining existing business relationships cannot be understated for these reasons. 1). Positive supply chain relationships improve interaction and information sharing. 2). Positive supply chain relationships foster collaborations. 3). Positive supply chain relationships promote repeat (and sustainable) transactions. 4). Positive supply chain relationships improve their competitive edge (Ardjouman, 2014).

2.7 Themes surrounding the use of social media in supply chain from SMEs context

2.7.1 Supply chain relationships

There are different ways of viewing relationships in supply chains. For example, relationships can be viewed from an end user (customer) or business standpoint. Business-to-Business (hereafter B2B) relationships are important features in SCM research and practice (Acharyulu and Shekbar, 2012). Trusting B2B relationships with suppliers has the potential to improve the firm's competitiveness (Monczka et al., 2011). A recent review of SCM literature shows that much research has focused on the dynamics of buyer-supplier relationship however the relationships within suppliers (supplier-supplier relationship) and its influence on buyer-supplier relationships have received little attention. This study addresses this void in SCM literature, especially given that in the past, companies owned and managed a good proportion of their supply chain. Today's Supply Chain is, however, different. It often consists of multiple, independent organizational actors from various industries, and sometimes from multiple countries, managing aspects of the chain.

2.7.1.1 Trust in buyer-supplier relationships

Organizational trust has been well researched from various fields particularly, organization behaviour (Mayer et al., 1995, Atuahene-Gima and Li, 2002). The rationale here is that organizational trust leads to reduced transactional cost, increased transactional exchange, facilitates collaboration and increased individual and organizational performance (Williamson, 1993; Rousseau et al. 1998). As such, scholars

like (Puusa ve Tolvanen, 2006) have referred to trust as the "social glue" that brings people together.

The influential journal articles on trust and transactional exchange (from a marketing perspective) are the older articles like Williamson, 1993 and Rousseau et al. 1998. This could be because they provided foundational information on how trust is a key pre-requisite for certain outcomes and how trust aids economic exchanges. The rationale here is that increased interactions lead to higher trust which can lead to more desired outcomes (exchanges).

Other scholars have also explored what factors can facilitate or hinder trust thereby influencing the desired outcomes (Atuahene-Gima and Li, 2002; Kwon et al. 2004). Scholars have found that information asymmetry (imbalance) can hinder trust. This implies that where there is information asymmetry, conditions may occur where the buyer or supplier gets more out of the relationship/ exchange than they deserve.

There are many different and varied definitions of trust in literature; this implies two things: 1). Trust has been studied in different fields and disciplines which has been subjected to interpretation from their perspective. 2). There is yet to be a universal consensus on a universal definition. Trust can be undertaken from a psychological or economic perspective (Rotter 1967; Williamson, 1993; Morgan and Hunt, 1994 & 1999). The psychological orientation deals with attitudes towards trust and attitudes toward trust can influence the chances of transactional exchanges. The economic orientation, on the other hand, deals with the norms, expectation and contractual agreement between buyers and suppliers governing the exchange and protect the adverse effects of information asymmetry (opportunisms) but instead produce the desired expectation of the exchange (Ramaswami, 1997). In this section, the different definitions of trust are presented, the importance of trust will be provided, the typologies are presented, and lastly, the most applicable trust model is proposed.

So how is trust defined? Although, studies into trust has been well researched, there is yet to be a common consensus on a universal definition of trust (Lewicki et al., 2006). Although, trust has been well researched, trust literature is still remains riddled with lots of different definitions see table 2.5. Table 2.5 show these definitions of trust include concepts of expectation (that the other party will behave in a certain way) and vulnerability (tendency to lose value). The common rationale behind this definition is that more the match between the expectations of supply chain members and past outcomes, the more confident a firm gets about current and future outcomes (Parkhe, 1998).

Authors	Year	Definition	Focus/Journal
Sabel	1993 p1133	Trust is the mutual confidence that no party to an exchange will exploit another's vulnerabilities.	Interpersonal relationships in an organizational context
Mayer et al	1995 p712	Trust is the willingness of a party to be vulnerable to the actions of another party based on the exceptions that other will perform a particular action important to the trustor.	Management
Shaw	1997 p22	trust is one's belief that another will meet his/her positive expectations	Management
McKnight et al	1998 p474	Trust is that one believes in, and is willing to depend on another party.	Management
Das and Teng	1998 p492	Trust is the willingness of a partner firm to pursue mutually compatible interest in the alliance rather than act opportunistically.	Management
Sheppard and Sherman	1998 p422	Trust is accepting the risk associated with the type and depth of interdependence inherent in a given relationship	Management
Rousseau	1998: p395	trust is a psychological state comprising the intention to accept vulnerability based upon positive expectations of the intentions or behaviour of another	Management

Table 2.5 Different trust definitions

Source: Author

The most appropriate and most cited definition of trust is adopted in this study- Mayer et al. (1995 p 712) define trust as "the willingness of a party to be vulnerable to the actions of another party based on the exceptions that other will perform a particular action important to the trustor". This definition infers that trust is perceived as a risky belief.

It is worth noting that trust literature is riddled with different constructs of trust (). Notwithstanding, there are two main types of trust 1). general trust 2). Relational trust (Couch and Jones, 1997). General trust focuses on an individual orientation towards others while relational trust emphasizes on specific partners and their actions. General trust often based on past behaviours and experiences while relational trust is often based on the strength of the relationship and the trustworthiness (Couch and Jones, 1997, McKnight et al., 1998). There are many ways of looking at trust see table 2.6. Table 2.6 shows the different constructs used in extant research on this topic. These constructs can be divided by trust beliefs and trust behaviour. Worthy of mention is that trust is largely subjective and has been adopted from a relational perspective in terms 1) benevolence 2) competence (ability) and 3) Integrity. Benevolence is defined as "the extent to which a trustee is believed to want to do good to the trustor, aside from an egocentric profit motive" (Mayer et al., 1995, p 718). Integrity is defined as "the trustor

perception that the trustee adheres to a set of principles that the trustor finds acceptable (Mayer et al., 1995, p 719). Competence is referred to as the "that group of skills and characteristics that enable a party to have influence within a specific domain" Mayer et al., 1995, p 717. Should the buyer or supplier show high levels of these three factors, the buyer or supplier is considered to be trustworthy.

Authors and	Type of	Trust conceptualization	Field/Focus		
Year	research				
Giffin (1967)	Conceptual	Integrity, benevolence and competence	Interpersonal relationships in organizational settings		
Rempel et al. (1985)	Empirical	Benevolence, predictability and honesty	Interpersonal relationships in organizational settings		
Schurr and Ozanne (1985)	Empirical	Fairness, openness and dependability	Buyer-supplier relationships		
Zucker (1986)	Conceptual	Contracts and expectations	B2B relationships		
Crosby et al. 1990	Empirical	Benevolence, overall trust, and integrity	Buyer-supplier relationships		
Mishra and Morrissey (1990)	Empirical	Integrity, confidence and support	Interpersonal relationships in organizational settings		
Moorman et al. (1992)	Empirical	Willingness to be vulnerable and intent	B2B relationships		
Fukuyama (1995)	Conceptual	Expectations, honesty and collaborative behaviour	B2B relationships		
Ganesan (1994)	Empirical	Integrity and benevolence	Buyer-supplier relationships		
Ramaswami et al. (1997)	Empirical	Reliability, honesty and trustworthiness	Interpersonal relationships in organizational settings		
Gefen (2000)	Empirical	Competence, benevolence and integrity	B2B relationships		
Gulati (1995)	Empirical	Expectations and non- opportunistic behaviour	B2B relationships		
Kumar et al. (1995)	Empirical	Honesty and benevolence	B2B relationships		
McAllister (1995)	Empirical	Competence, shared ideas and willingness to be vulnerable	Interpersonal relationships in organizational settings		
Mishra (1996)	Conceptual	Willingness to be vulnerable, competence, openness and reliability	Interpersonal relationships in organizational settings		
Hart and Saunders (1997)	Conceptual	Expectations, moral ethics and Integrity	B2B relationships		
Zaheer et al. (1998)	Empirical	non-opportunistic behaviour, integrity and trustworthiness	Buyer-supplier relationships		
Mayer et al. (1999)	Empirical	Willingness to be vulnerable, competence, benevolence and integrity	Interpersonal relationships in organizational settings		
McKnight et al., (1998)	Conceptual	Benevolence, competence, honesty and expectation	Interpersonal relationships in organizational settings		

Table 2.6: Concepts of trust

Relational trust in organizational settings has mentioned earlier can be divided into trust belief and trust behaviour (Robson et al. 2008). For example, trust signifies an

employee's belief around the consistency of the organisation's commitment as well as the matching behaviours during uncertain or risky situations (Matthai, 1991). As such, trust is made up of interpersonal and organizational trust. Trust belief can be further divided into calculative trust and Affective trust (McAllister, 1995; McKnight et al., 1998; Robson et al., 2008) while trust behaviour can be further divided into influence receptiveness and forbearance (Robson et al., 2008). Calculative trust can further be divided into deterrence-based trust, knowledge-based trust and identification based trust (Sharpiro et al., 1992; Lewicki and Bunker, 1996; Fisman and Khanna, 1999). Organizational trust evolves as the concept of trust is applied to an organizational setting than a general setting.

Trust is crucial as it can facilitate or impede transactional exchanges in B2B relationships. For example, trust can enable collaborations (Gambetta, 1988) and promote network relations (Miles and Snow, 1992). Trust can be a measure of quality (strength) relationships were factors like relationship length, level of interaction, personal relationships, market environment, contracts, degree of interdependence, joint efforts and firm culture (Parker and Russell, 2004; Corsten and Felde, 2005; Jose Sanzo et al., 2007; Prahinski and Fan, 2007; Huang et al., 2008; Hartmann and Caerteling, 2010; Song and Chatterjee, 2010; Sambasivan and Yen, 2010; Katok and Pavlov, 2013). It is noticeable from these discussions that trust can influence supply chain relationships. However, there is no universal consensus on a single definition of trust and as such identifying trust cannot be easily quantified and remains problematic.



Figure 2.4: A model of trust development

Source: Mayer et al. 1995 p715

2.7.1.2 Power and control

Authors (e.g., Prahinski and Fan, 2007; Jose Sanzo et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2008; Hartmann and Caerteling, 2010; Sambasivan and Yen, 2010; Song and Chatterjee, 2010) suggest that power has a significant impact on supply chain relationships particularly B2B ones. SCM scholars believe that "power is an acknowledged but not often discussed parameter within the context of mutual relationship norms" (Petersen et al., 2008, p.54). As such, the power is not mutually beneficial but exclusive beneficial one or more members of a supply chain and in most cases disadvantageous to others. There are two perspectives of power from previous research. For example, French and Raven et al., (1959) proposed five sources of managerial power widely accepted in literature. They include; A) based on their formal charter of authority: 1) legitimate or formal or bureaucratic power; (2) reward power; (3) coercive power; B) based on competence and qualities (4) expert power; (5) referent power (Gaski, 1986; Singh et al., 2009a: 2009b; Kahkonen and Virolainen, 2011). Legitimate power focuses on the authority held by the formal positioning or legitimately power under charter by the organization's or market (Singh and Vlatas 1991; Singh et al., 2009a: 2009b). Reward power refers to the authority held when rewards such as money are given or withheld (Singh and Vlatas 1991; Singh et al., 2009a:2009b). Coercive power refers to the authority held by fear; it is based on the premise that the subordinate may be deprived if full compliance is not met (Singh and Vlatas 1991; Singh et al., 2009a; 2009b). Expert power refers to the authority held based on past performance, superior knowledge, expertise (Singh and Vlatas 1991; Singh et al., 2009a: 2009b). Referent power refers to the authority held based on ability to influence followers or subordinates due to friendship, loyalty or respect (Singh and Vlatas 1991; Singh et al., 2009a: 2009b). Recently, the sixth form of power type has been added by Ke et al. (2009) to the Five Bases of Power; this is called information power.

Authors (like Azad and Faraj, 2011) have shown that power and control can have negative (counter) effects on long-term supply chain relationships. On the one hand, coercion power can facilitate environments for low performance, political imbalances, lack of trust and productivity in supply chain firms. On the other hand, not all types of power bases are negative, for example, expert and referent power can be useful in providing support to supply chain counterparts and providing a favourable business environment that facilitates collaborative relationships. Power abuse in supply chains can also create high on the scale of independence, poor/limited information sharing and business uncertainties amongst their members. Much attention in research has been given to social factors like social influence and social capital in social media use (Ngai

et al., 2015), whereas, little attention has been given to other social factors like social power (Wei, 2009). This is despite the importance of social power theory in explaining the effect of the recipient agent (supplier-supplier) in response to the influences of the sender agent (buyer-supplier relationship) or vice-versa.

2.7.1.3 The orientation of buyer-supplier and supplier-supplier relationships

According to Wu et al. (2010), there are three-dimensional relationships that exist between buyer and their suppliers, which is the "buyer-supplier-supplier triads." They argue that inter-organizational relationships consist of multiple businesses that are best reflected in triads. Lazzarini et al. (2008) draws on the buyer-supplier and suppliersupplier dyads and is largely consistent with Choi et al. (2002) accounts. Choi et al., (2002) argue that the characterization of relationships (within suppliers and between buyers) are not as simple as presented. They propose three (3) topographies of supplier-supplier relationships (collaborate, competitive and coopetition) and various forms of buyer-supplier relationships. Choi et al. (2002) theorized "supplier-supplier" relationships and argued that upstream relationships between suppliers (the way suppliers interact with other suppliers) can influence the relationship between the buyer and their end users. In subsequent accounts, Wu and Choi (2005) proposed that three types of supplier-supplier archetypes; competition, cooperation, and co-opetition occur. They suggest that buyers should encourage competitive relationships when there are many suppliers and the cost of switching to another supplier is low. Collaborative relationships with suppliers should be encouraged when buyers desire to have suppliers share technology and capacity. Collaboration with suppliers should be encouraged when suppliers supply strategic goods. Choi and Wu elucidate that supplier-supplier dyads can be dimensioned along five relationship typologies based on their levels of coopetition: conflict, contracts, competitiveness, collaboration and transaction. In their typology, they summarize the complexities of the cooperative and competitive relational dynamics between how suppliers interact amongst other suppliers. More approaches to understanding B2B relationships include existing studies on the buyer-supplier relationship by Ellram and Henddrick, (1995) in which they explored the relationship between buyers and suppliers.

The relationship between buyers and suppliers can be commonly viewed as a critical element for strategic and competitive advantage in supply chains (e.g. Gimenez and Ventura, 2003; Sahay et al., 2006; Choi and Messinger, 2015.) In some literature, the fundamental and smallest unit of a supply chain is made up of a buyer and a supplier,

called the dyad, while, in other literature, the smallest unit of a supply chain is made up of at least three members, called a triad. However, dyadic relationships have received much attention and are well established in the academic literature. For example, the benefits of collaborative dyadic relationships to buyers include reduced transactional cost; improved value, reduce the bullwhip effect; improved service levels for customers and high influence on suppliers (Dyer, 1997; Anderson et al.,1994; Helper, 1991; Srinivasan and Brush, 2006). The benefits of collaborative dyadic relationships to suppliers include better economies of scale; better access and expansion to market; shared resources and development cost; reputation /association to the buying firms that cannot be easily replaceable (Balakrishnan and Geunes 2004). Furthermore, Martin et al. (1995) showed that collaborative buyer-supplier relationships in Japanese automobile manufacturing supply chain were associated with improved production processes. Despite the continued interest in these dyadic relationships, scholars are now beginning to pay closer attention to triadic relationships as well. Choi and Wu (2009) have increasingly stressed the importance of supplier–supplier relationships.

There are many arguments and debates on the fundamental unit of supply chain firms (Dyer and Nobeoka, 2000; Sako, 2004). On the one hand, many consider the most significant hurdle to effective SCM is by focusing solely on the dyadic relationships only (Anderson et al.,1994; Gligor and Autry, 2012). On the other hand, many consider the most significant foundation to effective SCM is to focus on triadic relationships (Choi and Wu, 2009a). SCM literature restates an array of debates on how buyer-supplier and supplier-supplier relationships interact with one another and what the effects of such interactions are (Choi and Wu, 2005 & 2009).

It is worth mentioning that relations in a supply chain can also be considered in terms of vertically or horizontally integration. The vertical relations comprise of a group of interorganizational relations between actors in different tiers. Christopher, 2005, p. 17 summaries that vertical integration is generally aimed at incorporating either upstream towards the initial supplier or downstream towards the end-customer. The horizontal relation, on the other hand, comprises of relations within the same tier (relationships between actual or potential competitors) (Cravens et al., 1996). In this thesis, the emphasis is placed on buyer-supplier and supplier-supplier relationships- the relationships with and between supply chain firms.

Dyadic relationships in supply chains can be grouped into two extreme categories: (1) transactional; and (2) collaborative relationship. These supposed distinctions between transactional and collaborative relationships have been well studied in SCM research.
This traditional form of relationship is often characterized by constructs such as distrust; time management; cost reduction; quality; lower prices, power, and control, quasi-co-operation, and adversarial relationships (Hingley 2001; Humphries and McComie, 2012). During this relationship, it is expected that profits earned from these cooperative transactional relationships can far outweigh profit by a single firm (Hingley 2001). Whilst, transactional relationships are focused more on the aforementioned constructs they often ignore the firm interactions or collaborative (close) relationship.

In a collaborative relationship, on the other hand, is characterized by information sharing, trust, trust, interactions. It focuses on the nature of relationships rather than the transactional exchanges and purchases volumes (Williamson, 2008). There are ample arguments these transactional and collaborative typologies tend to transcend the boundaries of SCM to economic, social and political literature (HBR, 2016). It is apparent that there are different possible approaches to relationships in the supply chain which appear to be the extremes of a continuum and mutually exclusive rather than mutually inclusive. In other words, the relationship approach may not necessary be oppose each other but possibly complement each other.

In case of motivation for supply chain relationships, the approach has traditionally been premised on supporting collaborative relationships. For example; Soosay et al., 2008 affirm that the cooperation and coordination typology of supply chain relationships is premised on the different degree of collaboration. Scholars (e.g., Lorentz, 2008; Zare Mehrjerdi, 2009) suggest that "integration" is another type of relationship which is premised on helping supply chain members or partners to achieve collaboration and aligning resources. Authors (e.g. Spence and Bourlakis, 2009; Bordonaba-Juste and Cambra-Fierro, 2009; Daugherty, 2011; Janvier-James and Didier, 2011; Vieira et al., 2009; Fearon et al., 2010) advocate that "partnership and alliances" are another form of supply chain relationships that emphasise the closeness and collaboration between supply chain members. As such the terms, "collaboration," "alliance," "relationships" and "partnerships" are used interchangeable and tend to overlap amongst different authors in SCM literature. Maloni & Benton (1997) points out that entire concept of collaborative relationship is characterized by constructs such as increased trust; interactions; risks and benefits; flexibility and proactive ways of managing new challenges.

Many studies have established the potential for collaborative relationships with suppliers as a source of competitive advantage (Nesheim, 2001; Das et al., 2006; Flynnet et al., 2010). Danese (2013) explains that buyer-supplier collaborations provide benefits such

improved: efficiency; competitiveness; flexibility; performance and better as service/schedule attainment. In collaborative relationships, the buying firm can perceive or refer to their suppliers as partners and sometimes as an extension of their business. Hunt et al., (2006) adds that many firms do not collaborate for the mere sake of collaboration but indeed for the perceived benefits. He argues that most firms engaged in relational exchanges when the perceived benefit derived far outweighs the opportunity cost. Establishing such strategic alliances pushes the need to share useful information with supply chain members and to manage relationships (Grönroos, 2000). The ideal effect can be a commitment from both parties involved to the relationship. However, in some case, the supplier is usually more willing to commit and more adaptable to the requirements of the buyer. In many cases, the supplier base may be consolidated and may look more attractive to the supplier, while the buyer benefits from a dedicated service from the supplier and possibly reduced cost (Narasimhan and Das, 2001; Guimaraes et al., 2002; Paulraj et al., 2006; Hartmann et al., 2012). Collaborative relationships by nature can develop higher levels of trust and cooperation which can improve their responsiveness and encourage the supplier to adjust its own strategic objective to match that of the buying firm (Chen et al., 2004; Govindan et al., 2010; Li et al., 2012). These commitments from the buyer or supplier may urge the signing of contracts (see section 2.3.5). Weck and Blomqvist (2008) also notes that informal relationships can be a source of competitiveness which can facilitate the sharing of information and ideas. Although, the benefits of collaborative relationships in supply chain can become sources of competitiveness, at the same time they can also degenerate into sources of operational complexities or inefficiency with dependence issues (Sivadasan et al., 2010).

2.7.1.4 Business to Business (B2B) interactions

Interaction is the means of talking, sharing and engaging with a community, business or even supply chains and each can contain particular social characteristics or features (Holmlund, 2004.). Interactions, in many cases, can reflect each society (or business) environment and system. In some businesses, such as restaurants and catering may place more emphasis on physical (face-to-face) interactions, while other businesses (clothing lines and public relations) may use lay emphasis on visual and nonvisual forms of interaction. Examples of nonphysical interactions used by businesses include telephone, emails, fax and social media platforms. Interactions with and between supply chains members can impact on several dimensions of a firm's competitiveness (Medlin, 2004). Developing collaborative relationships and interactions with suppliers can depend mainly on the resources and capabilities of the supply chain members. Interactions within exchange members can build trust, strengthen relationships and enhance information sharing with and among supply chain members (Goffin et al., 2006). Notably, as some successful collaboration between buyer and supplier can be achieved through the exchange of useful information can be tactical or strategic (Knobloch and Solomon 2002).

In many cases where (environmental) uncertainty is high, high interactions can influence not only efficiency (Yan and Dooley, 2013) but competitiveness as well (Chen et al., 2004). For example, improved interactions between supply chain members can enhance inter-firm learning that is essential for competitive success (Paulraj et al., 2008). However, interactions between supply chain members are not always advantageous but may expose supply chain members (buyers or suppliers) to opportunism.

The level of interaction between two actors can be described as a continuum, ranging from the transactional (arms-length and sometimes adversarial relationships) to collaborative (strategic and cooperative relationships). The levels of interaction are said to increase on one end of the transactional continuum to the collaborative end. Some enablers of interaction that have been shown in previous studies include: benefit sharing, trust, shared interests, collaboration, clear expectations, openness, mutual help (support), leadership, information sharing and technology (Mentzer et al, 2001; Sahay, 2003; Bititci et al., 2004; Simatupang and Sridharan, 2005a & 2005b). In the section that follows next, a summary of the chapter is provided.

Tools involved in collaboration includes emails, telephone calls, conference calls, face to face meetings and visits. Emails are one of the most popular tools that can be used to obtain information. For example, information about the status of projects or events, approval and opinions of team members. However, there are challenges with using email, for example, it is important to make sure that the right persons are copied in-"cc" or blind copied-"bc" into the mail to prevent the spread of sensitive data; finding the latest thread of an email to reply to. The difference in time and location to which the email is sent, or response needed. In the section that follows, information surrounding relationship management is discussed.

2.7.2 Exchanges/ Transactions

2.7.2.1 Transactional exchange in transactional cost economics (TCE)

TCE or transactional cost reasoning was developed by Oliver E. Williamson in 1981. Williamson (1981) argued that the traditional arms-length transactions of markets provide little opportunity for firms to gain economic rents (or more specifically, a sustained competitive advantage). Dyer and Singh (1998) propose that a firm considering only the transaction such as TCE does but pay attention to the equally important long-term series of transactions required. They went further to argue that by creating partnerships (collaborative relationships) and making investments in resources with firms with similar resources can result in a reduced per-transactional cost. For example, a car firm might pressure price cuts on their suppliers in order to reduce variable costs; this is similar to the how a clothing manufacturer might reduce its variable costs by moving resources to fixed costs.

2.7.2.2 Contracting and contractual agreement

In a service or management contract arrangement, a firm can provide a service function on behalf of another firm. For example, suppose that a new small IT firm is created in a small state. The new firm may have local information about the market and employees in IT services but lack considerable capital and relative experience in managing large projects. Big IT players can be approached for partnership, and it agrees to provide support. In this way, the new firm utilizes the established network of the big player and it's known brand while big players take advantage of the new IT firm's local knowledge and service to complement its own without much direct investment and employees learn the management of technologies efficiently. Collectively, this arrangement can bring the integration of resources, capabilities, and infrastructure to create benefits that neither party may achieve on its own.

Although Non-Disclosure Agreements (NDAs) can be signed prior to contract executions (relations between businesses that exchange or intend to in future), however, this does not guarantee that there won't be breached, especially in countries with weak legal enforcement (MacNiel, 2000). These contracts may not reveal or make provision for operational failures (both unforeseen and excepted); and poor collaborations (Bakos, and Brynjyolfsson, 1993). As a result, the emphasis is on the 'small print' rather than developing and sustaining relationships. Added to this, a buyer/ supplier may have to overhaul its process and integrate a supplier's technology and incur the cost in the hope of repeat custom. As the cost of changing a supplier (partner) is high, the buyer can

become captive to the supplier. Although, it could be argued that forging closer relationships with suppliers makes for improved competitive edge and effectiveness (Hingley, 2001). However, the reality, relationships, and its dynamics are difficult to predict especially in these times of uncertainties. Simchi-Levi et al., (2004) suggest that the Dell, Procter & Gamble are good examples of collaborative relationships with their suppliers. However, one can argue that these are examples of the largest firms in their industry. Scholars (e.g. Azad and Faraj, 2011) also caution that the switching cost of potentially replacing existing buyer or supplier should be considered carefully as assets and investments can be lost forever if they decide to dissolve the relationship.

2.7.3 Competition and competitive advantage

Schoenherr (2009) explains that globalization, customer expectation, and uncertainties in the market can help businesses and their supply chain to build a competitive advantage for themselves. Slack et al., (2010) suggest that supply chains can collaboratively build capabilities that allow for future competitive advantage. This has led to the notion that businesses no longer compete with other businesses, but rather competition has shifted to their supply chain (e.g., Ellram, 1995; Henkoff, 1994; Londe and Masters, 1994; Simchi-levi et al. (2007) Christopher, 2011; Frigero, 2005). However, the notion that we compete not as individual businesses but rather as a supply chain is an interesting and highly debatable topic. This argument remains highly debatable as authors like Lambert et al. (2005) argue that competition is not between supply chains but individual businesses. On the one hand, one school of thought argues that most businesses function within a supply chain rather than operating in isolation. As such, businesses compete collectively via their supply chain, not individually. Another school of thought argues that most businesses do not operate in one supply chain but several supply chains. As such, individual actors are not mutually exclusive to one supply chain but participate in multiple supply chains (Lambert et al., 2005). Irrespective of the different perspectives, the arguments offer opportunities to understand the management of supply chains and their relationships better.

Despite such debates, the idea of competing through one's supply chain has led to careful consideration of relationships with suppliers, partners, and stakeholders in a chain (Lambert 2008). In competitive markets, many firms get involved in supply chain relationships for diverse reasons such as increasing efficiency in their business operations; generating more revenue and increase their market share (Morgan and Hunt, 1994). As such, SCM is now becoming curial for many firms (small and large) which, until recent have operated primarily for larger firms and automobile industries.

2.7.3.1 Use of relationship management

The poor management of Business to Business (B2B) relationships in the supply chain has become evident in many SCM scandal gracing our new headlines. Scandals like controversy surrounding: the modern slavery allegations in fashion supply chain (BBC, 2017; Forbes, 2016), alleged underpayments of wages below UK's living wages of £7.20 to supply chain workers by fashion retailers (channel 4, 2017), poor relationships between food retailers and their supply chain, concerns around better regulation of pharmaceutical supply chain (Supply chain drive, 2016 & 2017). These scandals have highlighted the importance of RM. This increased awareness has emphasized the need for more collaborative rather than adversarial relationships with and between supply chain members (Hingley, 2001; 2005a; 2005b; 2005c; Hingley et al., 2012 & 2015). In response to this practice, businesses are exploring their relationships with and across supply chains as a source of competitive advantage. As a result, there is a shift from transactional (sometimes adversarial) relationships towards more collaborative relationships. The general belief is that good RM practice improves collaboration and information sharing within supply chain firms, and ultimately improves competitive edge (Emmett and Crocker, 2016). However, problems with and between supply chains remain.

For example, heavy criticism has been made by the public since the BBC Panorama documentary aired in early January 2015 regarding the growing power of Tesco's (UK's food and grocery retail giant) their impact on the economic, political and social environment of their supply chain (Lindgreen and Hingley, 2003; BBC, 2017). Many food suppliers are beginning to regard the retailer as a threat rather than a benefit to their economic and social well-being. The typical disputes include: 1) Delayed payments 2) Their presence creates future competition and reducing the economic strength of smaller businesses. 3) Making retrospective changes to terms of supply (contract) 4) tying suppliers down to certain third-party service providers 5) Dominating many markets 6) promoting unethical business practices such as price fixing, wars, and competition (Hingley, 2005). Consequently, the UK government established the Grocery Supply Code of Practice (GSCOP), which has become the initial code of conduct for retail business (supply chains) practices in a quest to address supply chains in UK. Many argue that by focusing on long-term strategies instead of short-term profits, they can develop more collaborative relationships which are essential for survival in markets. On the other hand, many argue that issues with supply chain relationships or unfair supply chain practice by large firms are not recent or familiar to Tesco only but have long been a source of concern. However, such criticisms have forced Tesco to develop strategies

to remain competitive and, at the same time, to adapt to the customer's needs and the environment. For example, in 2015, Tesco launched its first online community of suppliers (Tesco's Supplier Network) to serve as a platform to connect where their supply chain members can interact and collaborate (TSN, 2015).

Many authors (e.g. Nesheim, 2001; Das et al., 2006; Talluari et al., 2006; Narasimhan and Talluri, 2009; Flynn et al., 2010) have noted that collaborative relationships with suppliers can be a source of competitive advantage. Collaboration, as defined by Wilding and Humphries (2006:67), is "working together to bring resources into a required relationship to achieve effective operations in harmony with the strategies and objectives of the parties involved thus resulting in mutual benefit". Firms of supply chains can come together to deliver a project, product or contract collectively contributing something that neither parties can achieve individually. Contributions could be in forms of intellectual capital, time, money, capabilities or infrastructure (Humphries and McComie, 2010a & 2010b). Collaboration in supply chains generally advocates that firms of supply chains form cooperative and long-term focus relationships between buyers and fewer suppliers. The rationale is that collaboration might enable firms of supply chains to compete better, improve information sharing, improve revenue, increase flexibility and better respond to the ever-changing market environment. Thus, it is becoming excepted for businesses to focus much of their attention on managing their supply chain relationship well.

On the other hand, although collaborative relationship can be beneficial, it can also have potential risks. Risks of being vulnerable to opportunist, Complancy, increased dependency, issues arising from distrust, poor financial control, weak interactions, firefighting and quality issues. Given these risks, it is not surprising that many firms shy away from collaborative relationships and adversarial relationships continue to grace our headlines with widespread practices like power abuse, lack of transparency and reluctance to adopt change exist (Kemppainen and Vepsalainen, 2003). Despite these setbacks, it is worth mentioning that collaborative relationships with and between members of a supply chain can collectively open up opportunities and benefits that may not be available to the individual firm.

2.7.3.2 Resources and capability

Alfalla-Luque et, 2013 proposed a framework of supply chain integration that comprised of three constructs 1). information integration, 2). coordination and resource sharing, 3). organisational relationship linkages. Scholars (i.e. Teller et al., 2011: Kotzab et al., 2011) suggest that the presence of specific SCM-related resources depends on the implementation of inter-organisational business processes of supply chain members. Despite this importance, there is still a lack of clarity regarding which resources and capabilities in individual firms can (directly or indirectly) utilize their integration of business processes with suppliers and customers, create value and improve the chain. Penrose (2009) refers to SCM related resources as financial, human, physical, and organisational assets that firms use to develop their products. It is worth mentioning that the ability of the firm to manage the resources and capabilities across the supply chain firms that provide a competitive advantage. These kinds of resources and capabilities are usually unique and not easily copied (Graant, 1991) Resources in the study include any transactional exchange between parties include work, money, staff, supplies and skilled technical assistance.

2.7.3.3 Firm's innovativeness

Firm innovativeness is defined by Kunz et al., (2011:817) as the "*capability of a firm to be open to new ideas and work on new solutions*." Tuominen et al., 2004 argued that a firm's innovativeness influences the firm's ability to use new technologies. The changing demands have resulted in increased innovations that can constrain or enable firms' survival. In today's uncertain business environment, many firms seize the opportunity to use innovative technology and develop innovative products to adapt to the underlying changes in demand. Wamba and Carter (2013) suggest that firm innovativeness can influence the firm's ability to compete. Similarly, many studies (e.g., Boso et al., 2013) have revealed that the firm's innovativeness is directly associated with the firm's performance. It is argued that the firm innovativeness can be examined by drawing on contingency theory (Boso et al., 2013). Boso and colleagues argue that the explanatory power of contingency theory lies in the understanding that a firm's actions are affected by forces in the external environment. In general, there are five classifications of innovativeness; innovators: early adopters: early majority: late majority and resisters (laggard) (see figure 2.4).



Figure 2.5: Categories of innovativeness

Source: Rogers 2003

Resisters are described by Matsuura (1991 p 490) as "those who oppose any innovations and who may continue to insist on traditional ways." Resistance is often viewed in many strategy and psychology literature as a major obstacle to any change including technological innovativeness (Ellen et al, 1991: Dent and Goldberg, 1999: Dent and Goldberg, 1999: Song and Montoya-Weiss 2001: Nov and Ye, 2008), while other critics view resistance as a necessary scrutiny and constructive as well (Waddell and Sohal, 1998). There are different forms of resistance to technological innovativeness. Resistance can be cultural, political, social or traditional. For example, different organizational cultures can reflect different value systems. Values as described by Matsura (1991 pp64) as "the standards by which concepts and behaviours are judged." A number of businesses are motivated by monetary incentives, while other members may be motivated by its social responsibility or technological innovativeness (Hollenstein, 1996: Deshpandé et al., 1993: Christensen and Bower, 1996: Lantos, 2001). This inconsistency may be due to the differences in attitudes towards wealth and achievement across the industry types and firms (Matsura, 1991). In the same manner, some industries show strong resistance to new ideas and innovations, while others accept them readily.

2.7.3.4 Information sharing and asymmetry

Lambert (2008) claims that the primary source of competitive advantage for business is their supply chain, especially where the quality of supplier input offers tangible value to the end user. Mentzer et al. (2001) highlight information sharing as being integral to Supply Chain Management (SCM) and indeed the SCM philosophy. Langley and Holcomb (1992) are of the view that information sharing is an important requirement for SCM philosophy. They argue that participating organizations in the supply chains could utilize such information flows (or exchanges) and relationships to gain competitive advantage (just like any other single organization would) (Lambert, 2008). This means that in some cases, suppliers need to be persuaded that by exchanging valuable information, they stand to gain not lose. On the other hand, Premkumar and Roberts (1999) point out that information is a competitive advantage, and increasing the exchange of information could leave small businesses vulnerable to the whims of their larger partners.

Firms of supply chains can come together to deliver a project, product or contract collectively contributing something that neither parties can achieve individually. Contributions could be in forms of intellectual capital, time, money, capabilities or infrastructure (Humphries and McComie, 2010a & 2010b). Information sharing in supply chains generally advocates that firms of supply chains form cooperative and long-term focus relationships between buyers and fewer suppliers. The rationale is that information sharing might enable firms of supply chains to compete better, improve information sharing, improve revenue, increase flexibility and better respond to the ever-changing market environment (Wilson 2010). Thus, it is becoming excepted for businesses to focus much of their attention on managing their supply chain relationship well.

On the other hand, although collaborative relationship can be beneficial, it can also have potential risks. Risks of being vulnerable to opportunist, Compliance, increased dependency, issues arising from distrust, poor financial control, weak interactions, firefighting and quality issues. Given these risks, it is not surprising that many firms shy away from collaborative relationships and adversarial relationships continue to grace our headlines with widespread practices like power abuse, lack of transparency and reluctance to adopt change exist (Kemppainen and Vepsalainen, 2003). Despite these setbacks, it is worth mentioning that information sharing with and between members of a supply chain can collectively open up opportunities and benefits that may not be available to the individual firm.

2.7.4 Social media use

2.7.4.1 Internet infrastructure

The high cost of internet access has hindered the growth of many businesses. For example, FT (2014) provides an example of a film marker had to bring hard physical

copies of his films to London on hard drives to upload them. However, things have improved and can be uploaded from Nigeria but at a price which not all SMEs are able to afford. For example, the data bundle is available from N70,000 (about \$430) a month for a 100GB (FT, 2014) The use of social media in Nigeria has been on the backbone of mobile phones, the internet share via mobile phones is 76% see table 2.7.

The share of Internet traffic via Devices	Nigeria	UK
Laptops and desktops	20% year-on-year: -5%	58% year-on-year: -12%
Mobile phones	76%	27% year-on-year: +18%
Tablets	5% year-on-year: +28%	15% year-on-year: +31%
Other devices like game console	0% year-on-year growth	0.4% year-on-year with +32% increase

Table 2.7: Share of internet traffic via devices

Source: We are Social research & analysis, 2015

Nigeria' GDP was \$3, 203.3 (see table 2.8) with broadband internet penetration – currently less than 10 per cent (FT, 2014) and internet penetration at 38% in 2014 and 49% in 2016 (see table 1.7. Many are calling for the government to invest \$25bn in telecoms infrastructure over the next 5 - 10 years for improvements to be made. The opportunity for growth continues to attract companies like MTN (the largest mobile operator in Nigeria), Etisalat Nigeria (mobile operator in Nigeria) Millicom, (Swedish digital services provider); Africa Internet (German venture capital firm). The next step has been the rollout of 3G and the introduction of 4G services, bringing broadband infrastructure to remote areas; as well as negotiating and licensing fibre network construction.

Digital Attributes	Nigeria	UK
Total Population in 2015	183.5 Million	64.1 Million
Active Internet Usage in 2015	70.3	57.3 Million
Internet Penetration	38%	89%
Active Mobile Internet users	97.2 Million	36.9 Million
Mobile Internet Penetration	53%	58%
Total Mobile Subscription	138 Million	74.8 Million
Mobile Subscription Penetration	75%	117%
Active Social Media Usage	13.6 Million	38 Million
Social Media Penetration	7%	59%
Social Media Use via mobile connection	12.4 Million	32.0 Million
Social Media Use via mobile connection penetration	7%	50%
*Real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) in 2014 per capita	\$3, 203.3	\$46, 332

 Table 2.8 Relevant data for technology infrastructure and country ratios

Source: We are Social research & analysis, 2015: World Bank, 2015: InternetliveStats, 2015: InternetWorldStats, 2015: Nigeria Communications Commission (NCC, 2015)

2.7.4.2 Usefulness of social media

Appropriate technology is described by Matsura, (1991 p 490) as the "best technology suitable to a particular location at a given time in a particular environment. The usefulness of technology is based on several environmental conditions such as the cost of technology, supporting infrastructure, social needs and technological impact. Technology transfer (or use) and collaboration among businesses and their supply chain are becoming commonplace, and interdependence amongst members are on the increase (Khazanchi, 2005). The reasons behind this may include preference of a particular technology by a member, high cost involved in research and development and the production of high technology product (Matsura, 1991; Baptista and Galliers, 2012).

Many scholars argue that an appropriate technological tool can be selected according to the target audience/market, cost, media available and coverage area (Matsuura, 1991). For many businesses, the technological cost is compared to the expected benefits of its use. Suppose a fashion firm plans to use SM to maintain and sustain established relationships with members of their chain. The firm may explore the available technological tools/media in the country. Additionally, the cost, their advantages, disadvantages, expected benefits and challenges from each of the available tools would be carefully considered. For example, telephones have broad coverage but can be too expensive, while face to face contact may have less coverage but can target a particular audience and might have better long-term effects.

Without question, the use of technology by businesses are not always beneficial. It does not necessarily result in improving the social and economic conditions. Yet, many scholars advocate the use of technology by smaller businesses as the single means of its development (Kaplinsky, 1990). However, critics of this view argue that not all technologies are advantageous to all businesses (Kaplinsky, 1990: Matsura, 1991). Matsura argues that it is important to carefully select the appropriate technology suitable to its needs and environment. Despite these criticisms, a number of scholars still advocate that technology transfer and use can be the only feasible alternative to business success and industry development (Matsura, 1991; Baptista and Galliers, 2012).

2.7.4.3 Overlapping and evolving use of social media

There is sometimes a blurred line between personal and business use of SM. An example is the recent challenges faced by a number of global investment banks such as UBS whose employees use Bloomberg Instant Messaging Chats. Despite the insistence by some of the businesses that the Instant Messaging tool be used strictly for business purpose and not social interactions, to mitigate against regulatory breaches and unprofessional conducts, employees many times are not able to easily distinguish between the different categorization when using the tool (Forbes 2013; Bloomberg 2013). Also, HBR (2010) suggest that the perceived function of SM varies between businesses. For example, larger businesses are more likely to view SM as a tool that helps to monitor company's perception, identify positive and negative comments. On the other hand, smaller businesses view SM more as a marketing tool to increase awareness, web traffic and prompt new businesses (HBR, 2010: Allen, 2013).

2.7.4.4 Management of information technology

IT is a key driving factor influencing improving competitiveness; enhanced productivity; more efficiency, better integration of processes better supply chain effectiveness, efficiency and ultimately improve SCM (Banker et al. 1990; Wu and Angelis, 2007; Bayraktar et al. 2009). Burke et al. (2010) also add that social media can also facilitate better interactions, B2B collaboration and sustain close working relationship systems (Culnan et al., 2010). Integrating IT (social media) with business processes are deemed more effective: reducing the Bullwhip effect, removing bottlenecks, improving performance and improving responsiveness to customer demand (Simchi-Levi et al., 2004; Wu et al. 2013). For example, while many technologies in SCM focus on supporting firms to rely heavily on forecasting demand which sometimes leaving suppliers feeling removed from the marketplace (Croxton et al., 2002). Social media can help to lower the bullwhip effect by providing a platform where suppliers and buyers can foster speedy interactions, improved information sharing and collaboration.

These advantageous effects have attracted many businesses including SMEs, to adopt numerous technology (IT) to enhance their competitive advantage, which includes enterprise resource planning (ERP), radio frequency identification (RFID) and electronic data interchange (EDI) are predominately focused on planning, exchanges, inventory creation and forecasting (Tang, 2006; Lin 2009; Kachru 2009; Slack et al., 2010). Slack et al., (2010) argue such traditional methods of forecasting tools come with inaccuracies and instabilities that can no longer cater for today's supply chain. Simchi-Levi et al. (2003) also add that these inaccuracies have resulted in variation in demand and supply. They propose that the supply chain would have to be more demand-driven and adapt to demands as they occur. In other words, instead of focusing on the planning and efficiency as traditional supply chains do, today's supply chain should focus on responsiveness and relationships that allow for flexibility. As many forecasting supply chain tools tend to be problematic. This is because sophisticated analytic tools cannot accurately predict customer demand to match supply (Simchi-Levi et al., 2003). A relationship (networking) tools that help to share information and maintain relationships is needed needful.

Despite these attributes and needs, the adoption of technology in supply chains is not usually universally wide accepted (Slack et al., 2010). As with e-commerce, e-commerce emerged as an essential technology that would shape today's business environment (Wagner et al., 2003; Al-qirim, 2008; Baghdadi, 2013). Many argued that its use could prevent the need for face to face interactions which is essential in building trust in collaborative relationships (Liu et al., 2009). Whilst others argue that its use would entirely change business and the physical store would be a thing of the past. Nevertheless, it uses has enabled SMEs to improve online visibility, market their goods/services online, allows transaction and payment systems online, and receive

exposure to foreign markets and foreign competitors (Piscitello and Sgobbi 2004; Ngai et al., 2015). In turn, social media can be used as relational tools, and they enable suppliers and buyers to improve their interaction, information sharing, get fast responses and sustain pre-existing relationships. As such, its usage can facilitate the sending and receiving of structured (or unstructured) information, and it can also help to improve the connection (bond) with SMEs and their supply chains electronically and online (Tang et al., 2012). For example, millions of users have connected with others on Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn, and some have developed a collaborative community based on shared interests (Weber, 2010). According to Hsu and Lin (2008), community identification refers to the perception of belonging to a community, in this case, a social media community. Many authors (e.g. Husin and Hanisch, 2011; Gallaugher and Ransbotham, 2010; Sandsmark, 2011) have focused on social media use from a larger business perspective. However, a few scholars (Cragg et al., 2011; Shang et al., 2011) that have studied on social media from an SME standpoint.

Authors (e.g.Hanna et al., 2011: Tang et al., 2012) warn that its use can come with its set of challenges, challenges that may evolve as the technology itself evolves. Challenges such as tackling increased competition have made agility and adaptability important characteristics for today's businesses (Collins et al., 2010). Collins et al. (2010) suggest that an agile supply chain should depend on IT to explore developing trends in the marketplace, and to adjust to market conditions. The use of IT can complement supply chain relationships (Paulraj et al., 2008) by maintaining and sustaining already established relationships. Characteristics such as real-time information sharing, speediness, frequent interactions are achieved using social media (Gallaugher and Ransbotham, 2011; Garnett, Steve, 2010; Kinra, 2012). The application of IT in SCM is thus a tool that can foster, maintain and sustain relationships which can impact on other members of the chain (Bennett et al., 2010; Antoniolli, 2016).

Social media applications like Facebook and Twitter have been adopted faster and at a record speed than other media technologies such as radio, television. For example, commercial TV took thirteen (13) years to reach 50 million users, the internet took three (3) years to sign up 50 million subscribers, while Facebook took one (1) year to hit 50 million users, and Twitter took nine months to reach 50 million users (McKinsey and company, 2012). As widely accepted as SM is with over one and half billion using the technology, it is clear that many researchers and authors are just beginning to understand the value of this technology in business and its impact on the business relationship. Although, UK like other developed countries where a high percentage of population and businesses use SM there is still a good percentage of the population and

87

businesses in under-developed countries like Nigeria left to adopt the technology. This suggests that there are still opportunities for the adoption of SM and the understanding of how social media is used in supply chain relationships. The existing control and policies regarding social use may be regarded as favourable or unfavourable. However, the management may alter these policies or control of social use to best fit their goals. Worth mentioning is that businesses operating in particular industries can have some amount of control or regulation of various types that govern the way business is carried out. There is also a risk of security which many firms both big are small are vulnerable as well as there are likely to be sensitive information shared on these channels. As such, many firms seek the right person or team to manage the information shared and obtain an audit trail.

The fast pace and emergence of social technology particularly social media have attracted lots of scholars to its use in businesses. As a result, research in this area is growing and providing us with a better understanding of technological advancements and also the individual, organizational and societal implications. The increased interest has sparked ongoing debates and concerns- Does social media make a valid contribution to the field? Does the public (society) have any influence on the decision to use social media? Are humans threatened by the advancement of IT? Does social shape technology? Will technology change the world (society)? Whilst there appears to be a consensus that technology is not always beneficial but rather impacts on the daily individual and organizational well-being. Author (e.g. Kaplan and Haenlien, 2010) posit its use as purely advantageous and transformational. However, this deterministic and exclusive focus on technology, particularly on social media, has received guarded reservations (Winner 1993; Grant et al. 2006). Grant et al. (2006) is particularly vocal in opposing technology in itself as the key, almost exclusive driver as they are also nontechnological factors involved as well. In addition, Winner argues that if technological effects are as complex in practice, then technology determinisms (TD) is at best too simple in explaining technological changes. Despite these critiques, TD is largely supported and remains popular in researching organizational studies as scholars strive to gain a better understanding of technology use and its impact on an individual, organizational and wider societal level. In line with the technological determination that suggests a positive association with technology adoption (use) and its perceived impact (outcomes), the use of social media is likely to improve relationships and information sharing within and across SMEs and their supply chains.

2.7.5 Business environment

There are business environments that consist of several factors that can possibly present opportunities and/or threats to businesses. Many of these themes may be beyond the control of the firm and may sometimes vary due to the economic, legal, political, technological and socio-cultural features of the market/industry (Arias-Baez, and Carrillo-Ramos, 2012). This review is consistent with environmental factors in strategy literature (Porter, 1980;1985a; 1985b; 1985c; 2008 & 2011 Porter and Millar, 1985). These factors could include the degree of competitiveness, information sharing and hostility of the market (Barson et al. 2000). Over the years, strategy scholars (e.g., Porter 2008;) have exerted much effort into examining how each factor and the combination of factors influence firm's strategies and their performance. Prior studies have also revealed that the environments in which a firm operates play a central role in determining a firm's approach and strategy (Covin and Slevin 1991: Story et al., 2015. Other marketing literature have often classified the firm environment into three: competition, customer, and technology (see: Jaworski and Kohli 1993; Joshi and Campbell 2003). Many authors (e.g. Ford and Slocum, 1977: Buvik and Grønhaug, 2000) have identified technology to be key determinants of environmental uncertainty.

2.7.5.1 SMEs orientation in buyer-supplier and suppler-supplier Relationships

SMEs have been well recognized for their ability to drive collaborative (positive) relationships with their customers and their supply chains (Jones, 2003; Ardjouman, 2014). These relationships with their supply chains can directly or indirectly influence the SMEs ability to compete better. Thus, the importance of maintaining and sustaining existing business relationships cannot be understated for these reasons. 1). Positive supply chain relationships improve interactions and information sharing. 2). Positive supply chain relationships foster collaborations. 3). Positive supply chain relationships improve interactions. 4). Positive supply chain relationships improve their competitive edge (Ardjouman, 2014).

2.7.5.2 SMEs/Firm size

According to BIS, 2016, fewer than half of all UK SME start-up remain in business after the first five years. This is probably due to SMEs associations with limited resources such as skilled staff, no access to financial credit, limited financial reserve, technical support and Management expertise especial when compared to their larger counterparts (Paik, 2011: FT, 2017b). In view of these high failure rates and increase competition SMEs face from local, international and online competitors, improving their competitive edge for SMEs is of crucial importance particularly SMEs that do not have access to unlimited resources. Relationship and relationship management is one option for SMEs with limited funds that want to improve their competitive advantage.

There are a number of extant studies that suggest company size can impact the firm's competitive advantage and, ultimately, the firm's performance (Hofer, 1975; Barney, 1986& 1991& 2002 & 2014: Porter, 1980; Obaidat, 1987; Dess and Davis, 1984; Fiegenbaum et al, 1987; Park, and Mathur, 1988: Smith et al 1989; Miller and Dess, 1993; Chen & Hambrick, 1995; Forbes, 2017; Wan, 2003: Alvarez & Barney, 2001; Wincent, 2005; Redondo & Fierro, 2007; Wan and Bullard, 2008). Chen and Hambrick (1995) argued that smaller firms have the propensity to tackle and respond to challenges around competition faster. They added that small firms exhibit behaviours like information hoarding and are often unassuming. SMEs have the tendency to tackle and respond to challenges around competition slower than their larger counterparts with more visible effects. Alvarez and Barney (2001) noted that smaller firms found it difficult to act as the driver for building and maintaining (B2B) relationships with larger firms as they had limited resources, especially when compared to their larger counterpart. As a result, most larger firms are better equipped to take the strategic lead in successfully building their networks and B2B relationships with SMEs. Wincent (2005) suggested that SMEs in B2B relationships with larger firms demonstrated higher relationship width and depth compared with other SMEs. Redondo and Fierro (2007) found that smaller firms appreciated trust, interaction and collaboration more than larger firms. He also added that despite SMEs limited resource, SMEs are still prone to building and maintaining relationships with their suppliers.

The importance of improved B2B relationships and effective relationship management in supply chains include better collaboration and information sharing. Thus, improving their competitive advantage through better relationship management practices like information sharing and collaboration is needful to SMEs.

2.7.5.3 Difference in market

There have been few studies on the significant differences in SCM practices between SMEs and larger firms (Bhagwat & Sharma, 2007; Paik et al., 2009; Quayle, 2003; Ramsey, 2001; Goddard et al., 2005; Sharma et al., 2008; Vaaland & Heide, 2007; Wagner et al., 2003; Arenda and Wisner, 2005). Ramsey (2001) noted that small firms tend to endure limited internal resources such as advanced information systems and

skilled managers in niche areas. He added that small businesses generally exhibit less purchasing power and subsequently have little control over their supply chain members. Goddard et al., 2005 reported that larger firms are more likely to take advantage of economies of scale to bargain with suppliers for better value at reduced prices to cope with increased competition.

Wagner et al. (2003) supported this view and added that small business seems to have less influence over their external environment as well. Paik et al. (2009) suggested that SMEs have the tendency to focus on short-term opportunities (and/or challenges) over long-term planning and forecasting than larger firms. Sharma et al. (2008) reported that SMEs are less likely to adopt sophisticated information systems due to cost constraints. Bhagwat and Sharma (2007) found that many larger firms may have better means to compete than SMEs as resources for advancing their information systems in SMEs is limited when compared to larger firms. They implied that larger firms have adequate information technology infrastructure and resource than SMEs, as such information in larger firms are managed in systematically and organized manner than SMEs. In addition, studies (e.g. Chen and Hambrick, 1995; Alvarez & Barney, 2001; Wincent, 2005; Redondo and Fierro, 2007; Boumediene et al. 2009) examined that the effects of factors such as trust, cooperation, commitment communication on buyer-supplier relationships. Despite these differences in SCM practices and firm size, Rogers (2003) found that the greater the firm size, the greater the complexity, the less focused and less flexible the firm tend to be.

The competitive nature of today's business environment implies that businesses may face a formidable challenge of improving their supply chain relationships to compete better. The dynamism of today's competitive environment has become a source challenge that confronts many businesses particularly SMEs. Dynamism issues include technological advances; fast pace of changes going on in the environment and more product and service variety (Mitchell et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2012; Azadegan et al., 2013).

In a typical supply chain, multiple firms can join their resources together to carry out specific business activities. Each member may bring a particular value (market access, resource, specialized skill or industry information) to a chain. Sometimes new supply chains are formed in which members can share the risk associated with its operation. In some cases, the relationship can be collaborative or adversarial. In supply chain relations, members can pool technologies, innovation, information, capital and so on (Wymer and Regan, 2005; Lawrence, 2002 & 2008). For many small businesses, a

supply chain can be an effective method to enter a market or participate in large projects (see section). Without the network and capacity of larger firms, these small businesses may not have access to large markets.

SMEs exist in supply chains of many industries as buying or selling companies. Many SMEs relationships with more prominent businesses within their supply chain can be challenging. Many SMEs, view relationships with larger firms as opportunities for developing new capability, new systems and better able to compete. Whilst, SMEs make up a significant portion of private sector businesses; in most cases, the economic power and control are concentrated in the hands of larger businesses (Hingley, 2001). As such, a number of SMEs find relationships within these chains challenging. A business or social justification for large businesses to support the development of smaller businesses is because small businesses are a significant source of innovation, job and revenue creation.

There are some considerations to explore when it comes to SMEs. They include; the market in which the firm operates particularly as the market may vary in the levels of competition, a period of time, geographical location and use of technology (Arenda and Wisner, 2005; Cheung and Rowlinson, 2011). Cheung and Rowlinson (2007) argue that the way in which information is diffused across a market may vary and certain businesses. It has been further argued that larger businesses, in general, have better information advantage given that they depend in part, on the transfer of information down the chain and capabilities of technology used (Cheung and Rowlinson, 2007).

The lack of attention to SMEs in SCM may be attributed to the perception that the management of supply chains is preserved for the larger and more well-known firms. More often than not, generally, management (and strategy) in SMEs is thought to be mainly business owner-centric and tends to evolve predominately around the intent of the owner (Littunen, 2000). According to Zanon et al., 2013, it can be said that many businesses including SMEs tend to build their competitive advantage by balancing and complementing activities to suit both the industry and market needs. It may explain the reasoning behind the difference in activities across SMEs.

The ability to share information is information is more prominent in some industries and supply chains than others. The sharing culture is critical, one that not only rewards the individual or firms within their supply chain for having information but sharing as well. On the other hand, a lot of the power or advantage that many businesses -particularly smaller ones, perceive that they have, is the information that they possess. To share

such information may render them (SMEs) vulnerable and at risk of opportunists. Some firms that innovative may have an information sharing culture and can be more externally oriented, while, in some firms that is not necessarily the case. Also, each industry or/and business may have some degree of regulation, information shared may be sensitive and confidential. Managing information that firms may want to share on social media or other media is crucial. Ability to share information Sharing culture, rewards information sharing, learning culture. The decision to enter a supply chain relationship can be based on a systematic decision process as shown in Fig 2.6



Figure 2.6: Supply chain selection decision flow

Source: Author

2.8 Themes outline

The emerging factors were examined in great details in earlier sections (2.2.4, 2.3.4 & 2.4.4) in this chapter. It helps to draw a trajectory of scholarly literature and contributions to the factors/ themes that influence the use of social media in supply chains. Altogether, there are five central themes and fifteen sub-themes which set the tone for further discussions and analysis in the other chapters of this thesis. A brief synopsis of the themes is shown in **table 2.9**.

Themes	Subthemes		Key Authors	Research Methods	Key Findings
1) Supply Chain Relationship	a.Trust, Dependence, Power and Control		Wu et al. (2004)	Empirical study	The findings show that as investments in supply chain increases, power and dependence increases as well. They recommend that trust is critical in maintaining commitment and sustained collaboration
	b. Triadic relationships		Choi and Wu (2009a)	Theoretical Study	They suggest that the smallest basis unit to investigate supply chain as a network is a triad. A triad consists of three nodes and links that connect them together.
	c. Interaction (formal and interpersonal) and communication		Gligor and Autry (2012)	Empirical study	The findings show that closer interpersonal relationships can facilitate better business interactions and communications through four emergent process themes: Message Conveyance; Message Integrity; Environmental Interaction and Communication performance.
2. Exchanges	a.	Transactional exchange	Williamson (1979)	Theoretical Study	He suggests that collaboration (integration) requires internal organizational power. He also adds that firms use internalization because of economies of information exchange.
	b.	Information Sharing and Overload	Cheng et al. (2004)	Empirical study	The findings show that better information sharing among the members in a decentralized supply chain will lead to Pareto improvement in the performance of the entire chain. Supply chain members can benefit from reduced inventory levels and cost savings from collaborating.
	C.	Contracting (Elusive and Inclusive)	Williamson (1988)	Empirical study	The study used transactional exchange as the basic unit of analysis. The findings show that transactions differed with respect to frequency, asset specificity and uncertainty.
3. Competitive Advantage	a.Use of Relationship Management		Hingley (2001)	Empirical Study	The findings show that retailer-supplier relationships in the UK fresh produce (fruit and vegetable) market is concerned with issues of relationship formality, exclusivity, power-dependency, the relevance of organizational size, partnered growth potential and risk.
	b.Use of Resources and Capabilities		Koops et al. (2002)	Empirical Study	The findings show that resources and capabilities have an effect on the products and processes in the food industry. They add that supplier collaboration was shown to have no moderating effects.
	c.M IT (inn and	anagement of ovativeness) control	Lazzarini et al. (2008)	Empirical Study	The findings show that vertical ties seem to inhibit horizontal ties when technological uncertainty is low. They add that when technological uncertainty is high, vertical and horizontal ties do not seem to have any meaningful form of interaction.

Table 2.9 Initial themes undergirding the use of social media in supply chains

The initial themes undergirding the use of social media in supply chains (continued)

Themes	Subther	nes	Key Authors	Research Methods	Key Findings
4. Information Technology Use	a.	Technological Infrastructure (connectivity)	Chua et al. (2009 & 2012)	Empirical Study	The findings show that technological infrastructure (connectivity design) is a critical artifact of social networking application.
	b.	Usefulness of social media	Khazanchi (2005	Empirical Study	The findings show that IT appropriateness is a useful mechanism for understanding organization-technology fit which impacts on organizational performance (competitive advantage).
	C.	Overlapping and Evolving use of SM	Petkovska- Mircevska and Markova (2013	Conceptual Study	The findings show that Web 2.0 applications and functions are fast evolving probably due to the increased level of user engagement.
5. Environment	а.	Competition and Collaboration	Berry et al. (2009)	Theoretical study	The authors highlight that little attention has been paid to information and communication technologies and its impact on control system design and capability. They conclude that more emphasis should be placed on research which attends to the relationship of control practices and theory which requires more collaborative research processes.
	b.	Market Structures	Poole et al. (1998)	Empirical Study	The findings show that supplier (fresh product suppliers) can be grouped according to their market structures and orientation. The marketing factors and negotiated price are usually determinants of terms of transaction and contracts.
	C.	Business Size/ supplier/buyer Power	Hingley (2001):	Empirical Study	The findings show that many retailers prefer to focus on larger supplier firms, with which to develop closer business relationship due to the process of rationalization.

2.9 Chapter summary

Social media has had and continues to have a substantial influence on the way business-to-customer (B2C) relationships are managed. The beneficial impact of social media on B2C means that firms are increasingly exploiting social media to build and strengthen relationships. Increased competition has made collaborative B2B relationships and information sharing important features of supply chains. Many firms use social media for sales, advertising, PR, recruitment, customer service, to gather information on customers trends, planning and adjusting to the fast pace and everchanging markets. The application of social media to B2B relationships in supply chains can ensure collaborations and information sharing with and between supply chains. RM requires an interactive and technological enabled tool /platform for speedy interactions, sharing real-time information and for connecting buyers and suppliers (with existing relationships) online. Through social media, firms can facilitate buyer-supplier and supplier-supplier interactions, promote B2B collaborations, sharing of useful information. The use of social media, in theory, complements relationships and RM. Thus, the use of social media in supply chains as a technological tool that can build and maintain existing relationships requires further attention.

Chapter 3 : RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

This chapter presents and justifies the philosophical foundation and methodological choices made in carrying out the current study. The chapter is organized into the following sections: following this introductory section; section 3.2 discusses the choice of theories; section 3.3 discusses the philosophical basis guiding the study; section 3.4 explains the research approach; section 3.5 details the research nature; section 3.6 examines the research context; section 3.7 explains the research strategy; section 3.8 explains the ethical consideration; section 3.9 details the method of analysis; section 3.10 examines the limitation of qualitative research; and finally, 3.11 outlines the summary of the chapter.

3.2 The theory of choice

Extant theories on social media uses can be grouped into three viewpoints: behavioural theory, social theories, and mass communications theories. It is worth mentioning that each perspective has its own merits and demerits. For example, scholars who focus on the social capital perspective can observe how resources and benefits which can be a significant determinant of social media acceptance and use. On the other hand, the critical advantage of the behavioural approach is that it offers researchers the opportunity to explore how users come to accept technology (like social media) and how they use that technology which aligns with this current study. Additionally, as perceived usefulness is a critical influencing factor in technology usage, TAM2 can be useful in exploring the adoption and use of social media in supply chains. Another merit for TAM is that the social capital effect tends to be overly complicated and might lack parsimony (Bouwman and Van de Wijngaert, 2009). A significant implication then is that results for TAM2 versus social capital theory may produce substantively different conclusions.

Some studies (e.g. Hsu and Lin, 2008; Hossain and de Silva, 2009; Casaló et al., 2010; Kwon and Wen, 2010; Steyn et al., 2010; Casaló et al., 2011) have used TAM to predict the use of social media. This study is in line with the aforementioned studies, although the findings tend to differ, probably due to the differences in its research questions and methodologies (see table 3.1 below). The limitations of TAM 2 are: (1) the results of using TAM are based on the users' perception not the actual feature of the technology. (2) TAM researchers are unable to examine the effect of technology use on B2B relationships. For example, TAM does not explicitly include any relational elements

which can influence the model. These are just a few TAM2 problems and scholars are beginning to call for a critical review of TAM and claim that TAM may have missed, ignored or excluded some critical theoretical constructs in predicting technology acceptance (Hsu and Lu, 2004; Wu et al. 2010). In mitigating this limitation, the current study complements TAM by including the relational view of the firm theory (Dyer & Singh, 1998).

The relational view of the firm theory argues that "an individual firm is often unable to cope with the challenges of global competition by its own resources and capabilities" (Wong, 2011.p.1). As such, the sources of competitive advantages are not only limited to the internal resources owned by a firm but also from the external resources in the relational networks as well (Dyer & Singh, 1998; Lavie, 2006; Arya & Lin, 2007; Wong, 2011). Thus, the use of social media may positively or negatively affect supply chain relationships. Nevertheless, the principal use of the latter (TAM2) approach is that important information on the unique and influential factors can contribute to a preliminary understanding of the use of social media. Consequently, the study makes a unique contribution to integrating both technological and relational perspectives. As such, the subsequent sections focus on exploring (1) an overall use of social media in supply chains by SMEs, and (2) the effects on b2b relationships. In the sections that follow, the two theories that underpin the study is further detailed. The discussion begins with TAM2 and then, the relational view. See table 3.1 for further studies using the acceptance model in SCM literature.

#	Authors and year	Title	Journals	Focus of study
1	Hsu and Lin, 2008;	Acceptance of blog usage: The roles of technology acceptance, social influence, and knowledge sharing motivation	Journal of Information and management	The study seeks to identify what motivates people to engage in participating in blog activities. Using Theory of Reasoned Action and TAM, a survey of 212 bloggers were conducted. They found that ease of use and enjoyment, and knowledge sharing (altruism and reputation) were positively related to attitude toward blogging, and accounted for 78% of the variance. While social factors (community identification) and attitude toward blogging significantly influenced a blogger intention to continue to use blogs.
2	Hossain and de Silva, 2009;	Exploring user acceptance of technology using social networks	Journal of High Technology Management Research	The study sought to extend TAM further to incorporate the influence of the different types of social ties. They found that virtual communities showed weak and strong ties influence technology acceptance.
3	Casaló et al., 2010;	Relationship quality, community promotion and brand loyalty in virtual communities: Evidence from free software communities.	International Journal of Information Management	The study's objective is to determine the main antecedents and consequences of the consumer involvement in communities. The findings revealed that satisfaction with a virtual community might increase the level of consumer participation in that community. They also found positive and significant effects of consumer identification and participation on the level of community promotion.
4	Steyn et al., 2010;	The Social Media Release as a public relations tool: Intentions to use among B2B bloggers	Public Relations Review	The study focused on the factors that influence bloggers to use Social Media Release (SMR). TAM was the theoretical framework employed to focus specifically on the perceptions of usefulness and ease of use by bloggers. Findings revealed that a majority of the intended respondents (57.5%) had not yet been exposed to it.
5	Casaló et al., 2011	Understanding the intention to follow the advice obtained in an online travel community	Computers in human behaviour	The research analyses the precursors of consumer intention to take advice obtained via online travel communities. Findings reveal that the attitude toward the advice, trust in the online community and perceived usefulness of this information plays a crucial role in determining the consumer intention to follow the advice obtained in the community.

S
•

Source: Author

3.2.1 Technology Acceptance Model 2

Technology Acceptance Model was first proposed by F.D. Davis in his PhD. thesis at MIT University and subsequent publication- "A technology acceptance model for empirically testing new end-user information systems: theory and results" (Davis 1986; Davis et al. 1989). Although, the model was developed mainly for the information system industry, it is aimed at improving the understanding of user acceptance processes, and to provide a theoretical framework for a user's testing methodology. Today, the model has since been expanded (the model itself and to different fields), modified and critiqued since its inception (e.g., Davis 1986; Davis et al. 1989, Venkatesh and Davis, 2000). TAM is useful to introduce new system (or technology) prototypes to potential users, to measure their motivation to use these (alternative) systems and to identify the likely user adoption (Davis 1989). Over two decades later, the model still remains one of the most widely used and cited work in information systems. For example, as of January 2018, Proquest database provided by Leeds University listed 27,975 journal citations to journal articles that expanded TAM (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000) while public search engines like Google scholar listed 13, 568 citations. The TAM model was derived from the theory of reasoned action (TRA) proposed by Ajzen and Fishbein (1980). Davis (1986) sought to understand the user acceptance of information systems by adapting TRA. He investigated the motivational variables that mediate between systems identities and the end user's computer actual use. Specifically, how systems (particularly its features and capabilities) affected user's intent to use the system and to what extent the intent resulted in actual use. Despite the usefulness of TAM in research, TAM has received some criticism surrounding it theoretical accuracy and the application of the model. See figure 3.1 for details of the TAM1 theory.



Figure 3.1 Technology Acceptance Model (TAM 1)

Source: Venkatesh and Davis, (2000)

Following the description of TAM in section 3.2.3.4, TAM found that the perceived usefulness (PU) and the perceived ease of use (PEOU) have a direct effect on behavioural intention (BI). The two main beliefs at the central of TAM are (1) Perceived usefulness (2) Perceived ease of use. The perceived usefulness is defined as the extent to which a person believes that using the system will enhance his or her job performance (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000 p.187). In another word, perceived usefulness refers to a user's subjective likelihood that using a specific technology/system may increase performance (Davis, 1989).

The perceived ease of use is defined as the extent to which a person believes that using the system will be free of effort (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000 p. 187). In another word, perceived ease of use refers to the user's subjective likelihood that a user expects to use technology/systems without difficulties. There are many criticisms of TAM; collectively this critique can be discussed in two folds. (1) TAM did not measure for external social influences (such as subjective norms) and the possible effect on technology acceptance. (2) In addition, TAM initial findings revealed that attitudes had no significant effect on behavioural intentions (Davis, 1989). For example, Dholakia et al., (2007) questioned that strength of intention-actual use relationship in TAM. Yang and Yoo (2004) also argued that constructs such as attitude might be critical to the model and needs to be reassessed in the TAM model. Chuttur (2009) also argued that TAM doesn't employ the real actual use of the technology but rather the perceived or self-reported use of the technology in focus.

TAM2 was proposed by Venkatesh and Davis in 2000. Further theoretical constructs such as 1). social influence processes (like the subjective norm, voluntariness, and image) and 2). cognitive instrumental processes (like job relevance, output quality, result demonstrability and perceived ease of use) have been added to form TAM2. TAM2 stems from and extends TAM by showing that subjective norm has a significant direct effect on usage intentions over and above perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000). In addition, TAM2 provides an account of the critical factors underlying perceived usefulness and explains up to 60% of the difference in the usage intentions (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000). The proposed model TAM2 is shown in Figure 3.2 next.



Figure 3.2 Technology Acceptance Model (TAM2)

Source: Venkatesh and Davis (2000)

It is worth noting that the three main constructs in TAM2 are 1). social influence processes (like the subjective norm, voluntariness, and image) and 2). cognitive instrumental processes (like job relevance, output quality, result demonstrability and perceived ease of use) and 3. The perceived usefulness which has been adopted in the apriori temple obtained mainly from literature.

3.2.1.1 Social influence

Social influence is of importance to social psychology as it can help to understand how an individual's action, thought, or feelings are influenced by groups (Fulk et al., 1900; Lederer et al. 2000; Hsu and Lu, 2004; Dholakia et al. 2004; Kulviwat et al. 2009). Social influence is defined by (Deutsch and Gerard, 1955 p. 629) as the "influence to accept information from another as evidence about reality." In a supply chain context, if a buyer or supplier suggests that a social media platform might be useful, a supply chain member may believe that it actually is useful, and in turn intend to use social media. Venkatesh and Davis (2000) posit that social influence processes affect the perceived usefulness and usage intention. TAM2 deliberates on the influences of three interrelated social forces known as the subjective norm, voluntariness, and image that underpinning the opportunity to adopt or reject a new technology (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000).

3.2.1.2 Subjective norm

A **subjective Norm** is defined by (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000 p. 187) as a "person's perception that most people who are important to him think he should or should not

perform the behaviour in question" (Fishbein and Ajzen 1975, p. 302). Social norms can be viewed as the accepted standard of behaviour that is used to guide and direct individuals in a group. For example, when individuals the behave accordingly, they get rewards, but when individual behave inadequately, they may receive punishment. Earlier studies into TRA by Fishbein and Ajzen (1975) and subsequently Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB by Ajzen 1991) suggest that subjective norms can have a direct impact on behavioural intention to use the technology. This view is also supported by Taylor and Todd (1995). However, other studies by Mathieson (1991) showed no significant effect of subjective norm on intention. This view is also backed by Davis et al. (1989), their findings showed that subjective norm had no significant effect on intentions and perceived usefulness and ease of use. Subjective norms emphasize the individual's surroundings and bring to light factors such as social network, communities, beliefs and cultural norm. The rationale behind subjective norms is that they are driven by the desire to be accepted/influenced by a member of a group or those they look up to (those in authority, peers or superiors). For example, an individual may or may not adopt social media based on the level of social influences this is important as these individuals may or may not ordinarily use these technologies if they were no consequences or motivation. In this study, social norm refers to the degree to which the individual perceives that others approved of his or her social media use.

3.2.1.3 Voluntariness

Voluntariness is defined by Venkatesh and Davis, (2000 p. 188) as "the extent to which potential adopters perceive the adoption decision to be non-mandatory." This goes back to previous studies that show when an organization mandates the use of a particular system, their intentions, and usage remain varied as many users may be unwilling to comply (Hartwick and Barki, 1994). The direct compliance influence of subjective norm on intention is said to operate when a person perceives that a (social) actor wants a specific task to be performed (Kelman 1958; French and Raven 1959). Additionally, and more importantly the social actor possesses the ability to reward or punish noncompliance (Warshaw 1980; Venkatesh and Davis, 2000). TAM2 proposes that in a social media usage context, the direct compliance effect of subjective norm on intention over and above perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use will occur in mandatory, but not voluntary, social media usage settings. The rationale behind voluntariness is that behaviour intention considerably tends to differ when users adopt technology voluntarily vs mandatorily initially.

3.2.1.4 Image

The image is defined as "the degree to which use of innovation is perceived as enhancing one's status in one's social system" (Moore and Benbasat 1991, p. 195). According to Kelman (1958), people would normally respond to their social influences to develop or sustain a favourable image within a reference group. TAM2 proposes that social influences (such as subjective norms) can positively influence 'image.' The reason is that important members of a social group may believe that if they can perform a behaviour (e.g., using social media), then using it may tend to elevate his or her status within the group (Blau 1964; Kiesler and Kiesler 1969; Pfeffer 1982). This form of social influence is known as the identification, compliance and internalization of technology use (Kelman, 1958). However, French and Raven (1959) view the source of identification as referent power. In typical business environments, with a high level of interdependence with other (social) actors in performing their task, increased standing within the group can be based on power and influence (Blau 1964; Pfeffer 1981 & 1982; Venkatesh and Davis, 2000). Pfeffer (1982, p. 85) argues that individuals in groups "achieves membership and the social support that such membership affords as well as possible goal attainment which can occur only through group action or group membership." This can be achieved through processes such as partnership formation, social exchange, and resource allocation (Blau 1964; Pfeffer 1981 & 1982; Venkatesh and Davis, 2000). This increased power and influence from their elevated status may provide a perception of closeness. For example, an individual within a firm may perceive that using social media may lead to improvements in b2b relationships (which in turn improves competitive advantage) due to their image enhancement, then the benefits attributed to social media use (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000). The rationale behind the image is that the use of technologies like social media may be to enhance their social status. This social construct is situated between the TRA and TPB continuum.

3.2.1.5 Experience

There are theoretical and empirical studies that suggest a direct consequence (outcome) between subjective norm and intentions which may subside over time with increased system experience (Barki and Hartwick 1994; Venkatesh and Davis, 2000). Authors like Barki and Hartwick (1994) suggest that subjective norm had a significant effect on intentions prior to system building, its influence, however, became nonsignificant three months after its application. They go further to explain (in pp. 458-459) that prior to system/technology use, the knowledge and beliefs about a system are deemed to be "vague and ill-formed," and thus they depend more on the opinions of others as the root for their intentions. Subsequent to adoption, when more information

and knowledge (strengths and weaknesses) of the technologies/system are identified through direct experience, the normative influence tends to dwindle. Agarwal and Prasad (1997 p. 575) study found that "mandating the use of a system can increase initial system utilization," and "overcome the hurdle of first-time use." They go further to explain that this pressure seems to wear away over a period of time. This view is also supported by other authors (e.g., Doll and Ajzen 1992; Fazio and Zanna 1981; Tybout and Scott 1983; Ram and Jung 1991a & 1991b; Venkatesh and Davis, 2000) which also found that normative pressure declines over time.

3.2.1.6 Cognitive instrumental processes

Recent studies in these areas are centred on the understanding that behaviour driven by a mental account linked to higher-level goals to specific actions are influential for achieving technological use. The theoretical basis for this construct draws on work from three main areas which will be discussed: (1) action theory from social psychology (e.g., Fishbein and Ajzen 1975); (2) work motivation theory (e.g., Vroom 1964); (3) taskcontingent decision-making from behavioural decision theory (e.g., Beach and Mitchell 1978; Beach et al,1978). Firstly, action identification theory by Vallacher and Wegner (1987) posits an organized cognitive account of action, called the identity structure. The action (identification) theory links lower-level identities (specific actions) to higher-level characteristics signifying the rationale behind the action, its impact and possible consequences (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000). This identity form can be viewed as a fundamental mechanism by which behaviours are regulated cognitively to promote higher-level goals (Vallacher and Kaufman 1996).

Secondly, work motivation theory by Locke and Latham (1990) argue task-specific plans as a cognitive mechanism whereby acts are selected, combined, and sequenced with the aim of achieving set goals. Task-specific plans can guide behaviour via a conception-matching process (Bandura 1986) linking influential acts to goals. Thirdly, the image theory located in the behavioural decision theory by Beach and Mitchell (1996; 1998) attempts to incorporate the trajectory image concepts. The concept of trajectory image consists of a mental picture of adopted goals in the ideal future state and a strategic image. The strategic image is a mental image of possible action sequences that may guide individual's behaviour toward the goal states of the trajectory image. During the adoption decision (the process of selection among alternative instrumental or influential action sequences), there are two unique decision stages (1) compatibility (2) profitability. In the compatibility stage, screenings test is done for incompatible with one's decision standards. In the profitability stage, tests are done to compare the acceptable options directly with one another to determine the best option.

For example, in searching for and selecting a technology to suit the social needs of a firm, the firm would first eliminate any technology whose attributes violate more than a threshold number of standards. These standards can be business reputation and security standards. When more than one acceptable technology remains in the choice set after the compatibility test, then the profitability (or cost) test is used to select the best technology on a return on investment (ROI) basis. The compatibility and profitability tests are based on cognitive processes that assess the match between the characteristics of the trajectory image and the perceived consequences of alternative action plans.

3.2.1.7 Perceived usefulness

The perceived usefulness is defined as the extent to which a person believes that using the system will enhance his or her job performance (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000 p.187). Venkatesh and Davis, 2000 posit that individuals make (perceived) usefulness judgment by cognitively comparing the technology/system capabilities with the task they need do. The primary debate here is will the job (or critical aspects of the job) be challenging without the use of such technology. In this study, we defined perceived usefulness as the degree to which an individual believes that using a social media improved his or her task.

3.2.1.8 Job relevance

Job relevance is defined as "an individual's perception regarding the degree to which the target system is applicable to his or her job. In other words, job relevance is a function of the importance of one's job of the set of tasks the system is capable of supporting" (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000 p181). Studies into human-computer interaction by Black et al. (1987) and Norman (1987) reveal a hierarchical goal model in which higher-level goals (such as writing a document), and lower-level actions are at the level of mouse clicks and keystrokes. Some authors (Kieras and Polson 1985; Polson 1987) suggest that users have a unique understanding (knowledge) about their job situation that can be used as a source for determining what tasks can be performed with a given system. This form of knowledge structures regarding important job goals is rooted in personnel psychology and supported by studies by (Roberson 1989). The rationale here is that job relevance is a cognitive process that influences perceived usefulness which can be separate from social influence processes. There is empirical evidence that links user acceptance to variables comparable to job relevance such as cognitive fit (Vessey 1991), job-determined importance (Leonard-Barton and Deschamps 1988) and task-technology fit (Goodhue 1995).

3.2.1.9 Output quality

Output quality refers to how well a system performs those tasks (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000 p 191). There is empirical evidence that demonstrates the relationship between perceived output quality and perceived usefulness (Davis et al. 1992). On the one hand, taking an image theory viewpoint, decisions of job relevance are more suitable to take the form of a compatibility test, whereby systems that are considered not to be job-relevant are eliminated from one's choice set for further consideration (Beach and Mitchell 1996, 1998). On the other hand, output quality is less likely to be used for excluding decisions from consideration and are more suitable to take the form of a profitability test. However, given the selection of choices containing multiple relevant technologies one might be inclined to select a technology that delivers the highest output quality.

3.2.1.10 Result demonstrability

Result demonstrability is defined as the "tangibility of the results of using the innovation" (Moore and Benbasat 1991, p. 203). It is said that the most effective technologies are not necessarily the most widely accepted particularly when users have difficulties in its use or attributing benefits such as improved job performance. In other words, individuals/users can form their perceptions of the usefulness of technology when the covariation between usage and positive results is readily distinguished. Venkatesh and Davis (2000) argue that when technology provides effective job- relevant results or benefits desired by a user, but the user finds its use difficult, the user of the technology may have difficulty understand how useful the technology actually is. Agarwal and Prasad (1997) findings reveal that there is a significant correlation between usage intentions and result demonstrability. Some authors (like Hackman and Oldham 1976, Loher et al. 1985) also view the relationships between usage intentions and result in demonstrability as the understanding of the actual results of work activities from a psychological state with work motivation undertones.

3.2.1.11 Perceived ease of use

The perceived ease of use is defined as the extent to which a person believes that using the system will be free of effort (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000 p. 187). The rationale behind the perceived ease of use is that the more unproblematic a system is to use, the more useful the system is perceived in increasing job performance. For example, does the user find it confusing, frustrating or frequently receives error messages when using the technology. There is empirical evidence that dates back to over two decades that perceived ease of use is significantly (directly and indirectly) linked to intention through its influence on perceived usefulness (e.g., Davis et al. 1989, Venkatesh 1999). Perceived ease of use in this study is defined as the degree to which an individual believes that using social media is free of effort.

3.2.1.12 Other technological acceptance factors

The attitude in this study refers to the user preferences when using social media. Previous studies have found that ease of use and usefulness have significant effects on attitude. The intention of this study refers to the extent to which the user would like to use social media in the future.

3.2.2 The Relational view of the firm

The concept of B2B collaboration is becoming common practice in today's business environment. This is probably due to the rationale that competition has shifted from single firms to between supply chains (Christopher and Towill, 2001: Hult et al., 2007). As such, it is believed that collaborative relationships can often make the difference between the long-term business sustainability and short-run dissolution. This escalating trend towards supply chain collaboration is aimed at reducing risk particularly in these times of uncertainty, better innovation, lower cost and better competitive edge (Rezaei, et 2015). Dittmann (2013) argue that accessing to b2b relationships through supply chain collaboration is necessary to improve business dealings under conditions of intense competition and economic uncertainty. This current dynamic business environments facing businesses demand transactional cost view and long-term sustainability (relations) (Myers and Cheung, 2008a & 2008b; Cheung et al., 2010 & 2011).

The relational view of the firm was proposed by Jeffrey H. Dyer and Harbir Singh in their 1998 publication: The relational view: Cooperative strategy and sources of interorganizational competitive advantage. Almost two decades later, their publication
remains one of the most influential business papers. The relational view serves as a useful lens to help further explore sources of sustainable competitive advantage by carefully examining a pair (dyads) or networks of firms. The academic discipline of SCM has been revolutionized in the last 20 years by a new focus on the role of relations in supply chains. The relational view of the firm does not overturn previous approaches like industry structure view (ISV) and resource-based view (RBV) but rather supplements these ideas. For example, the relational approach has allowed for a shift in focus from industry (in ISV) to the firm (in RBV) to finally dyads, triads or a network of firms. Despite these compliments, differences still exist. For example; the relational view proposes four primary sources of inter-organizational competitive advantage as (1) investments in relation-specific assets, (2) substantial knowledge exchange, including the exchange of knowledge that results in joint learning; (3) the combining of complementary, but scarce, resources or capabilities (typically through multiple functional interfaces), which results in the joint creation of unique new products, services, or technologies; and (4) lower transaction costs than competitor alliances, owing to more effective governance mechanisms (Dyer & Singh, 1998, p. 662). On the other hand, RBV proposes five sources of an organizational competitive advantage as (1) scare physical resources, (2) Human resources, (3) technological resources, (4) financial resources, and (5) intangible resources (reputation) (Lavie, 2006). Another distinction is identified in terms of developing a sustainable competitive advantage. For example, the relational view offers the unique and uncopiable dyadic/triadic/network relationships as a means to the end goal while RBV identifies the inimitability of a firm's in-house resources (and capabilities) as its solution. In summary, it is safe to say that like the relational view takes a collective (supply chain relationship) approach, RBV, on the other hand, takes an individual (firm) approach.

Notwithstanding, RBV plays a key role in understanding the single firm's performance, however, the limitation of this theory is it fails to recognize that the drawbacks and merits of a firm are embedded in the merits and demerits of other members of the supply chain it operates in. However, Dyer and Singh (1998) argue that the firm's critical resources may extend beyond the industry (ISV) and the single firm (RBV) boundaries. The relational view has been extended by Lavie (2006) by identifying new forms of rents/competitive advantages. He further argues that the firm relations and partner-specific factors (such as opportunism) may determine the networks relational rents created jointly (not independently) by trade partners via critical resources that may be external to the firm. The relational view of the firm theory offers a sound theoretical basis to complement analyzing how the use of social media affects relationships with and between supply chain members.

3.3 The ontological and epistemological considerations

The approaches to social science research are primarily dependent on the researcher's beliefs and philosophical orientation. This philosophical orientation to a large extent guides the study of social phenomena. As a result, there are many philosophies associated with the use of different kinds of research strategies and methods (Grix,2002). Philosophical orientation can directly or indirectly influence the research, sometimes unbeknownst to the researcher. The interplays between a researcher's beliefs and the philosophical orientation are known as the ontology (Becker, 1996; Grix,2002).

Ontology refers to the "nature of being" or "reality" often represented as assumptions or claims regarding what we know. Blaikie (1993, p 6) defines ontology as the "claims or assumptions that a particular approach to social inquiry makes about the nature of social reality - claims about what exists, what it looks like, what makes it up and how these units interact with each other". Simply put, ontology, a philosophical study of social reality seeks to address questions concerning the object of study and the claims (or assumptions) surrounding the nature of social reality. These questions include -how do we know what really exists? Bryman (2005) noted there are two main concepts of social reality, namely "objectivism and social constructivism". Other authors (Saunders et al., (2007:108) refer to the two dominant ontological positions as 'subjectivism' and 'objectivism'. Also, other terms used in this study to describe the ontological positions are objectivism and social constructionism. Social constructivism maintains that social phenomena are formed from perceptions, and their meaning are socially constructed and subject to change (Bryman & Teevan, 2005). On the other hand, objectivism maintains that social phenomena exist independently and beyond the influence of individual/social actors (Bryman & Teevan, 2005). Simply put, social phenomena and their meaning have an existence that is independent of social actors or without any influence from the researcher. A researcher with a social constructivist ontology would study social reality subjectively through the lens of people, and the individual's reality may be in an ongoing transformation in the process of construction and reconstruction (Remenyi et al., 1998). An implication of the social constructivist conception in social research can be to interpret (make sense of) how reality has come about and what it means to different people. Whereas, a researcher with an objectivist ontology preference would tend to study social reality objectively, accurately, and capable of being replicated and self-produced (Saunders et al., 2007; Weed, 2009). An implication of the objectivist concept in social research can be to explain how social reality works.

Other questions at the centre of philosophical debates include what knowledge or reality is, the issue of how to measure it, and to what extent does knowledge guide the researcher choice of method. Epistemology refers to the study of knowledge. Knowledge refers to a justified true belief. Considering that knowledge is not just belief, but justifiable and true belief as well, it is important for the belief to be true and most importantly justified. There are ongoing concerns related to the questions of epistemology. For example, what is known and what criteria must knowledge satisfy for it to be called knowledge rather than beliefs? What should be considered acceptable knowledge in the discipline, and can the social world be studied according to the same principles as the natural sciences? How do we measure knowledge (Blaikie, 1993; Grix, 2002: Saunders et al., 2007) Given that, there is no one consensus as to what constitutes knowledge, the lack of consensus also translates into how knowledge or reality can be measured and forms the premise for Epistemology. Accordingly, Blaikie, 1993: p 6-7 defines epistemology as "claims or assumptions made about the ways in which it is possible to gain knowledge whatever it is understood to be; claims about how and what exists may be known. Epistemology is a theory of knowledge that presents a view and justification for what can be regarded as knowledge." Simply put, epistemology is the philosophical study of knowledge and deals with the most appropriate way to discover reality. Epistemology contributes to the methodological paradigms that guide the research in many ways. 1) It helps to reflect on how and what is possible to know 2) It provides the research methods with standards to generate reliable and verifiable knowledge 3) It sets the criteria upon which good knowledge may be differentiated from incorrect knowledge. 4) It provides a basis for what, and how reality is described (Chia, 2002; Denzin and Lincoln, 2003; Hatch and Cunliffe, 2006). There are two central concepts of social reality namely positivism and interpretivism which mainly depends on the individual epistemological and ontological tendencies.

Positivists believe that only the information provided by the senses can result in the scientific knowledge it means that they advocate for the application of methods of natural science such as objective observation, structured and law-like generalization to the study of social reality. This is in line with view that humans are regarded as natural objects, and their behaviour can be explained by external forces that act on them such as the social norms they've been exposed to their social class, gender etc. on the other hand, Interpretivism affirms that the subject matter of social sciences people and their institutions is fundamentally different from that of the nature of science. for this reason, investigating social actors requires different methods and procedures their goal is to understand individual behaviour in an empathic way or in another word to grasp their point of view about the reality in which they live. In this manner, interpretivism makes

sense of the world from the individuals point of view instead of observing their behaviour and looking for relations between cause and effect. The individual's ontological and epistemological inclinations may influence the choices and manner of conducting research into social phenomena.

3.3.1 The philosophical assumptions of the study- social constructivism/ interpretivism

There have been well-established and ongoing debates amongst scholars on the best research methodology (Saunders et al., 2009) in social sciences and management research. These philosophical debates have given rise to many confusing and contradicting arguments about which philosophy is for which particular field. For example, studies by Orlikowski and Baroundi (1991) show that positivism is the most widely used philosophy in information systems. For example, findings by Alavi and Carlson (1992) support the view that positivism is a popular and commonly used philosophy. Steinmetz (2006) had attempted to associate the positivist philosophy with the fields of the social sciences. Bryman (1984) associates the positivist philosophy with social science research then applies natural science to it. For example, many IT studies have overlapping areas of interest from different fields such as computer science, business management and social sciences (Hirschheim, 1985: Orlikowski and Baroundi, 1991: Steinmetz, 2006). However, scholars such as Babbie (2007) continue to advocate the case for social constructivism in the qualitative approach to social sciences. It is worth pointing out that no one method is exclusive to a specific to philosophy rather the research question is the determiner of the choice of research.

Objectivism and social constructivist approaches have different classifications, functions, and viewpoints. For example, the ontology viewpoint of a positivist is premised on social structure and facts. Followers of this nomad, use scientific methods, such as experimental and quantitative methods, for hypothesis testing which requires independence observation from the subject (Amaratunga et al., 2002). The epistemological stance of the social constructivist seeks to understand the social construct and provides meaning. Followers of this nomad, use naturalistic and qualitative approaches to understand a phenomenon better. There is an increase in support of IT management research using the social constructivist approach, as opposed to using positivism (which is usually the default) as advocated by scholars such as Hirschheim, 1985: Orlikowski and Baroundi, 1991: Walsham, 1995; Steinmetz, 2006: Babbie, 2015). Accordingly, this study follows a social constructivist stance rooted in qualitative research method.

The ontology and epistemology concepts discussed earlier in section 4.2 provides the premise for the philosophical foundation for this study. Bryman (2005) points out that the underlining philosophical stance of the researcher and the chosen method affects the way research is conducted. Accordingly, as a researcher, I am inclined towards the philosophy of reality that knowledge is subjective to interpretation and what it means to different people draws on the social constructionism ontology. The social constructionism allowed the researcher to obtain insight from human perception or experience. Thus, measuring the truth (in this study) cannot be done qualitatively. Accordingly, given the current scope and nature of knowledge in the topic area, this study adopts an interpretivism stance. In this study, it is established that the use of social media exists on the basis of human perception and the unit of study is the triadic relationship in supply chains (see 4.7.2.2). The processes adopted in this study follow the qualitative interpretivism. In addition, this study is in line with the tradition of qualitative oriented SCM research.

3.3.1.1 The rationale for using TAM from a social constructivist stance utilizing qualitative methods

TAM is an established model in acceptance research into any kind of technology. Research using TAM, in general, has focused mainly on quantitative research methods reflecting the positivistic origin of the model (Lee at al. 2003). Lee and colleagues found that of the 101 TAM studies only three used a qualitative approach. Similarly, Vogelsang et al., 2013p1 argues that applying predominantly quantitative methods have deficits when the findings shall be implemented in practice. The reason for the dominance of TAM in quantitative methods is mainly due to its appropriateness when testing the model, i.e. applying statistical methods and test relationships between constructs and variables. The scarcity of qualitative methods from a social constructivist perspective may have overlooked many important questions (Palvia et al. 2003). For example, when quantitative findings from TAM does not detail the "how," i.e. how is technology made useful or how specific variables like nature of relationships affect the acceptance of technology in more significant details. Quantitative methods steeped in positivist viewpoint may also overlook some backgrounds information and details in research question. For example, scholars (i.e. Kavanagh and Ashkanasy 2006; Ouadahi 2008) in their respective studies found that leadership and personality impacted on technology acceptance using qualitative methods grounded in social constructivist. Other scholars (i.e. Vreede et al. 1998; Zoellner et al. 2008) found that technology-specific factors played an important role in technology use. Vogelsang et al., 2013 also supports this view, they found that the few studies where TAM is investigated with qualitative methods

provided result well beyond the theory. Despite these outstanding contributions, these articles are unpopular and don't seem to find their ways into highly ranked journals (Vogelsang et al., 2013). It is worth mentioning that traditionally TAM in information management were developed from a positivistic approach while the adoption of TAM in this study has been adopted from an interpretivist/ social constructivist approach. An example of such study interpretivist approach using TAM was carried in this study using a methodology similar to that used by Renaud and Van Biljon, (2008) in their research into the technology acceptance and use of mobile phones by the elderly. Based on the above discussions, this study adopted a qualitative approach from a social constructivist standpoint.

3.4 Research approach

There are basically two main types of research 1) Quantitative Research and 2) Qualitative Research. Qualitative and quantitative research are usually strategic in nature and relies on a set of established methodology for the collection and analysis of data (Babbie, 2015; Saunders et al. 2007; Cresswell, 2007). To better understand each fundamental premise and the assumption most suited to maximize the research question asked, consideration should be given to how qualitative and quantitative research differ. Table 4.3 shows the summary of the differences between qualitative and quantitative and quantitative research.

Qualitative Research	Quantitative Research
Tends to focus on description and interpretation of participant(s) behaviours, experiences or perspectives of a phenomenon in great depth	Tends to focus using statistical techniques to explain or quantify a phenomenon
Text-based data required	Numeric Data required
Follows an inductive (bottom-up) process to obtain insights into phenomena that are hard to measure quantitatively and might lead to the formation of a new theory or concepts	Follows a deductive process used to test pre- conceived concepts, constructs and hypothesis that can be generalized to the wider population
It provides a comprehensive account (data) of the participant(s) or behaviours in their natural setting.	It provides an explanation of the cause and effect of the phenomena that may involve experiments, controlling or the manipulation of variables.
It involves flexible and emergent processes	It involves strictly defined processes

Table 3	3.2 Differences	between	qualitative a	nd qua	ntitative	research.
I UNIC C			gaaman vo a	na quu		100001011

Author's adaptation of the advantages and disadvantages of Quantitative and Qualitative Research Methods by Saunders et al. (2007)

3.4.1 The rationale for the qualitative research

A qualitative approach is best suited to answer how businesses are affected by social media use or non-use by another business. Qualitative research is particularly useful as the research question involves 1). Exploring the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. 2) understanding the different viewpoints (buyer, supplier) 3). Takes into account the real-life context of the study 4) provides the flexibility needed to probe further. 5) As there was limited research on this topic, statistical data was not required only textual data form primary source was needful. This quote helps to summarize the rationale for choosing qualitative over quantitative research, *"Not everything that can be counted counts and not everything that counts can be counted." Einstien.*

3.4.1.1 The rationale for primary data

There are two primary sources of data 1) primary 2) secondary. Primary sources are information obtained directly, while, secondary sources are information obtained indirectly. To better understand these sources, consideration should be given to how both sources differ. Table (4.4) shows the summary of the difference between primary and secondary sources.

Primary Sources	Secondary Sources
Data obtained from interviews, observation, experiments, and survey	Data obtained from published sources, Government web site
Flexible enough to address specific research questions	Less Flexible Process
Real-time data can be obtained	Past data can be obtained
Information obtained is reliable	Less reliable information
It can provide focused results	It can provide collection of information, both targeted and non-targeted information
Lack of data bias	Data bias

Table 3.3 Differences between primary and secondary sources

Source: Author

In this study, there was no secondary source that specifically provided information related to the research area. Although, there were some journal articles from published database like ABI, Business Source Premier, Google Scholar, ProQuest, Web of Science, Science Direct and Springer which provided a general picture of the use of social media. This provided a sound overview and a broad foundation for understanding the use of social media. However, due to the nature of SMEs in supply chain (triadic)

relationships and the nature of the research question, it was deemed necessary to use primary sources rather than secondary sources of data. One merit of using secondary information is that data is often readily available. However, the demerits of secondary sources for this study were issues associated with accuracy, reliability, accuracy, and data with significant levels of error.

3.4.2 Research designs

According to Hakim (1987, p1), "design deals mainly with aims, purposes, intentions, and plans within the practical constraints of location, time, money, and availability of staff." The research design is an essential aspect of the study as it ensures that the evidence obtained enables us to answer the research question as clearly as possible (De Vaus et al., 2001: Yin, 2012). Given the study's research question, it is vital that a detailed research process is outlined to describe how relevant information is obtained to answer the research question and accurately provide an account of the current phenomenon where little information is known in advance.

Bryman (2004) describes a research design as a detailed plan that guides a research study towards achieving its purpose. In other words, it is a plan that guides the choice of the research strategy (what data to collect and from whom), research method (when and how to collect data) and (how to) analyses the data. Similarly, Yin (2013, p 26) refers to a research design as essential for linking the data collected (and the conclusion drawn) to the research question. Churchill (2005) identified the two main types of research design as 1). Cross-Sectional and 2). Longitudinal design. Cross-sectional research design refers to the study of the state of affairs in a population or subset at a certain point in time (Bethlehem, 1999; Zheng, 2015). In other words, it refers to a snapshot of the research subject at a particular period. In contrast, longitudinal research design refers to the change and development of a phenomenon over a period of time (Bryman 2004). In other words, the longitudinal design can span for a long time. To better understand the premise of the research design, consideration should be given to how both designs differ. Table 3.4 shows the summary of the difference between cross-sectional and longitudinal research.

Cross-Sectional Research Design	Longitudinal Research Design
Tends to focus on differences in people or	Tends to focus on factors, themes or variables over
behaviours at a particular point in time	a period of time.
Uses a specific time frame	Continuous in nature
Quick to conduct	requires a long time and long-term commitment
Inexpensive to conduct	Expensive to conduct
Information obtained is usually targeted.	Rich and in-depth source of data including relevant
	and not so relevant information

Table 3.4 Difference between Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Research Design

Source: Author

A longitudinal study was deemed inappropriate for this study for the following reasons. 1). It involves a long- time and financial commitment bearing in mind that the time of doctoral study completion is three to four years with a limited budget. 2). Its implementation is often riddled with ambiguous guidelines 3). There is a risk of participants dropping out of a minimal sample size especially as the study period becomes longer.

3.4.3 The rationale for the cross-sectional design

The cross-sectional research design was adopted in this study for the following reasons. 1). A target or subset of the population was selected (see section 5.2 for further details of samples. 2). From this subset or targeted sample information was obtained to help address the research question at a point in time. 3). It requires less time and is also less financially demanding.

3.5 Nature of research

There are three basic approaches to research 1). Descriptive 2). Explanatory 3). Exploratory. To better understand each fundamental premise and the assumption most suited to maximize the research aim of this study consideration should be given to how descriptive, explanatory and exploratory research differ. Table (4.2) shows the summary of the differences between descriptive, explanatory and exploratory research.

	Descriptive	Explanatory	Exploratory
Research Aim	Tends to focus describing characteristics of a population or phenomena	Tends to focus on explaining the cause and effect relationship	Tends to focus on providing insights and ideas
Structure and design	A structured approach to data collection	A rigid approach to data collection	Flexible approach to data collection
Sample	Generalized to a larger population depending on the sample size	Large sample size and generalizable to a larger population	Small sample size non- generalizable to a larger population
Statistical Process	Hypotheses may be tentative and often speculative	Testing of pre-specific hypotheses involved	No hypotheses or ambiguous hypotheses involved
Data collection	Mainly involves data via surveys, and quantitative research	Mainly involves experiments and quantitative research	Mainly involves data via interviews, survey, pilot studies, case studies and qualitative research

Table 3.5 Difference between descriptive, explanatory and exploratory research

Author's adaptation of the advantages and disadvantages of descriptive, explanatory and exploratory strategy by Kumar (1999)

3.5.1 The rationale for an exploratory approach

In this study, exploratory research is employed particularly as the research aim is to understand better "the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs." In another word, the approach allows the opportunity to investigate using well-defined theories like TAM2 and relational view (see chapter three) of a firm and its application to the research area. In this study, an exploratory approach is best suited to provide in-depth insights into social media usage from a supply chain and SME context. In addition, the exploratory approach is particularly useful given that 1). There is limited research into the use of social media in supply chains specifically from an SME perceptive. 2) The use of social media in supply chains is a relatively new concept. For example, the use of social media in marketing has been well researched while little attention has been given to its use in a supply chain context. 3). It ensures that a more detailed, rigours and comprehensive platform in which future studies can build upon are achieved by providing rich and useful information on the subject matter. 4). It also helps to set the criteria or priorities for the study- triadic (B2B) relationships. 5). It can help to provide new insights and ideas. For

example, SCM literature has focused on traditional technologies like RFID, this study can provide new insights into contemporary technology like social media. Information on social media usage in supply chains by SMEs may be used to improve B2B relationships and which can be used in ultimately improving their competitive advantage and formulating policymaking.

Many SCM studies into relationships were carried out mainly from a buyer perspective, and many marketing studies into social media were carried out mainly from a B2C perspective. It was needful to approach the research from a holistic viewpoint due to two reasons. 1) To address the gaps in literature 2). The nature of SMEs in supply chain relationships- in this study SMEs take the form of either buyer or supplier in a relationship with other SMEs or larger firms. The B2B use of social media in supply chains can be viewed from the supplier's perspective as well which is arguably a balanced and holistic approach. Given the relevance of B2B relationships and suppliers, it is surprising that little to no research had adopted such viewpoints.

The research question- "how does the use of social media by SMEs affect relationships with and between supply chain members" was formulated from an understanding of literature and the research gaps. The study aims to obtain the current information on the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. SMEs in triadic (B2B) relationships served as the area of focus which provided a better understanding of social media use from a supply chain context. This allowed an exploratory and inductive approach for which new and emerging insights on the research question can be made.

3.6 Research context

The search for relevant literature on "the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs" was the initial step in finding an appropriate approach to this research. The gaps in the literature (see section 1.3) mainly meant two things. (1) The subject area has not been well researched (or underdeveloped) from a supply chain context. (2) The research question of this study is yet to be fully addressed from a supply chain relationship and SME supplier perspective. The process of searching for appropriate literature was important to discover the gaps from previous research regarding what has been done and what hasn't been done. Additionally, it also provided an understanding of the numerous themes associated with the subject area before the appropriate approach could be considered.

Literature searches commenced by initially broadly targeting relevant articles on the "use of social media in supply chains by SMEs" using databases like Web of Science, ProQuest, ABI, Business Source Premier, Science Direct, Google Scholar and Springer specifically. A limited number of articles were identified (see section 1.3.2). Other useful journals included the "Journal of Marketing Research" (on JSTOR), "The Journal of Supply Chain Management" and "Management Information Systems Quarterly. However, despite the insights gained from the limited articles on the subject matter and their references, a decision was made to broaden the search to industrial report and sources like HBR (2009), Mckinsey (2010, 2015), PWC (2014) and FT (2012a&b) using the Google search engine. It can be argued that social media in supply chains was only at its nascent stage and needed combining multiple sources. Thereby, providing further secondary information on themes associated with the research aim and question. The idea of paying for rare access to articles on social media was deliberated, however, upon careful consideration of many articles had no relevance to the subject matter.

Although the classification and depth of the literature were time-consuming, it was deemed critical in developing the initial template. In the review of literature carried out, the themes used in earlier studies in the research area are varied and numerous. The initial template was organized into five important bodies of literature: 1) Supply Chain Relationship/Relationship management 2). Transactional Exchange 3). Competitive Advantage 4). Social Media Use 5). Environment. Due to restrictions in word count, only the themes relate to the study is provided without going into a reasoned explanation. The table 3.6 shows the initial template revealing important themes (and references) that require further exploring.

Chains of Inference	Themes	Authors/Articles
Supply Chain Relationship	Trust, dependency, Power, and	Hsiao et al (2002); Hald et al (2009); Sahay (2003); Grandori and Soda (1995); Adamides et al (2008): Choi and Wu
	Control (attributes of social	(2009), Benton and Maloni (2005); Hsiao et al (2002); Li and Choi (2009); Williamson (2008): Adamides et al (2008);
	influence from TAM2).	Wilding and Humphires (2006); Muthusamy and White (2006); Choi and Krause (2006); Cox (2004); Wu and Choi
		(2005); Humphires and Wilding (2003); Grandori and Soda (1995); Harland et al (2004); Knight and Harland (2005):
		Skipper et al (2009); Goffin et al (2006); Maloni and Benton (2000): Frazier (1983): Lusch and Brown (1996):
		Moorman et al (1993): Mrogan and Hunt (1994): Cook (1997): Barney and Hansen (1994): Brenkert (1998): Mentzer
		et al (2000): Porter and Donthu (2008); Porter (1985c): Cravens et al (1996): Wu et al (2004); Wood and McDermott,
		1999, Suh et al, 2010; Singh (2009)
	The orientation of buyer-	Wu and Choi (2005): Stevens (1989): Dubois and Frediksson (2008): Berry et al. (2009): Akintoye et al. (2000):
	supplier relationship	Bresnen and Marshall (2000)
	The orientation of supplier-	Choi and Wu (2009a &b), Wu and Choi (2005), Choi et al (2002), Choi and Kim (2008), Dubois and Fredriksson
	supplier relationships	(2008) & Obstfeld (2005); Li and Choi (2009) Wu and Choi (2005): Loforte (1991): Caplow (1959): Caplow (1968):
		Madhavan et al (2004): Mills (1954): Simmel (1950): Wuyts et al (2004): Walker et al (2008): Loforte (1991) :
		Lazzarini et al (2001): Lazzarini et al (2008)
	B2B interaction (formal and	Davis (1963): Lassar et al (1995): Gligor and Autry (2012); Chua et al (2009); Hsiao et al (2002); Goffin et al (2006):
	interpersonal)	Chua et al (2012): Beck et al (2005): Castleman (2004): Zheng et al (2004): Heider (1958): Denzin (1989): Emmitt et
		al., (2009); Lassar and Zinn (1995): Wilson et al (2009)
Exchange/Transaction	Transactional exchange	Forrester 1958: Cook (1997): Dainty et al 2001; Hingley 2001; Choi and Krause (2006); Samaddar et al (2006);
		Jammernegg and Kischka (2005); Harlan et al (2004); De Toni and Nassimbeni (1995); Grandori and Soda (1995);
		Ireland et al (2002); Garcia-Canal, et al (2003): Gravovetter (1995): Weber (1964): Williamson (1985): Williamson
		(1993a & b): Gundlach et al (1995): Hoyt and Huq (2000)
	Contracting (Elusive and	Lambert et al (1996); Hsiao et al (2002): Dowst (1988): Ellram (1990): Lusch and Brown (1996): Spekman et al
	Inclusive)	(1998): Rossetti and Choi (2005): Rossetti and Choi (2008): ACA (1999): Alderman and Ivory (2007): Cheng et al
		(2004): Cheung et al (2005): Cheung et al (2006): Cheung et al (2010): Green (1999): MacNeil (2000): Manley and
		Hampson (2000)

Table 3.6 A priori template

Continued Table: The Initial Research Template

Chains of Reference	Themes	Authors/Articles
Competition and	Use of Relationship Management	Mentzel (1993): Berry (1983); Cox (2001): Cox (2004): Cheng et al (2004): Cheung et al (2005): Cheung et al (2006) : Cheung 2006):
Competitive		Cheng et al (2008): Cox and Ireland (2002): Cox et al (2006): Gronroos (1996) : Gronroos (2002); Gronroos (2007): Gummesson (2001):
Advantage		Kale and Arditi (2001); Larson (1997): Sheth (1995): Day (2000): Vlachopoulou and Manthou, 2005; McDermott and Chan (1996)
	Use of Resources, Capabilities (from the	Ross (1998): Barney (1991), Ayers (1999): Cheng et al (2008): Imai (1986): Dolber et al (1998): Weiber and Kollmann (1998): Stalk
	relational view)	(1988): Ayers (1999): Barney (1991): Croom (2001): Fox (1998); Loan- Clarke et al (2000): New and Mitropoulos (1995):
	Management of IT (innovativeness) and control	Obstfeld (2005): Powell and Dent-Micallef (1997): Bruns and Stalker (1994): Jassawalla, and Sashittal (1998): Khalfan and McDermott
		(2006): Walton (1985): Winch (2000): Mendonca and Sutton (2008): Prahalad and Krishnan (2008): Chesbrough (2003): Chesbrough
		(2006): Hippel (2005): Lambe and Spekman (1997): Weiber and Kollmann (1998): Rogers (2003): Strang and Soule (1998), Subramani,
		(2004).
	Information Sharing or Information Misuse	Mentzer et al (2001); Chua et al (2009); Cheng, (2011) Johnsen et al (2000); Kemppainen and Vepsalainen (2003); Harland et al (2004);
		Harland et al (2001); Edmunds and Morris, 2000; Ellram and Cooper (1990); Cooper and Ellram (1993): Lee et al (1997); Stank et al
		(2001)Naslud and Williamson 2010); Maloni and Benton (2000): Du et al, 2012; Lee et al (2007): Urbany et al (1989) : Gruhl et al (2004):
		Nowell and Kleinberg (2008; Ayers (1999): Nelder and Skandalakis (1999): Guo et al (2006): Hayek (1945); Singh and Power, (2009)
Social Media Use	Internet Infrastructure	Chua et al. (2009); Premkumar and Roberts (1999): Golicic et al. (2002): Berry et al. (2009): Greemstein and Feinman (2000): Hamill
		(1997)
	Appropriateness (usefulness and ease from	Matsura, (1991): Akintoye et al. (2000): Khazanchi (2005): Venkatesh and Davis, 2000; Greemstein and Feinman (2000): Hoffman et al.
	TAM2) of social media	(1995): Leskovec et al. (2007): Ashcroft (2010a):
	Overlapping and Evolving use of SM	HBR (2010); Vinuale et al, 2011; Petkovska-Mircevska and Markova (2013); Chua et al (2009 & 2012); Rayport and Sviokla (1995): Chung
	(Cognitive process form TAM2)	and Kim (2008): Huberman et al (2005): Java et al (2007): Kempe et al (2003): Newman and Park (2003): Zhao and Rosson (2009):
		Rajagopal (2009)
Environment	Orientation between buyer-supplier relationship	Wu and Choi (2005): Stevens (1989): Dubois and Frediksson (2008): Berry et al. (2009): Akintoye et al. (2000): Bresnan and Marshall,
		(2000)
	Differences in Market	Forrester (1958): Burt (1992): Briggs (1994), Lambert et al (1996); Harland (1996): Lambert et al (1996), Premkumar and Roberts (1999):
		Boso et al (2013): Ching and Ellis (2004): Chong (2006): Galloway and Mochrie (2005): Williamson (1975): Forrester (1958): Cravens et
		al (1996): Sanchez (1993): King et al (2010)
	Business Size/ supplier/buyer Power/ Risk	Porter (1985a): Cravens et al (1996): Hingley (2001): Boso et al (2013); Burke (2005); Levenburg (2005): Premkumar and Roberts (1999);
		Burke (2005): Fillis et al (2004); Martin and Matlay (2003); Goffin et al (2006)

3.7 Research strategy

According to Robson (2011), there are three main types of research strategies namely 1). Experiment 2). Surveys 3). Case Study. The experiment aims to measure the effects of planned (or unplanned) changes to one more variables. A survey aims to the collection of information from individuals using a standardized form while case study aims to collect detailed and rich information about single or multiple numbers of the related phenomenon. To better understand the premise and appropriateness of the research strategy, consideration should be given to how they differ. Table 3.7 shows the summary of the difference between experiment, surveys and case study strategy. Considering the nature of research question posed, the natural context and control by researcher experiments and surveys were deemed unsuitable. Let's take a closer look at case study strategies.

Robson (1993, p 146) defines a case study as "a strategy for doing research which involves an empirical investigation of a particular contemporary phenomenon within its real-life context using multiple sources of evidence." Another definition by Yin 2013, p 240) describes case study as "The purpose of a case study may be to describe, explain or explore. A case study can be focused on an individual or groups of individuals, businesses or a subset of an organization such as a department". Case study refers to "a plan that logically links the research questions with the evidence to be collected and analyzed in a case study, ultimately circumscribing the types of findings that can emerge" (Yin 2013, p 240). The preceding definition can be approached in threefold. In the first part of the threefold definition, the case study is referred to as logically rather than the logistical structure of the inquiry especially as it is concerned with conforming case rather than disconfirming quantities. The second part of the definition points to the case study as separate from the method by which data is collected and analyzed. For example, although case studies are generally associated with participant observation, and interviews. As the third part of the threefold definition, case study provides findings that can be analytically (rather than statistically) generalized to theory. This is because cases are not necessarily sampling units (but rather a unit of analysis) and may not be large enough to serve as an adequate sample size to represent a larger population (Yin, 2013; Rowley, 2002).

There are many forms of case studies. For example, a study can be a single or a multiple case study. It can be single if the case is 1) unique or extreme in nature 2) typical or representative example 3). It is an important one. Case studies are also not limited to qualitative research alone but to quantitative research as well. Case studies can also be explanatory, descriptive

or exploratory. A case can focus on individuals, groups, businesses or a subset of organizations, for example, a department.

One strength of case study strategy is related to the nature of research the questions being asked. For example, a case study design can be selected when the main research questions seek to answer "how" or "why" questions (Yin, 2013). Additionally, case study plan provides a means to explore real-life or complex social settings consisting of multiple variables of potential importance in understanding the phenomenon (Merriam, 2009). The use of case study can result in a rich, detailed and holistic account and analysis of a phenomenon. It can provide insights and meanings that can expand the knowledge base as well. Case study strategy helps in providing a foundation for the analytic (rather than statistical) and theoretical generalization. it identifies disconfirming cases and provides useful information for assessing the empirical results. However, there is a need to address such critical research issues as reliability and validity (Yin, 2013; Tsang, 2014). Although the use of case study can provide strengths, its use can present certain limitations such as issues with time consumption, reliability, validity, and generalization. For example, findings from a single case cannot be statistically generalized to a broader population. This is not to say that much cannot be learned from a descriptive analysis of a single case or unit (Stake, 2005). Table 3.7 shows the difference between experiments, surveys and case study

Experiment	Surveys	Case Study
Useful when the research question	The research question focuses	Useful when the research
posed focuses on "how" and "why."	on "who," "what," "where," "how	question posed focuses on
	many," "how much."	"how" and "why."
It allows control over the behavioural	No control by the researcher is	No control by the researcher is
event.	required	required
They do not occur in the natural setting	emphases are the modern	The study is usually carried out
and requires hypothesis testing	phenomenon	in its natural setting
Involves the selection of a	Involves the selection of	It involves the selection of
representative sample from the known	samples from a known	case(s) from a specific
population	population	population or subset
Usually, uses samples from different	Usually, uses a large sample	Usually, uses a small sample
conditions	size	size
Uses quasi-experiment	Uses questionnaires or	Uses interviews and
	structured interviews techniques	observation techniques

Table 3.7 Difference between experiment, surveys and case study strategy.

3.7.1 The rationale for case study strategy

The case study approach was deemed more suitable than experiments and surveys as the strategy for this study for three reasons. 1) The type of research question posed. The case study was deemed suitable as a "how" research question in this study was being sought. This kind of question is a justifiable reason for carrying out an exploratory case study. 2). The researcher had little to no control over the phenomena or behaviours as opposed to experiments 3). The focus of this study is a current phenomenon within its real-life context as opposed to a historical phenomenon. In addition, this study adopted multiple case studies to explore "how does the use of social media by SMEs affect relationships with and between supply chain members."

3.8 Ethical considerations

Research ethics is considered the interaction between the benefits and risk (to participants and the researchers) to consider when conducting research (Ritchie et al. 2013). For example, on the one hand, conducting this research will provide benefits in terms of contributions to theory, practice, and policy (see section 1.5). On the other hand, it is also important to consider the likely risk associated with this study as well. In the next subsection, consideration will be given to the underlying issues in an attempt to mitigate any ethical concerns.

This study is comparative by nature, it involves 1) data collection from two (developing and developed) countries 2) information gathering from participants in three sectors (High Tech, Low Tech, and Fashion) 3) obtaining information about their business relationships and technology use. It was necessary to seek approval from the Leeds University Research and Ethics Committee which took a total of four months. The committee raised some ethical concerns such as 1) access and safety 2) anonymity 3) changes to ideas for data collection. The ethics application forms were resubmitted and approved on the 25th of September 2014, along with minor changes to the participant information sheet and consent form. The research and ethics committee gave ethical approval for the study on the 9th of October 2014.

3.8.1 Access

The issues of safety were viewed as detrimental to study and may hinder access and rapport. Saunders et al. (2007) add that access should be critically considered from the onset as it can pose a risk to the research. Access strategies including some from supervisors, the ethics committee of Leeds University (see section 4.8.1) and friends were employed in gaining access to businesses and participants. As a result, intended participants were carefully considered, deliberated and reviewed with significant flexibility to accommodate their wants and wishes.

3.8.2 Anonymity

The issue of maintaining the anonymity of participants and confidentiality were carefully considered as many participants may not wish to have their words publicized as it may affect their business relationship. Participants are treated in the strictest confidence that guarantees anonymity. Efforts were made to ensure that all information provided would not be personally linked to the participant's responses or their company. Participant information sheet is provided that clearly states that only the interview participant would be aware of the identity. The code of ethical guidelines developed by Leeds University coupled with the advice of research supervisors was aimed at assisting and clarifying these issues. Stake (1995) suggest that exploring ethical issues at the outset should be considered. He further suggests that providing information note (vignette) can help inform and guide participants. Efforts were made to provide adequate information to prospective participants on the nature of the research such as brief description, clarity of purpose and how the information gathered and treated (see appendices A 4.3, 4.4 & 4.6).

3.9 Analysis techniques

3.9.1 Template analysis

Qualitative data obtained from interviews can be scrutinised using thematic approaches (Esterberg 2002; King, 2004). One form of thematic analysis is template analysis. According to King (2012), template analysis refers to a set of procedures that guides the analysis of qualitative data. He also adds that the approach involves identifying key themes in the data that can be classified into hierarchies of broad themes and subthemes (Brooks and King, 2012: King, 2012). King (2012) explains the use of template analysis involves some distinctive features. Features include 1) the use of initial templates and 2) the use of 'a priori' themes. These 'a priori' themes are drawn from existing literature or theories and are useful in identifying (in advance) possible themes and patterns of the study (King, 2004: Waring and Wainwright, 2008). There are however some theoretical and practical concerns surrounding template analysis as the analysis has the tendency to become highly complex and time-

consuming. The effectiveness of this approach includes the continuous re-evaluation and the adjustment of themes according to the changing environment (King 2004). The initial template (coding structure) is applied to each transcript and modified where necessary to capture information (King, 2004). The template will be subsequently modified and finalized to represent new themes emerging from literature and/or new themes emerging from the data collection method.

Template analysis is deemed appropriate as it aids in the selection of key themes which are useful in exploring the rich data obtained. This allows the focus to rest on answering the research questions and also, broadly recapturing other areas of interest (King, 2004). Qualitative analysis process usually includes developing data categories, data categorization, utilizing data, recognizing relationships to generate well-grounded conclusion (Saunders et al., 2007). The computer-assisted software NViV0, version11 helped in the organization of large amounts of text and complex coding schemes facilitating depth, which allows for cross-examination of data (coding, linking ideas and searching of the database) that provides rigour and subsequently, in exploring the data themes.

3.10 Criticism of qualitative case research

Despite the merits of a qualitative approach (see section 4.3.1), qualitative research has attracted criticisms. The criticism includes: 1) The findings of a qualitative study may not be generalizable to a larger population due to the small sample size and the non-random selection of participants. 2). reliability and validity issues.

There is also many criticisms of a case study strategy in qualitative research, particularly for the following reasons. 1) It is deemed as being too specific to a particular social setting and unable to generalize to a wider setting. 2) It does not take into consideration statistical analysis or sample size calculation. 3) It is subject to issues of bias and subjectivity in the interpretation of results. 4) reliability and validity issues.

Similarly, Shipman (1988) suggest that there are four fundamental problems often at the core of discussions regarding qualitative research that can affect its quality. They can be summed up as 1) reliability 2) validity 3) generalizability and 4) replication. There are ongoing debates about whether the terms reliability, validity, generalizability, and replication can be applied to qualitative research. Other alternative concepts used in assessing the quality of research include 1) Trustworthiness 2) Credibility 3) Confirmability 4) data dependability (Bryman,

2001). While it remains unclear which terms are applicable to qualitative research, scholars such as Mason, 2002 argue that indeed these quantitative measures can be applied to qualitative research. While, authors such as Guba and Lincoln, 1994 suggest that they should be replaced with other criteria specific to qualitative research. Despite, these debates, it remains unclear whether they are appropriate to be used in qualitative research.

One issue associated with qualitative research is reliability, reliability can generally be approached and interpreted into two categories: 1) External reliability 2) Internal reliability (Marshall and Rossman, 1995). External reliability is generally concerned with the operation of the study. For example, are the same result obtainable if the study is repeated under a different circumstance, with other people? It is challenging to replicate a social setting or obtain the same response to a question as changes do occur which might lead to at least slight variations. Internal reliability is concerned with consistency. For example, do others agree with the study findings? The goal of reliability is to reduce error and bias in a study.

The second issue is generalisability. Generalisability is an important issue in qualitative case study research, and as such there are significant concerns regarding the extent to which qualitative data gathered in the study reflects a broader population (Yin, 2009). Interviewer bias is also another concern for case study research. A number of methodological procedures have been recommended to avoid (or minimize) the limitations associated with the interview bias. For example, interview questions were carefully crafted and tested in the pilot. The differences in the participant's background and perspective were reflected in the questions. Additionally, research synopsis and guide were sent with a cover letter explaining the reason behind the research, and a guarantee of their anonymity to participants in an attempt to inform and motivate. The interview was less scripted and flexible to accommodate the flow of information, obtain further details and seek clarification.

Another issue is validity. Validity is generally concerned with the extent to which the results accurately reflect the research under investigation (Marshall and Rossman, 1995). The term validity is similar to reliability but at the same time may often be interpreted differently. Issues with validity can generally be approached and interpreted into two categories: 1) External validity 2) Internal validity. External validity is generally concerned with identifying the area to which a study finding can be generalized (Yin, 2012). Internal validity is concerned with establishing a causal relationship, where certain conditions may have led to other conditions as differentiated from a spurious/false relationship. For example, is the data/study an accurate reflection of, the phenomenon.

While these issues are valid concerns, however, it is also worth pointing out that the research question of this study aims to provide rich and detailed insights into a specific subgroup rather than a general population. The rationale behind this is that the use of social media by SME in B2B relationships is unique or differ from social media use by the general population. It is this uniqueness or differences that are the focus of this study. This study does not aim for the generalization of the results to a broader population (theoretical not a statistical generalization). It instead seeks to explore the phenomena. As such, the small and purposeful (targeted) sample size is suitable. It is worthy of note that issues with reliability were tackled using a triangulation approach. For example, in case A, data was discard (Res A1) following the triangulation of the buyer and supplier and new respondent (Res A1b) was identified to be interviewed.

3.11 Chapter summary

This chapter presented the choice of theories, philosophical basis and the methodological choices made in the study. The research design, strategy and method were also discussed and justified. In addition, sampling, ethic consideration and data analysis were examined. In the next chapter, data is analysed, and the findings are presented.

Chapter 4 : DATA ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS

4.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the analysis of data collected from the exploratory interviews with business owners, top and middle managers of eighteen businesses (in UK and Nigeria). The chapter is organized as follows. Section 4.2 discusses the profile of the cases. Section 4.3 discusses the approach to data collection. Section 4.4 examines the profile of the participants. Section 4.5 discusses the data analysis. Section 4.6 and 4.7 discusses the final template and findings. Finally, it ends with a summary of the chapter.

4.2 Profile of cases

4.2.1 Case study A

Case A consist of a Global IT software and software application company (Res A1) with a branch in Nigeria, a local Finance and IT service supplier (Res A2- the supplier in this case), and a local Information Worker and Collaborative Portals solutions service provider (Res A3- the second supplier in the case). The dyadic relationships between Res A1-A2 & A1-A3 span over 8 and 11years ago subsequently. Supplier- Res A3 formally managed the activation centres as they run the support centres for Firm A1. While, Res A2 was brought into a project by one of Firm's- Res A1's largest client due to their many capabilities. Res A1 would directly bid for projects with the supply and sometimes against their suppliers. Added to this, Res A1 had many suppliers, given that Res A2 & 3 were considerably smaller and Firm A1 had more market reach which the supplier couldn't have access to without remaining in partnership with them. In this triadic case, although Res A1 advocated a collaborative ethos, conflicts of interest and distrust issues were emerging, and relationships were primarily transactional. This relationship was characterized by contract agreement, joint problem solving, work orders confirmation and payments.

4.2.2 Case study B

Case B consist of a Nigerian based charity (firm B1- the buyer in this case) and two local food catering SME firm (Res B2 & B3- the suppliers in this case). The charity is spread nation-wide but centrally based decided to introduce more food suppliers. The dyads between Res B1 &

B2, Res B1 & B3 spanned over six and five years consequently. In this triadic case, relationships were kept transactional. Lower cost was of importance when selecting Res B2 whereas, quality was of importance when selecting Res B3.

4.2.3 Case study C

Case C consist of an SME fashion company (Res C1- the buyer in this case) which specialized in making couture handbags, shoes and scarfs and two local fashion accessories SME firms (firm C2 & C3- the suppliers in this case). Res C1 operations were characterised by few suppliers, frequent interactions and expanding markets. Dyadic relationships between Res C1 & C2 and C1& C2 spanned over seven years each. In this triadic case, relationships were collaborative with frequent transactional exchanges (regular purchasing volumes).

4.2.4 Case study D

A Global banking firm IT department in the UK (the buyer) with operations characterised by many products offering, many suppliers and marketing programmes. Although there were issues of conflicts and distrust between the buyer and two (SME) suppliers, they remain in B2B relationships with each other.

4.2.5 Case study E

Two UK firms, the buyer- a large charity and two suppliers -food catering SME firms, carried out business for many years.

4.2.6 Case study F

An SME fashion company (the buyer) made dress and handbags, shoes. Their operations were characterised by few suppliers, frequent interactions and expanding markets (online and internationally).

4.3 Approach to the data collection

There are several methods of collecting primary data such as 1). Questionnaire 2). Observation 3). Interviews. Observation can be a suitable way of data collection when the research is focused on "what people do." There are two main types of observation 1) Participant Observation and 2). Structured Observation. One significant difference between these forms of observation is that participant observation is focused on discovering the

meanings individuals attach to their actions while structured observation, on the other hand, is centred on the quantifying (frequency of) actions.

4.3.1.1 Semi-structured Interviews

Having described and chosen an exploratory, qualitative case study research strategy as the most suitable approach to gathering data to understand the specific cases of interest and themes that may emerge in the study, it is important to choose a feasible data collection method to answer the research question of the study. Interviews are defined by Kvale (1996: p174) as "a conversation, whose purpose is to gather descriptions of the [life-world] of the interviewee." Yin (2003, p.92) adds that "*interviews are an essential source of case study evidence because most case studies are about human affairs*. These human affairs should be reported and interpreted through the eyes of specific interviewees, and well-informed respondents can provide important insight into a specific situation."

In addition, interviews could be categorized by structure and standardization into structured; semi-structured and unstructured (in-depth) interviews (Saunders et al., 2009). Structured interviews can provide rich insights into the areas of interest. Whereas, semi-structured interviews help to probe answers, seek further explanation and expand on challenging to understand elements of the interview (Saunders et al., 2009). In the structured interview, the questions are usually closed (in a set order), controlled and uses a detailed schedule with questions asked in a specific order. The type of interview to be used depends on the nature of the research question to be addressed. The semi-structured interview was suitable in this study for these reasons. 1). It provided comparable and reliable qualitative information. 2). it afforded the opportunity to probe answers and solicit further clarification. 3). It lends itself to the exploratory nature of the research as well as gains in-depth insights into the understanding complex phenomenon under study than structured or unstructured interviews. 4). Semi-structured interviews allowed participants the flexibility and freedom to express their viewpoint.

There are several interview-based techniques in data collection. They are 1). Face-to-face interviews 2). Telephone interviews 3). Email/ Online interviews via (Skype, MSN or face time) (Opdenakker, 2006). The face-to-face interview can provide opportunities where the interviewer can observe nonverbal cues like body language. In addition, the interviewer can probe for clarification of unclear response. However, there are some shortcomings associated with the face-to-face method. 1). It is time and financially demanding particularly in cross-geographical studies. 2). It can allow for bias which may result in some distortion or imbalances in viewing the interviewee's perspective. Telephone interviews are nonvisual ways

of collecting data. The merits of telephone interview are 1). Increased flexibility 2). Quick method 3) No security issues. However, the demerits include 1. No visual method of collecting data. 2). Harder to create rapport 3. time issue. Online/email interview method usually involves the emailing of questions to the participant to complete and return to the researcher or logging into a social networking platform to interact online or via an internet link (Opdenakker, 2006). A number of advantages associated with this technique have been cited. Among these are the ease of reaching multiple potentials and targeted participants especially those in different geographically location (Sturges, and Hanrahan, 2004; Opdenakker, 2006; Kvale, 2007; Saunders et al., 2007; Waring and Wainwright, 2008). Unfortunately, research also shows that the email/online interview method can be a less efficient technique for data collection because it involves a considerable amount of time, internet infrastructure, savviness, and resources (Strauss, 1987). In addition, with mounting security scams and vulnerability, many businesses and individuals may avoid accepting the request or opening email attachments particularly with the risk of virus infection or security compromise. As a result, email/online interview technique was not deemed as the best data collection method for the current study.

Data collection methods involved face-to-face and telephone interviews. Nine of the eighteen interviews conducted in Nigeria were phone interviews (October 2014 to March 2015); the final set of 9 interviews conducted in the UK were face to face interviews (March 2017 to Nov 2017). The face-to-face interview method was chosen for the UK participants for these reasons. 1). It allowed for clarity between the research and participants from the targeted firms in the United Kingdom. 2). It requires direct interaction, personal contact, and rapport. 3). It allowed the expression of body language, visual display of expressions and exhibition which cannot be expressed using telephones, emails and online interview techniques, e.g. Skype interviews. 4). It offered the opportunity to gain good responses to open-ended questions. 5). It provided opportunities to probe participants further and yield more detailed results.

Telephone interviews were chosen for this study (Nigeria stage) as it was convenient and comfortable method given the interview already had an established relationship with the interviewee and sensitive nature of the information required. For example, the participants may require a longer time to develop rapport and interaction, which practically could not be done over the phone, especially where there are none established relationships between the interviewees and interviewer. However, given the already established relationships, the participants may feel easier and comfortable to reveal quality information, in spite of the sensitivity of information required and the need to assure complete participants confidentiality.

Also, given the state of unrest, travel warnings and security issues in Nigeria, face-to-face interviews were not a preferred technique for the study due to the high associated risk and safety concerns for the interviewer. This is despite the merits of face to face interview in obtaining and ensuring high response rates and good responses (Dickson-Swift et al. 2007; Sturges, and Hanrahan, 2004). However, the university recommendation from the risk assessment deemed too risky to conduct face-to-face interviews in Nigeria at that time. Telephone interviews lasted for a minimum of half an hour. Also, to avoid bias, both buyers and suppliers were interviewed for two reasons. 1) Their contribution as members of supply chains is valuable and insightful. 2). To reflect the diverse perspective of the chain (triad). 3). To get a balanced view of the phenomenon under investigation.

4.3.1.2 Open-Ended Questions

The adoption of open-ended question allows interviewees to respond to questions in their own words without restricting them (Geer, 1988). It is argued that open-ended questions can provide significant culturally and meaningful responses (Bryman, A. 2004; Saunders et al. 2011). Secondly, open-ended questions could help provide rich insights and explanation for the cases under study. Thirdly, open-ended questions can help provide responses that are unanticipated by the researcher (Kvale, 2007). Lastly, it allows flexibility and responses can be expanded on or clarified. It is important to note that some questions overlap and the order was not followed in a strict sense but in all the same questions were asked in all individual interview for consistency reasons. The development of the interview questions and the types of information sought were reflective of the study's research question and the theme that emerged from literature. In all interviews (n=18) were audio-recorded with participants' consent and transcribed verbatim. In the sections that follow next, details relating to the type of information sought; supply chain relationships; business exchanges; source of competition; social media use and the business environment are discussed.

The section that follows provides a detailed description of the type of questions sought. That is, questions and themes surrounding the area of interest like (1) Supply chain relationships, (2) Business exchanges (3) Competitive advantage (4) Social media use and 5) the environment asked during the interviews. Specifically, five central questions with subsets were set to reflect triadic relationship in supply chains and the use of social media as recommended by Choi, and Wu, (2009) & Gligor and Autry, (2012) respectively. Additionally, in drawing on the works of (Boso et al., 2013) questions on the market environment and competitiveness were also reflected. Moreover, questions capturing the transactional exchange was also asked (Dubois and Gabbe, 2000; Cox, 2004; Myhr, and Spekman, 2005). Furthermore, questions

about innovativeness on a business level were sought. Details of the research guide are provided in Appendix A.4.6.

The development of the interview questions was done with full acknowledgement of the efforts details in the pilot stage of the study. Given the comprehensive revisions that were made to the interview questions prior to the pilot stage, only minor corrections needed to be made at the main interview stage. The key learning points learned at the pre-test stage and insights gathered from colleagues, supervisors and doctoral conference helped to improve the quality of interview questions significantly. Indeed, the interview procedures suggested by authors like Nigel King were followed in developing and designing the question. In summary, King (1994 pp.14-15) suggests that qualitative research interviews should have "a low degree of structure; a preponderance of open questions; a focus of 'specific situations and action sequences in the world of the interviewee' rather than abstractions and general opinions." In consistent with emerging research practice (e.g., King, 1994; King, 2004; Braun and Clarke, 2006; King, 2012) the use of open-ended questions were selected for this study.

4.3.1.3 Interview Pilot Test

All interviews were conducted by the researcher. In addition to the 'a priori' themes from previous studies and existing literature, the final questions were pretested with a selected participant to validate the interview questions as relevant, reflective of the themes and addressing the research question. Prior to pre-testing, the interview questions in the study were reviewed by the two research supervisors. For example, the academic experts suggested that the questions be customized in suit the two primary targets: (1) questions for the buyers and (2) questions for the suppliers. In addition, an agreement to re-wording of initial questions and exclude the use of buzzwords and academic terms that may be confusing to the interviewees. As a result, of the review, "a one size fits all" set of questions was developed to suit both buyers and suppliers (see appendices A 4.1 & 4.2). At the pilot test, a telephone interview was held with one (SME) business owner in Nigeria, since the business owner who participated in the pilot interview expressed no concerns with sensitivity, length, and wording of the questions, it was agreed that the pilot interview could serve as the first interview instead of re-conducting the interview again using the same questions.

4.4 Profile of interview participants and study sample

4.4.1 SMEs definition

Many studies have examined firm size by using two key variables: total annual revenue and number of full-time employees (Tatoglu et al., 2015; Rezaei et al., 2015; Awheda et al., 2016). Similarly, the Central Bank of Nigeria defines SME's as "businesses with a turnover of less than 250 million Naira per annum and/or less than 300 employees" (CBN, 2010) while the UK, the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) defines an SME as an "organization with less than 250 employees" (BIS, 2016, p: 9). In drawing on these prior examples, the study uses the firms' full-time employees and total annual revenue (or sales turnover). Although there are slight variations in these definitions, the study opts to use the BIS definition.

4.4.2 Triadic relationships in supply chains

Authors (like Wandfluh et al, 2015; Antoniolli, 2016; Ghadimi et al, 2015; Isaksson and Seifert, 2016; Tanskanen, and Aminoff, 2015; Maglaras et al, 2015; Marshall et al, 2015) have argued that the level of supply chain relationships can be examined by considering the smallest unit of analysis is a dyad. On the other hand, other researchers (like Choi, and Wu, 2009; Autry et al, 2014; Van Hoek et al, 2014; Shi et al 2014; Hartmann and Herb, 2015; Wynstra et al 2015; Chardine-Baumann and Botta-Genoulaz, 2014) have argued that the smallest unit of analysis is a triad, not dyad. In following the examples from Choi and Wu, the level of the firm's supply chain relationship was studied by collecting information on the firm's supply chain members and categorizing them according to their level of closeness or transactional exchange. In accordance with Choi and Wu's 2005 classification, it can be said that triads can come in different forms. In line with the examples, the study will examine triads consisting of one buyer and two suppliers (buyer-supplier) or one central firm and two suppliers.

Supply chain relationships in this study are also referred to as relationships triad (or triadic relationship) which include a buyer or a firm and two suppliers with at least on SME in their supply chain. There are three main rationales behind selecting triadic relationships rather than dyadic relationships. 1) Authors (e.g. Choi and Wu 2005) have indicated that triads, instead of dyads are the simplest forms of relationships that help SCM researchers to investigate a firm and their dyadic relationships with and between supply chain members. 2) triadic relationships could enable the researcher to better explore the direct and indirect influences with and between buyers and suppliers. 3). This study focuses not only on buyer-supplier relationships

as in past studies but on relationships between suppliers (supplier-supplier) as well. Table 4.1 shows the nature of triadic relationships in the study.

Case number	Nature of actors in the triad (Buyer-supplier-supplier)	CASE ID	Country
Case 1	Non-SME – SME - SME	A1, A2, A3	Nigeria
Case 2	Non-SME – SME - SME	B1, B2, B3	Nigeria
Case 3	SME - SME - SME	C1, C2, C3	Nigeria
Case 4	Non-SME-SME-SME	D1, D2, D3	UK
Case 5	Non-SME-SME-SME	E1, E2, E3	UK
Case 6	SME - SME - SME	F1, F2, F3	UK
	Source: Aut	hor	

Table 4.1 Triadic relationships

It is worth mentioning that to provide a rich and detailed description relationally means a oneon-one (1:1) breakdown of the analysis. This creates a dyadic perspective (for example buyersupplier or supplier-supplier) which can be useful in its own rights, however, by studying the triad it affords us the opportunity to study the similarities, differences in their dynamics, themes, patterns of behaviour, modes of communication, interactions, and (negative and positive) impacts. Additionally, all participants were interviewed separately.

4.4.3 Sector/ Industry

One-third of the firms in the cases were from the firms in the IT industry while 33 per cent focused on food manufacturing industry and another 33 per cent focused on the fashion industry. In total, the sectors from the high tech, low-tech, and creative sectors were sampled. The rationale behind the three sectors is to provide a comparative, balanced but diverse basis for the use of technology (i.e., social media uptake, the pace of industry and nature of sector-visual or non-visual). The main industries examined in the study are shown in Table 4.2.

Industry Type	Number of cases based in the UK	Number of UK firms interviewed	Number of cases based in Nigeria	Number of Nigerian firms
High Tech	1	3	1	3
Low Tech	1	3	1	3
Creative	1	3	1	3
Total	3 cases	9 firms	3 cases	9 firms

Table 4.2: Industries interviewed

Source: Author

4.4.4 Targeted cases

Three of the most common sampling strategies used in qualitative research are quota; snowball and purposive sampling. Quota and purposive sampling appear quite similar but on closer look show a slight variation. They are similar as they both have criteria or characteristics of study such as size. However, they tend to vary as purposive sampling is often used when the number of interview participants is more a target and less a strict quota (steadfast requirement). The sampling method employed is purposive as the participants are selected according to preselected criteria appropriate to the research question. A sample size of 18 firms (9 in each country) is fixed prior to data collection and dependent on the research aim, time, and resources. Purposive sampling is influenced by feasibility and responsiveness (Saunders et al. 2007) as well. The purposive sampling technique is selected because other techniques like random probability sampling would not contribute to the feasibility and responsiveness as the competence of the participants is guaranteed. Additionally, Snowballing sampling also known referral sampling was employed. Especially in situations where participants contacted refer their supply chain supplier or buyer firm as a possible participant in the study.

In terms of the targeted supply chains, only firms with a minimum of one SME in each supply chain triad were recruited. 78 per cent (7 of the 9 firms) of the Nigerian respondents were SMEs in B2B relationships with larger or other SME firms, and 22 per cent (2 of the 9 firms) of the Nigerian respondents were larger firms in B2B relationships with SME or other large firms. The total number of SMEs is presented in table 4.3.

Type of business	Number of UK SME Respondents	% of UK SME Respondents	Number of Nigerian SMEs	% of Nigeria SME Respondents
SMEs	7 firms	78%	7 firms	78%
	S	ource: Author		

Table 4.3 Main businesses targeted

4.4.5 Geographical location/country

Researchers (like Lee and Workman, 2014; Huang et al., 2003; Sims, and Gegez, 2004) have used the Hofstede cultural dimension theory as a lens to compare cultures with and across countries. However, the framework is not relevant for comparing cultures with and across organizations. Unlike Lee and Workman, this study does not use the Hofstede cultural dimension distance score. However, authors (like Scuotto et al., 2016; Boso et al., 2013;

Camelo-Ordaz et al. 2015; Sölvell, 2015; Alexiev et al., 2016; Popovski et al., 2015) have used the firm's innovativeness as a lens to compare culture with and across organizations. Like Scuotto and colleagues, this study uses firm innovativeness to compare the cultures with and between the participating firm, cases, sectors, and countries as reported by the respondents. To further explore the scope of the firm innovativeness, the study also asked participants to provide information on the use (and non-use) of other technological tools in their firms.

4.4.6 Business experience

The cases contain a reasonable age of participating firms that were in business for a considerable number of years. The minimum number of years the Nigerian firms have been in business was six (6) years and the maximum of 41 years as shown in table 4.4. Regarding the firms' business experiences (in terms of the number of years in operation), the study found that average business experience was 14 years however some firms had as little as 2 years and less social media experience.

Respondent Code	Participating firms in Nigerian and the UK	Total number of years of operation
RES- A1a & 1b	Large Enterprise	41
RES -A2	SME	11
RES -A3	SME	17
RES –B1	Large Enterprise	14
RES –B2	SME	6
RES-B3	SME	8
RES –C1	SME	7
RES –C2	SME	10
RES – C3	SME	8
	Average (Approximately)	14 years

Table 4.4: Total number of years in business

Source: Author

4.4.7 Management level of participants

In addition to providing information on the (targeted) participating firms in the study, it is important that a profile of the individual respondents is discussed as well. The credibility of the participants is a crucial aspect of the validity of the study as doubts cast over a questionable source can affect the integrity of the results (DeVellis and DeVellis, 2000). As this was a supply chain study, it was important that the participants had considerable experience and knowledge

about the B2B relationships and their use, or possibly non-use of social media. The section provides a profile of the characteristics of the (actual) informants that participated in the interviews and represented the businesses in the cases under study. According to Vince and Broussine, (1996) accessing firms particularly the top tier management of any firm is often challenging probably due to their busy work schedules. However, nearly 67 per cent of the firms accessed in Nigeria were top-level managers as shown in table 4.5. This means that over half of the Nigerian data used in the study came from managers who occupied senior (top level) roles such as Owner manager, Chief Executive Officers, and Managing Directors) in their firms. The lowest percentage, about 11 per cent of the participants were senior managers with positions such as services executive. Together, both top-level managers and senior managers accounted for about 78 per cent of participants. The lowest proportion of the informants was those working in functional and middle management level roles such as operations, project (& events) managers. This group of participants accounted for approximately 22 per cent of the respondents that provided data for the study.

Position	Number of participants in Nigeria	% of participants in Nigeria	Number of participants in the UK	% of participants in the UK
Тор	6 informants	67	6 informants	67
management				
Senior	1 informant	11	1 informant	11
management				
Middle	2 informants	22	2 informants	22
management				
Total	9	100	9	100

Table 4.5 Positions of Participants

Source: Author

The final information on the participants had to do with their management experience. The average management experience of the participants was 9 years as seen in table 5.5. Moreover, 67 per cent of respondents indicated that they had less than 10 years of management experience while 33 per cent reported management experience of over 10 years. The minimum management experience was 5 years while the maximum management experience of informants was 11 years in the firms. It is worth mentioning that all supply chain triads are local.

Respondent Code	Status of Nigerian firms	Positions for Nigerian participants	Management experience	Gender	Age
RES-1a and 1b	Large Enterprise/ Non-SME	Service Executive and Technology Specialist	10	Female	51-60
RES -2	SME	Business Owner	7	Male	51-60
RES -3	SME	Business Owner	11	Male	51-60
RES -4	Large Enterprise/ Non-SME	Project Manager	9	Female	31-40
RES -5	SME	Business Owner	6	Female	41-50
RES-6	SME	Operations manager	8	Male	41-50
RES -7	SME	Business Owner	7	Female	31-40
RES -8	SME	Business Owner	10	Female	51-60
RES – 9	SME	Business Owner	8	Male	51-60
RES-10	Large Enterprise/ Non-SME	Technology Specialist	15	Male	41-50
RES -11	SME	Business Owner	7	Male	41-50
RES -12	SME	Business Owner	5	Female	41-50
RES - 13	Large Enterprise/ Non-SME	Project Manager	7	Female	41-50
RES -14	SME	Business Owner	9	Female	41-50
RES- 15	SME	Business manager	9	Male	41-50
RES -16	SME	Business Owner	7	Female	31-40
RES - 17	SME	Business Owner	11	Female	31-40
RES – 18	SME	Business Owner	12	Male	31-40

Table 4.6 Years of managerial experience and description of Nigerian Research Participants

Source: Author

4.4.7.1 Age and Gender Classification of Participants

On the gender of participants, data collected showed that majority 7 (38.9 %) were males while females were 11 (61.1 %). These findings indicated that most of SMEs and their supply chain firms were dominated by females. The data on age shows that majority of interviewees were

between 31-40 years, 5 (27.8%), followed by 41-50 years at 8 (44.4%) and 51-60 years at 5 (27.8%) (see table 4.12). This data revealed most of the age groups were not represented (less than 30years) in this study. In most cases, there was one respondent per firm; however, in one case two respondents from the same firm were invited and interviewed at separate times. Two participants (of the non-SME) were interviewed as the researcher felt that a more experienced and relevant manager would provide more useful insights. Consequently, the key top management staff responsible for managing the projects, suppliers, and technology (the services executive) was approached to assist with further response to the interview questions. The details of the research participants are provided in table 4.6. The eighteen participants were coded from RES1- RES18 with RES representing respondent. RES-1a and 1b represent the unique case discussed above.

4.5 Data analysis

Analysis of literature shows findings for the use of social media by businesses, although available findings relate predominately to a marketing context. There are some inherent capabilities (speed, social, cost, interactive and information sharing tool) embedded within social media that implies that social media is a significant relationship enhancing tool, however, not much exist in literature regarding this. This observation represents the focus of this study; "How does the use of social media by SMEs affect relationships with and between supply chain members?"

The creation of the initial template started from the analysis of literature. A thorough review of the literature led to 15 sub-themes that underline the research topic. These 15 sub-themes were thoroughly analyzed qualitatively. These themes were positively or negatively acclaimed by participants. At the data analysis stage, 'a priori' themes (allowing for potential themes) and developing an initial template from reviewing existing literature were the principal focus is exploring how existing theoretical concepts apply to the data collected. To this end, it is important that an analytical method was undertaken by way of exploring the 'a priori' themes and applying the initial template to code further data used in the study. The importance of template analysis is well illustrated by Brooks and King (2012, p.3-4): "[*T*]he uses of 'a priori' themes means that template analysis may be well suited to studies with particular applied concerns which need to be incorporated into the analysis."

Consequently, prior themes and initial templates were developed for the purposes of testing out how well existing theoretical ideas apply to the data collected. As such, the section describes the recommended set of procedures that could be used in guiding the analysis from template analysis literature (like Brooks and King 2012; Brooks et al., 2015; King 2012; Braun and Clarke 2006). The study applies the template analysis introduced in chapter four to the qualitative data collected and modified when necessary.

The study employed template analysis. Each triad was examined to explore 'how the use of social media by SMEs affects relationships with and between supply chain members?' Initial analysis was carried out on the first data sub-set consisting of three related individual interviews. The text transcripts were closely examined to understand the different perspective fully and re-organized into sub-themes (in the template). The coding used was then re-examined, modified and reviewed. This was done to ensure that the template (thematic) structure is representation and justification of the data and the modified template. Finally, a set of sub-themes in the areas of focus was applied to all the individual interviews. The emerging themes identified from all triads were cross-referenced and reviewed according to their similarities and differences. Each emerging theme was compared with the potential ('a priori') themes presented in the initial template (see table 5.1). When one emerging theme shared a similar meaning with an 'a priori' themes, the emerging theme was named according to the 'a priori' theme. In total, 5 potential themes and 3 sub-themes were identified in the initial template.

These themes were organized into five categories: 1) supply chain relationships (network) and relationship management; 2) exchanges; 3) competitive advantage; 4) social media use and 5) business environment as presented in table 4.7. These themes were from related literature and theories (e.g., relational view of firms and technology acceptance model-TAM 2). It is important to mention that the thesis emphasizes the relationship perspective with 1) buyers and suppliers and 2) between suppliers and the results show the critical themes or factors that affect these relationships. The final template is shown in section 4.10

Category of influence	Influencing sub-themes	Description	
1. Supply chain relationships	a. Trust, dependence, power, and control	These characteristics of relationships that can affect the development and sustenance of supply chain triads.	
	b. Triadic relationships	A three-way supply chain relationship (e.g., buyer- supplier-supplier).	
	c. Interactions	A confrontation process that occurs between companies and which can change and transforms aspects of the resources and activities of the involved companies and of the companies themselves.	
2. Exchanges	a. Transactional exchange	The increase or decrease in cash flow caused by a change in the transfer of goods, services or funds.	
	b. Information sharing	The flow/ exchange of data between technologies, organizations, and individuals of supply chains.	
	c. Contracts	A written or sometimes spoken agreement between supply chain members, that is intended to be enforceable by law.	
3. Competitiveness	a. Use of relationship management	A concept that aims to improve a firm's relationships with both buyers and suppliers.	
	b. Resource and capabilities	Are sources of competitive advantage which can mostly be imitated, however, capabilities are usually unique to the firms.	
	c. Innovativeness	The ability/ willingness to introduce new or different things, e.g., product, idea or concept.	
4. Social media use	a. Technology infrastructure	The platforms (hardware, software, network resources) and services required for the operation and management of individual, social and business environment/use.	
	 b. Appropriateness of technology 	Technology that can be considered practical and right in terms of economically viable, social applicable and environmentally sustainable.	
	c. Overlapping social media use	The use of social media that extends for another purpose (like personal vs business use).	
5. Environment	a. Competition/collaboration	Working together with other supply chain firms to achieve a shared goal.	
	b. Market orientation	The business approach/ philosophy focused on sensing and identifying demands.	
	c. Supplier/buyer power	The pressure exerted by the buyer or supplier in a supply chain triad.	

Table 4.7 Recap of initial themes

Source: Author
4.6 Final template

The original template was developed after the review of the literature (see table 4.8). The themes from that template underpinned the questions asked during the interviews. The analysis and findings from the collected data have shaped the initial template (see section 2.6 and 4.5) which had five themes in the final template which now consists of six central themes see table 4.11. Although the titling of the five original themes has been retained in the new template, however, the original sub-categories have evolved considerably in the new template. The five original themes were:1) Supply chain relationships 2) Transactional exchange 3) Competitive advantage 4) Social media use 5) Environment. The newly emerged and now the sixth theme is "SME's organizational attributes".

1.	Supply	Supply chain relationships								
	I.	Nature of relationships								
	II.	Trust								
2.	Transa	actional exchanges								
	١.	Power and control								
3.	Comp	etitive advantage								
	١.	Information sharing								
4.	Social	Media Use								
	I.	Perceived usefulness								
	II.	Perceived ease of use								
	III.	Poor infrastructure								
	IV.	Security issues								
5.	Enviro	nment								
	١.	Nature of the industry								
	II.	Social factors								
6.	SMEs									
	١.	Less formal structures								
	II.	Lack of dedicated staff and resources								
	III.	Lack of innovativeness								

Table 4.8 Final template on the use of social media by SMEs

Source: Author

The final template has been further developed in (see section 6.3) in the next chapter. In the section that follows next, information regarding the themes in the template above is discussed.

4.7 Findings

4.7.1 Supply chain relationships

4.7.1.1 Nature of relationships

The type of relationships created with SMEs or non-SMEs (buyers) and their suppliers can be viewed in terms of their purchasing/sales volume (transactions) or by their close relationship (collaboration) in a triad. While the type of relationships created between SMEs or non-SMEs suppliers can be viewed in terms of rivalry (competition); by their close working relationship and by their level of collaboration and competition (coopetition) in a triad.

Of the 3 triads in phase 1 interviews, 2 triads had transactional buyer-supplier dyads (see table 5.2). Case A was selected by the researcher as 1) it is a representative of most the cases in the stage 1 interviews and 2) it exemplifies the relationship characteristics of the transactional dyad in this triad. Triad A comprised of a firm and two suppliers. The triad case was formed by a local subsidiary (Nigeria) of a global technology firm (Res A1); a local supplier of A1 offers specialized IT solutions (Res A2) and a local supplier of A1 offering IT solutions and software services to businesses and governmental organizations (Res A3). In the two (2) dyads (buyer-supplier) in case A, the relationship was characterized by the buyers having many tiers of suppliers; as such collaboration and information sharing were limited. The key buyer also pushed a particular service to minimize their profits. The individual interviews reveal that larger firms (buyers) as in this case, tend to lean towards a more transactional relationship approach with their suppliers which in no small extent contributes towards the formal nature of the buyer-supplier relationships and a large number of suppliers. An interviewee within Case A noted:

"it was supposed to be a relationship that would bring a wealth of experience... much cheaper rate to the customer" (Res A1);

"Firm x has a lot number of suppliers" (Res A2)

"With firm x, in particular, the relationship is very transactional" (Res A3)

Simply put, some interviewees showed an opinion on the relevance of transactional exchange as a priority. On the other hand, of the 3 triads in phase 1 interviews, only 1 triad case (C) had a collaborative buyer-supplier relationship (see table 5.9). Triad case C was selected because: 1) it is a representative of a minority of the cases in the stage 1 interviews and 2) it exemplifies a collaborative dyad. Case C comprised of one buyer and two suppliers. The triad case was

formed by a local a fashion firm (Res C1); a local supplier of C1 provides materials and accessories (Res C2) and another local supplier of C1 offering specialized fashion hardware, materials, and accessories (Res C3). The dyad between suppliers in triad case C is characterized by few suppliers and informal relationships. The individual interviews indicate that the SMEs (buyers) as in this case tend to lean towards a more collaborative relationship (and sometimes a mixed approach) with their suppliers. This may largely contribute towards the informal (close and personal) nature of the SME buyer- (SME) supplier relationships. An interviewee within the case C commented:

"I would say it is cordial with both suppliers in question" (Res C1);

"I would say we have a good relationship with firm x" (Res C2)

"My relationship with firm x is mainly transactional and about the business, but we have a good relationship as well" (Res C3).

The analysis indicates that SMEs in relationships with larger firms tend to have more formalized (relational) structures with larger firms. SMEs in relationships with other SME firms have less formal structures. This finding is supportive of the literature view that explains transactional exchange as fundamental basis governing B2B relationships (Heide and John 1992; Jap and Ganesan 2000; Grant, 2005; Klein and Rai, 2009; Lindgreen et al. 2012). This evidence is also supportive of the literature view that businesses are beginning to shift to collaborative relationships (Nesheim, 2001; Barratt, 2004a & 2004b; Talluri et al., 2006; Flynn et al., 2010). This finding is supportive of the literature view that the nature of relationships impacts on the firm's use or decision to use an innovation (Fichman, 2000; Edwards et al. 2005; Zhu et al., 2006)

4.7.1.2 Trust

RES F1 comments:

"Trust is the most important element of doing business with any firm".

One of the typical comments that resurfaced from time to time was the matter of trust. The untrusting nature between buyers and suppliers is apparent in the interview. Res-A1 comments

"some suppliers feel that we (firm x) compete with them which creates a trust issue which is a major challenge for us."

The respondents had clear ideas of issues surrounding relationship management in supply chain management, which corresponds to RM and SCM literature. When asked: "what are the key challenges in your relationship with firm x and firm Y? Res-C1 comments:

"they lost my trust and I found another alternative supplier (Firm Z)."

Additionally, RES-C2 highlights the impact and the possible outcomes of trust in relationships:

"I guess it is also preferred to take care of potential issues around trust ...and not find ourselves on the outside knocking at the door and trying to get in".

See section 6.4.2 for further discussions on trust. The interviews reveal that it is not uncommon to engage suppliers in projects without a contractual agreement in Nigeria.

"In Nigeria, that is less important because people abuse contracts so there is only so much you can protect and there is only so much you can't protect".

There are also different attitudes towards binding agreements as well. The SMEs indicated they did not wish to invest time and resources in contractual agreement mainly if it optional or the order/project is not guaranteed. RES C3 comments:

"I don't have the time, manpower or resources for this (contracts)."

It can be deduced that buyers and suppliers of chains are willing to engage in relational exchanges when there is a return on investment (perceived benefits outweigh the incurred cost) due to the limited resources SMEs face.

4.7.2 Transactional exchanges

When asked: "how has this relationship –in your view- changed over time?", of the 3 triads in the stage 1 interviews, 2 triad cases retained their transactional forms by keeping all embedded dyadic relationships as transactional (see table 4.9). Triad case A was selected because 1) it is a representative of the majority of the cases in the stage 1 interview and 2) it explains the relationship characteristics of the majority transactional triads in this group. The

B2B relationship was developed and sustained for nearly ten years. In the buyer-supplier dyad, case A had a pool of suppliers, minimizing their profits (of the power firm) by pushing a particular service and as such collaboration did not occur. The majority of triads with large firms as the focal or power firm such as triad case A & B did not show significant changes as their embedded dyads had retained its dynamics without changing its transactional form.

Further details of the three triads in stage 1 is presented in table 4.10. In triads A & B the relationship description and types of three dyadic relationships did not change significantly over time. The dyad with the buyer and the supplier exhibited predominately transactional links; limited information sharing; formal structures; high use of contractual agreement and interactions generally via email. The dyad between suppliers exhibited competitive (sometimes a mixture of competitive and collaborative- co-opetition) relationships; simple structures; information hoarding and little contractual agreements. The other triads such as case B were similar to case A because their triadic relationship failed to exhibit any differences. However, the other triad in case C was different to case A as their triadic relationship had evolved (exhibited changes) since its inception. Please note that the best transactional representation triad A is highlighted, whereas best collaborative relationships representation is triad C as such Triads B, D, E and F are excluded to prevent repetition.

Relationship				Nature of							
description	Information sharing	Relationship structure	Interaction	exchange	Single sourced suppliers	Contractual Agreement	Core capabilities	Trust	Power & control	Problem-solving	Resource sharing
Initial buyer (A1) –	Related to	Formal	Predominately	Strictly	Single supplier	Yes	The product,	Little	Yes (exerted	None	None
supplier (A2)	orders		via emails	transactional	for a particular		technology, and	to	by larger		
relationship dyad					customer		technical	none	buying firm)		
							expertise				
Current buyer (A1)	Related to	Formal	Predominately	Strictly	Single supplier	Yes	The product,	Little	Yes (exerted	None	None
– supplier (A2)	orders		via emails	transactional	for a particular		technology, and	to	by the larger		
relationship dyad					customer		technical expertise	none	buying firm)		
Initial buyer (A1) -	Related to	Formal	Predominately	Strictly	Multiple	Yes	Technical	Little	Yes (exerted	None	None
supplier (A3)	orders		via emails	transactional	sourced		expertise	to	by the larger		
relationship dyad					supplier			none	buying firm)		
Current buyer (A1)	Related to	Formal	Predominately	Strictly	Multiple	Yes	Technical	Little	Yes (exerted	None	None
– supplier (A3)	orders		via emails	transactional	sourced		expertise	to	by the larger		
relationship dyad					supplier			none	buying firm)		
Initial supplier (A2)	Information	Informal	Predominately	Competitive	None	None	Technical	Little	Yes (exerted	None	None
– supplier (A3)	hoarding		via emails	and/or				to	by the larger		
relationship dyad				collaborative				none	buying firm)		
Current supplier	Information	Informal	Predominately	Strictly	None	None	Technical	Little	Yes (exerted	None	None
(A2) – supplier (A3)	hoarding		via emails	transactional				to	by the larger		
relationship	1							none	buying firm)		

Table 4.9 Additional details of the transactional relationship triad A

The dyadic relationships showed no changes since its inception and remain transactional in the long term (over five years).

Source: Author

However, in contrast to triads A & B, the buyer and the suppliers in triad C started with transactional dyads (buyer-supplier) as exchanges were strictly transactional and the dyads lacked a relationship history. Triad C is a typical case that can illustrate the relationship characteristics in supply chain relationship that shifted from transactional to collaborative relationships and subsequently shifted from inter-organizational to interpersonal relationships. Triad C was formed by an SME fashion firm (the buyer-C1); a local fashion accessory supplying firm (the supplier- C2); a fashion accessory and raw material supplying firm (the second supplier-C3). The triadic relationship had been in existence for over seven years. The triad consists of three dyads. The two buyer-supplier dyads began as a transactional exchange (see table 5.4).

Initially, the buyer (C1) - supplier (C3) dyad relations were transactional (relating most to order placing/confirmation). As the dyad was fundamentally transactional initially, they shared no relationship history, no information sharing and found no need to develop a close dyad. The type of dyad between them changed from a transactional to a collaborative over a five-year period. Res C3 began to offer market insights; shared information and solved problems with Res C1. Buyer C1 expanded its business to other local markets, in this situation, buyer C1 decided to source and selected supplier – C2 for two reasons. 1) The supplier was more significant in size than the buyer and had more financial resources, they were able to offer credit the buyer C1 which is attractive but overall charged higher prices for materials 2) supplier C2 demonstrated they could offer better prices than competitors. In this situation, to save costs, the buyer C1 made the decision to source more materials from supplier C2. Subsequently, a relationship that started off as a transaction buyer-supplier dyad evolved into a closer, personal and collaborative dyad. In contrast to triad A, the buyer-supplier dyad had formed a collaborative relationship as they had a positive relationship (history) and strategic partnership.

Further details of the last triad in stage 1 is presented in table 4.10. In triad case C, the relationship description and types of three dyadic relationships evolved over time. The dyad with the buyer and the supplier generally exhibited transactional links initially with limited information sharing, formal structures and generally interacted via telephone or face to face meetings. The buyer-supplier dyad changed over a five-year period. They began sharing information on products, market insights, and expertise, solve problems jointly, joint decision-making, developed less formal structures and interactions via less formal media like social media. On the other hand, the relationship between suppliers did not change as the buyer wanted to keep sourcing costs from the supplier down and quality high from the other supplier.

The dyad between suppliers exhibited a competitive relationship and would exhibit characteristics like limited interaction, information hoarding, and formal relationship structures.

When asked: "how has this relationship –, in your view- changed over time? Why or Why not?", the individual interviews of all triad indicate the reasons for business continuity as 1) transactional exchange; 2) Personal relationship; 3) Resource and capability (expertise). Interviewees indicated that they continued doing business in the embedded dyads due to personal relationships at various levels, capabilities, and resources in the chains. As Res A2 summaries:

"Firm x would probably determine which partner to use based on personal relationships or expertise or on both."

Res A1 adds:

"if we get our own resources to do a particular part of the project, it is going to be very expensive, but if you get a resource from the supplying (partner) organization it turns out to be cheaper for us."

It seems logical to deduce that the potential for increased transactional exchange is an essential motivation for all triads. However, personal acquaintances, resource and capabilities are important factors for collaboration with each other.

Regarding transactions and structure, there seemed to be a difference between SMEs and larger firms. The majority of the large firm participants interviewed have formalised transactional exchange activities such as 30-60 days payment plans. The majority of the SMEs participants indicated that they had less formalized transactional exchange activities, for example, one employee may be responsible for transactional exchanges and other roles within the SME firm.

One plausible explanation might be that transaction exchange function is more structured in a large firm and possibly managed by department(s) compared with SMEs, which have limited resources and one staff may have multiple duties within the firm. As a result, SMEs seemed to have more flat structures compare with large firms with more centralized ones. This finding also implies that the firm size may influence the level of structure and specialization.

Relationship description Triad Cases	Information sharing	Relationship structure	Interaction	exchange	Single sourced suppliers	contractual agreement	Core capabilities	Trust	Power & control	Problem-solving	Resource sharing
Initial buyer (C1) -	Related to	Formal	Face-to-face, telephone, and	Transactional	Single	None	Cost (price)	Little to	No	None	None
supplier (C2)	orders		email		supplier			none			
relationship dyad											
Current buyer (C1) –	Information	Informal	Predominately via social	Transactional	Two	None	Cost (Price)	Better	NO	Yes	None
supplier (C2)	sharing		media, face-to-face, and	and relational	sourced			Trust			
relationship dyad			telephone		suppliers						
Initial buyer (C1) –	Related to	Formal	Predominately via emails,	Transactional	Single	None	Market and	Little to	Yes (exerted by	None	None
supplier (C3)	orders		telephones and face-to-face		supplier		product	none	supplying-C3)		
relationship dyad			meetings				insight				
Current buyer (C1) –	Information	Informal	Predominately via social	Transactional	Two	None	Market and	Better	Yes (exerted by	Yes	None
supplier (C3)	sharing		media, face-to-face and	and relational	sourced		product	trust	supplying-C3)		
relationship dyad			telephone		suppliers		insight				
Initial supplier (C2) –	Information	Formal	Predominately via emails,	Competitive	NA	None	Fashion	Little to	Yes (exerted by	None	None
supplier (C3)	hoarding		telephone				supplies	none	supplying-C3)		
relationship dyad											
Current supplier (C2) -	Information	Informal	Rare interactions but	Strictly	NA	None	Fashion	Little to	Yes (exerted by	None	None
supplier (C3)	hoarding		occasionally via physical (face	transactional			supplies	none	supplying-C3)		
relationship			to face) meetings								
1	1	1		1		1	1	1		1	

Table 4.10 Additional details of the collaborative relationship triad C

The dyadic relationships showed changes (over a five-year period).

There seemed to be a similarity between SMEs and larger firms. In the sense that participants both agreed that role of transactional exchanges influences the nature of relationships. Res F 3 commented:

"Some larger firms I have dealt with are strictly about the transaction; they don't want any form of relationship in such a case, information sharing is not particularly welcomed."

SMEs in this study placed more emphasis on the relational aspect than large organizations which placed more emphasis on perceived transactional volumes.

4.7.2.1 Power and control

When asked: "In your own view, what is the influence (if any) of your firm on the suppliersupplier relationship and vice versa? Or In your own view, what is the influence (if any) of your firm on the buyer-supplier relationship and vice versa", the interviews indicate that non-SME buyers (like Res A1 & C1) showed minimum influence from their supplier as low transactions, resource and capabilities existed. Yet at the same time, SME suppliers (in triads A&B) indicated strong influences from the non-SME buyers in terms of their internal operations and more formal structures to ensure business continuity. Examples of influences including change of internal (administrative and accounting) processes to meet Res A1 organizational systems, implementing new technologies and employing experts to improve their capabilities.

Res A2 comments;

"their payment cycle is too long, we smaller companies depend on cash flow but have to comply."

Interviews also indicated that the non-SME buyer in triad A had provided assistance and training to the suppliers to improve their information sharing, structure, operation, and subsequently improve transactions. Suppliers (in triads A&B) also kept up-to-date with the buyer's (Res A1) strategic direction and planned accordingly. Interestingly, a supplier (Res A2) also commented that the Res A1 has a strong influence on the B2B clients' due to their reputation and business size. "

"The benefit of working with bigger companies is that they have got more muscle in reach bigger projects" (Res A2). The message was also echoed in other interviews with Res B2 as commented:

"as a small company when I tell potential clients I supply firm x it adds to my integrity and carries far more weight."

It can be deduced that larger firms have a significant influence on the SME suppliers' due to the size of the business. Suppliers often take up the role of the larger firm's representative. It is not surprising that the perceived influence between buyer and supplier may be similar to the perceived influence between suppliers though to a much lower extent. Typical changes to suppliers include complying with new policies as well as demonstrating to the buyer the capabilities of accomplishing the project successfully. The inter-organizational influence is apparent in an embedded dyad is evident from the interviews.

The individual interviews indicate SME suppliers influence buyer's operations and can influence the product/service delivery and exception. Interviews of the all SME triad (C) indicate much influence with the SME buyer, pointing out years of experience, the understanding of each parties' operation (via relationship history) and the existent of personal relationships. Both suppliers identified themselves as the main supplier to Res C1. In this case, Res C3 had expert knowledge of different situations. As a result, SME buyer was prompted to change orders to accommodate the supplier's input, constraints and demands.

"The first time I met firm x (buyer), she was new to the business and did not quite know what would fit, so we helped each other out" (RES C2)

Res C1 had this to say:

"I have learnt a lot from firm y and they have influenced me in so many areas".

However, with the other supplier (Res C3) where expert knowledge is limited, the SME supplier created a robust, friendly environment with the SME buyer. As Res C1 points out

"I really like him so I do business with him."

The suppliers here did not only provide materials but also collaborated with the buyer to develop more innovative products to suit the buyer's demand/needs. Fashion industries are creative, (more) visual, dynamic and sometimes complex in nature. SCM strategies

such as the use of innovative technologies and relationship management require more interactions and collaborations between supply chain members. The RES C3 comments:

"I personally like speaking to people face to face or on the telephone. But this environment is so busy and that way social media comes in."

The focal firms not only manage the fashion projects but they work together with B2B customers and suppliers as well. The suppliers not only supply materials and full fill orders according to their specifications but also collaborate with the buyer to develop new and innovative products to suit the requirement of the project.

Findings from this study indicate the all forms of power (e.g. reward power, coercive power, legitimate power, information power, expert power) with the exclusion of referent power were used which had an influence on the use of social media in supply chains. This finding is supportive of studies like Ku et al., (2010); Nygaard and Biong (2010); Oke et al., (2008); Azad and Faraj (2011). Ku et al., (2010) that found most forms of power had direct effects on the adoption intention of electronic supply chain management system in dyadic supply chain relationships. Other studies like Nygaard and Biong (2010) found that all forms of social power excluding reward and legitimate power had significant effects on corporate ethical values. We found that social power had a significant influence on social media use. This is in line with studies like Oke et al., (2008) found that social power had a significant effect on the project outcomes such as design performance and development time. Azad and Faraj (2011) also found that social power has a substantial impact on various business practices particularly IT projects. Studies by Berthon et al. (2012) and Kaplan and Haenlein (2010) found social power played a crucial role in whistleblowing the unethical and unsustainable practices of firms.

4.7.3 Competitive advantage

4.7.3.1 Information sharing

The findings from individual interviews reveal that in general there is little too limited information sharing in case A. Res A 1 commented,

"it is supposed to be a relationship that would bring a wealth of information and experience worldwide...however, our partners feel we compete with them in the local space".

Within case A, information sharing with the two SME suppliers was often cited as problematic. It is worth noting that both suppliers often have minimal interaction with each other except during involvement in a project. Suppliers may become involved in a project in two ways. 1. via the buyer who selects a particular supplier and/or 2. Via the client who directly appoints the supplier. Res A2 comments

"In many cases the supplier could end up getting a strategic contract to sell directly to the customer.... Firm X (buyer) would determine which partner to use."

Should the supplier misunderstand the client/project requirement or work order, it may lead to delays and the inability to source for an adequate resource for the project. When the level of interaction declines, the buyer/client performance and competitiveness are also affected and vice versa. This is probably due to the nature of the relationship in - in the sense that supply chains members are impacted by the actions of other and the competitive nature of the (industry) environment. This is echoed in a comment by RESA1:

"The projects are very contractual... we are very careful around their image, reputation, law suites so there are many processes creating bottlenecks.

Findings suggest that in case A, the buyer would most times send email intensively for a period. For example, RES A1 says:

"there were many times we would have to keep records and refer back to the emails or confirm some information"

However, often times this does not guarantee high levels of interactions with the supplier nor does it translate to better collaborative relationships with the suppliers. Suppliers reveal that pushing products, paying lip service and underlying trust issues may be at the heart of frustrations with and between members of the chain. For example, Res A3 had these comments about the excessive use of email a system of records: *"if you are in a structure that the relationship is transactional you are not likely to use collaborative platforms to interact. Its strategy and trust but more strategy than trust."*

Subsequently, the type of relationships with buyers and between suppliers can be an influencer as well. As such, the level of interaction depends mainly on the type of relationship as well. On the other hand, case study 3 indicates that information sharing seemed common. Res C2 commented:

"I share information with firm x (buyer) and she is willing to exchange information that can be very helpful to us both".

However, Res C1 also cautioned:

"There is an old adage that information is secret that means it is not everyone you can share your information or disclose secrets too".

In case C, their B2B relationship had evolved over the years, the buyer or suppliers could easily be reached via phone or social media. By doing this, information may be requested (with immediate responses provided), easily clarified or reconfirmed thereby reducing confusion, misunderstanding, issues, and delays.

Findings suggest that the use of social media in general in some cases can lead to information overload. For example, Res C1 comments:

"sometimes it (social media) is too much information."

This finding is supportive of studies by Fishcer and Reuber (2011). They found that the use of social media such as Twitter by SMEs led to overwhelming information which was distracting to the SMEs. Interestingly, a number of interviewees stressed the benefits of social media and the importance of monitoring) social media use as means of gaining information as well as controlling information. For example, Res F1 commented,

"I like Twitter to provide updates to my clients and suppliers".

4.7.4 Social media use

4.7.4.1 Perceived usefulness

Findings in the analysis revealed that the use of social media with and between supply chains was a relatively new concept amongst SMEs and their participating firms as many SMEs had not given much thought to social media from a supply chain context. Respondents did not incorporate the relational nature of social media especially where trust is low, nor did they consider the role and importance of information sharing and collaboration for relationship development and sustenance (maintenance). However, SMEs, in general, found more and evolving usefulness to social media. Res C1 commented, "*I use social media a lot personally, we have used it for marketing, sales, for seeing what my competitors.*"

The use of social media by the large firm in the cases in this study individually focused on marketing, talent hunting and B2C relationships. SMEs in triads collectively used social media as a surveillance tool to monitor what their competitor was doing, information exchange, interactions and collaborations on projects see vignette for further discussions. It is worth noting that the definitions and types of social media remain a highly debated topic (see section 2.3 in chapter 2). For example, some may argue that WhatsApp does not fit into the social media definition. Others may argue that considering the rapid evolution of social media applications, the term "social media" can be loosely applied to cover a range of tools for social interactions. Although these debates are important, however, given the scope of this study these debates will not be further explored. Next, let's consider brief descriptions of the use of WhatsApp within the case organizations.

Vignette #1: WhatsApp for information sharing

Res C1 is the business owner of a SME firm which specializes in making couture handbags, shoes and scarfs. Her use of WhatsApp in supply chain was influenced by using WhatsApp in her private life. Her WhatsApp use usually tends to overlap between business and personal use. WhatsApp is linked to her private mobile number making her personally responsible for the use of WhatsApp. During preparations for a fashion exhibition, she sent her ideas in text and image format to Res C2 (the business owner of an SME firm which supplies fashion accessories) using WhatsApp. Using text and images via WhatsApp, Res C2 responded with feedback and advice on the type and best fit material, availability, price and material options. Res C1 also sent a message to Res C3 (the business owner of an SME firm which supplies fashion accessories) to

check for availability of the type of material sought and price. Res C3 responded with availability and at a price quote cheaper than what was provided by Res C2. Fig 7 is an example of a WhatsApp interface. It is a generic example as participants WhatsApp content were private and confidential.



Figure 4.1: showing a generic example of WhatsApp

Source: The Internet

Vignette # 2: WhatsApp for direct B2B interaction

Res F1, the business owner of an SME fashion company prefers interacting with its suppliers via WhatsApp especially when she is out on the field. She sent a message using WhatsApp to Res F2 (a fashion supplier). She gets a speedy response back but cannot respond immediately. She responds after a meeting via WhatsApp voice call. She likes using WhatsApp platform because informal chat, audio and images can be sent, the request can be followed up, and updates shared with Res F2 in real time using the platform. She enjoys the call ID feature in WhatsApp cost-effective as calls are free and require no elaborate IT infrastructure except a smartphone and mobile connectivity. She is also able to send a response at a convenient time with little intrusion. She requires little or no training to use WhatsApp. The fast and easy features in WhatsApp has helped Res F1 to stay connected on the go and better interact with its supply chain members.

Vignette 3: WhatsApp for Improving B2B relationships

Res C3 likes interacting directly with buyer Res C1 using WhatsApp. He has direct access to Res C1 and other supply chain members which helps facilitate better B2B relationships. Nielsen (2018) suggests that users are more inclined to do business with those they interact with directly. WhatsApp affords him the opportunity to make inquires, gain insights, respond and offer feedback without being intrusive, sending an email or picking up a call. Sometimes, he like to have confirmation from his buyer in real time. He finds clarifying with his buyer keeps them both happy and satisfied, which in turn translates to repeat business and room for continuous improvement. He views WhatsApp as a tool for keeping on top of issues He can also create a group conversation with supply chain members where they can discuss pending issues and how they can improve. These features in WhatsApp have helped Res C3 improve pre-existing B2B relationships with Res C1 and other supply chain members.

Participants in this study describe how social media was their natural point of competitive analysis. Res F1 explained how competitors Facebook page was continually monitored to keep on top of trends, stack up against their competitors and acquire information on their latest business strategies. For example, the comments, likes and dislike provides a great opportunity to gather information that can improve their service

4.7.4.2 Speedy interactions

Findings of the study suggest that the degree of interactions seemed to correspond with the degree of personal relationships or business transactions (or both) between the supply chain members. The level of interaction was one of the issues that resurfaced from time to time. Interaction is apparent in supply chains using relational approach (relationship management) as described in this quote by Res C2:

"I interact with firm x (buyer) via social media. Social media is now commonly used, so I can send a Whatsapp message, Facebook and BB".

BB means blackberry pin. In a transactional setting, where relationships are formalized, and operational processes are more structured between parties of supply chains. The buyer would interact with key suppliers ahead of the start of the project and commit the supplier. These structured forms seem to cater more to collective groups (rather than one-to-one interactions) and less established suppliers who are able to gain associations with established firms. Res A1:

"We use emails a lot"

Drawing upon the established and reputable firms the supplier is able to access markets that they would typically not have access to the buyer. In addition, by drawing upon local suppliers' experience, the buyer can identify potential and future opportunities and threats. The buyer believed that formalized interactions and structures could facilitate better information sharing and innovative solutions between parties of a supply chain. There are disadvantages as commented by RES A1:

"we tend to be not agile enough to meet the suppliers or customers need".

Some examples of formalized interactions include monthly meetings and weekly conference calls even with formal agreements and purchasing order in place. However, in case study 3, even though there were no formal contracts, orders were placed informally. In other words, interactions with buyers and between suppliers were generally discussed, and interactions tend to be informal. Face-to-face interaction was the most preferred form of communication with the buyer. Similar interactions also occurred between suppliers (case study 1), but limited to a degree of competitive or collaborative (coopetition) strategy adopted. The effect that the different (B2B relational) approaches have on the level of interaction, collaborative relationships. Further discussions are presented in next chapter.

4.7.5 Environment

4.7.5.1 Nature of industry

The type of relationships created between suppliers can be described as competitive, cooperative and /or both a term is known as "Co-opetition" (when competitors come together to collaborate). The individual interviews indicate that supplier-supplier dyads with larger firms (buyer) as their focal or power firm tend to lean towards a competitive approach. At first glance, the larger firm Res A1 appeared to advocate for greater collaboration while keeping the supplier (Res A2) - supplier (Res A3) at arm's length. For example, Triad A points out:

"Well, we collaborated in some areas and competed in other areas" (Res A2).

On the other hand, Res A3 point out that

"there are many categories of suppliers (to Firm X)., therefore, by my definition, it is largely adversarial because we compete for the same opportunities".

The individual interviews indicated that supplier-supplier dyads with non-SMEs (buyer) as the focal or power firm as in the case of triad C tend to lean towards a more competitive relationship approach with their suppliers which in no small extent contributes towards the limited information sharing and limited collaboration. For example, Res C3 commented: "Well, I see firm Y as a competitor..., I will say we are just ok with firm Y, not too good and not too bad". Similarly, Res C2 adds "Firm Z is definitely my competitor. Table 5.8 presents a summary of types of relationships embedded in all dyads in each triad.

This evidence is supportive of the literature view that explains businesses (suppliers) compete, collaborative or both (co-opetition) as well (Klein et al., 2007; Choi et al., 2002; Choi and Wu, 2005).

Case	Industry	Buyer-supplier dyad	Buyer-supplier (2) dyad	Supplier– supplier dyad
A1	Hi Tech	Transactional	Transactional	Co-opetition
A2	Hi Tech	Transactional	Transactional	Co-opetition
A3	Hi Tech	Transactional	Transactional	Co-opetition
B1	Low Tech	Transactional	Transactional	Competitive
B2	Low Tech	Transactional	Transactional	Competitive
B 3	Low Tech	Transactional	Transactional	Competitive
C1	Creative	Changed from transactional to collaborative	Changed from transactional to collaborative	Competitive
C2	Creative	Changed from transactional to collaborative	Changed from transactional to collaborative	Competitive
C3	Creative	Changed from transactional to collaborative	Changed from transactional to collaborative	Competitive

Table 4.11 Summary of Dyadic Relationships in Triads

Source: Author

4.7.5.2 Location

We found no evidence to support the SMEs location can positively influence the use of social media. This finding is supportive of studies like Wamba and Cater (2013) that found that firm characteristics like location did not have a significant impact on social media use. This is contrary to the view in studies by Kelley and Helper (1999) and Harland et al. (2007) which found the firm's geographical location tend to influence IT innovation positively. We found that the SMEs innovativeness (on the contrary) or lack of might influence the use of social media.

4.7.6 SME attributions

4.7.6.1 Formal and informal structures

When asked: "How does your firm currently manage the relationships between your firm and Firm X; your firm and Firm Y; and between Firm X and Firm Y"? of the 3 triads of the Nigerian interviews, only triad case A had a formal structure and dedicated staff in managing relationships in the triad. Triad case B had a formal structure but no dedicated staff in managing relationships while triad case C had an informal structure and no dedicated staff in managing relationships. Triad A was selected in this section because it is a representative of a triad with formal structures while Triad B was selected to be described as it exemplifies a triad with informal structures.

Res A1 had been employing relational approaches for over three decades. Res A1 continues putting a strong emphasis on facilitating collaboration between suppliers on project bids. The dedicated staff for relationship management tends to serve as coaches to tender bids, set up contract agreements to foster more business. In triad A, the level of transactional exchanges and the complexity of supply chain were found to be closely related to the extent to which relationship management structures were developed in non-SMEs (or their supply chains). It was evident that larger firms with high sale/purchasing volumes and those with more complex supply chain have developed a formal structure for relationship management as compared to some SMEs firms (triad C) with simple supply chains, basic operational needs and relatively lower transactional spend. It is expected that where such RM structures are found the capabilities in relationship management are well developed and useful. Res C2 commented:

"I think we have an account manager (dedicated staff from C1)."

Res C1 adds:

"We are very careful about their image, reputation, lawsuits and are careful about what has entered a contract with the customer and a supplier."

For the larger firm in triad A with formal structure relationship management still appears to be a major hurdle as respondent A1 puts it:

"the process of creating a contract within our firm takes a long time.

On the other hand, relationship management in triad C was frequently described in terms of resolving disagreements. The interviewees indicated that conflicts were resolved informally by an open exchange of information (direct confrontation) to reach an agreeable outcome. This finding is supportive of the literature view that SMEs tend to have less formalized structures and control systems compared to their larger counterparts (Vaaland and Heide, 2007; Towers and Burnes, 2008). This evidence is also supportive of the literature view that SMEs are often more short-term oriented than their larger counterpart. The implication is that SMEs may direct their efforts into using social media in supply chain short-term and their long-term efforts might often be constrained. This finding is also supportive of the literature view that SMEs have less

formal and flatter structures than larger firms (Angela, 2005; Mason, 1997; MacGregor, 2004).

4.7.6.2 Limited resources and lack of dedicated staff

The interviews reveal buyers had developed some way of selecting suppliers and may choose out of the selection of suppliers, which one they wanted to work with. However, most non-SME buyers (in case of study 1&2) admitted to only a slight level of dependence on their suppliers.

On the other hand, SME buyer (in case study 3) admitted to a high level of dependence on the supplier (res C3) at the beginning of the relationship. For example, imposed restrictions on raw materials, lack of resources, limited information, and a limited number of suppliers with the capability to source for specialized products were listed as reasons for high dependence on suppliers initially.

Informant (res A1) indicates expertise/capabilities was an important criterion in selection. As highlighted earlier by the interviewee (res A2), the buyer enables the suppliers (partners) to access bigger project that the suppliers may not necessarily have access to. In the IT services industry, the buyer is often the owner of the project and the source of revenue. Such factors can leave the local suppliers highly dependent on the buyer for business transactions. On the other hand, the supplier may have a strategic relationship with the B2B client and bring the buyer into the project. For example, the project may be situated at a client's location, the client may request specifically for a supplier in particular. In this case, the buyer must work with the supplier and would not have the power to reintroduce their chosen supplier. As such, there may be a shift in dependence towards the supplier. The findings have also reflected issues of trust which will be discussed later in this chapter.

Interviewees indicate one of the significant problems with suppliers is getting the work order/requirement/project right and on time, which not only constrains the project but also constrains the B2B relationship and the possibility of future transactions. On the one hand, it is critical for the buyer to monitor the project in pursuit of its agenda. On the other hand, it is also critical for the supplier to draw experience from live projects as well as developing their own credibility.

Account managers are dedicated staff with hard and soft skills in the frontline of relationship governance whose primary role and responsibilities include sales, business

relationship development, problem-solving, SCM and adapting to the dynamic environment. This not only affects the ability to build and sustain relationships but to influence B2B relationships in supply chains as well. However, in the majority of cases where SMEs were in relationships with larger firms but their interactions were sparse, a lot of distrust issues were 'snowballing' and beginning to emerge. Many conflicts could not be handled by the account manager and were not escalated to more senior managers until it was significant, hence necessitating contract reviews which placed more strain on their already strained relationships. Most cases placed much emphasis on the RM general focuses on transactional exchanges (time and quality) that occurred often ignoring supply chain interaction.

4.7.6.3 Innovativeness

This finding is supportive of the literature view that SMEs have limited financial resources than their larger counterparts which can affect the firm's innovativeness and ability to adopt IT (Angela, 2005). Other studies like Cameron and Clarke 1996; Caldeira and Ward, 2002) are also in support of this view. On the other hand, this finding is in contrast with studies like Dyer et al. (2001) that found firms with dedicated alliance management function tend to do better than those without consistently. We argue that recognised account/social media managers can attempt to firefight or sustain relationships, no matter how skilled they are, it still can't conceal issues like distrust with and between supply chains.

4.8 Chapter summary

This chapter presented the findings of the template analysis of the data. Template analysis was useful in providing a set of procedures that guided the analysis of the rich and qualitative data in the study. This study aimed to provide better understanding and insights into the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. The emerging findings indicate that the use of social media in supply chain SMEs is influenced by six main factors which are the nature of their relationship, nature of transactional exchanges, competitive advantage, social media attributes, the business environment which they operate in and the attributes of SMEs such as the SMEs level of innovativeness. In the chapter that follows next, further discussions of findings are presented.

Chapter 5 DISCUSSIONS

5.1 Introduction

This chapter focuses on the how extent literature line up or contrast with findings in this thesis. Following this introductory section, the chapter is organized as follows: section 5.2 presents the use of social media of findings; section 5.3 discusses the drivers for social media use in supply chain; section 5.4 explains the facilitators or constraints in the use of social media; section 5.5 discusses on how does social media use by SMEs affect relationships with and between supply chains; section 5.6 presents the discussion of findings and finally ends with a conclusion.

5.2 Findings on the use of social media

Social media is becoming recognized as being a potential technological tool for building and maintaining collaborative relationships (Heller Baird and Parasnis, 2011; Ang, 2011; Briones et al., 2011; Trainor et al., 2014). Focusing on a narrow field of SME research, a few studies have focused on the influence of social media use on SME relationships (Gallaugher and Ransbotham, 2010; Heller Baird and Parasnis, 2011; Kim and Ko, 2010). However, one major problem with these past research is the practice of relying mainly on a broad marketing agenda (for larger firms) to a narrowly defined SME context. Given that SME operating in supply chains are exposed to several environmental and managerial challenges often not apparent to larger firms, one might argue that the use of social media by SMEs may not be the same as for their larger counterparts. This study focuses on the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. It is argued that SMEs are relational oriented, as such collaborative relationships with SME firms might enable the sharing of useful information which may reduce the bullwhip effect, improve information sharing, lead to better collaborative relationships and eventually, greater competitive advantage. Therefore, this study ensures that only firms in triadic relationships with at least one SME is used to explore the influence of social media on B2B relationships. In drawing insights from gaps in literature the research aim and question was formulated. The findings of this study are summarised in figure 5.1. Figure 5.1 captures the factors at the multiple layers/levels of influence of SME relationships and their use of social media in supply chains. It should be read starting from the bottom.



Figure 5.1 The use of social media in supply chains by SMEs

Source: Author

5.2.1 The foundational building block for the use of social media

It can also be argued that, perhaps, the transactional exchange is a basic but fundamental requirement for supply chain firms and trust is more relevant for collaborative relationships and transactional exchanges (Zaheer and Venkatraman, 1995; Dyer and Chu, 2003; Chiles and McMackin, 1996; Rousseau et al., 1998) Kwon and Suh, 2004). Trust is an issue that most SCM scholars don't associate in relationships between suppliers of a chain. Yet, SCM scholars are more concerned with trust between buyers and supplier. This begs the question: How do suppliers in the same chain with closely related products trust each other particularly when coopetition occurs. The rationale here is one of three 1). the presence of trust enables and facilitates transactions and provide value that can be beneficial to all parties 2). The absence of trust impedes transactional exchange and the value created will not be beneficial to all parties. 3). the transaction does not require trust if iron-clad contracts are in place. However, many of the SMEs in this study did not have the resources to make individual contracts per transaction or project. In general, one implication is that suppliers that display integrity, honesty or benevolence have a competitive advantage over traditional ones.

It can be seen that trust and transactional exchanges are foundational elements for the collaborative relationships with SMEs and subsequent social media use in their supply chains. This research contributes to the SCM literature by providing valuable insights which reveal that not only is trust an essential ingredient for better relationships and increased social media use in supply chains by SMEs, trust also abets transactional exchanges as well. Thus, this study gives useful and valuable information into the foundational factors for better relationships and social media use in supply chains by SMEs. In particular, extant research findings suggest trust is the crucial ingredient in supply chain relationships.

Findings from this study support as well as enhance the proposition that from an SME standpoint, both trust and transactional exchanges are foundational elements that influence buyer-supplier relationships, supplier-supplier relationships, and social media use in the supply chain. This finding is supported in studies by Williamson, (1993); Rousseau et al. (1998); and Puusa ve Tolvanen, (2006). It highlights the need to explore the use of social media in supply chains further as it pertains to SMEs in triadic relationships with other SMEs and larger firms. This begs the question- Is the triad unit of analysis that important? This is a crucial question as many scholars (e.g. Dubois, 2009; Choi & Wu, 2009a & 2009b) have suggested that the smallest unit of analysis in

supply chains are triads, not dyads. This study is also suggesting that indeed triads are essential units of analysis specifically to better explore direct and indirect influences in supply chains which in-turns provided multiple perspectives. For example, the findings of this study when considered within a broad triad perspective can be taken to mean that cases with distrust and low transactional exchanges had limited use of social media by SMEs triad. However, these findings would have been missed if viewed from a single or narrower (dyadic) perspective. Perhaps, a more holistic approach to SME research is required considering how SMEs can be affected by multiple level factors and each layer may have a direct or indirect influence on them.

Trust is a critical element in the use of social media. There appears to be a consensus that trust is critical as it can facilitate collaborative behaviour and improve relationships by improving conflict resolution in times of conflicts (Smeltzer, 1997). The trust theme is consistent with the views that a successful relationship management strategy is dominated by interactions that, when implemented, may result in a long-term relationship with the supply chain participants (Gronroos, 2004; Lambert et al., 2004: Ferrin et al., 2006; Markley and Davis, 2007; Nishat Faisal, 2010; Grönroos, 2011). In the same context, Kaplan and Haenlein (2010) suggest that businesses should interact with social media openly, transparently and converse with their stakeholders.

Where there appeared to be trust issues, social media usage was limited to none and more formal tools like emails and spreadsheets were used. There were significant differences in the transactional practices between SMEs and large firms (Ramsey 2001; Wagner et al., 2003; Quayle, 2003; Bhagwat & Sharma, 2007; Vaaland & Heide, 2007; Sharma et al., 2008; Paik et al., 2009).

Markley and Davis (2007) assert that supply chain interaction is a necessary prerequisite of trust. Similarly, Nishat Faisal (2010 p 512) conclude that sincere interaction is crucial for developing trust, because "to create a sustainable competitive advantage, it is recognized that long-term and highly collaborative win-win ways of working which are normally based on trust and transparency - have to be created between all participants in the supply chain."

Simply put, to better explore the use of social media by SMEs researchers need to take proper account of the relationship triads to ensure that the multi-level factors and influences have been thoroughly explored which will otherwise be unnoticed using dyads. For many SMEs (such as in this study) the foundational phase (trust and transactional exchange) required to support social media use in supply chains (see Figure 6.1) is often skipped or not fully developed. SMEs in this study often used social media in marketing and/or in the personal lives of their SME personnel. Within the business context, they were sometimes influenced to use social media by an influential member of the supply chain. This member could either be a buyer or a supplier. Upwards in the next phase of Figure 6.1 are the drivers (facilitating factors) for social media use in supply chains. The drivers include the perception of usefulness, perceived ease of use, social factors and the nature of the environment (like the industry sector, competitors and technologically savvy end users). The last phase (which is illustrated at the top of Figure 6.1) describes the factors that might constrain the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. It is well established in this study that trust and transactional exchange are at the root of the interaction between social media use and B2B relationships. Factors like the nature of relationships, poor internet infrastructure, privacy and security issues, power and control, lack of innovativeness, lack of a dedicated staff and the nature of the sector serve as barriers for the interaction between social media use and B2B relationships.

The use of social media in supply chain implies that SMEs are affected by more factors (on multiple levels than larger firms). The non-use of social media in supply chains particularly in SMEs in relationships with larger firms might result from poor foundational or poor facilitating factors/drivers. Whereas authors like Wamba and Carter (2013) suggest age and gender might influence usage, these findings did not find that age and gender had any significant influence on social media use, probably because of the sample size. As noted in section 3.3, TAM2 is not the first attempt at explaining and predicting social media use in general. Casalo et al. (2011) studied the influence of TAM factors on online services and found that consumer trust is influenced by perceived website usability; reputation; consumer satisfaction; the perceived privacy and security policy of the website. This study is therefore consistent with their findings of the dominant influence of trust in social media use. Steyn et al. (2010) studied the influence of TAM factors on the intent of bloggers to use social media release. They found that a bloggers' perceptions of the usefulness of SMRs are positively and significantly related to their use of SMR elements. Secondly, they found that the current use of social media release by firms is also positively and significantly related to their use of SMR elements. Lastly, they found that a blogger's current use of SMRs significantly influenced their intended future use of the social media. The findings in this study are therefore consistent with

their findings that perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness could positively influence the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. This study identified four factors that are critical drivers for social media use by SMEs. The next section discusses each driver.

5.3.1 Perceived usefulness

Larger firms may not perceive that the use of social media in their supply chain might enable them to improve collaborative relationships and share information safely and securely. However, this does not necessarily mean that social media is the exclusive use of SMEs. It would be wrong to think that larger firms are not concerned by it. In fact, social media is currently used by the large firms in this study for talent hunting and marketing but not necessarily used in their supply chains. Thus, the use of social media to better information sharing is something that some SMEs are embracing to improve B2B relationships and increase overall competitiveness.

At the point where SMEs decide whether or not to use social media with their supply chain members, behaviour motivation theories such as TAM suggest that its usefulness is key to their eventual acceptance and usage (Wu et al. 2011). To a large extent, a key consideration regarding the use of social media in the supply chain by SMEs is their perceived usefulness. Specifically, the findings revealed that perceived usefulness could positively influence the use of social media by SMEs and their supply chains. Contrary to studies such as Ramayah and Ignatius, (2005) who found no significant association with perceived usefulness and technology use, this finding is supportive of studies such as Davis, (1989); Adams et al (1992); Joo et al (2008), Wu & Chen, (2005); Hossain and de Silva (2009); Casaló et al, (2010); Steyn et al, (2010); Casaló et al, (2011); and Sago, (2013) that found perceived usefulness to be a significant factor in technology use in general. Although studies on social media use in the supply chains from the TAM perspective is limited, nevertheless the perceived usefulness construct remains relevant to other technological usages.

This finding is an interesting conformity to deterministic expectations presented in the literature that social media or technology in general, provides high efficacy (usefulness) as platforms for opportunities rather than challenges (Bajaj and Nidumolu, 1998; Hsu and Lu, 2004; Casalo et al. 2011; Steyn et al., 2010). As such, this finding suggests a need to pay closer attention to the new and evolving use of social media within the Supply Chain in the SME context. Is it possible that the perceived usefulness of social media drives SMEs to use it with their supply chain firms? That is, assuming their

perceived assessment of the function assures SMEs that the capabilities of social media do effectively match up with their requirements.

The perceived usefulness is associated with the ever-changing and evolving uses of social media by SMEs (e.g. for advertising, for e-commerce, for PR, for sharing information, for gaining information on competitors, for forming groups, for identifying opportunities, for recruiting, for improving relationships with not only their customers alone but supply chain firms as well). This study indicated that the majority of larger firms interviewed had considered social media as a relationship tool with their end customers (B2C relationships) but not so much for their supply chain (B2B relationships). This would be down to the existing nature of their relationship (e.g., strictly transactional) and nature of the information (confidentiality). While the study indicated that the majority of the SMEs interviewed had considered social media as a relationship tool with their end customers, there was no such consideration for their supply chain. This was down to these reasons: 1) the 'real' nature of their relationship (e.g. strictly transactional) or 2) the nature of their supply chain (e.g. small and straightforward supply chains which favoured more personal and face-to-face interactions or were deemed too complicated). It was found that the case of the SMEs triad (all SMEs) that used social media as a relational tool had considerable levels of trust. They spent considerable periods managing B2B relationships as well as dealing with the levels or volumes of transactional exchanges shown in Table 4.9. Moreover, findings indicated that the overlapping use of social media for personal and business purposes, especially for SMEs contributed to the ease of use of social media, unlike their larger counterparts that had dedicated resources and staff for social media. Also, the larger firms were more concerned with monitoring and controlling social media use (e.g., the type of social platforms permitted and security issues) and its analytics than its ease of use. In summary, the use of social media by SMEs confirmed Venkatesh and Davis (2000) and Davis (1989) assertion that perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use still influence social media use with their supply chains. The findings also highlight a mismatch between the actual capability of social media and the perceived use of social media.

One main difference is that large organizations often had dedicated staff, e.g., employees that focused on areas like social media and forecasting. The majority of the SMEs faced limited resources and as such, they could not afford to have dedicated staff, particularly as most employees of SMEs had multiple roles that focused more on the daily operations/business as usual than dedicated roles.

5.3.1.1 Social media as a tool for information sharing

Information sharing and control were also found in cases with social media use by SMEs. Collaborative B2B relationships may occur after closely working with the supplier. Sharing of useful information and ideas may begin to develop in B2B relationships with suppliers. In some cases, access to information was restricted between suppliers. For example, the supplier did not want the other supplier to become aware of information surrounding the project and where materials were sourced as they would lose value to the buyer and so they limited/restricted information on Facebook. The findings identified that many SMEs believed that power came from withholding information (information hoarding). The transactional exchange was found to be a key factor of power and influence. For example, many SMEs would recall the length of business or past benefits to motivate otherwise unwilling suppliers or buyers to use social media. However, information sharing and collaborative B2B relationships can open SMEs to the risk of opportunism.

5.3.2 Perceived ease of use

Focusing on perceived ease of use, Casaló et al. et al. (2010, p.899) argued that "attitude appeared as a direct function of perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use, and perceived usefulness is also affected by perceived ease of use." Similarly, Wu et al., (2010, p 141) suggested that "perceived ease of use has an indirect influence on intention to use, and perceived ease of use influences intention to use through perceived usefulness." This means that relationship between perceived ease of use and usefulness might enable SMEs to use social media in their supply chain. The rationale for the emphasis on perceived ease of use is that the more SMEs perceives social media as easy to use, the more significant their intent toward social media use.

Perceived ease of use encourages SMEs to adopt and use social media. Consequently, it can be argued that high perceived ease of use may strengthen (more positively) the association with perceived usefulness and intent (attitude) to use social media in supply chains. Findings from this study confirmed that perceived ease of use (such as it comparability with various devices, speediness, and interactive features) influences the perceived usefulness and ultimately the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. The implication here is that the commonly examined direct relationship between technology adoption and the perceived ease of use may be overly simplistic. As the findings of this study show, SMEs use or non-use of social media is influenced by multiple internal and external factors (as such perceived ease of use) influence how

SMEs use or not use social media to achieve better collaborative relationships and ultimately better competitive edge.

This study's findings are in line with studies such as: Davis, 1989; Adams et al 1992; Lee et al, 2003; Joo et al 2008; Hossain and de Silva 2009; Casaló, et al, 2010; Steyn et al, 2010; Sago, 2013 that found positive associations between technology use and perceived ease of use. These findings are contrary to some other SCM literature suggestions. For example, Hsu and Lin (2008) found no significant relationship between ease of use and technology adoption and use.

It can be argued that, perhaps, the use of social media by SMEs in the competitively intense environment is not entirely or exclusively premised on the perceived ease of use. Put differently, SMEs firms and their supply chains may exist in various environments, as these SMEs may be exposed to competitive environments with managerial challenges that can influence their use or non-use of social media. Thus, the use of social media in the supply chain by SMEs is not necessarily down to its (social media) capabilities like interactivity, speediness and comparability features. Although the ease of use cannot be underestimated, it is not the primary driver for the use of Social Media. For example, social media adoption has been driven by social influences like popularity as the most popular technology is not the easiest to use. It is equally important to state that the perception of ease of use does not equate to social media use in supply chains at all times. For example, choosing ease to use social media platforms when more investment in B2B relationships particularly trust and transactional relations is required, will not deliver the required (social media) benefits to SMEs and their supply chain. In fact, it is possible that managing and sustaining collaborative relationships that offer competitive advantage might be a better approach to take.

5.3.3 Social influence

In this study, there was found that the social influence affected the use of social media in supply chains and SMEs in particular (Venkatesh and Morris (2000). From a social influence perspective, it was found that SMEs had come to use social media in supply chains because of an influential buyer or supplier used social media (Hsu and Lin, 2008). Further details are provided in section 5.5.1 to prevent an overlap.

5.3.4 The business environment

In this study, it was found that the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs is influenced by the external environment. There are many multi-layered factors that affect SMEs social media use; they include competitor, customers and the firm's innovativeness. Competitive environment and competitors seem to be a logical driver for social media use in SMEs, as a source for benchmarking. Competitive edge and speedy interactions seemed to be a strategic necessity to the SMEs interviewed. It was found that many SME firms were encouraged by their supply chain to adopt and use social media, particularly Whatsapp, to enhance their interaction and their information sharing. The use of social media facilitated more collaboration and cooperation mainly between buyers and suppliers. However, social media use (negatively or positively) is influenced by the nature of relationships in supply chains. This finding is in part supported by studies like Boso et al. (2013), they found that to external environment influences the innovativeness of the firm. Studies like Premkumar and Roberts (1999) found that SMEs are more willing to use a technology if they believe there is adequate support for the technology. This study found support for social media use premised on the nature of relationships and transactional exchanges. Studies by (Ford, 1980; Mentzer et al., 2000) also confirm the critical role played by technology but found that the nature of relationships supports the use of technology across supply chains.

5.4 Facilitators / constraints to the use of social media in supply chain by SMEs

Given the assertions that social media can be a double-edged sword presenting both positive and negative impacts (Everett, 2010; Bezuidenhout, 2012; Lee et al. 2012), it is important to understand that not all factors positively drive social media use in supply chains. As such, identifying the factors that deter SMEs from using social media in their supply chain is needful.

Many factors like perceived usefulness; perceived ease of use; social influences and the business environment were shown to positively support social media usage in supply chains provided the foundational elements of trust, and transactional exchanges were operational. However, other factors like poor nature of relationships, poor internet infrastructure, 'dedicated' staff, lack of innovativeness, security concerns, external environment, power and control were shown to work against social media usage in supply chains. These findings are supportive of studies by Kietzmann et al., (2012) which found that social media can have both positive and negative impacts.

5.4.1 Nature of relationships

The results show that SMEs in cooperative supply chain relationships are demonstrated mainly in open interactions between supply chain members, long-term collaborative relationship with a limited number of suppliers (and/or reoccurring buyer). Based on the level of formalisation of contracts within the chains, two types of structures were found; formalised and less-formalised. The formalised (contracts) arrangements are usually legally binding, with specified well-defined boundaries and exclusive in nature. The lessformalized agreements, on the other hand, operated largely without legal boundaries, and inclusivity rights leaving the SME vulnerable to opportunistic businesses. Larger firms appear more transactional oriented than their less formalised counterpart (SMEs). On the other hand, understanding the prerequisites for social media use in supply chain by SMEs can lead to better supply chain relationships and competitive advantage. The research findings highlight the need for collaborative and transactional relationships across the sectors. However, the research also suggests that collaborative relationships can be problematic to SMEs particularly SMEs without formal contracts. Therefore, a balance between collaborative and transactional exchange is necessary for improving B2B relationships and social media use.

The UK SMEs possess differing levels of B2B relationships from their Nigerian counterpart. Nigerian SMEs find it important to preserve and sustain B2B relationships with supply chain members by working with supply chain members in a collaborative and friendly manner. This is demonstrated by less use of power over supply chain members. This form of relationship and relationship management encourages both buyer-supplier relationships and supplier-supplier relationships subsequently enhancing further collaboration with and between supply chain members.

5.4.2 Internet infrastructure

Regarding the infrastructure supporting social media usage, Nigerian SMEs compared to UK SMEs were found to place more emphasis on mobile internet connectivity than fixed connectivity. This may be due to the high cost of the fixed phone line, and general poor internet infrastructure found in Nigeria.

"I access social media mainly through my mobile phone"

This finding is supported by studies by Kaplan and Haenlein (2010), they predicted that in future the use of social media is likely to be via mobile devices which might increase public access to social media. The differences in internet infrastructure (connectivity) may infer that the use of social media has been hampered significantly. Still, the general use of social media by Nigerian SMEs is significant which tends to contradict the UK's use which is fuelled by adequate fixed and mobile connectivity. Besides, the effects of an inhibiting factor such as poor internet infrastructure, Nigerian SMEs were found to be resilient in the use of social media. However, the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs in both countries was still a relatively new concept and in some cases nonexistent. Additionally, the cross-analysis in the current study provides further insights into the extant literature. This finding is supportive of studies by Ardjouman, (2014), he found that SMEs in Africa is riddled with poor IT infrastructure.

The study showed similarities and differences between the UK and Nigerian SMEs in that social media in their supply chain. However, the study also shows differences in technology (internet) infrastructure and relational approach. UK Internet infrastructure was well developed to support the use of social media via fixed and mobile connectivity. On the other hand, Nigeria infrastructure was not sufficiently developed to support social media usage. For example; fixed connectivity via fixed landlines was limited and accessed by a limited few due to high cost. Mobile connectivity via mobile phones was the most widely accessed method by Nigeria SMEs. This finding is supportive of studies by Eder and Igbaria, (2001) who found that that use of technological innovation is significantly (positively) impacted by the increment of technological configurations specifically IT infrastructure. The study found that as widely adopted social media is, there remain opportunities for social media in terms of its use by SMEs and infrastructure in Nigeria.

5.4.3 Security issues

The use of social media platforms, on its own, does not indicate that the use of social media in supply chains exists as many factors influence this decision such as the nature of the sector and security concerns did not necessarily consider it useful in supply chains (see section 6.6 for further discussions).

5.4.4 Power and control

This study found that SMEs had less power and control over their larger counterparts. The majority of SMEs in this study faced some form of restraints on the amount of

179

transactional exchange with large firms as there were limited resources, skilled expertise and advanced technologies (information systems) available to them. On the other hand, the majority of the larger firms in this study seemed to have more resources available to them, as such, majority of the SMEs in triadic relationships with larger firms seemed to have less power, control and influence over the use of social media with and between their supply chain triad. This is an area that significantly affects SME relationship as SMEs may lose their competitive edge and often times transactions due to power and control of large firms or firms with high transactional power.

Power relations were found in all aspect of supply chain relationships. Power and influence were found in buyer-supplier and supplier-supplier relationships. In some cases, the individual firms in triadic relationships are not aware of these power relations, but the influence became evident upon the analysis of their triadic interaction. In some cases, the use of social media has been through following the request of a buyer/supplier that exhibits reward, coercive, expert or legitimate power (Hsu and Lu, 2004; Dholakia et al., 2004). This was found common in highly political and fast-paced environments, e.g. Fashion industry. This is probably due to the buyer or supplier trying to be perceived as collaborative.

Prior SCM theory and research has little information to offer on the influence of control in social media by supply chains. However, the broader literature argues that there is a negative influence on control and social media (Isaca, 2010: Bezuidenhout, 2012: Unwin, 2014: Culp et al., 2015). The negative influence reported in this study suggests that control of social media use may not encourage information sharing and might not lead directly to collaborative relationships. The reason why firms restrict or control social media usage is to prevent the sharing of sensitive information which could harm their reputations. As such, many large firms have employees, who manage and champions social media activities. However, it is hard to expect high morale and compliance from employees or supply chain members (SMEs) from this behaviour (control) if SMEs are forced to impose controls and social media preferences of the influential supply chain member. On another hand, it could be argued that it would be hard to use social media in B2B relationships without imposing some form of management or process control (Bezuidenhout, 2012: Culp et al., 2015). Indeed, the analysis reveals that many larger firms particularly in the IT sector exhibit some level of control in their social media usage with B2B firms in terms of preference and directive on the use of social media.
5.4.5 Innovativeness

In addition, the increase in popularity of social media in larger firms has driven management to become more aware, monitor and control their staffs' use of social media in the workplace. Many large businesses interviewed in this study had restricted access to social networking sites in the workplace as a way of controlling social media use and, in-turn limiting the risk of data leaks and risk to their reputation. However, the nature of social media makes data control challenging. An upward trend also exists the 'consumerization of IT' where employees use their (mobile) devices in the workplace (to connect with social media), which further blurs the boundaries between personal and work use. As such, these blurred lines may account for restrictions on social media sites in the workplace, and dedicated staffs who handle social media use particularly in datasensitive sectors. This finding is supportive of the literature view that explains consumerization as a bottom-up approach to IT but despite its popularity is becoming challenging to manage (Morabito, 2014). This finding is supportive of the studies of Wamba and Carter (2013) that explains that firm size has a significant positive impact on the use of social media by SMEs. It was found that SMEs are more likely to use social media (Facebook, Twitter or LinkedIn) in their supply chains than larger firms probably due to their flatter structures than enhancing their innovativeness and their nature of (informal) relationships. These findings also align with studies by Fischer and Reuber (2011), they found that larger firms took preventive actions such as restriction of social media sites and dedicated staff to manage the risk/damage to the firm's reputation particularly those that use social media. The use of social media in SMEs was found to depend on the business owner's innovativeness. This finding shows the importance of the innovative business owner in the adoption and use of social media. The role of the business owner in SME firms and to their innovativeness cannot be understated; it appears that to a large extent they were responsible for the use or non-use of social media. It is worth noting that some of the business owners also confirmed the use of social media for their personal use tend to overlap. Participant in the usage category commented, "I am a bit social media savvy and I also use in my social life." Another SME participant commented "I don't mind using new technologies that targets my customers". This finding is supportive of studies by Walczuch (2000) and Al-Qirim (2008), they found that the use of email by SME firms depended on the innovativeness of the business owner.

On the other hand, only triads with all SMEs were more flexible enough to adopt social media in supply chains more readily than larger counterparts. This finding is supportive of studies by Poon and Swatman (1995) that found SMEs are flexible enough to

innovation in new and different ways. The study also found that challenges encountered by SMEs are different from those encountered by larger firms. This is in line with studies by Blili and Raymond, (1993).

According to Michaelidou et al. (2011), the firm's innovativeness can positively drive social media usage (Wamba and Carter, 2013). Although, the use of social media is based on the perception of the individual or business not necessarily the technology itself (Dillon and Morris 1996; Iacovou et al. 1995: Michaelidou et al. 2011). Frambach and Schillewaert (2002) further find that innovativeness and firm size determine the adoption and use of social media. According to these authors, low innovativeness can negatively influence the use of technology in general (Mehrtens et al. 2001, Frambach and Schillewaert 2002;). Like previous studies (Dillon and Morris 1996; Iacovou et al. 1995, Mehrtens et al. 2001, Frambach and Schillewaert 2002) the use of social media by SMEs influenced by the innovativeness of the specific firm (Michaelidou et al. 2011, p 18).

Nevertheless, this negative relationship can be explained in two ways. 1). it can be argued that the likelihood of some SMEs to use social media might be new to supply chain firms of SME firms but less new in marketing. 2). There is a tendency for SMEs to focus on personal face-2-face interaction (Ceci and Iubatti, 2012: Ritchie and Brindley, 2005: Vegholm, 2011) rather than being more dependent on interactive technologies like social media and this might lead to the more sustainable competitive edge. However, findings indicate that innovativeness has a positive influence on social media use in supply chains by SMEs. This finding is supported by studies such as those carried out by Wamba and Cater (2013).

This influence could be taken to suggest that SMEs can use or increase their use of social media when their innovativeness or an innovative culture to support it. This finding is in line with studies by Barnes et al., (2008) that found that SMEs innovativeness drives the business forward and shapes the character of their decision making.

Few scholars (e.g. Lewis and George, 2008; Pookulangara and Koesler, 2011) have studied the influence of cultural differences on social media adoption using Hofstede's (2001) cultural dimensions. However, given that a thorough study of culture by its nature can be voluminous and time-consuming and that currently social media is widely used by many countries and religions worldwide, the researcher decided to focus on the innovativeness of the firm rather than the cultural differences. Thus, this finding is supportive of literature view that explains that innovativeness can influence the use of IT/new technologies (Boso et al., 2013). However, this finding is in contrast with the literature view that explains cultural difference can limit the use of social media (Lewis and George, 2008; Pookulangara and Koesler, 2011).

5.4.6 Resources

Discussions and findings in chapters 5 and 6 suggest that dedicated (that is in larger firms assigned) staff have an impact on the general use of social media by larger firms. The explanation for this appears to be that access or availability of resources were larger where businesses have better access to resources such as dedicated staff to manage their social media use, than SMEs. The study found the dynamic nature of the high-tech sector may contribute to the need for large firms to have dedicated employees that can accommodate the fast-paced environment and social media use. The use of a dedicated staff depended on certain competencies such as skills, knowledge and experience of the employee. In general, dedicated staff (sometimes referred to as social media champions) might need to make strategic, formal posting and make timely decisions that reduce risks to the firm but exploits the environmental opportunities (often working closely with the HR, marketing or legal team). However, none of the SMEs in this study could hire an employee in a full-time capacity to manage social media; instead some level of experimentation with social media was often employed by SMEs to explore which approach worked best for their business. The presence of dedicated staff (in theory) can help develop strategic relationships.

The analysis shows that there are differences between SMEs firms and larger firms in their general use of social media. The result of the study shows that there is a significant difference between SMEs and larger firms with regards to available resources. This finding is in-line with results on the same issues. The analysis gave the impression that SMEs differ from larger businesses in terms of a lack of dedicated staff for social media use and less formalised structures (relationship) management. SME firms most of which were less formalised (relationship) structures and managerial in nature appeared to use social media in their supply chain than SME firms and larger firms with more formalised (relationship) structures and managerial expertise. The non-use (or lack) of sophisticated information technology, highly skilled and dedicated staff were found to be prominent in SMEs. For example, SMEs in supply chain triads with these larger firms often do not view such sophisticated investment as beneficial to their business but may only consider it needful to their relationship with large businesses. This implies that SMEs may focus more on the perception of the prominent firm or on the cost of technologies. As most SMEs have limited resources and staff, it can be implied that

SMEs may find the low cost and interactive feature of social media more attractive than expensive, sophisticated ones. This finding is supportive of studies by Barnes (2010), they found that staff resource was an inhibiting factor in the use of social media.

These findings are in line with studies (e.g. Tan et al,1999; Wymer and Regan, 2005; Lawrence, 2002 & 2008; Barnes et al., 2008; Barnes, 2010; Ashworth, 2011; Aral et al. 2013) which observed that SMEs had fewer resources and expertise in terms of technical and financial skills when compared to their larger counterpart. One of the reasons why SMEs have financial constraint may be due to the 60 days financial payment cycle of larger firms to these smaller firm's invoices and their limited ability to attract highly skilled staff to their environment. As such, this might make SMEs more vulnerable in their relationships with larger firms which are supported by literature (e.g. Gallaugher, 1997; Wymer and Regan, 2005). This finding is also in line with studies by Pool et al., (2006) that found that larger firms have well-defined approaches, strategies and processes.

It has become apparent that businesses manage their existing relationships directly or indirectly. This soft skill needed is equally as important as the capabilities (technical) required in gaining competitive advantage and obtaining collaboration. This study found that the selection of suppliers is often impacted by firm's capabilities in term of expert skills and resources.

5.4.7 Nature of industry

The fast pace, competitiveness and "consumerization" in today's business environment is a major driver for social media use for SMEs. The fast-paced sector is usually characterized by its dynamism, high-intensity and increased competition. For SMEs in these environments, fighting off local, international and online competition is crucial. "IT Consumerization" stemming from technological advancement that has pushed the focus and technological acceptance of the consumers. Emerging technology, economic uncertainties (due to Brexit negotiation), a greater variety of products and services, intense competition reflect the sometimes complex and dynamic business environment (Mitchell et al., 2011; Azadegan et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2012). SMEs in this study, have adopted collaborative relationships with their buyers and/or suppliers as a means of warding off the competition they face.

This comparative study's findings revealed that the high-tech (IT) and creative (fashion) SMEs had higher application levels social media usage than the food manufacturing

SMEs. These findings showed similarities with triad cases in the UK and Nigeria. The IT industry requires information to be secure, confidential, organized and systematic more so than the food manufacturing and fashion sectors. The use of public social media (like Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn) in supply chains is limited probably due to security concerns and nature of the information proposed to be shared. For example, the industries like the low-tech sector had some levels of regulation while industries like the high tech and concerns around security and data. These data may include confidential and competitively sensitive data. To this end, the large firms in this study invest heavily in advanced information systems, ensuring data restrictions and making audit trails. The private social media platforms used by large organizations in the high-tech sector in this study include (Bloomberg and SameTime). Platforms like LinkedIn were used more for talent hunting than in supply chains. This finding is supportive of the literature view that the use of IT by SMEs varies across sectors (Harland et al. 2007; Oliveira and Martins 2009). This finding is in contrast with the findings from Wamba and Carter, (2013) that found firms from manufacturing sector are more likely to use internet enabled innovation than firms from other sectors. However, this study also found that the industry sector is positively influenced by the use of social media. This view is in line with studies like Wamba and Carter (2013).

The findings of the study show that use of social media in supply chains is a relatively new concept or is not fully developed. However, the findings showed that Facebook was the most widely used form of social media by SMEs in general followed by Twitter. The use of social media was dependent on the nature of the sector. These platforms were widely used by businesses in the creative and visual industry and least used by businesses in the food manufacturing industry. This finding is aligned with studies by Kushin and Yamamoto (2010); Fischer & Reuber (2011); and Centre for Enterprise Report (2014) which found high usage of social media such as Facebook and Twitter by uses in SMEs.

This finding is supportive of studies by Ashworth (2011) that found that amongst SME fashion firms, the motivation to use social media was high amongst those in stronger B2C relationships. LinkedIn was not widely used by SMEs and their supply chain as it was viewed as the least social and interactive tool. Surprisingly, the IT industry which we expected high usage of social media used only private social media platforms such as Bloomberg and SameTime as interactive tools due to the nature of the sector and sensitivity of their data.

"We are blocked from using public social media only those provided by firm x."

This finding is supportive of studies by Kapalan and Haenlien (2010), they found that employers of large firms were blocked from accessing some social media sites whilst at work. As in this case not only had they provided formal policies and guideline, they also restricted access to these sites.

5.5 Findings on how does social media use by SMEs affect the relationships with and between supply chain members

This study has mainly sought to address "how does social media use by SMEs affect the relationships with and between supply chain members?". A summary of the literature on social media use from a supply chain context reveals that only limited research has been done specifically on its (social media) influence on B2B relationships in supply chains. Consequently, this study provides rich and detailed information on the use of social media in the supply chain by SMEs. In this way, this study addresses a call by O'Leary (2011, p17) to understand the impact of social media on communications, trust, and relationships in the supply chain. Some studies have shown mostly the benefits (and challenges) of social media use in general (Zeng et al., 2010, Rapp et al., 2013, He et al., 2013, Markova and Petkovska-Mircevska, 2013, Li, 2011: Kosk, 2012: Mcentire, 2012: Gonzalez, 2013). Thus, the generally accepted norm that new technology use drives competitive advantage needs to be examined and the use of social media by SMEs from a supply chain context needs to be explored further.

Moreover, without interactive capabilities (in social media), advances in technology might make no difference (Mentzer, 2001) to businesses and their competitive edge. It is also essential to have a trusting relationship between the supply chain members, where each actor has mutual confidence in the other factors capabilities and actions (Sahay, 2003). Today's environment can be described as intensive and competitive. This study seeks to address how social media use by SMEs affects relationships with and between supply chain members. The impact of social media use is discussed from an interactive and relational context.

5.5.1 The interactive context

First, social interaction between SMEs and their supply chains might occur on the backdrop of collaboration or possible transaction among members of a supply chain. This potential/current transactional exchange might drive the need for collaborative relationships, and in turn, an influential member or members of a supply chain may

perceive as imperative to share information with and develop common norms for information sharing via social media. The use of speedy technology-based interaction via social media with information sharing norms allows users (supply chain members) to bridge cognitive gaps and create shared meaning. In the interview with triad C, the theme that emerged from social influence showed that use of social media is governed by the need to share information during collaborative efforts. The social influence of social media use created common norms for information sharing for improving B2B relationships and subsequently improving their competitive edge; reduce conflicts; flexibility and improved operations through a reduced bullwhip effect. Accordingly, social influences tend to have an impact on social media use (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000). Thus, contrary to the research notion, this study found that social influence rather than the perceived usefulness of social media such as information sharing that influenced the use of social media in supply chains. from a social influence perspective, the finding that SMEs were willing to use social media because of their community (supply chain) identification. This finding is supportive of studies by Hsu and Lin (2008), which found that social influence had a positive and significant influence on blogging.

The use of social media can bring buyers and suppliers of SMEs together by providing an interactive platform for information sharing and collaboration which is time and cost saving. The concept of social media use needs a "buy-in" from the supply chain parties to achieve the benefits of social media. Buyers may understand the benefits from collaboration with suppliers and between suppliers; however, the buyer still chooses to keep relationships between suppliers at arm's length, highlighting the nature of relationships.

The most commonly used mode of interaction by SMEs is telephone conversations, emails and face-to-face interactions. Interactions in this study, exist mainly between buyers and suppliers while little too limited interactions occurred within suppliers of a chain. It was found that buyers would have one-to-one interactions with their suppliers during face-to-face meetings (monthly or as required) or during phone conversations. However, these forms of interactions were still complimented by emails from or by buyers or suppliers. Interactions with suppliers were limited to when the suppliers felt they needed to collaborate with their fellow suppliers. In this case, emails and face-toface meetings with the buyer present or copied in was involved. These forms of interaction are preferred to provide some form of a trail of records. The use of social media in supply chains by SMEs, in this case, was little. This can be due to nature of the relationship, nature of the industry (business environment) and the nature of information. Findings reveal that the non-use of Twitter, LinkedIn and Facebook in the creative and high-tech industry were mainly down to the sensitivity of information (security), the type of industry and the kind of relationship that exist.

To improve relationships of any kind, or/and use social media in supply chains, interaction needs to be promoted and embedded. In addition, sustainable relationships and social media use need relationship management premise particularly innovativeness, trust and transactional exchange. From the SME's point of view, achieving improved interaction and relationships are important factors to enhance competitive advantage. Improved interaction and relationships were highlighted as significant factors in competitive advantage.

Speedy interactions between members of supply chains were found to have often indirect impact on a firm's competitive advantage. Free interactions with supply chain members can build trust, improve information sharing, better (strengthen) B2B relationships which ultimately improves competitive advantage. Both buyer-supplier and supplier-supplier collaborative relationships depend on the buyer/supplier ability to create and maintain interactive platforms with members of their supply chain. In line with studies like Grönroos (2004) found interactions can increase RM. Roy et al., (2004) found interactions to influence innovativeness. The ability to improve relationships through interactions via social media use with and between supply chain members leads to the use of social media platforms that can build and sustain relationships necessary for better competitive advantage.

5.5.2 The relational context

Today's business environment can be described as uncertain particularly as recent events in the UK and Nigeria such as Brexit negotiations in the UK and political unrest in Nigeria when coupled with intensive competition, are challenging a generation of assumptions. The assumption that for businesses to succeed (indeed to survive or to be competitive), they need to focus on their transactional exchange. For example, in the past, businesses and their supply chains leaned heavily on traditional SCM technological systems like Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) and sophisticated quantitative analytics to produce a significant amount of data to forecast sales and predict transactions. However, businesses are beginning to also focus on the fundamental building block -collaborative relationships with their suppliers or buyers in order to gain a competitive edge. The findings show that trust among supply chain members is linked with information sharing. For example, high levels of trust among supply chain parties showed substantial levels of information sharing. Thus, these collaborative supply chain members demonstrated an active interaction via social media associated with robust information sharing norms. By contrast, lack of trust reduces the individual's firm's need to share information via social media with supply chain members and drove supply chain member to use more formal systems like emails. High transactions also enabled supply chain actors to collaborate via other existing tools and processes as well. Technological tools like emails, phone and face-to-face meetings were the most commonly mentioned during the interviews. Other interactive tools mentioned were conference calls, instant messaging and social media.

Preliminary social media theory, such as Kietzmann et al.'s (2011, 2012) honeycomb of social media, focused on the various uses of social media for businesses. According to the honeycomb of social media, the relationship is one of the seven main applications of social media. In other words, social media use may influence relationships with suppliers and between buyers and suppliers. This is premised on the notion that social media can be used as a relationship tool that improves information sharing, prompts collaborative relationships and subsequently better competitive edge. It has been said that information from the face-to-face interaction is richer than that obtained from social media. Thus, supply chain members are likely to use social media when information is not highly sensitive, confidential and susceptible to misinterpretation. Many authors have argued that turning all focus on the frequency of interaction for the measurement of interaction is in itself flawed and highly subjective. However, it is worth considering that interactions are generally influenced by the social context.

5.5.2.1 The explanation for the relational view

This study also shed light on the relation view of the firm (Dyer and Singh, 1998). This thinking argues that relational rents can only occur collaboratively rather than individually. Of particular interest, here are the buyer-supplier and supplier-supplier relationships. This study found that the relational view encourages collaborations and the use of technological resources like social media in supply chains. However, firms cannot generate relational rents individually but rather by collaborating with their supply chain which again begs the questions posed in section 2.3.3 does competition occur between individual firms or their supply chain? Collaboration, from a buyer standpoint, creates a pool of suppliers that can provide competitive prices and improve their competitive advantage. From a supplier's standpoint, these pools of suppliers can

translate to increased competition and bargaining power. However, what is sometimes lost is that for relational rents to occur the focal buyer or supplier has to focus mainly on strategic (and close) relationships with suppliers to account for increased profits or competitive advantage. Collaborative relationships and the triads that used social media in this study were characterised by transactional exchanges (with focus on continuity), informal structures, conflict resolution, fewer bottlenecks, Informal contracts, trust and information sharing with suppliers. Relational rents or collaborative relationships with and between supply chain members with business continuity in mind were since to use social media in their supply chain. By doing so, relational rents such as information sharing are more likely to grow with time. The rationale here is that SMEs are more enabled to focus on the relational as well as transactional exchanges that provide an excellent platform for social media use.

Many suppliers confirmed there was an intense level of influence from the buyer-supplier relationship mainly as the B2B relationship grew or transactional volumes increased. Example of some of these influences include 1) adopting new systems or technologies to meet the buyers internal auditing process 2) changes to projects or work order 3) design processes. For example, in cases C and F, the SME buyer influenced their supply chain triad to use social media for better access and information sharing.

Many buyers in this study indicated minimal influence from the supplier-supplier within their triad. Even though the finding suggest that influences were widely perceived to be driven by the influential buyer or larger firm in this study, relationships between suppliers will also be influential if the suppliers have expert knowledge and/or market penetration. Although, many suppliers in this study indicated that they had limited interactions with their fellow supplier counterparts and mainly worked together only when required by the buying firm, they seemed to have some knowledge of how each other operated

5.6 Discussion of findings

Maintaining and sustaining collaborative B2B relationships with SMEs and their supply chain members remains at the heart of SCM research, business management, and policymaking. This is probably due to the role of SMEs in the innovativeness, growth and competitiveness of many firms and countries. However, there are risks often associated with SMEs such as business survival, profitability, ability to compete in intensive environments, financial constraints, skilled force challenges and technological and relational opportunistic vulnerabilities (Awheda et al., 2016; Abor and Quartey,

2010). Despite these previously mentioned risks that are often associated with SMEs, B2B associations with these SMEs remains crucial for these reasons: 1) SMEs can serve as a source of useful information 2) SMEs can provide a competitive edge which is important for some firms' profitability and survival 3). SMEs can offer opportunities for expansion of product and services range which provides growth and extended market coverage.

The aforementioned are benefits as well as challenges of firms in B2B relationships with SMEs in these times of uncertainty following from the BREXIT negotiation, increased operational cost and increased competition Considering the aforementioned benefits that firms stand to gain in B2B relationships with SMEs as well as the challenges that SMEs face, such as these times of uncertainty with the Brexit negotiation, increased operational costs and increased competition both locally and internationally (FT, 2017) it makes a case to explore B2B relationships as a potential source for competitive advantage. Scholars in SCM are yet to explore how technologies such as social media can serve as a relational tool for building and sustaining existing B2B relationships. As the pace of technology accelerates coupled with uncertainties such as the intense competition, the focus of management is inevitably shifting to maintaining and sustaining existing B2B relationships using low-cost new technologies. In addition, given that SMEs need to compete in today's business, it is essential to balance the two parallel and contending imperatives (transactions and relations). They also have 1). To maintain preexisting relationships with and between SMEs and their supply chains. 2). To sustain or improve these B2B relationships in other to improve their competitive advantage.

Focusing on the B2C context, factors such as the macro politico-legal; economic; sociocultural; technological; competitive intensity; marketing strategy, reputation, firm size and relationship orientation have been well researched (see Seuring, and Müller, 2008; Alexiev et al, 2016; Lee, 2002; Hilletofth and Hilmola, 2010; Awheda et al, 2016; Harland et al, 2007; Ceci and Iubatti, 2012; Mohr and Spekman 1994; Knemeyer and Murphy, 2005a: 2005b; Dey et al., 2008; Skinner, 1969; Slack, 1991; Sunil and Meindl, 2001; Sako, 2004; Lai et al, 2008; Lee et al, 2000; Fiala, 2005; Zhang and Cheung, 2011; Gimenez and Ventura, 2003; Cousins, 2005; Li et al 2006). This research is a novel attempt to explore how the use of social media by SMEs affect relationships with supply chain members and between supply chain members.

Continuity business orders, trust and increased cooperation, are some of the characteristics as the B2B relationship grows. The buyers in such relationship take advantage of the improved cost, and dedicated and collaborative services obtained from

doing business with selected suppliers. These findings are in line with results from Narasimhan and Das, 2001; Guimaraes et al., 2002; Paulraj et al., 2006; and Hartmann et al., 2012. To this end, the understanding of the selection of collaborative B2B relationships with suppliers provides insights and understanding of collaborative relationships between buyers and selected suppliers.

5.7 Chapter summary

The discussion of findings has shown that trust and transaction exchanges are fundamental foundations that support social media use by SMEs. The drivers of social media in supply chains include: the ease of using social media; the usefulness of social media, social influences and the business environment they operate in. The facilitators of the use of social media include; the nature of their relationship, Internet infrastructure; innovativeness, security concerns; power and control; type of sector and resources. It was argued that it is the relationships with and between supply chains that influence the use of social media in the cases studied. Nevertheless, social media use could either positively or negatively influence the interactions and relationships with and between supply chain members. The use of public social media platforms in supply chains by SMEs was found more prevalent in the creative industry. One significant difference between SMEs and larger firms was that SMEs did not have dedicated staff (resources) to the management of social media.

Chapter 6 CONCLUSIONS

6.1 Introduction

This concluding chapter presents an overview of this thesis. The study's contributions to theory, practice, and policy are also detailed. After this introductory section, the chapter is organized as follows: section 6.2 presents an overview of the thesis; section 6.3 highlights the summary of the findings; while section 6.4 presents the research contributions; section 6.5 explains the limitations of the study. Section 6.6 outlines the direction for future research and finally ends with a summary.

6.2 Overview of thesis

Within marketing literature, much work has been done on the use of social media. However, not much is known about the use of social media from a supply chain context. These existing social media studies largely focus on exploring relationships between businesses and their end customers (B2C). In these studies, social media use is frequently measured in terms of the number of visitors to the site, active fans, likes, views, followers, responses, retweets, comments, conversations, support customer interaction, the return on investment (ROI) and analytics etc. Nevertheless, it is difficult to measure all social media use particularly when it comes to issues with relationships or its impact. Despite the growing numbers of studies exploring relationships with and between supply chain members as means to improve competitiveness (see: Choi et al., 2002; Wu et al., 2010; Wu and Choi, 2005; Paulraj et al, 2008; Wu et al, 2010; Choi et al, 2002; Fynes et al, 2005), the use of social media by SMEs from a supply chain context has not been fully explored in the literature (see chapter 1).

Chapter two reviewed the literature on SCM, RM, and Social media. Many scholars (e.g. Porter, 1985b; Powell and Dent-Micallef, 1997; Gimenez and Ventura, 2003) have a deterministic view that IT use provides a source of competitive advantage. The features of social media such as speedy interaction and information sharing capacity can positively influence B2B relationships. For example, the flexibility, speed, and interactive characteristics may improve relationships among supply chain members. Unfortunately, not much exists in literature to explain the features and capabilities of social media and its impact on B2B relationships. This issue of limited information on social media use in

supply chains introduces the question which this research seeks to explore how does the use of social media by SMEs affect relationships with and between supply chain members? Of fundamental interest was the need to explore supply chain relationships as a source of competitive edge and how relevant the use of social media might be to the competitive advantage of SMEs and their supply chains. The focus on SMEs was necessary as the research gap showed the majority of SCM studies were mainly centred on large companies to the neglect of SMEs. This choice was also informed by the importance of SMEs to the UK and Nigeria's economy, employment, income, and competitiveness. In 2017, as UK businesses face increased uncertainty particularly during the ongoing BREXIT negotiations and heightened competition both local and foreign, the competitiveness of UK SMEs and their supply chain will be necessary for survival.

Chapter 3 discussed the theoretical framework for this study. This was achieved by combining two theories; TAM2 (concentrating on the perception of usefulness and ease of use) and the relational view of the firm. Individually, TAM2 focused on how users come to accept and use social media while the relational view focused on understanding the competitive edge that emerges from supply chain relationships. By doing this, the relationships between buyers and suppliers and amongst suppliers through social media use is fully explored. Collectively, the two theories provided the sound theoretical basis for analysing the research question- how does the use of social media by SMEs affect relationships with and between supply chain members? The choice of research methodology was explained in the rationale provided. The research strategy employed was a multiple case approach. The choice of case study strategy was based primarily on the research aim and questions. Yin (2014) suggests that a wide range of qualitative data can best be understood as case studies. Case study strategy was selected to provide a detailed, holistic and intensive information about the phenomenon and for comparative reasons as well. The case study was exploratory in nature as little research had been done to understand the phenomenon- the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. The cases in this study focused on 6 triadic relationships. Each case consisted of firms in three-way relationships with members of their supply chain and a minimum of one SME in each supply chain triad. The study included informants for the food manufacturing, fashion and IT industries based in the UK and Nigeria. Qualitative data were collected using semi-structured interviews for a total of eighteen participating firms. Semi-structured interviews were carried out to allow for flexibility and the opportunity to explore particular responses and themes further. Additionally, the philosophical assumptions of the study were that of a social constructivist. The social constructivist stance was adopted to gain more profound insights into and focus mainly

on the SME's perception of social media based on their use or non-use of the technology with supply chain members. Lastly, the data were subjected to thematic analysis using template analysis.

In chapter 4, the analytical approach adopted for data analysis was template analysis and the justification for this choice was provided. Lastly, the results of the final template were presented and discussed. Chapter 5 was dedicated to discussing the findings of the data analysis and explored the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs where it uncovered the differences in social media usage amongst the countries, sectors, cases, and between SMEs and larger firms.

6.3 Summary of key findings

The findings of the study show that Facebook emerged to be the most widely used form of social media in SMEs triads. Followed by Twitter. LinkedIn was viewed as the least social and interactive tool. This finding is supported by results from HBR (2009), they found that Facebook, followed by Twitter and LinkedIn were the commonly used social media platform for businesses. There was a high use of social media in supply chains by SMEs in the creative sector. There was no use of social media in the low tech sector in SMEs triads. Surprisingly, the high-tech sector did not use public social media in their relationship triad. SMEs differed from larger businesses in terms of resources (e.g. lack of dedicated staff and the cost restraints) and formalised/informalized structures. There were no significant differences between SME buyers and suppliers use of social media. However, it was found that there were degrees of influence (either directly or indirectly) and power exerted by the key or influential buyer or supplier on the other member of the SME triad to use social media. In this study, the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs was found to be a relatively new concept. It is equally important to state that merely engaging in social media does not necessarily mean that supply chain members will follow. The foundational elements for social media use in supply chains in SME triad are trust and transactional exchanges. Two out of six triads in the study that used social media were limited to those with trust as well as transactional exchanges with the buyers and between the suppliers. The drivers also include: perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, social influence and external environment. The facilitators (or constraints) that affect the actual use of social media in supply chains include: nature of relationships; security risk; power and control; innovativeness of the SME; resources the nature of the industry and internet infrastructure. For example, the insufficient fixed telephone lines and the high cost of internet connectivity are viewed as constraints to social media use

in supply from an SME context, surprisingly SMEs in Nigeria showed resilience by using their mobile connectivity. The use of social media in supply chains cannot be overstated. However, in terms of SMEs, it was found that the nature of relationships with, and between supply chain members influenced the use of social media. This study recognized that nature of relationships to a large extent is crucial for social media use in the supply chain. The nature of relationships particularly trust is required to deliver the positive impact of social media use (Tang and Liu, 2015) (speedy interaction and better relations) amongst supply chain firms. In fact, it is possible that the nature of relationship offers a competitive advantage platform that might withstand the negative impact or the non-use of social media in supply chains. As the CEO of a fashion firm puts it "our relationship has come a long way, and what that gives me is a unique advantage over others (interview, 2016). This comment confirms (Mentzer et al., 2000) views that although technology is useful, it is actually the nature of the relationship that is helpful in achieving competitive advantage. In addition, an effort to maintain and sustain collaborative relationships without focusing on the other factors mentioned above plus the transactional element might lead to the non-use of social media. What is important is understanding that SMEs are exposed to multiple factors when it comes to SMEs and their interactions with other supply chains members. Nevertheless, the use of social media by SMEs can positively influence buyer-supplier and supplier-supplier relationships to better interact and improve collaborative relationships through information sharing, provided the foundational elements of trust and transactional exchanges are present

6.4 Research contributions

This section discusses the contribution of the study findings for theory and practice. The theoretical and methodological implications are discussed followed by the practice and policy contributions.

6.4.1 Contributions to theory

The study's contribution for theory advancement and multi-disciplinary application are in manifolds. 1). The study contributes to SCM literature particularly, social media and B2B relationships literature on SMEs which was found to be limited. 2). The application of TAM2 (from a social constructivist stance using qualitative methods) and the relational view in addressing the use of social media in supply chains from SMEs context offer contemporary insights and lay a foundation on which SCM scholars can build on.3). this study integrates two main fields SCM and Information Management to understand the research aim and question better.

The study finds trust and significant levels of transactional exchanges (purchasing volumes) are foundational elements for social use in supply chains by SMEs. Trust is a fundamental pre-requisite for the use or non-use of social media by SMEs. Trust and transaction embedded in the buyer-supplier dyad and supplier-supplier dyad influences social media use in supply chains which can improve their competitive advantage. This finding has clear contributions for social media in SCM literature, namely, the opportunity to clarify ambiguities around the foundational constructs (Ngai et al. 2010 & 2015, O'Leary 2011 & 2012). On the one end of the continuum are studies suggesting social media use as beneficial (Kaplan and Haenlien, 2010; O'Leary 2011; Markova and Petkovska-Mircevska, 2013). On the other, social media is presented as dark and dangerous (Everett, 2010; Bezuidenhout, 2012).

Arguing that a flexible and nuanced analytical approach is vital in resolving the ambiguous evidence, this study applied a template analysis to interrogate underlying factors, drivers and facilitating/hindering themes. As expected, this strategy provided an extensive template based on prior research, theoretical perspectives and/or a large (rich) data set that captured the research question and broadly capturing other areas of interest and dimensions. For example, perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, external environment and social influence are beneficial drivers while nature of relationships, poor infrastructure, security risks, poor innovativeness, resources, power and nature of the industry can be hindering to social media use in supply chains by SMEs. As such, the study views the thematic and flexible analytical approach as a useful subsequent step for social media in SCM scholarship provided the themes are well understood and adequately leveraged.

This study's cross-examination of themes surrounding the research aim and question also provides critical contributions for theory in two central and broad discipline (SCM and Information Management(IM). SCM and IM literature have, hitherto, not been examined in an SME context. Previous SCM scholarship focus on traditional technologies leaving contemporary technologies (social media) unattended. IM literature, on the other hand, has mainly involved social media constructs at on larger organizational level contributing to our sparse knowledge of the underlying driver and influence of the unique SME perspective. By merging the two: SCM and Information Management knowledge, the study lays a foundation for future cross-discipline scholarly contributions. This study also launches the descriptive TAM2 as a plausible alternative for understanding SMEs emergent use of social media in their supply chain. The theory is particularly suited to today's contemporary SME supply chain context. By highlighting the role of perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use and social influence. TAM2 enables the understanding of how SMEs have come to accept and use social media in their supply chain. In applying this theory, thus, the study moves SCM scholarship away from the planning and forecasting approach to technology use that dominates it (Simchi-Levi et al., 2003).

The theoretical lens used to capture social media use has largely been underpinned by the TAM2 (Ngai et al., 2011). The finding in this work contributes to providing a better understanding of the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. In spite of the dearth of information on this topic, Venkatesh and Davis's TAM2 theoretical lens is applied to the social media and SCM setting. Some authors have successfully applied Davis's TAM on SCM practices to explain and predict the uptake of social media (see section 3.3 of this report). Although the empirical literature on TAM in SCM remains limited, prior studies suggest that TAM is a useful predictor of social media uptake in SCM. While TAM continues to advance (intoTAM2 and TAM3) and gain popularity in other fields such as information systems, there have been few attempts to apply TAM2 to social media and B2B relationships in supply chains. The findings of the study lend support to TAM2 as a useful theoretical lens for explaining the use of social media in SCM. The findings found TAM2 constructs (see section 6.3) on the 'usefulness' perception and 'ease of use' perception of Social Media, the eternal environment and social factors. The findings in this study contribute to the TAM2, although TAM2 serves a useful lens to explain the use of social media, it lacks a relational perspective. Thus, TAM2 was complemented with the relational view. The theoretical lens used to analyse supply chain relationships has largely been underpinned by the relational view of the firm (Wong, 2011). To the best of the researcher's knowledge, this is the first study that draws on TAM 2 to explain social media use, to explain the relational view of the firm, and to examine the influence on buyer-supplier and supplier-supplier relationships. These have clear implications for TAM2, the application of TAM2 (and the relational view) to social media offers new insights, and presents a foundation for contemporary information and approaches in supply chains.

Specifically, insights were gained about the competitive advantage that supply chain firms can achieve from social media use, and from their association with SMEs. This (sustainable) competitive advantage is gained because of the collaborative relationships with and between supply chains. It is in line with the relational view theory which holds

that information (knowledge) sharing, resources, capabilities and effective governance (power) between partners can determine competitive advantage (Dyer and Singh, 1998, p.663). The development of such relational assets demands much effort by SMEs in terms of trust and transactional volumes. In addition, this study also adds to the TAM view within the SCM research (e.g. Hsu and Lin, 2008; Hossain and de Silva, 2009; Casaló et al., 2010; Kwon and Wen, 2010; Steyn et al., 2010; Casaló et al., 2011) by exploring fundamental constructs (i.e. the perception of usefulness and perception of the ease of use of social media). The two main constructs studied in this research centred on the importance of the use and acceptance of social media use by SMEs and their supply chains and how this use affects buyer-supplier and supplier-supplier relationships and ultimately competitive advantage. By also exploring the influences on social media use, this study sheds light on factors where social media usage will become valuable or harmful to SMEs. The section that follows discusses the key findings of this study.

This study has found the themes underpinning the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. First, the study reveals that from the final analysis social media use involved these themes supply chain relationships, transactional exchanges, competitive advantage, social media use, the environment and the attributes of SMEs. The findings that the use of social media by SMEs will improve B2B relationships by improving their interactions with and between supply chain members is vital. Altogether, this study provides a solid foundation on which SCM scholars can build on to further understand social media use from a supply chain and SME context.

6.4.2 Contribution to practice

The study's findings also provide several managerial implications for SMEs in the UK and Nigeria. These contributions include: 1) This study aids owner-managers of SMEs to make informed decisions on how the use or non-use of social media can affect relationships with and between supply chain members. 2). It provides managers with recommendations for improving their competitive advantage through better B2B relationship.

SME managers are advised to place greater emphasis on improving relationships that can support social media use than focusing on the technology in itself. For instance, they should be profoundly concerned with tackling information sharing issues, power and control, opportunistic behaviours, closed structures, security issues, and building important collaborative relationships to better information sharing and ultimately improve their competitive edge. It is worth pointing out that no matter how collaborative the relationship, it still needs to run on some form of transactional exchange.

Additionally, despite their great care and attention in establishing and maintaining relationships with buyers and between suppliers, both UK and Nigerian SMEs fail to reap the expected benefits in terms of better B2B relationships and ultimately better competitive edge.

Generally, the study highlights that SCM, RM, and social media are intertwined. As such, managers of SMEs should be advised to adopt a collaborative approach to the use of social media and management of relationships with and between supply chain members, rather than viewing them separately. Likewise, when it comes to supporting and constraining factors, it seems evident that some supporting factors such as infrastructure and (collaborative) relationship building benefit the usage of social media in SMEs and their supply chains. Subsequently, managers of SMEs should be recommended to place a particular emphasis on building better infrastructure in terms of providing easier access to the internet, allowing the use of multiple devices in their countries and improving B2B relationships.

Finally, the UK and Nigerian SMEs are likely to pay more attention to the use of social media applications (e.g. Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn in this order) as an informal way of building and sustaining collaborative relationships with buyers and between suppliers to improve their information sharing, collaboration and ultimately their competitiveness. Many studies have argued that the use of IT can influence competitive advantage (Porter, 1985c; Powell and Dent-Micallef, 1997; Gimenez and Ventura, 2003). However, this study argues that context is important. That is, the use of social media will or will not be necessarily critical for improving collaborative relationships and information sharing at all times. This study recommends that whilst it would be beneficial for SMEs in competitive, innovative and fast-paced environments that are accepting of technology to use social media in their supply chains, it is also evident from this study that an overly exerted power and control can erode any use or benefits that will be obtained from the use of social media, especially when trust is limited. Against this background, although some previous studies have recommended that social media improves their competitive advantage (e.g. Alikilic and Atabek, 2012), this research recommends that use of social media in supply chains might not be justified if the SMEs environment is not complex (or fast-paced) and if collaborative relationships already exist. Therefore, SMEs in a fast pace and competitive environments, need to exercise

caution in the way they perceive that the use of social media in supply chains can improve collaborative relationships to achieve a competitive edge.

In addition to supporting interactions, social media also provides firms of supply chain a tool/platform to build collaborative relationships and share information, when they gain access to and connect with preexisting supply chain members. However, the very nature of relationships makes social media use in supply chain difficult. SMEs must achieve a balance between the need to ensure trust in B2B relationships and the need to use social media to connect with supply chain members. Therefore, the challenges include the nature of relationships, inadequate technological infrastructure (such as fixed connectivity), power and control; privacy and security issues; lack of innovativeness; dedicated resources and the nature of the sector. In summary, these times of intense competition and political uncertainty can be particularly hard on SMEs. Building and sustaining existing B2B relationships might offer extra security and better competitive advantage for the SME. The balance to strive for is taking control of B2B relationships in Supply chain with the same level of attention and focus as their transactional exchanges.

6.4.2.1 To use or not to use social media in supply chains by SMEs

On a social level, there is no doubt that social media has helped to break some interaction barriers formally caused by geographic location or time restriction (Ngai et al., 2015). However, many studies have argued that social media is the driving force for all business, social and environmental success (Savitz, 2013). This deterministic view that is echoed in many marketing, communications and IS literature. However, this study argues that the context is crucial, in other words, social media use may or may not be needful for all B2B relationships at all times. On the one hand, this study recommends that the use of social media in supply chains could be beneficial for some SMEs and their B2B relationships, benefits like increased interactions, information sharing, and collaborations which can ultimately offer a better competitive advantage. On the other hand, it is noticeable from this study as well that these benefits can easily be eroded by other multiple factors like their environment, limited resources, lack of innovativeness, poor infrastructure and control. Although many prior studies have advocated high social media usage (Kaplan and Haenlien, 2010; Stephen and Toubia, 2010), this study recommends that social media use may not be justified if an SME's supply chain is simple or if face-to-face interactions are usually preferred by SMEs and their supply chain firms and/or if the environment they operate does not require such use. Overall, the use of social media can have both positive and negative impact on B2B relationships

in supply chains. Thus, SMEs need to exercise caution in the way they use social media in supply chains as the human aspects of face-2-face interactions such as nonverbal clues (like facial expressions cannot be observed and interpreted), are removed from social media. Thus. The use of social media does not serve as a replacement but should complement face-to-face interactions.

In addition, trust is required to support social media use by SMEs and their supply chain firms to improve information sharing and better collaborative relationship and ultimately better competitive edge. However, for SMEs and supply chain firms with distrust, this study believes that it might be better technology-wise to use close and secure systems which serve as records or trail of information as these relationships tend to emphasize transactional exchanges and might be more adversarial than collaborative. For example, this study finds no data to support the notion that social media use will improve relationships with and between SMEs and their supply chain member which have trust issues or adversarial relationships as previous research suggests "social media can improve relationships" (e.g., HBR, 2010 p15). Thus, careful aligning social media use with SMEs in B2B relationships with considerable levels of trust might be required to improve interactions, better information sharing, improve collaborative relationships that might better their competitive edge. Additionally, a decision map summary in figure 6.1 has been provided that can aid SMEs in the decision-making process by the author.



Figure 6.1 An example of a social media decision tree showing the probability of various events occurring

6.4.3 Contribution to policy

There are several implications for private and public policy-makers for both developed and developing countries like the UK and Nigeria that can be drawn for the study's conclusion. For example, it can assist policymakers and agencies in providing appropriate support strategies that can assist SMEs to improve their competitive edge, build and sustain collaborative B2B relationships while protecting them from opportunistic B2B relationships.

Firstly, there is a growing need to improve the competitiveness of SMEs, be it as a single firm or collective (in their supply chains) specifically in view of the fact that competition is intensifying. This study suggests that one way to improve competitiveness is for SMEs to build their competitive edge using their B2B relationships. For example, the everincreasing competitive environment stresses that SMEs improve their competitive advantage through existing relationships with (and between) their supply chains. To this end, SMEs need to exploit their innovativeness and innovative capabilities by using technological tools like social media to improve their relationships, to achieve such advantages. A necessary implication for policymakers is that awareness (or investment) is needed in key sectors, especially supply chains that support sectors like the high technology and creativity. Relationship management programs are also needed to develop substantive issues like trust in supply chains that support food industries, as SMEs need to have a significant trust to use informal technology like social media.

Additionally, given the surge in global competition from other countries (like the China and other emerging nations), the competitive positions currently held by the UK and Nigerian SMEs have come under severe challenge. Accordingly, this study suggests that SMEs from both countries should focus more on improving their supply chain before the use of social media for the purpose of improving competitive advantage can be useful and impactful. More specifically, this study proposes that corporate policymakers should be more sector specific in formulating SME strategies and also focus on the use of new interactive tools, mainly as SMEs are more efficient than larger business in using traditional methods like face to face interaction.

Instant interaction, lower cost (compared to traditional media), social influence (environment), sharing of useful information and collaboration can present enormous drivers (benefits) for the use of social media by SMEs and their supply chains. Accordingly, SMEs and their supply chains need to be more specific and selective in choosing their relationships. This study suggests that information sharing and

collaboration should be of top importance to SMEs and their supply chain as it can help improve their B2B relationships and better their competitive edge that can help handle both opportunities and challenges. Zhou and Benton (2007) suggest that information sharing can improve the current supply chain management environment. Lee et al. (1997) add that information sharing among supply chain members can also help to eliminate the challenges of the bullwhip effect. This study suggests that policymakers should prioritize and advocate information sharing for sustainable and collaboration supply chains as that would enable the SMEs and their supply chains to identify changes, opportunities, challenges and formulate precautionary measures to help deal with them effectively.

SMEs can influence and be influenced by their supply chains and the environment in which they operate in. This is critical because some SMEs often tend to experience severe barriers in relationships with larger businesses and their environment. As such, this study suggests that the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs can be challenged by the nature of relationships, the perceived usefulness, internet infrastructure, innovativeness and the environment (competitor and flexibility). In terms of the nature of relationships, this cannot be overstated as this study suggest that it is not the use of social media that influences relationships with and between supply chain members instead it is the relationship with and between supply chain members that influence the use of social media. As such, this study suggests that trust is an essential prerequisite for the (sustained) use of social media in supply chains by SMEs.

In terms of its perceived usefulness, there are overlapping uses of social media (like personal vs business purposes), and there are also evolving uses of social media like for e-commerce, information sharing, and building collaborative relationships. As such appropriate government ministries can take initiatives to provide support for some detrimental relationships that can arise. This is because SMEs are often at vulnerable or at risk of such detrimental relationships due to their size and lack of resources. However, this can be mitigated if governments can provide information (seminars and conferences) on how to select their supply chain, awareness on detrimental relationships, advice, and support to SMEs, represent SMEs interest in negotiations and lobbying.

In terms of infrastructure, the government could take steps to improve the existing speed, mobile and fixed connectivity and cost of internet connectivity. There is a pressing need to improve the cost and connectivity issues, particularly in Nigeria.

In terms of the environment, appropriate government initiatives should be taken to provide an environment that promotes less power but instead sustainable and flexible supply chains even in these times of increased competition. Sectors like the food industry should have both internal and external governance policy, practical relationship management skills and procedures as such skills can help many SMEs, especially those in relationships with larger firms in their supply chains that lead to the adversarial environment.

6.5 Research limitation

Despite these outstanding contributions, some limitations were identified for a variety of reasons. First, the focus of study raised some constraints. Triads were selected as the focus of this study as explained in Chapter 2, 3 & 4. Although a plethora of triadic literature exists, the depiction and classification of triad used in many of this literature suggest many dissimilarities and unique characteristics to the vignette of the triad (e.g. Rossetti and Choi, 2008; Van der Valk and van Iwaarden, 2011). As a result, the SME triad (one buyer & two suppliers or one firm & two suppliers) used in this study is only one kind of triadic relationship in supply chains. It is worth noting that there are many other kinds of triads even in the supply chain context. As a result, it is difficult to access and target a uniform triad.

The second limitation concerns the sample (participant) representative of 18 interviews conducted across several business sectors in the UK and Nigeria. The sample may not be representative enough as only 7 SMEs were sampled from the total UK SME population estimated to be 5.4 million businesses at the start of 2016. The small sample size prevented the use of rigorous quantitative statistical tests like structural equation models and would not meet the requirement for multiple regression analysis. As a result, the study may be regarded as exploratory, and be used as a basis for further deepened research with relatively large data sets.

Perhaps another serious limitation of this study was its focus on only three sectors. This would preclude the generalization of findings to other industries like the financial services, construction, and public sectors. Although, data was gathered from multiple sources (buyers and suppliers), to reduce bias and offer a balanced view. Future research should strive to gather a larger data from firms across whole supply chains from other sectors. In addition, it may be useful to examine the variations between sectors and locations more closely.

Another limitation is that the primary data from semi-structured interviews used in this study is limited to the selected countries (the UK and Nigeria). It may be advantageous to conduct interviews over a wider geographical range to reflect a broader range of differences and similarities in trends. Additionally, the current study focused on social media platforms like Twitter, LinkedIn, and Facebook without investigating other platforms like WhatsApp which were mentioned by some participants. The knowledge of other social media applications may be a useful complement to the present study of SMEs. However, had this been added, it is worth mentioning that the research workload would have been more time-consuming.

Although social media use has been studied in a number of other contexts such as marketing, this study represents a fresh attempt to further explore the scope of social media use to supply chains particularly to SMEs and B2B relationships. As such, its current usage, benefits, challenges, analytics and likely impact and outcomes have added both empirical and theoretical insights to the existing literature on social media. Nevertheless, it is vital that before any generalization is made, the theoretic lens/model is replicated in different samples. However, the sample used in this study consists of few SMEs and larger firms located in the United Kingdom and Nigerian economy. A larger sample and samples from other economies may be explored for replication if desired.

Lastly, the use of social media in supply chains is relatively new or in its early stages as such additional journal articles will continue to surface. The fast-paced nature of social media means that information needs to be updated continuously.

6.6 Future research direction

These are the recommendations for future research based on the outcomes of this study.

1. Other social media platforms such as WhatsApp, Google+ and Yammer (private social media platforms) can be explored further for any possible modifications to this study.

2. The study can extend to other sectors (e.g., construction, retail and financial service sectors) to ascertain their level of social media usage in the UK and Nigeria. A longitudinal study between SMEs and large firms in other sectors will provide insights into any differences. Additionally, it may be valuable to study the variations between the industries carefully.

3. The findings on the impact of social media are significant. It would be interesting to know the influence of dedicated staff on social media in larger firms.

4. Further research can expand the number of businesses studied to include and other geographical locations as well.

5. Finally, other research methodologies such as survey or questionnaires can be advantageous to conduct a larger scale sample over a broad geographical range. In particular, quantitative methods can be used to test the model in Fig 6.2.



Figure 6.2: The use of social media in supply chain by SMEs

Source: My adaptation of TAM2 Model

6.7 Chapter summary

In conclusion, the aim of this study has been to shed light on the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. In the first place, the use of social media has been extended to the context of supply chains. Secondly, the study found several factors that influence the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. Thirdly, it was found that the use of social media by SMEs influence buyer-supplier and supplier-supplier relationships from an interactive and relational perspective. It is anticipated that results from this study will precipitate further research in this area and the managerial recommendations offered will be of interest to managers.

References

- Abor J. AND Quartey, P. (2010). 'Issues in SME Development in Ghana and South Africa', International Research Journal of Finance and Economics, 39: 218–28.
- Acharyulu, G.V.R.K. and Shekbar, B.R., 2012. Role of value chain strategy in healthcare supply chain management: An empirical study in India. International Journal of Management, 29(1), p.91.
- Adamides, E.D., Karacapilidis, N., Pylarinou, H. and Koumanakos, D., 2008. Supporting collaboration in the development and management of lean supply networks. Production Planning and Control, 19(1), pp.35-52.
- Adams, D.A., Nelson, R.R., Todd, P.A., 1992. Perceived usefulness, ease of use, and usage of information technology: a replication. MIS Quarterly 16 (2), 227–247.
- Adobor, H. (2006). The role of personal relationships in inter-firm alliances: Benefits, dysfunctions, and some suggestions. Business Horizons, 49(6), 473-486.
- Africa Renewal, (2010). A social media boom begins in Africa. 24(4), pp.3-4. [Retrieved 3/11/2013],http://www.un.org/en/africarenewal/vol24no4/social-media-boom.html
- Agarwal, R. and Prasad, J., 1997. The role of innovation characteristics and perceived voluntariness in the acceptance of information technologies. Decision Sciences, 28(3), pp.557-582.
- Ahire, S.L., Golhar, D.Y. and Waller, M.A. (1996), ``Development and validation of TQM implementation constructs'', Decision Sciences, Vol. 27No. 1, pp. 23-56.
- Ahuja, G (2000). "Collaboration Networks, Structural Holes, and Innovation: A Longitudinal Study," Administrative Science Quarterly, (45:3), pp. 425-455.
- Ajzen, I. AND Fishbein, M., 1980. Understanding attitudes and predicting social behaviour.
- Ajzen, I., 1991. The theory of planned behaviour. Organizational behaviour and human decision processes, 50(2), pp.179-211.
- Akintoye, A., McIntosh, G. and Fitzgerald, E., 2000. A survey of supply chain collaboration and management in the UK construction industry. European Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management, 6(3), pp.159-168.
- Akpan-Obong P (2009). "Information and communication technologies in Nigeria: Prospects and challenges for development", Peter Lang Publishing, NY
- Alavi, M., & Carlson, P. (1992). A review of MIS research and disciplinary development. Journal of Management Information Systems, 8(4), 45-62.
- Alderman, N. and Ivory, C., 2007. Partnering in major contracts: Paradox and metaphor. International Journal of Project Management, 25(4), pp.386-393.

- Alexiev, A.S., Volberda, H.W. and Van Den Bosch, F.A., 2016. Interorganizational collaboration and firm innovativeness: Unpacking the role of the organizational environment. Journal of Business Research, 69(2), pp.974-984.
- Alfalla-Luque, R., Medina-Lopez, C. and Schrage, H., 2013. A study of supply chain integration in the aeronautics sector. Production Planning & Control, 24(8-9), pp.769-784.Teller et al., 2011:
- Alikilic, O. & Atabek, U. (2012). Social media adoption among Turkish public relations professionals: A survey of practitioners. Public Relations Review, 38, 56-63.
- Allen, C. (2013). Utilization of social media in marketing classes. Journal of Instructional Pedagogies, 12, 1-8. Retrieved from http://0search.proquest.com.wam.leeds.ac.uk/docview/1459329980?accountid=14664
- Al-Qirim, N., 2008. The adoption of eCommerce communications and applications technologies in small businesses in New Zealand. Electronic Commerce Research and Applications, 6(4), pp.462-473.
- Alter, C., Hage, J., 1993. Organizations Working Together. Sage, Beverly Hills, CA
- Alvarez, S.A. and Barney, J.B., 2001. How entrepreneurial firms can benefit from alliances with large partners. The Academy of Management Executive, 15(1), pp.139-148.
- Amaratunga, D., Baldry, D., Sarshar, M. and Newton, R., 2002. Quantitative and qualitative research in the built environment: application of "mixed" research approach. Work study, 51(1), pp.17-31.
- Ambrose, E., Marshall, D., & Lynch, D. (2010). Buyer-supplier perspectives on supply chain relationships. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 30(12), 1269-1290.
- Anderson E (2010). "Social Media Marketing: game theory and the emergence of collaboration", Springer, New York
- Anderson, E.G., Fine, C.H. AND Parker, G.G., 2000. Upstream volatility in the supply chain: The machine tool industry as a case study. Production and Operations Management, 9(3), pp.239-261.
- Anderson, J.C., H. Hakansson AND J. Johanson (1994). "Dyadic Business Relationships Within a Business Network Context," Journal of Marketing, (58:4), pp. 1-15.
- Andzulis, J. M., Panagopoulos, N. G. AND Rapp, A. (2012) 'A Review of Social Media and Implications for the Sales Process.' Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management, 32(3) pp. 305-316.
- Ang, L., 2011. Community relationship management and social media. The Journal of Database Marketing & Customer Strategy Management, 18(1), pp.31-38.

- Angela, Hausman. (2005). Innovativeness among small businesses: Theory and propositions for future research. Industrial Marketing Management, 34(8), 773-782.
- Antoniolli, P.D., 2016. Information Technology Framework for Pharmaceutical Supply Chain Demand Management: a Brazilian Case Study. Brazilian Business Review (English Edition), 13(2).
- AON., (2016). UK food and drink market update: A review of insurance market conditions for buyers and risk managers. AON.com http://www.aon.com/unitedkingdom/products-and-services/risk-services/attachments/food-drink/food-drink-market-update-2016-uk.pdf retrieved on the 07/09/16.
- Appelbaum, S., Bartolomicci, N., Beaumier, E., Boulanger, J., Crrigan, R., Dore, I., Girard, C. and C. Serroini (2004) Organizational Citizenship Behavior: A Case Study of Culture, Leadership and Trust. Management Decision. Vol. 42, Iss.1, pp.13-40.
- Aral, S., Dellacrocas, C. and Godes, D. (2013) 'Social Media and Business Transformation: A Framework for Research.' Information Systems Research, 24(1) pp. 3-13.
- Ardjouman, D., 2014. Factors influencing small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in adoption and use of technology in Cote d'Ivoire. International Journal of Business and Management, 9(8), p.179.
- Arend, R.J., AND Wisner, J.D., 2005. Small business and supply chain management: is there a fit? Journal of Business Venturing, 20(3), pp.403-436.
- Arias Aranda, D. and Molina-Fernández, L.M., 2002. Determinants of innovation through a knowledge-based theory lens. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 102(5), pp.289-296.
- Arias-Aranda, D., Minguela-Rata, B. and Rodríguez-Duarte, A. (2001), "Innovation and firm size: an empirical study for Spanish engineering consulting companies", European Journal of Innovation Management, Vol. 4 No. 3, pp. 133-42.
- Arias-baez, M. P., & Carrillo-ramos, A. (2012,). Adaptive forming collaborative teamwork in collaborative environments. In Computing Congress (CCC), 2012 7th Colombian (pp. 1-6). IEEE.
- Arifin, B., 2013. On the competitiveness and sustainability of the Indonesian agricultural export commodities. ASEAN Journal of Economics, Management, and Accounting, 1(1), pp.81-100.
- Armano, D. (2009). Six social media trends for 2010. Retrieved November 5, 2013, from http://blogs.hbr.org/cs/ 2009/11/six_social_media_trends.html

- Arya, B. and Lin, Z., 2007. Understanding collaboration outcomes from an extended resource-based view perspective: The roles of organizational characteristics, partner attributes, and network structures. Journal of management, 33(5), pp.697-723.
- Ashcroft, J. and Network, S.C., 2010. Social media in the supply chain. Supply Chain Management Summit, Proactive Supply Chain Strategies for.
- Ashworth, C. (2011) The Impact of Social Media on SME Online Retailing in the Fashion Sector. Liverpool, UK, 5-7th July 2011. Patterson, A. and Oakes, S.: Academy of Marketing, Liverpool.
- AT&T. (2011).The Business Impacts of Social Networking. A white paper in cooperation with Early Strategies Consulting. Retrieved on October 4, 2012, from http://www.business.att.com/content/whitepaper/WP-soc_17172_v3_11-10-08.pdf
- Attaran, M., 2004. Nurturing the Supply Chain. Industrial Management, 46(5).
- Atuahene-Gima, K. and Li, H., 2002. When does trust matter? Antecedents and contingent effects of supervisee trust on performance in selling new products in China and the United States. Journal of Marketing, 66(3), pp.61-81.
- Aula P, (2010). "Social media, reputation risk and ambient publicity management", Strategy & Leadership, 38(6), pp.43 49.
- Australian Constructors Association (ACA) 1999. Relationship Contracting, ACA, North Sydney.
- Autry, C.W., Williams, B.D. and Golicic, S., 2014. Relational and Process Multiplexity in Vertical Supply Chain Triads: An Exploration in the US Restaurant Industry. Journal of Business Logistics, 35(1), pp.52-70.
- Awheda, A., AB Rahman, M.N., Ramli, R. AND Arshad, H., 2016. Factors related to supply chain network members in SMEs. Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management, 27(2), pp.312-335.
- Ayers, J., 1999. Supply chain strategies. Information systems management, 16, pp.72-79.
- Ayyagari, M., Beck, T., & Demirguc-kunt, A. (2007). Small and medium enterprises across the globe.Small Business Economics, 29(4), 415-434.
- Ayyagari, Meghana, Thorsten Beck, and Asli Demirgüç-Kunt. (2003). "Small and Medium Enterprises across the Globe: A New Database." World Bank mimeo.
- Azad, B. and Faraj, S., 2011. Social power and information technology implementation: a contentious framing lens. Information Systems Journal, 21(1), pp.33-61.
- Azadegan, A., C. P. Patel, A. Zangoueinezhad, AND K. Linderman. 2013. "The Effect of Environmental Complexity and Environmental Dynamism of Lean Practices." Journal of Operations Management 31: 193–212.10.1016/j.jom.2013.03.002

Babbie, E. (2007). The Practice of Social Research. Belmont: Thomson Wadsworth.

- Babbie, E., 2015. The practice of social research. Nelson Education.
- Bachmann, R., & Witteloostuijn, A. V. (2009). Analyzing inter-organizational relationships in the context of their national business systems: A conceptual framework for comparative research. European Societies, 11(1), 49-76.
- Baghdadi, Y. (2013). From E-commerce to social commerce: A framework to guide enabling cloud computing. Journal of Theoretical and Applied Electronic Commerce Research, 8(3), 12-38
- Bai, X., Wieczorek, A. J., Kaneko, S., Lisson, S., & Contreras, A. (2009). Enabling sustainability transitions in Asia: the importance of vertical and horizontal linkages. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 76(2), 255-266.
- Bajaj, A. AND Nidumolu, S.R., 1998. A feedback model to understand information system usage. Information & Management, 33(4), pp.213-224.
- Baker, W.E. AND Sinkula, J.M., 2009. The complementary effects of market orientation and entrepreneurial orientation on profitability in small businesses. Journal of Small Business Management, 47(4), pp.443-464.
- Bakos, J. Y., AND Brynjyolfsson, E (1993). "From Vendors to Partners: Information Technologies and Incomplete Contracts in Buyer-Seller Relationships," Journal of Organizational Computing (3:3), pp. 301-329.
- Balakrishnan, A. and I. Geunes (2004). "Collaboration and Coordination in Supply Chain Management and E-Commerce," Production and Operations Management, (13:1), pp. 1-2.
- Bandura, A. 1986. Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Banker, R.D., Kauffman, R.J. and Morey, R.C., 1990. Measuring Gains in Operational Efficiency from Information Technology: A Study of the Positran Deployment at Hardee's Inc. Journal of Management Information Systems, 7(2), pp.29-54.
- Baptista J, Galliers R.D (2012). "Social Media as a Driver for New Rhetorical Practices in Organisations," pp.3540-3549, 45th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, 2012
- Barki, H. AND Hartwick, J., 1994. Measuring user participation, user involvement, and user attitude. MIS quarterly, pp.59-82.
- Barnes, D., Dyerson, R,. Harindranath, G., (2008), If it isn't broken, don't fix it, http://www.rhul.ac.uk/Management/Research/PRISM/index.html
- Barnes, N. G. (2010) 'Tweeting and Blogging to the Top How do the most successful companies use social media?' Marketing Research, 22(1), Spr, pp. 8-13.
- Barney, J. (1991). "Firm Resources and Sustained Competitive Advantage," Journal of Management 17, 99-120.

- Barney, J.B. and Hansen, M.H., 1994. Trustworthiness as a source of competitive advantage. Strategic management journal, 15(S1), pp.175-190.
- Barney, J.B., 1986. Strategic factor markets: Expectations, luck, and business strategy. Management Science, 32(10), pp.1231-1241.
- Barney, J.B., 2002. Strategic management: From informed conversation to academic discipline. The Academy of Management Executive, 16(2), pp.53-57.
- Barney, J.B., 2014. Gaining and sustaining competitive advantage. Pearson Higher Ed.
- Barratt, M., 2004a. Understanding the meaning of collaboration in the supply chain. Supply Chain Management: an international journal, 9(1), pp.30-42.
- Barratt, M., 2004b. Unveiling enablers and inhibitors of collaborative planning. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 15(1), pp.73-90.
- Barson, R. J., Foster, G., Struck, T., Ratchev, S., Pawar, K., Weber, F., & Wunram, M. (2000). Inter-and intra-Organisational barriers to sharing knowledge in the extended supply-chain. In Proceedings of the e-Business and eWork.
- Bayo-moriones, A. and Lera-lópez, F. (2007) 'A firm-level analysis of determinants of ICT adoption in Spain.' Technovation, 27(6-7) pp. 352-366.
- Bayraktar, E., Demirbag, M., Koh, S.L., Tatoglu, E. and Zaim, H., 2009. A causal analysis of the impact of information systems and supply chain management practices on operational performance: evidence from manufacturing SMEs in Turkey. International Journal of Production Economics, 122(1), pp.133-149.
- BBC (2017) Panorama undercover: the Refugees who make our clothes http://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/b0813kpq/panorama-undercover-therefugees-who-make-our-clothes retrieved on 15/08/2017
- Beach, L.R. and Mitchell, T.R., 1978a. A contingency model for the selection of decision strategies. Academy of management review, 3(3), pp.439-449.
- Beach, L.R. and Mitchell, T.R., 1996. Image theory, the unifying perspective. L. R. Beach,ed. Decision Making in the Workplace: A Unified Perspective.Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Mahwah, NJ. 1–20.
- Beach, L.R. and Mitchell, T.R., 1998. The basics of image theory. Image theory: Theoretical and empirical foundations, pp.3-18.
- Beach, L.R., Mitchell, T.R., Deaton, M.D. and Prothero, J., 1978b. Information relevance, content and source credibility in the revision of opinions. Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 21(1), pp.1-16.
- Beamon, B., 1999. Measuring supply chain performance. International Journal of Operations and Production Management 19 (3), 275–292
- Bechtel, C. AND J. Jayaram. (1997). "Supply Chain Management: A Strategic Perspective," International Journal of Logistics Management, (8:1), pp. 1534.

- Beck, T., Demirguc-Kunt, A. and Levine, R., 2005. SMEs, growth, and poverty: crosscountry evidence. Journal of economic growth, 10(3), pp.199-229.
- Becker, H.S. (1996). The epistemology of qualitative research. Ethnography and human development: Context and meaning in social inquiry, 53-71.
- Beirut. (2009). Why do people really tweet? The psychology behind tweeting! Retrieved November 5, 2013, from http://blog.thoughtpick.com/2009/08/why-do-peoplereally-tweet-the-psychology-behind-tweeting.html
- Bennett J, Owers M, Pitt M and Tucker M (2010). "Workplace impact of social networking", Property Management, 28(3), pp.138 148
- Benton, W. C., & Maloni, M. (2005). The influence of power-driven buyer/seller relationships on supply chain satisfaction. Journal of Operations Management, 23(1), 1-22.
- Berry, A.J., Coad, A.F., Harris, E.P., Otley, D.T. and Stringer, C., 2009. Emerging themes in management control: A review of recent literature. The British Accounting Review, 41(1), pp.2-20.
- Berry, D, Denis R. T, and Nicky W., 1994: "Supply chain management in the electronics products industry." International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management 24.10 20-32.
- Berry, L. L. (1995). Relationship marketing of services—growing interest, emerging perspectives. Journal of the Academy of marketing science, 23(4), 236-245.
- Berry, L.L., 1983. Relationship marketing. American Marketing Association.
- Berry, L.L., 2002. Relationship marketing of services perspectives from 1983 and 2000. Journal of relationship marketing, 1(1), pp.59-77.
- Berscheid, E. G. and Pelau, L. A. (1983). The Emerging Science of Relationships, W.H.Freeman, New York, NY.
- Berthon, P. R., Pitt, L. F., Plangger, K. and Shapiro, D. (2012) 'Marketing meets Web 2.0, social media, and creative consumers: Implications for international marketing strategy.' Business Horizons, 55 pp. 261-271.
- Berthon, P., Pitt, L., Mccarthy, I., & Kates, S. (2007). When customers get clever: Managerial approaches to dealing with creative consumers. Business Horizons, 50(1), 39-47.
- Bethlehem, J (1999) Research Methodology in the Social, Behavioural and Life Sciences DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9780857029027.d61
- Bezuidenhout P, 2012. Benefits, risks, and controls related to social media SAIGA's reporting pp23-26.
- Bhagwat, R. and Sharma, M.K., 2007. Information system architecture: a framework for a cluster of small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). Production planning & control, 18(4), pp.283-296.

- Bharadwaj, A. S. (2000). A resource-based perspective on information technology capability and firm performance: an empirical investigation. MIS Quarterly, 169-196.
- Bird, D., Ling, M., & Haynes, K. (2012). Flooding Facebook the use of social media during the Queensland and Victoria floods. The Australian Journal of Emergency Management, Vol. 27(1), pp.27-33.
- BIS (2012). SME access to external finance. In: BIS Economic Paper No. 16. January 2012.
- BIS (2016). Statistical Release. In: BIS Economic Paper No. 16. January 2016.
- Bititci, U.S., Martinez, V., Albores, P. and Parung, J., 2004. Creating and managing value in collaborative networks. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 34(3/4), pp.251-268.
- Black, J. B., D. S. Kay, E. M. Soloway. 1987. Goal and plan knowledge representations: From stories to text editors and programs. J. M. Carroll, ed. Interfacing Thought. The MIT Press, Cambridge, MA. 36–60.
- Blackburn, J.D., 1991. The quick response movement in the apparel industry: a case study in time-compressing supply chains, in Time-Based Competition: The Next Battleground in American Manufacturing. Irwin, Homewood, IL.
- Blaikie N. Approaches to social enquiry. Cambridge: Polity; 1993
- Blau, P.M., 1964. Exchange and power in social life. Transaction Publishers.
- Blili, S. and Raymond, L., 1993. Information technology: Threats and opportunities for small and medium-sized enterprises. International journal of information management, 13(6), pp.439-448.
- Bloomberg (2013) Traders Said to Rig Currency Rates to Profit Off Clients Bloomberg https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2013-06-11/traders-said-to-rigcurrency-rates-to-profit-off-clients
- Bof AND Mckinsey (2017) The State of Fashion 2018, The Business of Fashion and McKinsey & Company.
- Bonsón, E. and Flores, F., 2011. Social media and corporate dialogue: the response of global financial institutions. Online Information Review, 35(1), pp.34-49.
- Bordonaba-Juste, V. and Cambra-Fierro, J.J., 2009. Managing supply chain in the context of SMEs: a collaborative and customized partnership with the suppliers as the key for success. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 14(5), pp.393-402.
- Boso, N., Story, V.M., Cadogan, J.W., Micevski, M. and Kadic-Maglajlic, S., 2013. Firm innovativeness and export performance: environmental, networking, and structural contingencies. Journal of Marketing Research, 21(4), pp.62-87.
- Boumediene, R., Lorenzo, O., & Kawalek, P. (2009). Information Systems Innovations Adoption and Diffusion Among SMEs: Current Status and Future Prospects. International Journal of E-Adoption, 1(1), 33-45.
- Bouwman, H., and Van de Wijngaert, L. (2009). Coppers, context, and conjoints: A reassessment of TAM. Journal of Information Technology, 24, 186-201.
- Braun, V. and Clarke, V., 2006. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative research in psychology, 3(2), pp.77-101.
- Breeding, M., 2006. Web 2.0? Let's get to Web 1.0 first. Computers in Libraries, 26(5), pp.30-33.
- Brenkert, G.G., 1998. Trust, morality and international business. Business Ethics Quarterly, 8(2), pp.293-317.
- Bresnen, M. and Marshall, N. (2000) Partnering in construction: a critical review of issues, problems and dilemmas, Construction, Management and Economics, 18(2), pp. 229-237.
- Briggs, P., 1994. Vendor assessment for partners in supply. European Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management 1, 49–59.
- Briones, R.L., Kuch, B., Liu, B.F. and Jin, Y., 2011. Keeping up with the digital age: How the American Red Cross uses social media to build relationships. Public relations review, 37(1), pp.37-43.
- Brooks, J. and King, N., 2012, April. Qualitative psychology in the real world: the utility of template analysis. In Paper presented at British Psychological Society Annual Conference (Vol. 18, p. 20).
- Brooks, J., McCluskey, S., Turley, E. and King, N., 2015. The utility of template analysis in qualitative psychology research. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 12(2), pp.202-222.
- Bruce, M., Daly, L. and Towers, N., 2004. Lean or agile: a solution for supply chain management in the textiles and clothing industry? International journal of operations & production management, 24(2), pp.151-170.
- Bruque, S. and Moyano, J., 2007. Organisational determinants of information technology adoption and implementation in SMEs: The case of family and cooperative firms. Technovation, 27(5), pp.241-253.
- Bryman, A 2005, Social research methods, 2nd ed, Oxford University Press.
- Bryman, A. 2004. Social Research Methods, Oxford University Press: Oxford
- Bryman, A. and J.J. Teevan. 2005. Social Research Methods. Canadian Edition. Oxford University Press. Oxford.
- Bryman, A. M. (1984). The debate about quantitative and qualitative research: A question of method or epistemology? British Journal of Sociology, 35, 75-92.
- Bryman, A. 2001. Social research methods, Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press

- Bueno-Solano, A. and Cedillo-Campos, M.G., 2014. Dynamic impact on global supply chains performance of disruptions propagation produced by terrorist acts. Transportation research part E: logistics and transportation review, 61, pp.1-12.
- Buhalis, D. (1998). Strategic use of information technologies in the tourism industry. Tourism Management, 19(5), 409-421.
- Burgess, K., Singh, P.J. and Koroglu, R., 2006. Supply chain management: a structured literature review and implications for future research. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 26(7), pp.703-729.
- Burke, P., 2005. History and social theory. Polity.
- Burke, William Q., Fields, Deborah A., & Kafai, Yasmin B. (2010). Entering the clubhouse: case studies of young programmers joining the online scratch communities. Journal of Organizational and End User Computing, 22, 21+.
- BURNS, T.S. and Stalker, G., GM (1994): The management of innovation. New York, Oxford University Press, 119, p.126.
- Burt, R.S. and Celotto, N., 1992. The network structure of management roles in a large matrix firm. Evaluation and Program Planning, 15(3), pp.303-326.
- Business Telegraph (2017) More UK firms suffering 'financial distress' as SMEs struggle at end of 2016. The Telegraph.
- Butler, B.S. and Matook, S., 2015. Social media and relationships. The International Encyclopedia of Digital Communication and Society.
- Buvik, A., & Grønhaug, K. (2000). Inter-firm dependence, environmental uncertainty and vertical coordination in industrial buyer-seller relationships. Omega, 28(4), 445-454.
- Caldeira, M.M. and Ward, J.M., 2002. Understanding the successful adoption and use of IS/IT in SMEs: an explanation from Portuguese manufacturing industries. Information Systems Journal, 12(2), pp.121-152.
- Callioni, G., de Montgros, X., Slagmulder, R., Van Wassenhove, L.N. and Wright, L., 2005. Inventory-driven costs. Harvard business review, 83(3), pp.135-141.
- Camelo-Ordaz, C., García-Cruz, J. and Sousa-Ginel, E., 2015. The Influence of Top Management Team Conflict on Firm Innovativeness. Group Decision and Negotiation, 24(6), pp.957-980.
- Cameron, J. and Clarke, R., 1996, June. Towards a theoretical framework for collaborative electronic commerce projects involving small and medium-sized enterprises. In 9th International Conference on EDI-IOS:" Electronic Commerce for Trade Efficiency and Effectiveness", (P. Swatman, J. Gricar & J. Novaks.), Moderna Organizacija, Kranj, Bled, Slovenia.

- Cannon, J. P., Doney, P. M., Mullen, M. R., & Petersen, K. J. (2010). Building long-term orientation in buyer-supplier relationships: The moderating role of culture.Journal of Operations Management, 28(6), 506-521.
- Cannon, J.P., and W.D. Perreault JR (1999). "Buyer-Supplier Relationships in Business Markets," Journal of Marketing Research, (36:4), pp. 439-460.
- Caplow, T. (1968). Two against One: Coalitions in Triads. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ
- Caplow, T., 1959. Further development of a theory of coalitions in the triad. American Journal of Sociology, 64(5), pp.488-493.
- Carr, A.S. and Pearson, J.N., 1999. Strategically managed buyer-supplier relationships and performance outcomes. Journal of operations management, 17(5), pp.497-519.
- Carson, P. P., Carson, K. D., Knouse, S. B., & Roe, C. W. (1997). Balance theory applied to service quality: A focus on the organization, provider, and consumer triad. Journal of Business and Psychology,12 (2), 99–120.
- Carter, C.R., Ellram, L.M. and Ready, K.J., 1998. Environmental purchasing: benchmarking our German counterparts. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 34(3), pp.28-38.
- Casaló, L. V., Carlos, F., and Guinalíu, M. (2011). Understanding the intention to follow the advice obtained in an online travel community. Computers in Human Behaviour, 2792, 622–633.
- Casaló, L. V., Flavián, C., & Guinalíu, M. (2010). Determinants of the intention to participate in firm-hosted online travel communities and effects on consumer behavioural intentions. Tourism Management, 31(6), 898–911.
- Castleman, T., 2004. Small businesses as social formations: diverse rationalities in the context of e-business adoption. Electronic Commerce in Small to Medium-Sized Enterprises: Frameworks, Issues and Implications, Idea Group Publishing, Hershey, Pennsylvania, pp.31-51.
- Cavusgil, S.T. and Cavusgil, E., 2012. Reflections on international marketing: destructive regeneration and multinational firms. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 40(2), pp.202-217.
- CBN NIGERIA (2010) SME credit guarantee scheme (smecgs) Central Bank of Nigeria.

Ceci, F. and Iubatti, D., 2012. Personal relationships and innovation diffusion in SME networks: A content analysis approach. Research Policy, 41(3), pp.565-579.

Centre for Enterprise Report (2014) Social Media Strategies in Small Businesses

Cetrángolo, H., Quagliano, J., & Fernández, S. (2002). Challenges for integrating vertical and horizontal relationships in Argentinian fine wine chain for increasing

exportation competitiveness. In Paradoxes in food chains and networks. Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference on Chain and Network Management in Agribusiness and the Food Industry, Noordwijk, Netherlands, 6-8 June 2002. (pp. 421-433). Wageningen Academic Publishers.

- Chae, B.K., 2015. Insights from hashtag# supply chain and Twitter analytics: Considering Twitter and Twitter data for supply chain practice and research. International Journal of Production Economics, 165, pp.247-259.
- Channel 4 (2017) Undercover: Britain's Cheap Clothes: Channel 4 Dispatches aired Mon 23rd Jan, Channel 4, 8pm.
- Chardine-Baumann, E. and Botta-Genoulaz, V., 2014. A framework for sustainable performance assessment of supply chain management practices. Computers & Industrial Engineering, 76, pp.138-147.
- CHEN, F., DREZNER, Z., RYAN, J. K., & SIMCHI-LEVI, D. (2000). Quantifying the bullwhip effect in a simple supply chain: the impact of forecasting, lead times, and information. Management Science, 46(3), 436-443.
- Chen, H., Daugherty, P.J. and Roath, A.S., 2009. Defining and operationalizing supply chain process integration. Journal of Business Logistics, 30(1), pp.63-84.
- Chen, I.J., and Paulraj, A., 2004. Towards a theory of supply chain management: the constructs and measurements. Journal of operations management, 22(2), pp.119-150.
- Chen, I.J., Paulraj, A. and Lado, A.A., 2004. Strategic purchasing, supply management, and firm performance. Journal of operations management, 22(5), pp.505-523.
- Chen, J.V., Yen, D.C., Rajkumar, T.M., and Tomochko, N.A. (2011). The antecedent factors on trust and commitment in supply chain relationships, Computer Standards & Interface, 33(3), 262-270.
- Chen, M.J. and Hambrick, D.C., 1995. Speed, stealth, and selective attack: How small firms differ from large firms in competitive behaviour. Academy of management journal, 38(2), pp.453-482.
- Cheng J.-H (2011). Inter-organizational relationships and information sharing in supply chains. International Journal of Information Management, 31(4), 374-384.
- Cheng, E.W., Li, H., Love, P.E. and Irani, Z., 2004. Strategic alliances: a model for establishing long-term commitment to inter-organizational relations in construction. Building and Environment, 39(4), pp.459-468.
- Cheng, J-H., Yeh, C-H. & Tu, C-W. (2008). Trust and knowledge sharing in green supply chains. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 13 (4), 283 295
- Chesbrough, H., 2003. The logic of open innovation: managing intellectual property. California Management Review, 45(3), pp.33-58.

- Chesbrough, H.W., 2006. Open innovation: The new imperative for creating and profiting from technology. Harvard Business Press.
- Cheung, F.Y.K., Rowlinson, S., Jefferies, M. and Lau, E., 2005. Relationship contracting in Australia. Journal of Construction Procurement, 11(2), p.123.
- Cheung, M.S., Myers, M.B. and Mentzer, J.T., 2010. Does relationship learning lead to relationship value? A cross-national supply chain investigation. Journal of operations management, 28(6), pp.472-487.
- Cheung, M.S., Myers, M.B. and Mentzer, J.T., 2011. The value of relational learning in global buyer-supplier exchanges: a dyadic perspective and test of the pie-sharing premise. Strategic Management Journal, 32(10), pp.1061-1082.
- Cheung, S.O., Yiu, K.T. and Chim, P.S., 2006. How relational are construction contracts? Journal of Professional Issues in Engineering Education and Practice, 132(1), pp.48-56.
- Cheung, Y.K 2006. Relationship Management in the Australian construction industry- a grounded study. Digital World Centre Salford, UK.
- Cheung, Y.K.F. and Rowlinson, S., 2007. Supply chain engagement through relationship management?
- Cheung, Y.K.F., and Rowlinson, S. (2011) Supply chain sustainability a relationship management approach. International Journal of Managing Projects in Business, 4(3): 480-497.
- Chi, T., 2010. Corporate competitive strategies in a transitional manufacturing industry: an empirical study. Management Decision, 48(6), pp.976-995.
- Chia, R. (2002), "The Production of Management Knowledge: Philosophical Underpinnings of Research Design", in Partington, D. (ed.) Essential Skills for Management Research, 1st ed, SAGE Publications Ltd., London, pp. 1-19.
- Chicksand, D., Watson, G., Walker, H., Radnor, Z., and Johnston, R., 2012. Theoretical perspectives in purchasing and supply chain management: an analysis of the literature. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 17(4), pp.454-472.
- Chiles, T.H. and McMackin, J.F., 1996. Integrating variable risk preferences, trust, and transaction cost economics. Academy of management review, 21(1), pp.73-99.
- Chin, T.A. and Tat, H.H., 2015. Does gender diversity moderate the relationship between supply chain management practice and performance in the electronic manufacturing services industry? International Journal of Logistics Research and Applications, 18(1), pp.35-45.
- Ching, H.L. and Ellis, P., 2004. Marketing in cyberspace: what factors drive e-commerce adoption? Journal of marketing management, 20(3-4), pp.409-429.

- Choi, S. and Messinger, P.R., 2015. The Role of Fairness in Competitive Supply Chain Relationships: An Experimental Study. European Journal of Operational Research.
- Choi, T. Y., Wu, Z., Ellram, L., & Koka, B. R. (2002). Supplier-supplier relationships and their implications for buyer-supplier relationships. Engineering Management, IEEE Transactions on, 49(2), 119-130.
- Choi, T.Y and Kim, Y. (2008). Structural embeddedness and supply management: a network perspective Journal of Supply Chain Management, 44 (4) (2008), pp. 5– 13
- Choi, T.Y. and Krause, D.R., 2006. The supply base and its complexity: Implications for transaction costs, risks, responsiveness, and innovation. Journal of Operations Management, 24(5), pp.637-652.
- Choi, T.Y. and Wu, Z., 2009a. Taking the leap from dyads to triads: Buyer-supplier relationships in supply networks. Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management, 15(4), pp.263-266.
- Choi, T.Y. and Wu, Z., 2009b. Triads in supply networks: theorizing buyer-suppliersupplier relationships. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 45(1), pp.8-25.
- Chong, C. S., 2006. KM critical success factors: a comparison of perceived importance versus implementation in Malaysian ICT companies. The learning organization, 13(3), pp.230-256.
- Chopra, S. & Meindl, P. (2001). Supply Chain Management: Strategy Planning, and Operation. Prentice Hall, New Jersey
- Christensen, C.M. and Bower, J.L., 1996. Customer power, strategic investment, and the failure of leading firms. Strategic management journal, pp.197-218.
- Christiaanse, E. and Kumar, K., 2000. ICT-enabled coordination of dynamic supply webs. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 30(3/4), pp.268-285.
- Christopher, M. (1996). Networks and Logistics: managing supply chain relationships. Asia-Australia Marketing Journal, 4(1), 19-24.
- CHRISTOPHER, M. (2005). Logistics and Supply Chain Management: Creating Valueadded Networks 3rd ED Financial Times/Prentice Hall

CHRISTOPHER, M. (2011). Logistics and supply chain management. Pearson UK.

- Christopher, M. and Towill, D., 2001. An integrated model for the design of agile supply chains. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 31(4), pp.235-246.
- Chua, A. P. H., Deans, K. R., and Parker, C. M. (2009). Exploring the Types of SMEsWhich Could use Blogs as a Marketing Tool: a Proposed Future ResearchAgenda. Australasian Journal of Information Systems, 16(1).

- Chua, C.E.H., Lim, W.K., Soh, C. and Sia, S.K., 2012. Enacting clan control in complex IT projects: A social capital perspective. MIS Quarterly, pp.577-600.
- Chung, D.S. and Kim, S., 2008. Blogging activity among cancer patients and their companions: Uses, gratifications, and predictors of outcomes. Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology, 59(2), pp.297-306.
- Chung, K. S. K. (2011). Understanding Attitudes to Performance in Knowledge-Intensive Work: The Influence of Social Networks and Information and Communication Technologies Use: Lambert Academic Publishing, Germany.
- Churchill G.A (2005) Marketing Research: Methodological Foundation 9th Ed. Thomson Press
- Chuttur M.Y. (2009). Overview of the Technology Acceptance Model: Origins, Developments and Future Directions," Indiana University, USA. Sprouts: Working Papers on Information Systems, 9(37). http://sprouts.aisnet.org/9-37
- CISCO (2010.), "Social media: cultivate collaboration and innovation", [Retrieved 20/3/2012] http://www.cisco.com/en/LIS/services/ps2961/ps2664/CiscoServicesSocialMedi

http://www.cisco.com/en/US/services/ps2961/ps2664/CiscoServicesSocialMedi aWhitePaper.pdf

- Claycomb, C. and G. L. Frankwick (2004). "A Contingency Perspective of Communication, Conflict Resolution and Buyer Search Effort in Buyer-Supplier Relationships," Journal of Supply Chain Management, (40:1), pp. 18-34.
- Clegg, B. and Wan, Y., 2013. Managing enterprises and ERP systems: a contingency model for the enterprization of operations. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 33(11/12), pp.1458-1489.
- Coates, T., 2005. An addendum to a definition of social software [online]. Available from: <u>http://www.plasticbag.org/archives/2005/01/an_addendum_to_a_definition_of_</u> <u>social_s</u>oftware/ [03 June 2018].
- Colliander, J. and Dahlén, M., 2011. Following the fashionable friend: The power of social media. Journal of advertising research, 51(1), pp.313-320.
- Collins, J.D., Worthington, W.J., Reyes, P.M. and Romero, M., 2010. Knowledge management, supply chain technologies, and firm performance. Management Research Review, 33(10), pp.947-960.
- Collins, J.D., Worthington, W.J., Reyes, P.M. and Romero, M., 2010. Knowledge management, supply chain technologies, and firm performance. Management Research Review, 33(10), pp.947-960.
- Constantinides, E. and Fountain, S., 2008. Web 2.0: Conceptual foundations and marketing issues. Journal of Direct, Data and Digital Marketing Practice, 9 (3), 231-244.Series, 9 (5), 215-223.

- Constantinides, E., 2008. The empowered customer and the digital myopia. Business Strategy.
- Constantinides, E., 2009. Social Media / Web 2.0 as Marketing Parameter: An Introduction [online]. International Marketing Trends Conference, Paris 15-17 January 2009. Available from: http://marketing-trends-congress.com/2009_cp/Materiali/Paper/Fr/Constantinides.pdf [Accessed 6 December 2009].
- Contractor, F. J., & Lorange, P. (1988). Competition vs cooperation: a benefit/cost framework for choosing between fully-owned investments and cooperative relationships. Management International Review, 28(4), 5-18.
- Cook, K.S (1997). "Exchange and Power in Networks of Inter-Organizational Relations," Sociological Quarterly, (18), pp. 62-82.
- Cooke, J.A. (1997), "In this issue", Supply Chain Management Review, Vol. 1 No. 1, p. 3.
- Cooper, M.C. and Ellram, L.M., 1993. Characteristics of supply chain management and the implications for purchasing and logistics strategy. The international journal of logistics management, 4(2), pp.13-24.
- Cooper, M.C., D.M. Lambert and J.D. Pagh (1997). "Supply Chain Management: More than a New Name for Logistics," International Journal of Logistics Management, (8:1), pp. 1-14.
- Corbett C, Van Wassenhove L. 1993. The green fee: internalizing and operationalizing environmental issues. California Management Review 36(1): 116.
- Corsten, D. and Felde, J., 2005. Exploring the performance effects of key-supplier collaboration: an empirical investigation into Swiss buyer-supplier relationships. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 35(6), pp.445-461.
- Couch, L.L. and Jones, W.H., 1997. Measuring levels of trust. Journal of research in personality, 31(3), pp.319-336.
- Cousins, P.D., 2005. The alignment of appropriate firm and supply strategies for competitive advantage. International Journal of Operations & production management, 25(5), pp.403-428.
- Cousins, P.D., Handfield, R.B., Lawson, B. and Petersen, K.J., 2006. Creating supply chain relational capital: the impact of formal and informal socialization processes. Journal of Operations Management, 24(6), pp.851-863.
- Covin, J.G. and Slevin, D.P., 1991. A conceptual model of entrepreneurship as firm behaviour. Entrepreneurship: Critical perspectives on business and management, 3, pp.5-28.

- Cox, A. and Ireland, P., 2002. Managing construction supply chains: the common-sense approach. Engineering Construction and Architectural Management, 9(5-6), pp.409-418.
- Cox, A., 2001. Managing with power: strategies for improving value appropriation from supply relationships. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 37(1), pp.42-47.
- Cox, A., 2004. The art of the possible: relationship management in power regimes and supply chains. Supply chain management: an international journal, 9(5), pp.346-356.
- Cox, A.W., Ireland, P. and Townsend, M., 2006. Managing in Construction Supply Chains and Markets: Reactive and Proactive Options for Improving Performance and Relationship Management. Thomas Telford.
- Cox, C., Burgess, S., Sellitto, C. and Buultjens, J., 2009. The Role of User-Generated Content in Tourists' Travel Planning Behavior. Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management, 18 (8), 743-764.
- Cragg, Paul, Caldeira, Mário, & Ward, John. (2011). Organizational information systems competencies in small and medium-sized enterprises. Information & amp; Management, 48(8), 353-363.
- Cravens, D.W Piercy N.F and Shipp, S.H. (1996), "New organisational forms for competing in Highly dynamic environments : the network paradigm", British Journal of Management, Vol.7, pp.203-18.
- Cresswell, J. W. (2007). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. Lincoln: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Croom, S., Romano, P., & Giannakis, M. (2000). Supply chain management: an analytical framework for critical literature review. European journal of purchasing & supply management, 6(1), 67-83.
- Croom, S.R., 2001. The dyadic capabilities concept: examining the processes of key supplier involvement in collaborative product development. European Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management 7 (1), 29–37.
- Crosby, L.A., Evans, K.R. and Cowles, D., 1990. Relationship quality in services selling: an interpersonal influence perspective. The journal of marketing, pp.68-81.
- Croxton, K.L., Lambert, D.M., García-Dastugue, S.J. and Rogers, D.S., 2002. The demand management process. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 13(2), pp.51-66.
- Culnan, Mary J., McHugh, Patrick J., & Zubillaga, Jesus I. (2010). How large U.S. companies can use Twitter and other social media to gain business value. MIS Quarterly Executive, 9(4), 243-259.
- Culp, S., Gomes, R. and Narveson, J., 2015. A Comprehensive Approach to Managing Social Media Risk and Compliance. Retrieved on the 22/07/17.

https://www.accenture.com/t20150523T022413__w_/usen/_acnmedia/Accent ure/Conversion-Assets/DotCom/Documents/Global/PDF/Dualpub_1/accenture comprehensive-approach-managing-social-media-risk-compliance.pdf

- Dainty, A.R., Briscoe, G.H. and Millett, S.J., 2001. Subcontractor perspectives on supply chain alliances. Construction Management & Economics, 19(8), pp.841-848.
- Danese, P., 2013. Supplier integration and company performance: a configurational view. Omega, 41(6), pp.1029-1041.
- Dangayach, G.S. and Deshmukh, S.G., 2001. Manufacturing strategy: literature review and some issues. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 21(7), pp.884-932.
- Das, A., Narasimhan, R. and Talluri, S., 2006. Supplier integration—finding an optimal configuration. Journal of Operations Management, 24(5), pp.563-582.
- Das, T.K. and Teng, B.S., 1998. Between trust and control: Developing confidence in partner cooperation in alliances. Academy of management review, 23(3), pp.491-512.
- Das, TK. and B.S. Teng (1998). "Between Trust and Control: Developing Confidence in Partner Cooperation in Alliances," Academy of Management Review, (23:3), pp. 491-512.
- Daugherty, P.J., 2011. Review of logistics and supply chain relationship literature and suggested research agenda. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 41(1), pp.16-31.
- Daugherty, P.J., Richey, R.G., Genchev, S.E. and Chen, H., 2005. Reverse logistics: superior performance through focused resource commitments to information technology. Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review, 41(2), pp.77-92.
- Davis F.D. (1986) A technology acceptance model for empirically testing new end-user information systems: theory and results, Doctoral Dissertation, MIT Sloan School of Management, Cambridge, MA.
- Davis, F.D., 1989. Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Quarterly 13 (3), 319–339.
- DAVIS, F.D., BAGOZZI, R.P. and WARSHAW, P.R., 1992. Extrinsic and Intrinsic Motivation to Use Computers in the Workplace. Journal of Applied Social Psychology, vol. 22, no. 14, pp. 1111-1132.
- Davis, F.D., Bagozzi, R.P., Warshaw, P.R., 1989. User acceptance of computer technology: a comparison of two theoretical models. Management Science 35 (8), 982–1003.
- Davis, J.A. (1963). Structural balance, mechanical solidarity, and interpersonal relations. American Journal of Sociology, 68 (4) (1963), pp. 444–462

- Day, G.S., 2000. Managing market relationships. Journal of the academy of marketing science, 28(1), pp.24-30.
- De Toni, A. and Nassimbeni, G., 1995. Supply networks: Genesis, stability and logistics implications. A comparative analysis of two districts. Omega, 23(4), pp.403-418.
- De Valck, K., Van Bruggen, G. and Wierenga, B., 2009. Virtual communities: a marketing perspective. Decision Support Systems, 47 (3), 185-203.
- De Vaus, D. 2001. Research Design in Social Research. Sage: London
- Dent, E. B., & Goldberg, S. G. (1999). Challenging "resistance to change". The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science, 35(1), 25-41.
- Denzin, N.K., 1989. Interpretive interactionism. Applied social research methods series.
- Deshpandé, R., Farley, J.U. and Webster Jr, F.E., 1993. Corporate culture, customer orientation, and innovativeness in Japanese firms: a quadrad analysis. The Journal of Marketing, pp.23-37.
- Dess, G.G. and Davis, P.S., 1984. Porter's (1980) generic strategies as determinants of strategic group membership and organizational performance. Academy of Management Journal, 27(3), pp.467-488.
- Deutsch, M. and Gerard, H.B., 1955. A study of normative and informational social influences upon individual judgment. The Journal of abnormal and social psychology, 51(3), p.629
- DeVellis, B. M., & DeVellis, R. F. (2000). Self-efficacy and health. In: A. Baum, T. A. Revenson, & J. E. Singer (Eds.), Handbook of health psychology (pp. 235-247). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Dey, P. K., Ho, W., Charoenngam, C., & Deewong, W. (2008). Relationship characteristics within the supply chain of small and medium-sized construction enterprises in Thailand. International Journal of Manufacturing Technology and Management, 15(1), 102. Retrieved from http://0search.proguest.com.wam.leeds.ac.uk/docview/218868786?accountid=14664
- Dholakia, U.M., Bagozzi, R.P. and Pearo, L.K., 2004. A social influence model of consumer participation in network-and small-group-based virtual communities. International journal of research in marketing, 21(3), pp.241-263.
- Dholakia, U.M., R.P. Bagozzi, and M. Gopinath, (2007) "How Formulating Implementation Plans and Remembering Past Actions Facilitate the Enactment of Effortful Decisions," Journal of Behavioral Decision Making.
- Dickson-Swift, V., James, E.L., Kippen, S. and Liamputtong, P., 2007. Doing sensitive research: what challenges do qualitative researchers face? Qualitative research, 7(3), pp.327-353.
- Dijick, J., 2013. The culture of connectivity: A critical history of social media. Oxford University Press.

- Dillon, A. and Morris, M.G., 1996. User acceptance of new information technology: theories and models. In Annual review of information science and technology. Medford, NJ: Information Today.
- Dittmann, I., 2013. Primary and secondary residential real estate markets in Poland– analogies in offer and transaction price development. Real Estate Management and Valuation, 21(1), pp.39-48.
- Dolber, S., Cheema, S. and Sharrard, J. (1998). Resizing on-line business trade. The Forrester Report, November, pp. 1-13.
- Doll, J. and Ajzen, I., 1992. Accessibility and stability of predictors in the theory of planned behaviour. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 63(5), p.754.
- Dowst, S., 1988. Quality suppliers: The search goes on. Purchasing, January, 28, pp.94A4-12.
- Du, T.C., Lai, V.S., Cheung, W. and Cui, X., 2012. Willingness to share information in a supply chain: A partnership-data-process perspective. Information & Management, 49(2), pp.89-98.
- Dubois A AND Fredriksson, P. (2008). Cooperating and competing in supply networks: making sense of a triadic sourcing strategy. Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management, 14 (2008), pp. 170–179
- Dubois, A. (2009). Comment on "Taking the leap from dyads to triads: Buyer-supplier relationships in supply networks" by Choi and Wu. Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management, 15(4), 267–268. doi:10.1016/j.pursup.2009.08.002
- Dubois, A. and Gadde, L.E., 2000. Supply strategy and network effects—purchasing behaviour in the construction industry. European journal of purchasing & supply management, 6(3), pp.207-215.
- Dwyer, F.R., Schurr, P.H. and Oh, S. (1987) 'Developing Buyer-Seller Relationships', Journal of Marketing 51(April): 11–27.
- Dyer H J., Prashant K., Harbir S., (2001), How to Make Strategic Alliances Work, Sloan Management Review, pp 38 -44.
- Dyer, J. H., & Singh, H. (1998). The relational view: Cooperative strategy and sources of inter-organizational competitive advantage. Academy of management review, 23(4), 660-679.
- Dyer, J.H. and Chu, W., 2003. The role of trustworthiness in reducing transaction costs and improving performance: Empirical evidence from the United States, Japan, and Korea. Organization Science, 14(1), pp.57-68.
- Dyer, J.H. and Nobeoka, K., 2000. Creating and managing a high-performance knowledge-sharing network: the Toyota case. Strategic management journal, pp.345-367.

- Dyer, J.H., 1997. Effective interfirm collaboration: how firms minimize transaction costs and maximize transaction value. Strategic management journal, pp.535-55
- Ebben, J.J. and Johnson, A.C., 2005. Efficiency, flexibility, or both? Evidence linking strategy to performance in small firms. Strategic management journal, 26(13), pp.1249-1259.
- Eder, L.B. and Igbaria, M., 2001. Determinants of intranet diffusion and infusion. Omega, 29(3), pp.233-242.
- Edmunds, A. and Morris, A. (2000). The problem of information overload in business organizations: a review of the literature. international journal of information management, 20(1), 17-28.
- Edwards, T., Delbridge, R., and Munday, M., 2005. Understanding innovation in small and medium-sized enterprises: a process manifest. Technovation, 25(10), pp.1119-1127.
- Ellen, P. S., Bearden, W. O., & Sharma, S. (1991). Resistance to technological innovations: an examination of the role of self-efficacy and performance satisfaction. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 19(4), 297-307.
- Ellram, L. M. (1990). 'The Supplier Selection Decision in Strategic Partnerships', Journal of Purchasing and Materials and Management, Fall, pp. 8–14.
- Ellram, L.M. and Cooper, M.C., 1990. Supply chain management, partnership, and the shipper-third party relationship. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 1(2), pp.1-10.
- Ellram, L.M. and Hendrick, T.E., 1995. Partnering characteristics: a dyadic perspective. Journal of Business Logistics, 16(1), p.41.
- Ellram, L.M., 1991. A managerial guideline for the development and implementation of purchasing partnerships. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 27(3), pp.2-8.
- Ellram, L.M., 1995. Partnering pitfalls and success factors. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 31(1), pp.35-44.
- Ellram, L.M., Tate, W.L. and Billington, C., 2004. Understanding and managing the services supply chain. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 40 (3), pp.17-32.
- Emmett, S. and Crocker, B., 2016. The relationship-driven supply chain: creating a culture of collaboration throughout the chain. CRC Press.
- Emmitt, S. and Christoffersen, A.K., 2009. Collaboration and communication in the design chain: a value-based approach.
- Emmitt, S., Prins, M. and den Otter, A. eds., 2009. Architectural management: International research and practice. John Wiley & Sons.
- Eniola, A.A. and Ektebang, H., 2014. SME firms performance in Nigeria: Competitive advantage and its impact. International Journal of Research Studies in Management, 3(2), pp.75-86.

- Esterberg, K. G. (2002). Qualitative methods in social research. Boston: McGraw-Hill.King, N (2004) Using templates in the thematic analysis of text, in C. Cassell and G. Symon (Eds.) Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research. London: Sage.
- European Commission. (2011). Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs): SME definition. online] (cited 23rd January 2012), Available from: http://ec. europa. eu/enterprise/policies/sme/facts-figures-analysis/sme-definition/index_en. htm.
- Evans, D. (2012). Social media marketing: An hour a day. Wiley.com.
- Everett C (2010), "Social Media: Opportunity or risk?" Computer Fraud and Security, 2010(6), pp 8-10
- Facebook, 2014. Company Information [online]. Available from: https://newsroom.fb.com/companyinfo/ [Accessed 17 April 2014]. Digit.ru, 2013.
 "VKontakte" and "Odnoklassniki" - 9 and 10 in the ranking of world social networks [online]. Available from: http://digit.ru/business/20130703/402983834.html [Accessed 26 November 2014].
- Fawcett, S.E., Jones, S.L. and Fawcett, A.M., 2012. Supply chain trust: The catalyst for collaborative innovation. Business Horizons, 55(2), pp.163-178.
- Fawcett, S.E., Magnan, G.M. and McCarter, M.W., 2008. Benefits, barriers, and bridges to effective supply chain management. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 13(1), pp.35-48.
- Fayezi, S., O'Loughlin, A. and Zutshi, A., 2012. Agency theory and supply chain management: a structured literature review. Supply chain management: an international journal, 17(5), pp.556-570.
- Fazio, R.H. and Zanna, M.P., 1981. Direct experience and attitude-behaviour consistency. Advances in experimental social psychology, 14, pp.161-202.
- Fearon, C., Ballantine, J. and Philip, G., 2010. Understanding the role of electronic trading and inter-organisational cooperation and coordination: A conceptual matrix framework. Internet Research, 20(5), pp.545-562.
- Ferdows, K., Lewis, M.A. and Machuca, J.A., 2004. Rapid-fire fulfilment. Harvard business review, 82(11), pp.104-117.
- Fernando, I., 2010. Community creation by means of a social media paradigm. The learning organization, 17(6), pp.500-514.
- Ferrin, D.L., Dirks, K.T. and Shah, P.P., 2006. Direct and indirect effects of third-party relationships on interpersonal trust. Journal of applied psychology, 91(4), p.870.
- Fiala, P. (2005). Information sharing in supply chains. Omega, 33(5), 419-423.

- Fichman, R. G. (2000). The diffusion and assimilation of information technology innovations. In R. Zmud (Ed.), Framing the domains of IT management: projecting the future through the past.
- Fiegenbaum, A., Sudharshan, D. and Thomas, H., 1987. The concept of stable strategic time periods in strategic group research. Managerial and Decision Economics, 8(2), pp.139-148.
- Fillis, I., Johannson, U. and Wagner, B., 2004. Factors impacting on e-business adoption and development in the smaller firm. International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research, 10(3), pp.178-191.
- Financial Times (2011a). Organisations urged to harness power of web Financial Times [Retrieved 06/11/2013] www.ft.com
- Financial Times (2011b). 'It's time to get social at work" Financial Times, October 24. 2011, [Retrieved 06/11/2013], www.ft.com
- Financial Times (2012a), "Social media use to increase" January 6, 2012, [Retrieved 10/1/2012], www.ft.com
- Financial Times (2012b). Social Business Myths Debunked Financial Times [Retrieved 06/11/2013] www.ft.com
- Financial Times (2017a) Resetting Nigeria's economy by boosting infrastructure Financial Times.
- Financial Times (2017b) UK government signs deal with big banks to increase SME lending FT.com retrieved on 12/12/2017 https://www.ft.com/content/06318472-663c-11e7-8526-7b38dcaef614.
- Fine, C.H., 2000. Clockspeed-based strategies for supply chain design. Production and Operations Management, 9(3), pp.213-221.
- Fischer, E. and Reuber, A. R. (2011) 'Social interaction via new social media: (How) can interactions on Twitter affect effectual thinking and behaviour?' Journal of Business Venturing, 26 pp. 1-18.
- Fishbein, M. and Ajzen, I., 1975. Belief, attitude, intention and behaviour: An introduction to theory and research.
- Fishbein, M., Ajzen, I., 1975. Belief, Attitude, Intention, and Behavior. Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA.
- Fisman, R. and Khanna, T., 1999. Is trust a historical residue? Information flows and trust levels. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 38(1), pp.79-92.
- Flynn, B.B., Huo, B. and Zhao, X., 2010. The impact of supply chain integration on performance: A contingency and configuration approach. Journal of operations management, 28(1), pp.58-71.
- Forbes (2013) Bloomberg And Thomson Reuters Act to Assuage Bank Instant Messaging Concerns

http://www.forbes.com/sites/leoking/2013/12/19/bloomberg-and-thomson-

- reuters-act-to-assuage-bank-instant-messaging-concerns/
- Forbes (2016) Child Workers Found In Clothing Supply Chain: ASOS, Marks & Spencer Implicated
- Forbes, (2017). As Large UK Organisations Turn To SMEs For Innovation Help, Is Collaboration The New R&D? Forbes Magazine.
- Ford, D., 1980. The development of buyer-seller relationships in industrial markets. European journal of marketing, 14(5/6), pp.339-353.
- Ford, J. D., & Slocum, J. W. (1977). Size, technology, environment and the structure of organizations. Academy of Management Review, 2(4), 561-575.
- Forrester JW. 1961. Industrial Dynamics. MIT Press: Cambridge, MA.
- Forrester JW. 1968. Market growth as influenced by capital investment. Industrial Management Review 7(1): 5–17. Reprinted in Forrester JW. 1975. Collected Papers of Jay W. Forrester. Pegasus Communications: Waltham, MA
- Forrester, J.W., 1958. Industrial dynamics: a major breakthrough for decision makers. Harvard business review, 36(4), pp.37-66.
- Forslund, H. (2010). ERP systems' capabilities for supply chain performance management. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 110(3), 351-367.
- Forslund, H., & Jonsson, P. (2010). Selection, implementation, and use of ERP systems for supply chain performance management. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 110(8), 1159-1175.
- Fosdick MA, 2012. The globalization of social media: Consumer relationships with brands evolve in the digital space. Strategic Direction. Apr 13;28(6).
- Fox, M.L., 1998. Charting the course to successful supply chain management. APICS THE PERFORMANCE ADVANTAGE, 8, pp.44-49.
- Frambach, R.T. and Schillewaert, N., 2002. Organizational innovation adoption: A multilevel framework of determinants and opportunities for future research. Journal of business research, 55(2), pp.163-176.
- Frazier, G.L., 1983. On the measurement of interfirm power in channels of distribution. Journal of Marketing research, pp.158-166.
- French, J.R., Raven, B. and Cartwright, D., 1959. The bases of social power. Classics of organization theory, 7.
- Frigero, P., 2005. Network analysis of research supply chains and competitiveness. Review of the economic conditions in Italy, 1, p.91.
- Fukuyama, F., 1995. Trust: The social virtues and the creation of prosperity (No. D10 301 c. 1/c. 2). Free Press Paperbacks.
- Fulk, J., Schmitz, J., Steinfield, C.W., 1990. A social influence model of technology use. In: Fulk, J., Steinfield,

- Fynes, B., De Burca, S. and Voss, C., 2005. Supply chain relationship quality, the competitive environment, and performance. International Journal of Production Research, 43(16), pp.3303-3320.
- Gallaugher, J. and Ransbotham, S. 2010. Social media and customer dialogue management at Starbucks. MIS Quarterly Executive, 9: 197–212.
- Gallaugher, J., & Ransbotham, S. (2011). Social Media and Customer Dialog Management at Starbucks. MIS Quarterly Executive, 4, 197-212.
- GALLAUGHER, P.A.J.M., 1997. Factors affecting the adoption of an Internet-based sales presence for small businesses. The Information Society, 13(1), pp.55-74.
- Galloway, L. and Mochrie, R., 2005. The use of ICT in rural firms: a policy-orientated literature review. info, 7(3), pp.33-46.
- Gambetta, D., 1988. Trust: Making and breaking cooperative relations.
- Ganesan, S (1994). "Determinants of Long-Term Orientation in Buyer-Seller Relationships," Journal of Marketing, (58:2), pp. 1-19.
- García-Canal, E., Valdés-Llaneza, A. and Ariño, A., 2003. Effectiveness of dyadic and multi-party joint ventures. Organization Studies, 24(5), pp.743-770.
- Garnett, Steve. (2010). How SMEs can use social networking to get their message across. Retrieved July 18, 2012, from http://www.computerweekly.com/opinion/How-SMEs-can-use-socialnetworking-to-get-their-message-across
- Gartner (2011B). First Thing Monday blog retrieved on 15/12/2013 on http://www.gartnerinfo.com/firsthingmonday/
- Gartner (2012) The Nexus of Forces: Social, Mobile, Cloud and Information | Gartner
- Gartner (2015). Social technologies. Gartner retrieved on 12/12/2017 https://www.gartner.com/it-glossary/social-technologies
- Gartner INC, (2011a). "Hype Cycles 2011" Retrieved 10/1/2013], http://www.gartner.com/technology/research/hype-cycles/
- Gaski, J.F., 1986. Interrelations among a channel entity's power sources: Impact of the exercise of reward and coercion on expert, referent, and legitimate power sources. Journal of Marketing Research, pp.62-77.
- Geer, J.G., 1988. What do open-ended questions measure? Public Opinion Quarterly, 52(3), pp.365-367.
- Gefen, D., 2000. E-commerce: the role of familiarity and trust. Omega, 28(6), pp.725-737.
- Ghadimi, P., AZadnia, A.H., Heavey, C., Dolgui, A. and Can, B., 2015. A review on the buyer-supplier dyad relationships in sustainable procurement context: past, present, and future. International Journal of Production Research, pp.1-20.

- Giffin, K., 1967. The contribution of studies of source credibility to a theory of interpersonal trust in the communication process. Psychological Bulletin, 68(2), p.104.
- Gimenez C, Ventura E. 2003. Supply chain management as a competitive advantage in the Spanish grocery sector. The International Journal of Logistics Management. Jan 1;14(1):77-88.
- GLIGOR, D. M., & AUTRY, C. W. (2012). The Role of Personal Relationships in Facilitating Supply Chain Communications: A Qualitative Study. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 48(1), 24-43.
- Goddard, J., Tavakoli, M., & Wilson, J. (2005). Determinants of profitability in European manufacturing and services: Evidence from a dynamic panel model. Applied Financial Economics, 15, 1269–1282.
- Goffin, K., Lemke, F. and Szwejczewski, M., 2006. An exploratory study of 'close' supplier-manufacturer relationships. Journal of operations management, 24(2), pp.189-209.
- Gonzalez, A., 2013. The social side of supply chain management. Supply Chain Management Review, 17(4).
- Goodhue, D.L., 1995. Understanding user evaluations of information systems. Management Science, 41(12), pp.1827-1844.
- Gov.uk (2016), Food 2015 Statistics Pocketbook, Department for Environment Food & Rural Affairs.
- Govindan, K., Kannan, D. and Noorul Haq, A., 2010. Analyzing supplier development criteria for an automobile industry. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 110(1), pp.43-62.
- Grandori, A. and Soda, G., 1995. Inter-firm networks: antecedents, mechanisms and forms. Organization Studies, 16(2), pp.183-214.
- Granovetter, M. S. (1973). The strength of weak ties. The American Journal of Sociology 78 (6),1360–1380.
- Granovetter, M., 1995. Getting a job: A study of contacts and careers. University of Chicago Press.
- Grant, D., Hall, R., Wailes, N., & Wright, C. (2006). The false promise of technological determinism: The case of enterprise resource planning system. New Technology, Work and Employment, 21(1), 2-15
- Grant, R. M. (1991). The resource-based theory of competitive advantage: implications for strategy formulation. Knowledge and Strategy. (Ed. M. Zack) pp, 3-23.
- Grant, R.M., 1999. The resource-based theory of competitive advantage: implications for strategy formulation. In Knowledge and strategy (pp. 3-23).

- Grant, R.M., 2005. Contemporary strategy analysis: Text and cases edition. John Wiley & Sons.
- Green, R., 1999. The electricity contract market in England and Wales. The Journal of Industrial Economics, 47(1), pp.107-124.
- Greenstein, M., and Feinman, T (2000). Electronic Commerce: Security, Risk Management and Control, Irwin McGraw-Hill, Boston,
- Greis, NP and Kasarda, JD. 1997. Enterprise logistics in the information age. California Management Review, 39: 55–78.
- Grix, J., 2002. Introducing students to the generic terminology of social research. Politics, 22(3), pp.175-186.
- Grönroos, C., 1996. Relationship marketing: strategic and tactical implications. Management decision, 34(3), pp.5-14.
- Grönroos, C., 1997. Keynote paper from marketing mix to relationship marketingtowards a paradigm shift in marketing. Management decision, 35(4), pp.322-339.
- Grönroos, C., 2000. Relationship Marketing. Handbook of relationship marketing, p.95.
- Grönroos, C., 2002. Quo Vadis, marketing? Toward a relationship marketing paradigm with retrospective comment by Michael J. Baker. The Marketing Review, 3(2), pp.129-146.
- Grönroos, C., 2004. The relationship marketing process: communication, interaction, dialogue, value. Journal of business & industrial marketing, 19(2), pp.99-113.
- Grönroos, C., 2007. Service management and marketing: customer management in service competition. John Wiley & Sons.
- Grönroos, C., 2011. A service perspective on business relationships: The value creation, interaction and marketing interface. Industrial marketing management, 40(2), pp.240-247.
- Gruhl, D., Guha, R., Liben-Nowell, D. and Tomkins, A., 2004, May. Information diffusion through blog space. In Proceedings of the 13th international conference on World Wide Web (pp. 491-501). ACM.
- Guba, E. G., AND Lincoln, Y. S. (1994) Competing Paradigms in Qualitative Research, Handbook of qualitative research.Sage.
- Guimaraes, T., Cook, D. and Natarajan, N., 2002. Exploring the importance of business clock speed as a moderator for determinants of supplier network performance. Decision Sciences, 33(4), pp.629-644.
- Gulati, R., 1995. Does familiarity breed trust? The implications of repeated ties for contractual choice in alliances. Academy of management journal, 38(1), pp.85-112.

- Gummesson, E., 2001. Are current research approaches in marketing leading us astray? Marketing theory, 1(1), pp.27-48.
- Gundlach, G.T., Achrol, R.S. and Mentzer, J.T., 1995. The structure of commitment in exchange. the Journal of Marketing, pp.78-92.
- Guo, Z., Fang, F. and Whinston, A.B., 2006. Supply chain information sharing in a macro prediction market. Decision Support Systems, 42(3), pp.1944-1958.
- Gupta, A., and Muita, S.R. (2013). Relationship between Entrepreneurial Personality,
 Performance, Job Satisfaction and Operations Strategy: An Empirical
 Examination. International Journal of Business and Management, 8(2):86-95.
- Gupta, D. V., & Madhavan, D. (1995). Technology Transfer in Developing Countries. Technical Entrepreneurship: Content and Parameters, 149.
- Hackman, J.R. and Oldham, G.R., 1976. Motivation through the design of work: Test of a theory. Organizational behaviour and human performance, 16(2), pp.250-279.
- Hahn, C. K., Watts, C. A., & Kim, K. Y. (1990). The supplier development program: A conceptual model. International Journal of Purchasing and Materials Management, 26(2), 2–7.
- Håkansson, H. and Persson, G., 2004. Supply chain management: the logic of supply chains and networks. The international journal of logistics management, 15(1), pp.11-26.
- Hakim, C., 1987. Research design: Strategies and choices in the design of social research (No. 13). Allen and Unwin.
- Hald, K.S., Cordón, C. and Vollmann, T.E., 2009. Towards an understanding of attraction in buyer-supplier relationships. Industrial Marketing Management, 38(8), pp.960-970.
- Halldórsson, Á. and Skjøtt-Larsen, T., 2006. Dynamics of relationship governance in TPL arrangements–a dyadic perspective. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 36(7), pp.490-506.
- Hamill, J., 1997. The Internet and international marketing. International marketing review, 14(5), pp.300-323.
- Handfield, R.B., 1993. A resource dependence perspective of just-in-time purchasing. Journal of Operations Management, 11(3), pp.289-311.
- Hanna, R., Rohm, A. and Crittenden, V.L., 2011. We're all connected: The power of the social media ecosystem. Business Horizons, 54(3), pp.265-273.
- Harker, M.J., 1999. Relationship marketing defined? An examination of current relationship marketing definitions. Marketing intelligence & planning, 17(1), pp.13-20.

- Harland, C. M., Caldwell, N. D., Powell, P., & Zheng, J. (2007). Barriers to supply chain information integration: SMEs adrift of eLands. Journal of Operations Management, 25(6), 1234-1254.
- Harland, C., Zheng, J., Johnsen, T. and Lamming, R., 2004. A conceptual model for researching the creation and operation of supply networks. British Journal of Management, 15(1), pp.1-21.
- Harland, C.M., 1996. Supply chain management: relationships, chains, and networks. British Journal of management, 7(s1), pp. S63-S80.
- Harland, C.M., Lamming, R.C., Cousins, P.D., 1999. Developing the concept of supply strategy. International Journal of Operations and Production Management 19 (7), 650–673.
- Harland, C.M., Lamming, R.C., Zheng, J. and Johnsen, T.E., 2001. A taxonomy of supply networks. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 37(3), pp.21-27.
- Hart, P. and Saunders, C., 1997. Power and trust: Critical factors in the adoption and use of electronic data interchange. Organization Science, 8(1), pp.23-42.
- Hartmann, A. and Caerteling, J., 2010. Subcontractor procurement in construction: the interplay of price and trust. Supply chain management: an international journal, 15(5), pp.354-362.
- Hartmann, E. and Herb, S., 2015. Interconnectedness of actor bonds in service triads– a social capital perspective. Industrial Marketing Management, 44, pp.154-165.
- Hartmann, E., Kerkfeld, D. and Henke, M., 2012. Top and bottom line relevance of purchasing and supply management. Journal of purchasing and supply management, 18(1), pp.22-34.
- Hartwick, J. and Barki, H., 1994. Explaining the role of user participation in information system use. Management Science, 40(4), pp.440-465.
- Hatch, M.J. and Cunliffe, A., 2006. Organization Theory: modern, postmodern, and symbolic perspectives.
- Hayek, F.A., 1945. The use of knowledge in society. The American economic review, 35(4), pp.519-530.
- HBR (2010), "The new conversation: taking social media from talk to action" Harvard Business Review Analytics Services
- HBR (2016) Build Your Brand as a Relationship. HBR
- He, W., Zha, S. and Li, L., 2013. Social media competitive analysis and text mining: A case study in the pizza industry. International Journal of Information Management, 33(3), pp.464-472.
- Heide, J.B. and John, G., 1992. Do norms matter in marketing relationships? The Journal of Marketing, pp.32-44.

- Heider, F (1958). The Psychology of Interpersonal Relations, John Wiley, and Sons, New York,
- Heller Baird, C. and Parasnis, G., 2011. From social media to social customer relationship management. Strategy & Leadership, 39(5), pp.30-37.
- Helper, S., 1991. Strategy and irreversibility in supplier relations: the case of the US automobile industry. Business history review, 65(4), pp.781-824.
- Henderson, A. and Bowley, R., 2010. Authentic dialogue? The role of "friendship" in a social media recruitment campaign. Journal of Communication Management, 14(3), pp.237-257.
- Henderson, J., Dicken, P., Hess, M., Coe, N. and Yeung, H.W.C., 2002. Global production networks and the analysis of economic development. Review of international political economy, 9(3), pp.436-464.
- Hendricks, K.B. and Singhal, V.R., 2003. The effect of supply chain glitches on shareholder wealth. Journal of Operations Management, 21(5), pp.501-522.
- Hendricks, K.B. and Singhal, V.R., 2005. Association between supply chain glitches and operating performance. Management Science, 51(5), pp.695-711.

Henkoff, R. (1994). "Delivering the goods." Fortune Magazine, November 28, 64-78.

- Hennik Research, (2016). ANNUAL MANUFACTURING REPORT 2017 retrieved on 12/12/2017 http://www.nass.org.uk/Publications/Publication4261/Annual-Manufacturing-Report-2017.pdf
- Hilletofth, P. and Hilmola, O.P., 2010. Role of logistics outsourcing on supply chain strategy and management: survey findings from Northern Europe. Strategic Outsourcing: An International Journal, 3(1), pp.46-61.
- Hingley, M. (2001). Relationship management in the supply chain. International Journal of Logistics Management, 12(2), 57-71. Retrieved from http://osearch.proquest.com.wam.leeds.ac.uk/docview/235794642?accountid=14664
- Hingley, M., 2001. Relationship management in the supply chain. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 12(2), pp.57-71.
- Hingley, M., Lindgreen, A. and Grant, D.B., 2015. Intermediaries in power-laden retail supply chains: An opportunity to improve buyer-supplier relationships and collaboration. Industrial marketing management, 50, pp.78-84.
- Hingley, M.K., 2005. Power to all our friends? Living with imbalance in supplier-retailer relationships. Industrial Marketing Management, 34(8), pp.848-858.
- Hingley, M.K., 2005a. Power imbalance in UK agri-food supply channels: Learning to live with the supermarkets? Journal of Marketing Management, 21(1-2), pp.63-88.

- Hingley, M.K., 2005b. Power imbalanced relationships: cases from UK fresh food supply. International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management, 33(8), pp.551-569.
- Hingley, M.K., 2005c. Power to all our friends? Living with imbalance in supplier-retailer relationships. Industrial Marketing Management, 34(8), pp.848-858.
- Hingley, M.K., Grant, D.B. and Morgan, R.E., 2012. Value in business and industrial marketing: Past, present, and future. Industrial Marketing Management, 41(1), pp.207-214.
- Hippel, V. E., 2005. Democratizing innovation: The evolving phenomenon of user innovation. Journal für Betriebswirtschaft, 55(1), pp.63-78.
- Hirschheim, R. (1985). Information systems epistemology: An historical perspective. Research methods in information systems, 13-35.
- HM Government, 2015 Manufacturing supply chains: action plan GOV.UK
- Hofer, C.W., 1975. Toward a contingency theory of business strategy. Academy of Management Journal, 18(4), pp.784-810.
- Hoffman, D. L., Novak, T. P. and Stein, R., 2013. The Digital Consumer. In: Belk, R. W. and Llamas, R., eds. The Digital Consumer. London: Routledge, 28-38.
- Hoffman, D.L., Novak, T.P. and Chatterjee, P., 1995. Commercial scenarios for the web: opportunities and challenges. Journal of computer-mediated communication, 1(3), p.JCMC136.
- Hofstede, G. (2001). Culture's consequences: Comparing values, behaviours, institutions, and organizations across nations. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Hollenstein, H., 1996. A composite indicator of a firm's innovativeness. An empirical analysis based on survey data for Swiss manufacturing. Research Policy, 25(4), pp.633-645.
- Holmlund, M., 2004. Analyzing business relationships and distinguishing different interaction levels. Industrial Marketing Management, 33(4), pp.279-287.
- Hong, P. and Jeong, J., 2006. Supply chain management practices of SMEs: from a business growth perspective. Journal of Enterprise Information Management, 19(3), pp.292-302.
- Hossain, L., and de Silva, A. (2009). Exploring user acceptance of technology using social networks. Journal of High Technology Management Research, 20(1) 1– 18.
- Hoyt, J. and Huq, F., 2000. From arms-length to collaborative relationships in the supply chain: An evolutionary process. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 30(9), pp.750-764.
- Hsiao, M.J., Purchase, S. and Rahman, S., 2002. The impact of buyer-supplier relationship and purchasing process on the supply chain performance: a

conceptual framework. In Paper published at the 18th IMP-conference in Perth, Australia.

- Hsu, C.L. and Lin, J.C.C., 2008. Acceptance of blog usage: The roles of technology acceptance, social influence and knowledge sharing motivation. Information & Management, 45(1), pp.65-74.
- Hsu, C.L. and Lu, H.P. (2004), "Why do people play online games? An extended TAM with social influences and flow experience", Information and Management, Vol. 41, pp. 853-68.
- Huang, G.Q., Zhang, Y.F., Chen, X. and Newman, S.T., 2008. RFID-enabled real-time wireless manufacturing for adaptive assembly planning and control. Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing, 19(6), pp.701-713.
- Huang, L., Lin, Y., Zhou, L. and Ieromonachou, P., 2016, December. Supply chain collaboration: A triadic view. In Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management (IEEM), 2016 IEEE International Conference on (pp. 109-113). IEEE.
- Huang, L., Lu, M.T. and Wong, B.K., 2003. The impact of power distance on email acceptance: Evidence from the PRC. The Journal of Computer Information Systems, 44(1), p.93.
- Huang, M. C., Yen, G. F., & Liu, T. C. (2014). Re-examining supply chain integration and the supplier's performance relationships under uncertainty. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 19(1), 64-78.
- Huberman, B.A., Adar, E. and Fine, L.R., 2005. Valuating privacy. IEEE Security & Privacy, 3(5), pp.22-25.
- Hult, G.T.M., Ketchen, D.J. and Arrfelt, M., 2007. Strategic supply chain management: Improving performance through a culture of competitiveness and knowledge development. Strategic management journal, 28(10), pp.1035-1052.
- Humphries, A and McComie, L. (2012). Implementing and Managing Collaborative Relationships - New Generation Publishing, London 2nd edition.
- Humphries, A.S. and McComie, L., 2010a. Performance measurement in the management of food supply chain relationships. In Delivering Performance in Food Supply Chains (pp. 19-36).
- Humphries, A.S. and McComie, L., 2010b. Managing and Measuring for Supply Chain Relationships Performance. Delivering performance in food supply chains, edited by C. Mena, and G. Stevens, pp.19-36.
- Humphries, A.S. and Wilding, R.D., 2004. Long-term collaborative business relationships: The impact of trust and C3 behaviour. Journal of Marketing Management, 20(9-10), pp.1107-1122.

- Hunt, S.D., Arnett, D.B. and Madhavaram, S., 2006. The explanatory foundations of relationship marketing theory. Journal of business & industrial marketing, 21(2), pp.72-87.
- Husin, M. H., & Hanisch, J. (2011). Utilising the social media and organisation policy (someop) framework: an example of organisational policy development within a public sector entity. Paper presented at the 19th European Conference on Information Systems Helsinki, Finland.
- Iacovou, C.L., Benbasat, I. and Dexter, A.S., 1995. Electronic data interchange and small organizations: Adoption and impact of technology. MIS quarterly, pp.465-485.
- Imai, M. (1986), Kaizen: The Key to Japan's Competitive Success, Random House, New York, NY
- International Telecommunication Union (ITU), (2012). Measuring the Information Society, International Telecommunication Union Geneva Switzerland.
- Internet World Stats (2017) Internet penetration rate in Nigeria https://www.internetworldstats.com/ retrieved on 03/06/2018
- Ireland, R.D. and Webb, J.W., 2007. A multi-theoretic perspective on trust and power in strategic supply chains. Journal of Operations Management, 25(2), pp.482-497.
- Ireland, R.D., Hitt, M.A. and Vaidyanath, D., 2002. Alliance management as a source of competitive advantage. Journal of management, 28(3), pp.413-446.
- Isaca, A., 2010. Social Media: Business Benefits and Security, Governance and Assurance Perspectives.
- Isaksson, O.H. and Seifert, R.W., 2016. Quantifying the bullwhip effect using twoechelon data: A cross-industry empirical investigation. International Journal of Production Economics, 171, pp.311-320.
- ITU (2013) ICT Facts and Figures. ITU Publishing
- Jaafar, H.S. and Rafiq, M., 2005. Logistics outsourcing practices in the UK: a survey. International Journal of Logistics: Research and Applications, 8(4), pp.299-312.
- Jammernegg, W. and Kischka, P., 2005. Dynamic, customer-oriented improvement of supply networks. European Journal of Operational Research, 167(2), pp.413-426.
- Jansen, B. J., Zhang, M., Sobel, K. and Chowdury, A., 2009. Twitter power: Tweets as electronic word of mouth. Journal of the American Society for Information Science & Technology, 60 (11), 2169-2188.
- Janvier-James, A.M. and Didier, E., 2011. A benchmarking framework for supply chain collaboration: a data envelopment analysis (DEA) application. International Journal of Business Administration, 2(3), p.19.

- Jap, S.D. and Ganesan, S., 2000. Control mechanisms and the relationship life cycle: Implications for safeguarding specific investments and developing commitment. Journal of marketing research, 37(2), pp.227-245.
- Jarillo, J.C. and H.H. Stevenson. (1991) "Co-operative Strategies: The Payoffs and the Pitfalls," Long Range Planning, (24:1), , pp. 64-70.
- Jassawalla, A.R. and Sashittal, H.C., 1998. An examination of collaboration in hightechnology new product development processes. Journal of product innovation management, 15(3), pp.237-254.
- Java, A., Song, X., Finin, T. and Tseng, B., 2007, August. Why we twitter: understanding microblogging usage and communities. In Proceedings of the 9th WebKDD and 1st SNA-KDD 2007 workshop on Web mining and social network analysis (pp. 56-65). ACM.
- Jaworski, B.J. and Kohli, A.K., 1993. Market orientation: antecedents and consequences. The Journal of marketing, pp.53-70.
- Jayaram, J., Vickery, S.K., Droge, C., 1999. An empirical study of time-based competition in the North American automotive supplier industry. International Journal of Operations and Production Management 19 (10), 1010–1033.
- Jin, Y. and Ryan, J.K., 2012. Price and service competition in an outsourced supply chain. Production and Operations Management, 21(2), pp.331-344.
- Johnsen, T., Wynstra, F., Zheng, J., Harland, C. & Lamming, R. (2000). Networking activities in supply networks. Journal of Strategic Marketing, 8, 161-181.
- Johnston D.A., Mccutcheon D.M., Stuart F.I., and Kerwood H. (2004). Effects of supplier trust on performance of cooperative supplier relationships. Journal of Operations Management, 22 (1), pp. 23-38.
- Jones, C., Hesterly, W., Borgatti, S., 1997. A general theory of network governance: exchange conditions and social mechanisms. Academy of Management Review 22 (4), 911–945.
- Jones, O., 2003. Competitive advantage in SMEs: towards a conceptual framework. Competitive advantage in SMEs: Organising for innovation and change, pp.15-33.
- Joo, Y.J., Lim, K.Y. and Kim, E.K., 2011. Online university students' satisfaction and persistence: Examining perceived level of presence, usefulness and ease of use as predictors in a structural model. Computers & Education, 57(2), pp.1654-1664.
- José Sanzo, M., Leticia Santos, M., Alvarez, L.I. and Vázquez, R., 2007. The effect of a buyer's market orientation on attitudinal loyalty toward a supplier: is dependence a moderator?. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 12(4), pp.267-283.

- Joshi, A.W. and Campbell, A.J., 2003. Effect of environmental dynamism on relational governance in manufacturer-supplier relationships: a contingency framework and an empirical test. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 31(2), pp.176-188.
- Juga, J., Juntunen, J. and Grant, D.B., 2010. Service quality and its relation to satisfaction and loyalty in logistics outsourcing relationships. Managing Service Quality: An International Journal, 20(6), pp.496-510.
- Kachru, E. (2009) Exploring the Supply Chain: Theory and Practice, New Delhi: Excel Books
- Kadiri, I.B., 2012. Small and medium scale enterprises and employment generation in Nigeria: The role of finance. Kuwait Chapter of Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review, 1(9), pp.79-93.
- Kähkönen, A.K. and Virolainen, V.M., 2011. Sources of structural power in the context of value nets. Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management, 17(2), pp.109-120.
- Kale, S. and Arditi, D., 2001. General contractors' relationships with subcontractors: a strategic asset. Construction Management and Economics, 19(5), pp.541-549.
- Kaplan, A. M., & Haenlein, M. (2010). Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of Social Media. Business Horizons, 53(1), 59-68.
- Kaplinsky, R. (1990). The economies of small: appropriate technology in a changing world. Intermediate Technology Publications.
- Kaplinsky, R., Morris, M. and Readman, J., 2002. The globalization of product markets and immiserizing growth: lessons from the South African furniture industry. World Development, 30(7), pp.1159-1177.
- Karoway, C., 1997. Superior supply chains pack plenty of byte. Purchasing Technology 8 (11), 32–35.
- Kasavana, M.L., Nusair, K. and Teodosic, K., 2010. Online social networking: redefining the human web. Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Technology, 1(1), pp.68-82.
- Kathuria, R., 2000. Competitive priorities and managerial performance: a taxonomy of small manufacturers. Journal of Operations Management, 18(6), pp.627-641.
- Kathuria, V., 2010. Does the technology gap influence spillovers? A post-liberalization analysis of Indian manufacturing industries. Oxford Development Studies, 38(2), pp.145-170.
- Katok, E. and Pavlov, V., 2013. Fairness in supply chain contracts: A laboratory study. Journal of Operations Management, 31(3), pp.129-137.
- Kauffmann, C., 2005. Financing SMEs in Africa.

- Kavanaugh, A. L., Fox, E. A., Sheetz, S. D., Yang, S., LI, L. T., Shoemaker, D. J.,& Xie,L. (2012). Social media use by government: From the routine to the critical.Government Information Quarterly, 29(4), 480-491.
- Ke, W., Liu, H., Wei, K. K., Gu, J., & Chen, H. (2009). How do mediated and nonmediated power affect electronic supply chain management system adoption? The mediating effects of trust and institutional pressures. Decision Support Systems, 46(4), 839–851. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2008.11.008
- Kelley, Maryellen R., & Helper, Susan. (1999). Firm Size And Capabilities, Regional Agglomeration, And The Adoption Of New Technology. Economics of Innovation and New Technology, 8(1-2), 79-103.
- Kelman, H.C., 1958. Compliance, identification, and internalization three processes of attitude change. Journal of conflict resolution, 2(1), pp.51-60.
- Kempe, D., Kleinberg, J. and Tardos, É., 2003, August. Maximizing the spread of influence through a social network. In Proceedings of the ninth ACM SIGKDD international conference on Knowledge discovery and data mining (pp. 137-146). ACM.
- Kemppainen, K. and Vepsäläinen, A.P., 2003. Trends in industrial supply chains and networks. International journal of physical distribution & logistics management, 33(8), pp.701-719.
- Khalfan, M.M. and McDermott, P., 2006. Innovating for supply chain integration within construction. Construction Innovation, 6(3), pp.143-157.
- Khalifa, M., & Davison, M. (2006). SME adoption of IT: the case of electronic trading systems. Engineering Management, IEEE Transactions on, 53(2), 275-284.
- Khazanchi, D. (2005). Information technology (IT) appropriateness: the contingency theory of 'fit'and IT implementation in small and medium enterprises. Journal of Computer Information Systems, 45(3), 88-95.
- Kieras, D. E., P. G. Polson. 1985. An approach to the formal analysis of user complexity. Internat. J. of Man-Machine Stud. 22 365–394.
- Kiesler, C.A. and Kiesler, S.B., 1969. Conformity. Addison Wesley Publishing Company.
- Kietzmann J.H., Hermkens K., Mccarthy I.P and Silvestre B.S. (2011). "Social media? Get serious! Understanding the functional building blocks of social media" Business Horizons 2011(54), pp 241-251
- Kietzmann, J. H., Silvestre, B. S., McCarthy, I. P. and Pitt, L. F. (2012) 'Unpacking the social media phenomenon: towards a research agenda.' Journal of Public Affairs, 12 pp. 109-119.
- Kim, A.J. and Ko, E., 2010. Impacts of luxury fashion brand's social media marketing on customer relationship and purchase intention. Journal of Global Fashion Marketing, 1(3), pp.164-171.

- Kim, B., 2000. Coordinating an innovation in supply chain management. European journal of operational research, 123(3), pp.568-584.
- Kim, H. D., Lee, I. and Lee, C. K. (2013) 'Building Web 2.0 enterprises: A study of small and medium enterprises in the United States.' International Small Business Journal, 31(2) pp. 156-174.
- KIM, S. W. (2012). An investigation of information technology investments on buyersupplier relationship and supply chain dynamics. Asian Journal on Quality, 13(3), 250-267.
- Kim, W. G., Jeong, O. R. and Lee, S. W., 2010. On social Web sites. Information Systems, 35 (2), 215-236.
- King, N. (2004) 'Using Templates in the Thematic Analysis of Text.' In Cassell, C. and Symon, G. (eds.) Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research. London: Sage Publications Ltd,
- King, N., 1994. The qualitative research interview. Sage Publications, Inc.
- King, N., 2012. Doing template analysis. Qualitative organizational research: Core methods and current challenges, pp.426-450.
- King, R.P., Hand, M.S., DiGiacomo, G., Clancey, K., Gomez, M.I., Hardesty, S., Lev, L. and McLaughlin, E., (2010) Comparing the Structure, Size and Performance of Local and Mainstream Food Supply Chains, United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Report
- Kinra, Manik (2012). SMEs must focus on social media optimization. Retrieved July 12, 2012, from http://www.ciol.com/SMB/SMBSpecials/Opinion/SMEs-must-focuson-social-media-optimization/161656/0/
- Klein, R. and Rai, A., 2009. Interfirm strategic information flows in logistics supply chain relationships. Mis Quarterly, pp.735-762.
- Klein, R., Rai, A. and Straub, D.W., 2007. Competitive and cooperative positioning in supply chain logistics relationships. Decision Sciences, 38(4), pp.611-646.
- Knemeyer, A.M. and Murphy, P.R., 2005a. Exploring the potential impact of relationship characteristics and customer attributes on the outcomes of third-party logistics arrangements. Transportation Journal, pp.5-19.
- Knemeyer, A.M. and Murphy, P.R., 2005b. Is the glass half full or half empty? An examination of user and provider perspectives towards third-party logistics relationships. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 35(10), pp.708-727.
- Knight, L. and Harland, C., 2005. Managing Supply Networks: Organizational Roles in Network Management. European Management Journal, 23(3), pp.281-292.

- Knobloch, L.K. and Solomon, D.H., 2002. Information seeking beyond initial interaction: Negotiating relational uncertainty within close relationships. Human Communication Research, 28(2), pp.243-257.
- Koh, S.C.L. and Tan, K.H., 2006. Translating knowledge of supply chain uncertainty into business strategy and actions. Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management, 17(4), pp.472-485.
- Koops, S., D. Mollenkopf and T. Zwart, 2002. Food supply chains are efficiency and responsiveness mutually exclusive? Journal of Chain and Network Science 2(1): 7-18
- Kopczak, L.R (1997). "Logistics Partnerships and Supply Chain Restructuring: Survey Results from the U.S. Computer Industry Production and Operations Management, (6:3), pp 226-247.
- Kosk, N (2012) Social media drives B2B collaborative efforts in the supply chain. Supply & Demand Chain (SDC).
- Kotler, P. (1997), Marketing Management: Analysis, Planning, Implementation, and Control, 9th ed., Prentice-Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Kotzab, H., Teller, C., Grant, D.B. and Sparks, L., 2011. Antecedents for the adoption and execution of supply chain management. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 16(4), pp.231-245.Penrose (2009)
- KPMG (2011a). "Going social: how businesses are making the best of social media, [Retrieved 06/11/2013] www.kpmg.com
- Krause, D.R. and Ellram, L.M., 1997. Success factors in supplier development. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 27(1), pp.39-52.
- Krause, D.R., 1999. The antecedents of buying firms' efforts to improve suppliers. Journal of operations management, 17(2), pp.205-224.
- Ku, C.Y., Chang, C.T., Ho, H.P., 2010. Global supplier selection using fuzzy analytic hierarchy process and fuzzy goal programming. Qual. Quant. 44 (4), 623–640.
- Kulviwat, S., Bruner II, G. C. & Al-shuridah, O. (2009). The role of social influence on adoption of high tech innovations: The moderating effect of public/private consumption. Journal of Business Research, 62, 706-712.

Kumar (1999) Research Methodology: A step by step guide for beginners. Sage London

- Kumar, K. and Van Dissel, H.G., 1996. Sustainable collaboration: managing conflict and cooperation in inter-organizational systems. Mis Quarterly, pp.279-300.
- Kumar, N., L.K. Scheer and J.-B.E.M. Steenkamp. "The Effects of Perceived Interdependence on Dealer Attitudes," Journal of Marketing Research, (32), August 1995, pp. 348-358.

- Kunz, W., Schmitt, B. and Meyer, A., 2011. How does perceived firm innovativeness affect the consumer? Journal of Business Research, 64(8), pp.816-822.
- Kushin, M.J. and Yamamoto, M., 2010. Did social media really matter? College students' use of online media and political decision making in the 2008 election. Mass Communication and Society, 13(5), pp.608-630.
- KVALE, S. (1996). InterViews: an introduction to qualitative research interviewing. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Kvale, S. 2007. Doing Interviews. London. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Kwon, I.W.G. and Suh, T., 2004. Factors affecting the level of trust and commitment in supply chain relationships. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 40(1), pp.4-14.
- Kwon, O., and Wen, Y. (2010). An empirical study of the factors affecting social network service use. Computers in Human Behaviour, 26 (2), 254–263.
- La Londe, B.J. and Masters, J.M., 1994. Emerging logistics strategies: blueprints for the next century. International journal of physical distribution & logistics management, 24(7), pp.35-47.
- Lai, C., Wang, Q. and Lei, J., 2012. What factors predict undergraduate students' use of technology for learning? A case from Hong Kong. Computers & Education, 59(2), pp.569-579.
- Lai, F., D. Li and Q. Wang (2008). "The Information Technology Capability of Third-Party Logistics Providers: A Resource-Based View and Empirical Evidence From China," Journal of Supply Chain Management, (44:3), pp. 22-38.
- Lall, S. (2001). Competitiveness, Technology and Skills. Edward Elgar Publishing Inc., 2 Winter Sport Lane, PO Box 574, Williston, VT 05495-0080.
- Lambe, C.J. and Spekman, R.E., 1997. Alliances, external technology acquisition, and discontinuous technological change. Journal of product innovation management, 14(2), pp.102-116.
- Lambert, D. M. (2008). Supply chain management: processes, partnerships, performance. Supply Chain Management Inst.
- Lambert, D.M. and Cooper, M.C., 2000. Issues in supply chain management. Industrial marketing management, 29(1), pp.65-83.
- Lambert, D.M., 2004. The eight-essential supply chain management processes. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT REVIEW, V. 8, NO. 6 (SEPT. 2004), P. 18-26: ILL, 8(6).
- Lambert, D.M., Cooper, M.C. and Pagh, J.D., 1998a. Supply chain management: implementation issues and research opportunities. The international journal of logistics management, 9(2), pp.1-20.

- Lambert, D.M., Emmelhainz, M.A. and Gardner, J.T., 1996. Developing and implementing supply chain partnerships. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 7(2), pp.1-18.
- Lambert, D.M., García-Dastugue, S.J. and Croxton, K.L., 2005. An evaluation of process-oriented supply chain management frameworks. Journal of Business Logistics, 26(1), pp.25-51.
- Lambert, D.M., Knemeyer, A.M. and Gardner, J.T., 2004. Supply chain partnerships: model validation and implementation. Journal of Business Logistics, 25(2), pp.21-42.
- Lambert, D.M., Stock, J.R., Ellram, L.M., 1998b. Fundamentals of Logistics Management. Irwin, McGraw-Hill, Homewood, IL,
- Lamming Richard, Thomas Johnsen, Jurong Zheng and Christine Harland (2000): "An initial classification of supply networks". International Journal of Operations & Production Management vol. 20 no 6, pp. 675- 691
- Langley, C.J., Holcomb, M.C., (1992). Creating logistics customer value. Journal of Business Logistics 12 (2), 1}27.
- Lantos, G.P., 2001. The boundaries of strategic corporate social responsibility. Journal of consumer marketing, 18(7), pp.595-632.
- Laroche, M., Habibi, M.R. and Richard, M.O., 2013. To be or not to be in social media: How brand loyalty is affected by social media? International Journal of Information Management, 33(1), pp.76-82.
- Larson, D.W., 1997. Trust and missed opportunities in international relations. Political Psychology, 18(3), pp.701-734.
- Lassar, W., Mittal, B. and Sharma, A., 1995. Measuring customer-based brand equity. Journal of consumer marketing, 12(4), pp.11-19.
- Lassar, W.M. and Zinn, W., 1995. Informal channel relationships in logistics. Journal of Business Logistics, 16(1), p.81.
- Lavie, D., 2006. The competitive advantage of interconnected firms: An extension of the resource-based view. Academy of management review, 31(3), pp.638-658.
- Lawrence, J.E., 2008. The challenges and utilization of e-commerce: use of internet by small to medium-sized enterprises in the United Kingdom. Information, society and justice journal, 1(2), pp.99-113.
- Lawrence, K., 2002. Factors inhibiting the collaborative adoption of electronic commerce among Australian SMEs. Managing information technology in small business: challenges and solutions (pp. 178-192). IGI Global.
- Lazzarini, S. G., Claro, D. P., & Mesquita, L. F. (2008). Buyer-Supplier and Supplier– Supplier Alliances: Do They Reinforce or Undermine One Another?. Journal of Management Studies, 45(3), 561-584.

- Lazzarini, S., Chaddad, F. and Cook, M., 2001. Integrating supply chain and network analyses: the study of netchains. Journal on chain and network science, 1(1), pp.7-22.
- Lederer, A.L., Maupin, D.J., Sena, M.P. and Zhuang, Y., 2000. The technology acceptance model and the World Wide Web. Decision support systems, 29(3), pp.269-282.
- Lee, H. L. (2002) "Aligning Supply Chain Strategies with Product Uncertainties," California Management Review (44:3), pp. 105-119.
- Lee, H. M., Van Dolen, W., & Kolk, A. (2013b). On the role of social media in the 'responsible' food business: Blogger buzz on health and obesity issues. Journal of Business Ethics, 118(4), 695-707.
- Lee, H.L and S. Whang (2000). "Information Sharing in a Supply Chain" International Journal of Technology Management (20:3/4), pp. 373-387.
- Lee, H.L. and Ng, S.M., 1997. Introduction to the special issue on global supply chain management. Production and Operations Management, 6(3), pp.191-192.
- Lee, H.L., 2004. The triple—a supply chain. Harvard Business Review 83, 102–112.
- Lee, H.L., Padmanabhan, V. and Whang, S., 1997. The bullwhip effect in supply chains. MIT Sloan Management Review, 38(3), p.93.
- Lee, H.L., So, K.C. and Tang, C.S., 2000. The value of information sharing in a two-level supply chain. Management Science, 46(5), pp.626-643.
- Lee, K., Oh, W. Y., & Kim, N. (2013a). Social Media for Socially Responsible Firms: Analysis of Fortune 500's Twitter Profiles and their CSR/CSIR Ratings. Journal of business ethics, 118(4), 791-806.
- Lee, S.H. and E. Workman, J., 2014. Gossip, self-monitoring and fashion leadership: comparison of US and South Korean consumers. Journal of Consumer Marketing, 31(6/7), pp.452-463.
- Lee, S.Y. and Klassen, R.D., 2008. Drivers and enablers that foster environmental management capabilities in small-and medium-sized suppliers in supply chains. Production and Operations Management, 17(6), pp.573-586.
- Lee, T-W, Park, N-K. and Lee, D-W (2003) A simulation study for the logistics planning of a container terminal in view of SCM, Maritime Policy & Management: The flagship journal of international shipping and port research, Vol. 30, No. 3, pp. 243-254
- Lee, W. C., Kwon, I.W.G. and Severance, D., 2007. Relationship between supply chain performance and degree of linkage among supplier, internal integration, and customer. Supply chain management: an International Journal, 12(6), pp.444-452.

- Lee, Zach W., Cheung, Christy M., & Thadani, Dimple R. (2012). An Investigation into the Problematic Use of Facebook. Paper presented at the Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, Hawaii.
- Leonard, L.N.K. and Cronan, T.P. (2002), "A study of the value and impact of electronic commerce: electronic versus traditional replenishment in supply chains", Journal of Organizational Computing and Electronic Commerce, Vol. 12 No. 4, pp. 307-28.
- Leonard-Barton, D. and Deschamps, I., 1988. Managerial influence in the implementation of new technology. Management Science, 34(10), pp.1252-1265.
- Leskovec, J., Dumais, S. and Horvitz, E., 2007, May. Web projections: learning from contextual subgraphs of the web. In Proceedings of the 16th international conference on World Wide Web (pp. 471-480). ACM.
- Levenburg, N.M., 2005. Does size matter? Small firms' use of e-business tools in the supply chain. Electronic markets, 15(2), pp.94-105.
- Lewicki, R.J. and Bunker, B.B., 1996. Developing and maintaining trust in work relationships. Trust in organizations: Frontiers of theory and research, 114, p.139.
- Lewicki, R.J., Tomlinson, E.C. and Gillespie, N., 2006. Models of interpersonal trust development: Theoretical approaches, empirical evidence, and future directions. Journal of management, 32(6), pp.991-1022.
- Lewis, C. C., & George, J. F. (2008). Cross-cultural deception in social networking sites and face-to-face communication. Computers in Human Behavior, 24, 2945– 2964.
- Li, A., 2011. Social Media and Supply Chain Management: Don't Copy. Be Inspired. Supply & Demand Chain Executive, 12(2), pp.10-21.
- Li, G., Li, G. and Kambele, Z., 2012. Luxury fashion brand consumers in China: Perceived value, fashion lifestyle, and willingness to pay. Journal of Business Research, 65(10), pp.1516-1522.
- Li, L. (2012). Effects of enterprise technology on supply chain collaboration: analysis of China-linked supply chain. Enterprise Information Systems, 6(1), 55-77.
- Li, M. and T. Y. Choi (2009). "Triads in Services Outsourcing: Bridge, Bridge Decay and Bridge Transfer," Journal of Supply Chain Management, (45:3), pp. 2739.
- Li, S., Ragu-Nathan, B., Ragu-Nathan, T.S. and Rao, S.S. (2005), "Development and validation of a measurement for studying supply chain management practices", Journal of Operations Management, Vol. 23, pp. 618-41.

- Li, S., Ragu-Nathan, B., Ragu-Nathan, T.S. and Rao, S.S., 2006. The impact of supply chain management practices on competitive advantage and organizational performance. Omega, 34(2), pp.107-124.
- Lin, L.C., 2009. An integrated framework for the development of radio frequency identification technology in the logistics and supply chain management. Computers & Industrial Engineering, 57(3), pp.832-842.
- Lincoln, Y.S. and Denzin, N.K. eds., 2003. Turning points in qualitative research: Tying knots in a handkerchief. Rowman Altamira.
- Lindgreen, A. and Hingley, M., 2003. The impact of food safety and animal welfare policies on supply chain management: the case of the Tesco meat supply chain. British Food Journal, 105(6), pp.328-349.
- Lindgreen, A., Hingley, M.K., Grant, D.B. and Morgan, R.E., 2012. Value in business and industrial marketing: Past, present, and future. Industrial Marketing Management, 41(1), pp.207-214.
- Littunen, H., 2000. Networks and local environmental characteristics in the survival of new firms. Small Business Economics, 15(1), pp.59-71.
- Liu, Y., Luo, Y. and Liu, T., 2009. Governing buyer-supplier relationships through transactional and relational mechanisms: Evidence from China. Journal of Operations Management, 27(4), pp.294-309.

Lloyds Research Report (2016) Food & Drink Research Report, Lloyds Banking Group

- Loan-Clarke, J., Smith, A. and Whittaker, J., 2000. Competency-based management development in small and medium-sized enterprises: a multi-stakeholder analysis. International Journal of Training and Development, 4(3), pp.176-195.
- Locke, E.A. and Latham, G.P., 1990. Work motivation and satisfaction: Light at the end of the tunnel. Psychological science, 1(4), pp.240-246.
- Loforte, A.J., 1991, May. The implications of multicultural relationships in a transnational supply chain. In National Association of Purchasing Management Annual Conference Proceedings (pp. 69-77).
- Loher, B.T., Noe, R.A., Moeller, N.L., and Fitzgerald, M.P (1985). "A Meta-Analysis of the Relation of Job Characteristics to Job Satisfaction," Journal of Applied Psychology (70:2), pp. 280-289.
- Lorentz, H., 2008. Collaboration in Finnish-Russian supply chains: Effects on performance and the role of experience. Baltic Journal of Management, 3(3), pp.246-265.
- Lorenzo-Romero, C., Alarcon-del-Amo, M. D. C., & Gomez-Borja, M. A. (2011a). Do You Have Social Profile? Users And Non-Users Of Social Networking Sites In The Web 2.0. Review of Business Information Systems (RBIS), 15(5), 41-50.

- Lorenzo-Romero, C., Constantinides, E. and Alarcón-del-Amo, M.D.C., 2011b. Consumer adoption of social networking sites: implications for theory and practice. Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing, 5(2/3), pp.170-188.
- Lown, B., Bukachi, F. and Xavier, R., 1998. Health information in the developing world. The Lancet, 352, pp. S34-S38.
- Lowson, R.H., 2003. Strategic operations management: the new competitive advantage. Routledge.
- Lusch, R.F. and Brown, J.R., 1996. Interdependency, contracting, and relational behaviour in marketing channels. The Journal of Marketing, pp.19-38.
- MacGregor, R.C., 2004. Factors associated with formal networking in regional small business: some findings from a study of Swedish SMEs. Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development, 11(1), pp.60-74.
- Macneil, I.R., 2000. Contracting worlds and essential contract theory. Social & Legal Studies, 9(3), pp.431-438.
- Madhavan, R., Gnyawali, D. R., & He, J. (2004). Two's company, three's a crowd? Triads in cooperative-competitive networks. Academy of Management Journal, 47(6), 918-927.
- Maglaras, G., Bourlakis, M. and Fotopoulos, C., 2015. Power-imbalanced relationships in the dyadic food chain: An empirical investigation of retailers' commercial practices with suppliers. Industrial Marketing Management, 48, pp.187-201.
- Malita, L., 2010. Social media time management tools and tips. Procedia Computer Science, 3, pp.747-753.
- Maloni, M. and Benton, W.C., 2000. Power influences in the supply chain. Journal of Business Logistics, 21(1), pp.49-74.
- Maloni, M.J. and Benton, W.C., 1997. Supply chain partnerships: opportunities for operations research. European Journal of Operational Research, 101(3), pp.419-429.
- Mangold, W.G. and Faulds, D.J., 2009. Social media: The new hybrid element of the promotion mix. Business Horizons, 52(4), pp.357-365.
- Manley, K. and Hampson, K., 2000. Relationship contracting on construction projects. QUT.
- Markley, M.J. and Davis, L., 2007. Exploring future competitive advantage through sustainable supply chains. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 37(9), pp.763-774.
- Markova, S. and Petkovska-Mircevska, T., 2013. Social media and supply chain. Amfiteatru Economic, 15(33), p.89.
- Markova, S., & Petkovska-mirčevska, T. (2013). Social Media and Supply Chain. The AMFITEATRU ECONOMIC journal, 15(33), 89-102.
- Marshall C. & Rossman G.B. (1995) Designing Qualitative Research. Sage Publications, London.
- Marshall, D., McCarthy, L., McGrath, P. and Claudy, M., 2015. Going above and beyond: how sustainability culture and entrepreneurial orientation drive social sustainability supply chain practice adoption. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 20(4), pp.434-454.
- Martin, L.M. and Matlay, H., 2003. Innovative use of the Internet in established small firms: the impact of knowledge management and organisational learning in accessing new opportunities. Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 6(1), pp.18-26.
- Martin, X., Mitchell, W. and Swaminathan, A., 1995. Recreating and extending Japanese automobile buyer' supplier links in North America. Strategic Management Journal, 16(8), pp.589-619.
- Mason, C.M. and Harrison, R.T., 1997. Business angel networks and the development of the informal venture capital market in the UK: Is there still a role for the public sector. Small Business Economics, 9(2), pp.111-123.
- Mason, J., 2002. Qualitative interviewing: Asking, listening and interpreting. Qualitative research in action, 6, pp.225-241.
- Mason-Jones, R. and Towill, D.R., 1997. Information enrichment: designing the supply chain for competitive advantage. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 2(4), pp.137-148.
- Mathieson, K., 1991. Predicting user intentions: comparing the technology acceptance model with the theory of planned behaviour. Information systems research, 2(3), pp.173-191.
- Matsuura, N.F (1991) International Business: A New Era: Amazon.co.uk: Thomson Learning; International Ed edition
- Matthai, J.M., 1991. Employee perceptions of trust, satisfaction, and commitment as predictors of turnover intentions in a mental health setting.
- Mayer, R.C. and Davis, J.H., 1999. The effect of the performance appraisal system on trust for management: A field quasi-experiment. Journal of applied psychology, 84(1), p.123.
- Mayer, R.C., Davis, J.H. and Schoorman, F.D., 1995. An integrative model of organizational trust. Academy of management review, 20(3), pp.709-734.
- McAllister, D.J., 1995. Affect-and cognition-based trust as foundations for interpersonal cooperation in organizations. Academy of management journal, 38(1), pp.24-59.
- McCarthy, T.M. and Golicic, S.L., 2002. Implementing collaborative forecasting to improve supply chain performance. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 32(6), pp.431-454.

- McConnell, B. and Huba, J., 2007. Citizen marketers: when people are the message. Chicago, IL: Kaplan Publications.
- McDermott, M.C. and Chan, K.C., 1996. Flexible intelligent relationship management: the business success paradigm in a stakeholder society. The Learning Organization, 3(3), pp.5-17.
- Mcentire, C. (2012). Effective social media in supply chain: The search is on. Supply & Demand Chain (SDC).
- McKinsey (2010) Unlocking the elusive potential of social networks. Mckinsey Publishing
- Mckinsey (2015) How social tools can reshape the organization. Mckinsey Publishing
- Mckinsey Global Institute (2012). The Social Economy: Unlocking Value and Productivity through Social Technologies. Retrieved on October 6, 2012, from http://www.mckinsey.com/insights/mgi/research/technology_and_innovation/th e_social_economy
- McKnight, D.H., Cummings, L.L. and Chervany, N.L., 1998. Initial trust formation in new organizational relationships. Academy of Management Review, 23(3), pp.473-490.
- Medlin, C.J., 2004. Interaction in business relationships: A time perspective. Industrial marketing management, 33(3), pp.185-193.
- Medori, D., Steeple, D., 2000. A framework for auditing and enhancing performance measurement systems. International Journal of Operations and Production Management 20 (5), 520– 533.
- Mehrtens, J., Cragg, P.B. and Mills, A.M., 2001. A model of Internet adoption by SMEs. Information & Management, 39(3), pp.165-176.
- Mendonca, L.T. and Sutton, R., 2008. Succeeding at open-source innovation: An interview with Mozilla's Mitchell Baker. The McKinsey Quarterly, 1(7).
- Mentzer, J.T., 1993. Managing channel relations in the 21st century. Journal of Business Logistics, 14(1), p.27.
- Mentzer, J.T., 2004. Fundamentals of supply chain management: twelve drivers of competitive advantage. Sage.
- Mentzer, J.T., DeWitt, W., Keebler, J.S., Min, S., Nix, N.W., Smith, C.D. and Zacharia, Z.G., 2001. Defining supply chain management. Journal of Business Logistics, 22(2), pp.1-25.
- Mentzer, J.T., DeWitt, W., Keebler, J.S., Min, S., Nix, N.W., Smith, C.D. and Zacharia, Z.G., 2001. Defining supply chain management. Journal of Business Logistics, 22(2), pp.1-25.
- Mentzer, J.T., Min, S. and Zacharia, Z.G., 2000. The nature of interfirm partnering in supply chain management. Journal of Retailing, 76(4), pp.549-568.

- Mentzer, J.T., Myers, M.B. and Cheung, M.S., 2004. Global market segmentation for logistics services. Industrial marketing management, 33(1), pp.15-20.
- Mentzer, J.T., Stank, T.P. and Esper, T.L., 2008. Supply chain management and its relationship to logistics, marketing, production, and operations management. Journal of Business Logistics, 29(1), pp.31-46.
- Merriam, S. (2009). Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation (Revised and expanded from 'Qualitative research and case study applications in education'). Hoboken, NJ: Jossey-Bass (Wiley).
- Mesquita, L. F., & Lazzarini, S. G. (2008). Horizontal and vertical relationships in developing economies: implications for SMEs' access to global markets. Academy of Management Journal, 51(2), 359-380.
- Metz, P.J., 1998. Demystifying supply chain management. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT REVIEW, V. 1, NO. 4 (WINTER 1998), P. 46-55: ILL.
- Michaelidou, Nina, Siamagka, Nikoletta Theofania, & Christodoulides, George. (2011). Usage, barriers and measurement of social media marketing: An exploratory investigation of small and medium B2B brands. Industrial Marketing Management, 40(7), 1153-1159.
- Miguéns, J., Baggio, R. and Costa, C., 2008. Social media and Tourism Destinations: TripAdvisor Case Study. IASK ATR 2008 Advances in Tourism Research, Aveiro, Portugal 26-28 May 2008.
- Miles, R.E. and Snow, C.C., 1992. Causes of failure in network organizations. California management review, 34(4), pp.53-72.
- Miller K. (1992) A framework for integrated risk management in international business Journal of International Business Studies Second Quarter pp. 311–331
- Miller, A. and Dess, G.G., 1993. Assessing Porter's (1980) model in terms of its generalizability, accuracy and simplicity. Journal of management studies, 30(4), pp.553-585.
- Miller, J.G. and Roth, A.V., 1994. A taxonomy of manufacturing strategies. Management Science, 40(3), pp.285-304.
- MILLS, T.M. (1954) The coalition pattern in three-person groups, American Sociological Review, 19, pp. 27-34
- Mishra, A.K., 1996. Organizational responses to crisis. Trust in organizations: Frontiers of theory and research, 261.
- Mishra, J. and Morrissey, M.A., 1990. Trust in employee/employer relationships: A survey of West Michigan managers. Public personnel management, 19(4), pp.443-486.
- Mistry, J.J., 2005a. Origins of profitability through JIT processes in the supply chain. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 105(6), pp.752-768.

- Mistry, J.J., 2005b. Supply chain management: a case study of an integrated lean and agile model. Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management, 2(2), pp.193-215.
- Mohr, J. and R. Spekman (1994). "Characteristics of Partnership Success: Partnership Attributes, Communication Behaviour, and Conflict Resolution Techniques," Strategic Management Journal, (15:2), pp. 135-152.
- Mohr, J. and Spekman, R., 1994. Characteristics of partnership success: partnership attributes, communication behaviour, and conflict resolution techniques. Strategic management journal, 15(2), pp.135-152.
- Monczka, R.M., Choi, T.Y., Kim, Y. and McDowell, C.P., 2011. Supplier relationship management: An implementation framework. Tempe, AZ: CAPS Research.
- Monczka, R.M., Trent, R.J. and Callahan, T.J., 1993. Supply base strategies to maximize supplier performance. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 23(4), pp.42-54.
- Moore, G.C. and Benbasat, I., 1991. Development of an instrument to measure the perceptions of adopting an information technology innovation. Information systems research, 2(3), pp.192-222.
- Moorman, C., Deshpande, R. and Zaltman, G., 1993. Factors affecting trust in market research relationships. the Journal of Marketing, pp.81-101.
- Moorman, C., Zaltman, G. and Deshpande, R., 1992. Relationships between providers and users of market research: The dynamics of trust within and between organizations. Journal of marketing research, 29(3), p.314.
- Morabito, V., 2014. Trends and challenges in digital business innovation. New York: Springer International Publishing.
- Morgan, R. M., & Hunt, S. (1999). Relationship-based competitive advantage: the role of relationship marketing in marketing strategy. Journal of Business Research, 46(3), 281-290.
- Morgan, R.M. and Hunt, S.D., 1994. The commitment-trust theory of relationship marketing. The journal of marketing, pp.20-38.
- Muthusamy, S.K. and White, M.A., 2006. Does power-sharing matter? The role of power and influence in alliance performance. Journal of Business Research, 59(7), pp.811-819.
- Myers M. B. AND Cheung M. S. (2008b), "Sharing Global Supply Chain Knowledge" Sloan Management Review, 49 (Summer), 67-73.
- Myers, M (2010). The Many Benefits of Supply Chain Collaboration, Supply Chain Management Review.
- Myers, M.B. and Cheung, M.S., 2008a. Sharing global supply chain knowledge. MIT Sloan Management Review, 49(4), p.67.

- Myhr, N. and Spekman, R.E., 2005. Collaborative supply-chain partnerships built upon trust and electronically mediated exchange. Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 20(4/5), pp.179-186.
- Narasimhan, R. and Das, A., 2001. The impact of purchasing integration and practices on manufacturing performance. Journal of Operations Management, 19(5), pp.593-609.
- Narasimhan, R. and Talluri, S., 2009. Perspectives on risk management in supply chains.
- Naslund, D. and Williamson, S., 2010. What is management in supply chain management? A critical review of definitions, frameworks and terminology. Journal of Management Policy and Practice, 11(4), pp.11-28.
- Nauhria, Y., Pandey, S. and Kulkarni, M.S., 2011. Competitive priorities for Indian car manufacturing industry (2011–2020) for global competitiveness. Global Journal of Flexible Systems Management, 12(3-4), pp.9-20.
- Neely, A.D., 1999. The performance measurement revolution: why now and what next? International Journal of Operations and Production Management 19 (2), 205– 228.
- Nelder, G. and Skandalakis, A., 1999. Benchmarking as the gateway to knowledge transfer for SMEs. Industry and Higher Education, 13(5), pp.342-348.
- Nesheim, T., 2001. Externalization of the core: antecedents of collaborative relationships with suppliers. European Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management, 7(4), pp.217-225.
- New, S. and Mitropoulos, I., 1995. Strategic networks: morphology, epistemology and praxis. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 15(11), pp.53-61.
- NEW, S. J. (1997). The scope of supply chain management research. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 2(1), 15-22.
- Newman, M.E. and Park, J., 2003. Why social networks are different from other types of networks. Physical Review E, 68(3), p.036122.
- Ngai, E.W., Chau, D.C. and Chan, T.L.A., 2011. Information technology, operational, and management competencies for supply chain agility: Findings from case studies. The Journal of Strategic Information Systems, 20(3), pp.232-249.
- Ngai, E.W., Tao, S.S. and Moon, K.K., 2015. Social media research: Theories, constructs, and conceptual frameworks. International Journal of Information Management, 35(1), pp.33-44.
- Nigeria Communications Commission (NCC, 2015) Nigeria @ ITU Telecom World 2016 - SMEs And Start-Up Competition.

- Nishat Faisal, M., 2010. Sustainable supply chains: a study of interaction among the enablers. Business Process Management Journal, 16(3), pp.508-529.
- Nolan, H. (2009). New York Times 'social media editor' playing out exactly as suspected. Retrieved November 5, 2010, from http://gawker.com/5270593/new-yorktimessocial-media-editor-playing-out-exactly-as-suspected
- Nooteboom, B., 2006. Innovation, learning and cluster dynamics. Clusters and regional development, pp.137-163.
- Norman, D.A., 1987. Cognitive engineering—cognitive science. In Interfacing thought: Cognitive aspects of human-computer interaction (pp. 325-336). MIT Press.
- Nov, O., & Ye, C. (2008). Personality and technology acceptance: Personal innovativeness in IT, openness and resistance to change. In Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, Proceedings of the 41st Annual (pp. 448-448). IEEE.
- Nowell, L. D. and Kleinberg, J., 2008. Tracing information flow on a global scale using Internet chain-letter data. Proceedings of the national academy of sciences, 105(12), pp.4633-4638.
- Nygaard, A. and Biong, H., 2010. The influence of retail management's use of social power on corporate ethical values, employee commitment, and performance. Journal of Business Ethics, 97(1), pp.87-108.
- Obaidat, S.K., 1987. Industry structure, strategy, and performance.
- Obstfeld, D., 2005. Social networks, the Tertius lungens orientation, and involvement in innovation. Administrative science quarterly, 50(1), pp.100-130.
- Oke, A., Idiagbon-Oke, M. & Walumbwa, F. 2008. The relationship between brokers' influence, strength of ties and NPD project outcomes in innovation-driven horizontal networks. Journal of Operations Management, 26, 571-589.
- O'Leary, D.E., 2011. The use of social media in the supply chain: survey and extensions. Intelligent Systems in Accounting, Finance and Management, 18(2-3), pp.121-144.
- O'Leary, D.E., 2012. Developing trust and relationships in the supply chain using social media. Marshall School of Business Working Paper.
- Oliveira, T. and Martins, M.F., 2009. Determinants of Information Technology Adoption in Portugal. In ICE-B (pp. 264-270).
- Onakoya , A, B & Somoye, R, O, C (2013) Macroeconomic Implication of Currency Management in Nigeria: A Synthesis of the Literature, British Journal of Economics, Finance and Management Sciences 12 July 2013, Vol. 8 (1).
- Opdenakker, R., 2006. Advantages and disadvantages of four interview techniques in qualitative research. In Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research (Vol. 7, No. 4).

- Orlikowski, W. J. and Baroundi, J. J. (1991) 'Studying Information Technology in Organisations: Research Approaches and Assumptions'. Information System Research, Vol. 2, No. 1, March, pp. 1-28.
- Ortmann, G.F., 2001. Industrialisation of agriculture and the role of supply chains in promoting competitiveness/industriaing van die landbou en die rol van leweringskettings in die bevordering van mededingendheid. agrekon, 40(4), pp.459-489.
- Oxford Economics (2015) UK Fashion Industry British Fashion Council accessed on Dec 2017 http://www.oxfordeconomics.com/ bof
- Pagell, M. and D. Krause (2004). "Re-Exploring the Relationship between Flexibility and the External Environment," Journal of Operations Management, (21:6), pp.629-649.
- Paik, S.K., 2011, January. Supply Management in Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises:
 Role of SME Size. In Supply Chain Forum: An International Journal (Vol. 12, No. 3, pp. 10-21). Taylor & Francis.
- Paik, S.-K., Bagchi, P. K., Skjott-Larsen, T., & Adams, J. (2009). Purchasing development in small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). Supply Chain Forum: An International Journal, 10(1), 92-107.
- Palmer, J.W. and Griffith, D.A., 1998. Information intensity: a paradigm for understanding web site design. Journal of marketing theory and practice, 6(3), pp.38-42.
- Palvia, P., En Mao, P., Salam, A. F., and Soliman, K. S. 2003. "Management Information Systems Research: What's there in an Methodology?" Communications of AIS (11), pp. 289–308.
- Park, K. and Mathur, V.K., 1988. Production technology uncertainty and the optimal location of the firm. Journal of Regional Science, 28(1), pp.51-64.
- Parker, D.W. and Russell, K.A., 2004. Outsourcing and inter/ Intra supply chain dynamics: Strategic management issues. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 40(3), pp.56-68.
- Parkhe, A., 1998. Understanding trust in international alliances. Journal of world business, 33(3), pp.219-240.
- Patterson, K.A., Grimm, C.M. and Corsi, T.M., 2003. Adopting new technologies for supply chain management. Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review, 39(2), pp.95-121.
- Paulraj, A., Chen, I.J. & Flynn, J., 2006. Levels of strategic purchasing: impact on supply integration and performance. Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management, 12, pp.107-22.

- Paulraj, A., Lado, A., Chen, J., (2008). Inter-organizational communication as a relational competency: antecedents and performance outcomes in collaborative buyer-supplier relationships. Journal of Operations Management 26 (1), 45–64.
- Penrose, E. and Penrose, E.T., 2009. The Theory of the Growth of the Firm. Oxford university press.
- Peppler, K.A. and Solomou, M., 2011. Building creativity: Collaborative learning and creativity in social media environments. On the Horizon, 19(1), pp.13-23.
- Perçin, S. and Min, H., 2013. A hybrid quality function deployment and fuzzy decisionmaking methodology for the optimal selection of third-party logistics service providers. International Journal of Logistics Research and Applications, 16(5), pp.380-397.
- Peteraf, M. A. (1993). The cornerstones of competitive advantage: A resource-based view. Strategic management journal, 14(3), 179-191.
- Peters, J. and Becker, W., 1998. Technological opportunities, academic research, and innovation activities in the German automobile supply industrie (No. 175).
 Volkswirtschaftliche Diskussionsreihe, Institut f, r Volkswirtschaftslehre der Universit‰ t Augsburg.
- Petersen, K.J., Handfield, R.B., Lawson, B. and Cousins, P.D., 2008. Buyer dependency and relational capital formation: the mediating effects of socialization processes and supplier integration. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 44(4), pp.53-65.
- Pfeffer, J. 1981. Management as symbolic action: The creation and maintenance of organizational paradigms. In Research in Organizational Behavior, ed. L. L. Cummings, B. Staw. Vol. 3. Greenwich. Conn: JAI
- Pfeffer, J. 1982. Organizations and Organization Theory. Boston: Pitman
- Pilbeam, C., Alvarez, G. and Wilson, H., 2012. The governance of supply networks: a systematic literature review. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 17(4), pp.358-376.
- Piscitello, L. and Sgobbi, F., 2004. Globalisation, e-business and SMEs: evidence from the Italian district of Prato. Small Business Economics, 22(5), pp.333-347.
- Polson, P. G. 1987. A quantitative theory of human-computer interaction. J. M. Carroll, ed. Norman, D. A. 1987. Cognitive engineering—Cognitive science. J. M. Carroll, ed. Interfacing Thought. The MIT Press, Cambridge, MA. 325–336.
- Pookulangara, S. and Koesler, K., 2011. Cultural influence on consumers' usage of social networks and its' impact on online purchase intentions. Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 18(4), pp.348-354.
- Poole, M., Van de Ven, A., Dooley, K., 1999. Methods for Studying Organizational Change and Development. Oxford University Press, New York.

- Poole, R., G. P. Clarke, Clarke, D. 2006. Competition and saturation in West European grocery retailing, Environment and Planning A, 38 (11), 2129-2156.
- Poon, S. and Swatman, P., 1995, June. The Internet for small businesses: An enabling infrastructure for competitiveness. In Proceedings of the fifth Internet Society conference (pp. 221-231). Hawaii, USA.
- Popovski, V., Popovska, M.B. and Latkovikj, M.T., 2015. Firms innovativeness performance as a matter of strategic determination: mission statement innovation value. Economic development, Vol. 17 Issue 3, p29-46. 18p p.29.
- Porter, C.E. and Donthu, N., 2008. Cultivating trust and harvesting value in virtual communities. Management Science, 54(1), pp.113-128.
- Porter, M.E. and Millar, V.E., 1985. How information gives you competitive advantage.
- Porter, M.E., 1980. Industry structure and competitive strategy: Keys to profitability. Financial Analysts Journal, 36(4), pp.30-41.
- Porter, M.E., 1985a. Competitive advantage: creating and sustaining superior performance. 1985.
- Porter, M.E., 1985b. Technology and competitive advantage. Journal of business strategy, 5(3), pp.60-78.
- Porter, M.E., 1985c. Competitive advantage. New York, 13.
- Porter, M.E., 2008. Competitive strategy: Techniques for analyzing industries and competitors. Simon and Schuster.
- Porter, M.E., 2011. Competitive advantage of nations: creating and sustaining superior performance. Simon and Schuster.
- Powell, T. C., & Dent-Micallef, A. (1997). Information technology as competitive advantage: the role of human, business, and technology resources. Strategic management journal, 18(5), 375-405.
- Prahalad, C.K. and Krishnan, M.S., 2008. The new age of innovation. McGraw-Hill Professional Publishing.
- Prahinski, C. and Fan, Y., 2007. Supplier evaluations: the role of communication quality. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 43(3), pp.16-28.
- Premkumar, G. and Roberts, M., 1999. Adoption of new information technologies in rural small businesses. Omega, 27(4), pp.467-484.
- Price Waterhouse Coppers (2014) Social media governance Harnessing your social media opportunity. PWC
- Quayle, M., 2003. A study of supply chain management practice in UK industrial SMEs. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 8(1), pp.79-86.
- Qureshi, I., Fang, Y., Ramsey, E., McCole, P., Ibbotson, P. and Compeau, D., 2009. Understanding online customer repurchasing intention and the mediating role of

trust–an empirical investigation in two developed countries. European Journal of Information Systems, 18(3), pp.205-222.

- Radstaak, B.G. and Ketelaar, M.H., 1998. Worldwide Logistics: The Future of Supply Chain Services: Executive Summary, Conclusions and Major Findings. Holland International Distribution Council.
- Rahman, Z., 2004. Use of internet in supply chain management: a study of Indian companies. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 104(1), pp.31-41.
- Raikes, P., Friis Jensen, M. and Ponte, S., 2000. Global commodity chain analysis and the French filière approach: comparison and critique. Economy and society, 29(3), pp.390-417.
- Rajagopal, S., 2009. The Internet and suicide pacts. Internet and Suicide. New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers, pp.185-196.
- Ram, S. and Jung, H.S., 1991a. "Forced" adoption of innovations in organizations: Consequences and implications. Journal of Product Innovation Management, 8(2), pp.117-126.
- Ram, S. and Jung, H.S., 1991b. How product usage influences consumer satisfaction. Marketing Letters, 2(4), pp.403-411.
- Ramaswami S.N., Srinivasan S.S., and Gorton S.A. (1997), "Information asymmetry between salesperson and supervisor: Postulates from agency and social exchange theory", Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp.29-50.
- Ramayah, T. and Ignatius, J., 2005. Impact of perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use and perceived enjoyment on intention to shop online. ICFAI Journal of Systems Management (IJSM), 3(3), pp.36-51.
- Ramsay, J., 2001. The resource-based perspective, rents, and purchasing's contribution to sustainable competitive advantage. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 37(2), pp.38-47.
- Rapp, A., Beitelspacher, L.S., Grewal, D. and Hughes, D.E., 2013. Understanding social media effects across seller, retailer, and consumer interactions. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 41(5), pp.547-566.
- Rayport, J.F. and Sviokla, J.J., 1995. Exploiting the virtual value chain. Harvard business review, 73(6), p.75.
- Redondo, Y. P. & Cambra Fierro, J.J. (2007). Importance of company size in long-term orientation of supply function: An empirical research. Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing, 22 (4), 236-248.
- Remenyi, Dan, Williams, Brian, Money, Arthur and Swartz, Ethné (1998), Doing Research in Business and Management. An Introduction to Process and Method, London: Sage.

- Rempel, J.K., Holmes, J.G. and Zanna, M.P., 1985. Trust in close relationships. Journal of personality and social psychology, 49(1), p.95.
- Renaud, K. and Van Biljon, J., (2008). Predicting technology acceptance and adoption by the elderly: a qualitative study. In Proceedings of the 2008 annual research conference of the South African Institute of Computer Scientists and Information Technologists on IT research in developing countries: riding the wave of technology (pp. 210-219). ACM.
- Rezaei, J., Ortt, R. and Trott, P., 2015. How SMEs can benefit from supply chain partnerships. International Journal of Production Research, 53(5), pp.1527-1543.
- Richter, A. and Koch, M., 2008. Functions of Social Networking Services [online]. In: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on the Design of Cooperative Systems, Carry-le-Rouet 20-23 May 2008. Available from: <u>http://www.kooperationssysteme.de/wpcontent/uploads/coop08 richterkoch fu</u> <u>nctions of social networking services</u> final.pdf [Accessed June 2018].
- Ritchie, B. and Brindley, C., 2005. ICT adoption by SMEs: implications for relationships and management. New Technology, Work and Employment, 20(3), pp.205-217.
- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Nicholls, C.M. and Ormston, R. eds., 2013. Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers. Sage.
- Roberson, M.S., 1989. The Role of Technology in a Changing Banking Industry. World of Banking, 8(6), pp.18-21.
- Robson, C. (1993), Real World Research, Blackwell, Oxford
- Robson, C., 2011. Real world research: A resource for users of social research methods in applied settings 3rd edition.
- Robson, M. J., Katsikeas, C. S. and Bello, D. C. (2008). Drivers and performance outcomes of trust in international strategic alliances: The role of organizational complexity. Organization Science, Vol.19, pp.647-665.
- Rogers, E. M. (2003) Diffusion of innovations. 5th ed., London: Simon & Schuster.
- Ross, D. F. (1998), Competing through Supply Chain Management: Creating Market Winning Strategies Through Supply Chain Partnership, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston.
- Rossetti, C. and Choi, T.Y. (2005). On the dark side of strategic sourcing: experiences from the aerospace industry. Academy of Management Executive, 19 (1) (2005), pp. 46–60
- Rossetti, C. L. (2006). Supply chain disintermediation: an agency perspective on buyersupplier relationships under incongruent goals (Vol. 67, No. 11).

- Rossetti, C. L., & Choi, T. Y. (2008). Supply management under high goal incongruence: An empirical examination of disintermediation in the aerospace supply chain. Decision Sciences, 39(3), 507-540.
- Rotter, J.B., 1967. A new scale for the measurement of interpersonal trust. Journal of Personality, 35(4), pp.651-665.
- Rousseau, D.M., Sitkin, S.B., Burt, R.S. and Camerer, C., 1998. Not so different after all: A cross-discipline view of trust. Academy of management review, 23(3), pp.393-404.
- Rowley, J. (2002) 'Using Case Studies in Research'. Management Research News, Vol. 25, No. 1, pp. 16-27.
- Roy, S., Sivakumar, K. and Wilkinson, I.F., 2004. Innovation generation in supply chain relationships: A conceptual model and research propositions. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 32(1), pp.61-79.
- Rytter, N. G., Boer, H. & Koch, C. 2007. Conceptualising operations strategy processes. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 27(10): 1093– 1114.
- Sabel, C.F., 1993. Studied trust: Building new forms of cooperation in a volatile economy. Human relations, 46(9), pp.1133-1170.
- Sago, B., 2013. Factors influencing social media adoption and frequency of use: An examination of Facebook, Twitter, Pinterest and Google+. International Journal of Business and Commerce, 3(1), pp.1-14.
- Sahay, B. S. (2003). Understanding trust in supply chain relationships. Industrial Management & Data Systems,103(8), 553-563.
- Sahay, B.S. and Maini, A., 2002. Supply chain: a shift from transactional to collaborative partnership. Decision, 29(2), pp.67-88.
- Sahay, B.S., Gupta, J.N. and Mohan, R., 2006. Managing supply chains for competitiveness: the Indian scenario. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 11(1), pp.15-24.
- Sako, M., 2004. Supplier development at Honda, Nissan and Toyota: comparative case studies of organizational capability enhancement. Industrial and corporate change, 13(2), pp.281-308.
- Samaddar, S., Nargundkar, S. and Daley, M., 2006. Inter-organizational information sharing: The role of supply network configuration and partner goal congruence. European journal of operational research, 174(2), pp.744-765.
- Sambasivan, M. and Nget Yen, C., 2010. Strategic alliances in a manufacturing supply chain: Influence of organizational culture from the manufacturer's perspective. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 40(6), pp.456-474.

- Sanchez, R., 1993. Strategic flexibility, firm organization, and managerial work in dynamic markets: A strategic options perspective. Advances in strategic management, 9(1), pp.251-291.
- Sandsmark, F. (2011). From Social Media to Social Commerce. Digital marketing.
- Sanfiel-Fumero, M. A., Ramos-Dominguez, Á. M., & Oreja-rodríguez, J. R. (2012). The configuration of power in vertical relationships in the food supply chain in the Canary Islands: An approach to the implementation of food traceability. British Food Journal, 114(8), 1128-1156.
- Santos, F.C., 2000. Integration of human resource management and competitive priorities of manufacturing strategy. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 20(5), pp.610-628.
- Saunders, M. N., Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2011). Research methods for business students, 5/e. Pearson Education India.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2007) Research Methods for Business Students. 4th ed., Harlow: Pearson Education Ltd.
- Saunders, M.; Lewis, P.; Thornhill, A. (2009) Research Methods for Business Students. Pearson Education Limited, 5th Ed.
- Savitz, A., 2013. The triple bottom line: how today's best-run companies are achieving economic, social and environmental success-and how you can too. John Wiley & Sons.
- Schoenherr, T., 2009. Logistics and supply chain management applications within a global context: an overview. Journal of business logistics, 30(2), pp.1-25.
- Schurr, P.H. and Ozanne, J.L., 1985. Influences on exchange processes: Buyers' preconceptions of a seller's trustworthiness and bargaining toughness. Journal of consumer research, 11(4), pp.939-953.
- Scuotto, V., Ferraris, A. and Bresciani, S., (2016). Internet of Things: Applications and challenges in smart cities: a case study of IBM smart city projects. Business Process Management Journal, 22(2), pp.357-367.
- Selviaridis, K. and Spring, M., 2007. Third-party logistics: a literature review and research agenda. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 18(1), pp.125-150.
- Selviaridis, K., Spring, M., Profillidis, V. and Botzoris, G., 2008. Benefits, risks, selection criteria and success factors for third-party logistics services. Maritime Economics & Logistics, 10(4), pp.380-392.
- Seuring, S. and Müller, M., 2008. From a literature review to a conceptual framework for sustainable supply chain management. Journal of cleaner production, 16(15), pp.1699-1710.

- Shang, Shari S. C., Li, Eldon Y., Wu, Ya-Ling, & Hou, Oliver C. L. (2011). Understanding Web 2.0 service models: A knowledge creating perspective. Information & amp; Management, 48(4-5), 178-184.
- Shapiro, D.L., Sheppard, B.H. and Cheraskin, L., 1992. Business on a handshake. Negotiation Journal, 8(4), pp.365-377.
- Sharma, M.K. and Bhagwat, R., 2007. Performance measurement system: case studies from SMEs in India. International Journal of Productivity and Quality Management, 2(4), pp.475-509.
- Sharma, M.K., Bhagwat, R. and Dangayach, G.S., 2008. Performance measurement of information systems in small and medium-sized enterprises: a strategic perspective. Production Planning and Control, 19(1), pp.12-24.
- Sharma, M.K., Bhagwat, R. and Dangayach, G.S., 2008. Performance measurement of information systems in small and medium-sized enterprises: a strategic perspective. Production Planning and Control, 19(1), pp.12-24.
- Shaw, R. B. (1997). Trust in Balance: Building Successful Organizations on Results, Integrity and Concern, San Francisco: Jossey Boss Publishers.
- Sheffi, Y., 2005. The resilient enterprise: overcoming vulnerability for competitive advantage. MIT Press Books, 1.
- Sheppard, B.H. and Sherman, D.M., 1998. The grammars of trust: A model and general implications. Academy of Management Review, 23(3), pp.422-437.
- Sheth, J. N., Atul Parvatiyar (1995). The evolution of relationship marketing International Business Review, Volume 4, Issue 4, Pages 391–396
- Sheth, J.N. and Parvatiyar, A., 2000. The domain and conceptual foundations of relationship marketing. Handbook of relationship marketing, pp.3-38.
- Shi, N., Zhou, S., Wang, F., Xu, S. and Xiong, S., 2014. Horizontal cooperation and information sharing between suppliers in the manufacturer–supplier triad. International Journal of Production Research, 52(15), pp.4526-4547.
- Shi, Q., Zuo, J., Huang, R., Huang, J. and Pullen, S., 2013. Identifying the critical factors for green construction—an empirical study in China. Habitat international, 40, pp.1-8.
- Shin, H., Collier, D.A. and Wilson, D.D., 2000. Supply management orientation and supplier/buyer performance. Journal of operations management, 18(3), pp.317-333.
- Shipman, M.D., 1998. The limitations of social research. Routledge.
- Simatupang, T.M. and Sridharan, R., 2005a. An integrative framework for supply chain collaboration. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 16(2), pp.257-274.

- Simatupang, T.M. and Sridharan, R., 2005b. The collaboration index: a measure for supply chain collaboration. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 35(1), pp.44-62.
- Simchi-Levi, D., Kaminsky, P. & Simchi-Levi, E. 2003. Designing and Managing the Supply Chain: Concepts, Strategies, and Case Studies. McGraw-Hill, New York. p (1).
- Simchi-Levi, D., Kaminsky, P., & Simchi-Levi, E. (2004). Managing the supply chain: the definitive guide for the business professional. McGraw-Hill Companies.
- Simchi-Levi, D., Kaminsky, P., & Simchi-Levi, E. (2007). Designing and Managing the Supply Chain–Concepts, strategies and case studies, 2edt McGraw-Hill Irwin.
- Simmel, G., (1950). The Triad (K.H. Wolff Trans. Ed.). The Sociology of George Simmel Free Press, Glencoe, IL.
- Sims, R.L. and Gegez, A.E., 2004. Attitudes towards business ethics: A five-nation comparative study. Journal of Business Ethics, 50(3), pp.253-265.
- Singh, A. and Vlatas, D.A., 1991. Using conflict management for better decision making. Journal of Management in Engineering, 7(1), pp.70-82.
- Singh, A., 2009. Organizational power in perspective. Leadership and Management in Engineering, 9(4), pp.165-176.
- Singh, P.J. and Power, D., 2009. The nature and effectiveness of collaboration between firms, their customers and suppliers: a supply chain perspective. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 14(3), pp.189-200.
- Singh, R.K., Garg, S.K. and Deshmukh, S.G., 2009a. The competitiveness of SMEs in a globalized economy: Observations from China and India. Management Research Review, 33(1), pp.54-65.
- Sink, H.L. and Langley Jr, C.J., 1997. A managerial framework for the acquisition of third-party logistics services. Journal of Business Logistics, 18(2), p.163.
- Sivadasan, S., Smart, J., Huatuco, L.H. and Calinescu, A., 2010. Operational complexity and supplier-customer integration: case study insights and complexity rebound. Journal of the Operational Research Society, 61(12), pp.1709-1718.
- Skeels, M.M. and Grudin, J., 2009, May. When social networks cross boundaries: a case study of workplace use of Facebook and LinkedIn. In Proceedings of the ACM 2009 international conference on Supporting group work (pp. 95-104). ACM.
- Skinner, W. (1969). 'Manufacturing Missing Link in Corporate Strategy', Harvard Business Review, May–June, pp. 136–145.
- Skipper, J.B., Hanna, J.B.& Cegielski, C.G. (2009). Supply chain contingency planning and firm adoption: An initial look at differentiating the innovators. Transportation Journal, 48(2), 40-62

Slack, N. (1991). The Manufacturing Advantage. Mercury Business Books, London.

- Slack, N., Chambers, S., & JOHNSTON, R. (2010). Operations management. Pearson Education.
- Smeltzer, L.R., 1997. The meaning and origin of trust in buyer-supplier relationships. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 33(4), pp.40-48.
- Smith, K.G., Grimm, C.M., Chen, M.J. and Gannon, M.J., 1989. Predictors of response time to competitive strategic actions: Preliminary theory and evidence. Journal of Business Research, 18(3), pp.245-258.
- Snow, C.C., Miles, R.E., Coleman Jr., H.J., 1992. Managing 21st-century network organizations. Organizational Dynamics 20 (3), 5–20.
- SocialBakers (2012). "Statistics on Facebook and Twitter" http://www.socialbakers.com/facebook-statistics/ [Retrieved 30/12/2012],
- Solakivi, T., Töyli, J., Engblom, J. and Ojala, L., 2011. Logistics outsourcing and company performance of SMEs: Evidence from 223 firms operating in Finland. Strategic Outsourcing: An International Journal, 4(2), pp.131-151.
- Sölvell, Ö., 2015. The Competitive Advantage of Nations 25 years–opening up new perspectives on competitiveness. Competitiveness Review, 25(5), pp.471-481.
- Song, H. and Ranjan Chatterjee, S., 2010. Achieving global supply-chain competitiveness: evidence from the Chinese auto component sectors. Chinese Management Studies, 4(2), pp.101-118.
- Song, M., & Montoya-Weiss, M. M. (2001). The effect of perceived technological uncertainty on Japanese new product development. Academy of Management Journal, 44(1), 61-80.
- Soosay, C.A., Hyland, P.W. and Ferrer, M., 2008. Supply chain collaboration: capabilities for continuous innovation. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 13(2), pp.160-169.
- Spekman, R.E., Kamauff Jr, J.W. and Myhr, N., 1998. An empirical investigation into supply chain management: a perspective on partnerships. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 3(2), pp.53-67.
- Spence, L. and Bourlakis, M., 2009. The evolution from corporate social responsibility to supply chain responsibility: the case of Waitrose. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 14(4), pp.291-302.
- Srinivasan, R. and Brush, T. H. (2006). 'Supplier performance in vertical alliances: the effects of self-enforcing agreements and enforceable contracts'. Organization Science, 17, 436–52.
- St John, C.H. and Heriot, K.C., 1993. Small suppliers and JIT purchasing. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 29(4), pp.11-16.

- Stadtler, Hartmut. 2005. "Supply chain management and advanced planning- basics, overview and challenges", European Journal of Operations Research, 163(3): 575-588.
- Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA
- Stake, R. E. (2005). Qualitative case studies. In Denzin, N. K., Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds.), The Sage handbook of qualitative research (3rd ed., pp. 443-466). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Stalk, G., 1988. Time: the next strategic advantage. Harvard Business Review 66 (4), 41–51.
- Stalk, G.H., Evans, P. and Shulman, L.E. (1992), "Competing on capabilities: the new rules of corporate strategy", Harvard Business Review, Vol. 70 No. 2, pp. 57-69.
- Stank, T.P., Daugherty, P.J. and Autry, C.W. (1999), "Collaborative planning: supporting automatic replenishment programs", Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, Vol. 4 No. 2, pp. 75-85.
- Stank, T.P., Keller, S.B. and Daugherty, P.J., 2001. Supply chain collaboration and logistical service performance. Journal of Business Logistics, 22(1), pp.29-48.
- Steinmetz, G. (2006) 'Review Forum The politics of Method in the Human Sciences: Positivism and Its Epistemological others'. Canadian Journal of Sociology Online, pp. 632.
- Stephen, A. T., & Toubia, O. (2010). Deriving Value from Social Commerce Networks. Journal of Marketing Research, 47(2), 215-222.
- Stevens, G. C. (1989). 'Integrating the Supply Chain', International Journal of Physical Distribution and Materials Management, 19(8), pp. 3–8.
- Steyn, P., Salehi-Sangari, E., Pitt, L., Parent, M., and Berthon, P. (2010). The social media release as a public relations tool: Intentions to use among B2B bloggers. Public Relations Review, 36(1), 87–89.
- Stock, G.N., Greis, N.P. and Kasarda, J.D., 2000. Enterprise logistics and supply chain structure: the role of fit. Journal of operations management, 18(5), pp.531-547.
- Stock, G.N., Greis, N.P., Kasarda, J.D., 1998. Logistics, strategy and structure: a conceptual framework. International Journal of Operations and Production Management 18 1, 37–52.
- Stock, J. and Boyer, S. (2009). Developing a consensus definition of supply chain management: a qualitative study. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 39, (8), 690- 711.
- Storey, J., Emberson, C., Godsell, J. and Harrison, A., 2006. Supply chain management: theory, practice and future challenges. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 26(7), pp.754-774.

- Story, V.M., Boso, N. and Cadogan, J.W., 2015. The form of relationship between firmlevel product innovativeness and new product performance in developed and emerging markets. Journal of Product Innovation Management, 32(1), pp.45-64.
- Strang, D. and Soule, S.A., 1998. Diffusion in organizations and social movements: From hybrid corn to poison pills. Annual review of sociology, 24(1), pp.265-290.
- Strauss, A.L. (1987) Qualitative Analysis for Social Scientists, Cambridge University Press, New York, NY,
- Stuart, F.I., 1993. Supplier partnerships: influencing factors and strategic benefits. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 29(3), pp.21-29.
- Sturges, J.E. and Hanrahan, K.J., 2004. Comparing telephone and face-to-face qualitative interviewing: a research note. Qualitative research, 4(1), pp.107-118.
- Subramani, M., 2004. How do suppliers benefit from information technology use in supply chain relationships?. Mis Quarterly, pp.45-73.
- Suh, B., Hong, L., Pirolli, P. and Chi, E.H., 2010, August. Want to be retweeted? large scale analytics on factors impacting retweet in twitter network. In Social computing (socialcom), 2010 IEEE second international conference on (pp. 177-184). IEEE.
- Sum, C., Kow, L. S., & Chen, C. (2004). A taxonomy of operations strategies of high performing small and medium enterprises in Singapore. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 24(3/4), 321-345.
- Sunil, C. AND Meindl, P (2001), Supply Chain Management: Strategy, Planning, and Operations, Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Supply Chain Dive (2016) Are pharmaceutical supply chains ill-regulated? Retrieved on Dec 2017 https://www.supplychaindive.com/news/regulation-pharmaceuticalsupply-chain/427892/
- SupplyChain Dive (2017) The 5 most notorious supply chain ethics scandals of 2016 http://www.supplychaindive.com/news/supply-chain-ethics-garment-textile-cadol/430814/ retrieved on 15/08/2017
- Tadesse, A., 2009. A perspective on SME financing in Africa. Private Sector & Development, 1.
- Talluri, S., Narasimhan, R. and Nair, A., 2006. Vendor performance with supply risk: A chance-constrained DEA approach. International Journal of Production Economics, 100(2), pp.212-222.
- Tan, K. C. (2001). A framework of supply chain management literature. European Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management, 7(1), 39-48.
- Tan, K.C., Kannan, V.R. and Handfield, R.B., 1998. Supply chain management: supplier performance and firm performance. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 34(3), p.2.

- Tan, K.C., Kannan, V.R., Handfield, R.B. and Ghosh, S., 1999. Supply chain management: an empirical study of its impact on performance. International journal of operations & Production Management, 19(10), pp.1034-1052.
- Tang, C.S., 2006. Perspectives in supply chain risk management. International Journal of production economics, 103(2), pp.451-488.
- Tang, J. and Liu, H., 2015. Trust in social media. Synthesis Lectures on Information Security, Privacy, & Trust, 10(1), pp.1-129.
- Tang, Q., Gu, B. and Whinston, A.B., 2012. Content contribution for revenue sharing and reputation in social media: A dynamic structural model. Journal of Management Information Systems, 29(2), pp.41-76.
- Tanskanen, K. and Aminoff, A., 2015. Buyer and supplier attractiveness in a strategic relationship—A dyadic multiple-case study. Industrial Marketing Management, 50, pp.128-141.
- Tatoglu, E., Bayraktar, E., Golgeci, I., Koh, S.L., Demirbag, M. and Zaim, S., 2015. How do supply chain management and information systems practices influence operational performance? Evidence from emerging country SMEs. International Journal of Logistics Research and Applications, pp.1-19.
- Taylor, S. and Todd, P.A., 1995. Understanding information technology usage: A test of competing models. Information systems research, 6(2), pp.144-176.
- Tech Nation Report, (2017) Tech City UK retrieved on dec, 2017 https://technation.techcityuk.com/download-the-report/
- Teece, D. J. (2010). Technological innovation and the theory of the firm: the role of enterprise-level knowledge, complementarities, and (dynamic) capabilities. Handbook of the Economics of Innovation, 1, 679-730.
- Teng, J.T., Chang, C.T., Goyal, S.K., 2005. Optimal pricing and ordering policy under permissible delay in payments. International
- Teo, T. S. H., & Lim, V. K. G. (2000). Gender differences in internet usage and task preferences. Behaviour and Information Technology & People, 19, 283–295.
- Tesco's Supplier Network (TSN, 2015) Tesco launches online supplier network
- Thakkar, J., Kanda, A. and Deshmukh, S.G., 2009. Supply chain management for SMEs: a research introduction. Management Research News, 32(10), pp.970-993.
- The Times (2014) UK counter-terror chief defends mass snooping on Twitter and Facebook, the times (June 17, 2014).
- The US Small Business Administration, (2016). United States Small Business Administration

- Thürer, M., Godinho Filho, M., Stevenson, M. and Fredendall, L.D., 2013. Competitive priorities of small manufacturers in Brazil. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 113(6), pp.856-874.
- Towers, N. and Burnes, B., 2008. A composite framework of supply chain management and enterprise planning for small and medium-sized manufacturing enterprises. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 13(5), pp.349-355.
- Trainor, K.J., Andzulis, J.M., Rapp, A. and Agnihotri, R., 2014. Social media technology usage and customer relationship performance: A capabilities-based examination of social CRM. Journal of Business Research, 67(6), pp.1201-1208.
- Tsai, M.C., Lai, K.H., Lloyd, A.E. and Lin, H.J., 2012. The dark side of logistics outsourcing–Unraveling the potential risks leading to failed relationships. Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review, 48(1), pp.178-189.
- Tsang, E.W., 2014. Generalizing from research findings: The merits of case studies. International Journal of Management Reviews, 16(4), pp.369-383.
- Tuominen, Matti, Rajala, Arto, & Möller, Kristian. (2004). How does adaptability drive firm innovativeness? Journal of Business Research, 57(5), 495-506. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0148-2963(02)00316-8
- Twitter, 2014. Company information [online]. San Francisco, CA. Available from: <u>https://about.twitter.com/</u> company [Accessed 17 April 2014].
- Tybout, A.M. and Scott, C.A., 1983. Availability of well-defined internal knowledge and the attitude formation process: Information aggregation versus self-perception. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 44(3), p.474.
- United Nations Statistics division (2013; pp 5) An Overview of Economic Statistics In Africa Countries, What Data Series Are Available and How Relevant They Are For Policy Making- The Nigerian Case.
- united states census bureau (2016) Population. Retrieved 03/05/2018 https://www.census.gov/topics/population.html
- Unwin, T., 2014, November. Social media and democracy: Critical Reflections. In background paper for Commonwealth Parliamentary Conference (Colombo), at http://www.cpahq.org/cpahq/cpadocs/Unwin%20CPA%20Social%20media%20 and%20democracy.pdf .
- Urbany, J.E., Dickson, P.R. and Wilkie, W.L., 1989. Buyer uncertainty and information search. Journal of consumer research, 16(2), pp.208-215.
- Vaaland, T.I. and Heide, M., 2007. Can the SME survive the supply chain challenges? Supply chain management: An International Journal, 12(1), pp.20-31.

- Vallacher, R.R. and Kaufman, J., 1996. Dynamics of action identification: Volatility and structure in the mental representation of behaviour.
- Vallacher, R.R. and Wegner, D.M., 1987. What do people think they're doing? Action identification and human behaviour. Psychological Review, 94(1), p.3.
- Van der Valk, W. and van Iwaarden, J., 2011. Monitoring in service triads consisting of buyers, subcontractors and end customers. Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management, 17(3), pp.198-206.
- Van Der Vorst, J.G. and Beulens, A.J., 1999. A research model for the redesign of food supply chains. International Journal of Logistics: Research and Applications, 2(2), pp.161-174.
- Van der Vorst, J.G., van Dijk, S.J. and Beulens, A.J., 2001. Supply chain design in the food industry. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 12(2), pp.73-86.
- Van Hoek, R., Mena, C. and Gattorna, J., 2014. Mind the Gaps: Exploring How Value-Creation Perceptions Across the Internal Triad Influence Identity and Impact. Journal of Business Logistics, 35(1), pp.44-51.
- Van Hoek, R.I., 1998. "Measuring the unmeasurable"-measuring and improving performance in the supply chain. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 3(4), pp.187-192.
- Vegholm, F., 2011. Relationship marketing and the management of corporate image in the bank-SME relationship. Management Research Review, 34(3), pp.325-336.
- Venkatesh, V., 1999. Creation of favourable user perceptions: exploring the role of intrinsic motivation. MIS quarterly, pp.239-260.
- Venkatesh, V., Davis, F.D., 2000. A theoretical extension of the technology acceptance model: four longitudinal field studies. Management Science 46 (2), 186–204.
- Vessey, I., 1991. Cognitive fit: A theory-based analysis of the graphs versus tables literature. Decision Sciences, 22(2), pp.219-240.
- Vickery, S.K., Droge, C., Yeomans, J.M., Markland, R.E., 1995.Time-based competition in the furniture industry: an empirical study. Production and Inventory Management Journal 36 (4), 14–21.
- Vieira, J., Yoshizaki, H. and Ho, L., 2009. Collaboration intensity in the Brazilian supermarket retail chain. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 14(1), pp.11-21.
- Vince, R. and Broussine, M., 1996. Paradox, defence and attachment: Accessing and working with emotions and relations underlying organizational change. Organization Studies, 17(1), pp.1-21.
- Vinuale, G., Frédouë, P., Jonquais, A., Dholakia, N. and Hales, D., 2011. Social Media and Supply Chain.

- Vlachopoulou, M. and Manthou, V., 2005. Supply chain and relationship management systems supporting the responsive enterprise: an empirical research. International Journal of Services and Operations Management, 1(4), pp.358-371.
- Vogelsang, K., Steinhüser, M. and Hoppe, U., 2013. A qualitative approach to examine technology acceptance.
- Vroom, V. H. 1964. Work and motivation. New York: Wiley.
- Waddell, D., & Sohal, A. S. (1998). Resistance: a constructive tool for change management. Management Decision, 36(8), 543-548.
- Wagner, B.A., Fillis, I. and Johansson, U., 2003. E-business and e-supply strategy in small and medium-sized businesses (SMEs). Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 8(4), pp.343-354.
- Walczuch, R., Van Braven, G. and Lundgren, H., 2000. Internet adoption barriers for small firms in the Netherlands. European Management Journal, 18(5), pp.561-572.
- Walker, H., Di Sisto, L. and McBain, D., 2008. Drivers and barriers to environmental supply chain management practices: Lessons from the public and private sectors. Journal of purchasing and supply management, 14(1), pp.69-85.
- Walsham, G. 1995. The emergence of social constructivistivism in IS Research," Information Systems Research. 6(4), pp. 376-394.
- Walton, R.E., 1985. From control to commitment in the workplace. Harvard business review, 63(2), pp.76-84.
- Wamba, S.F, & Carter, L. (2013). Twitter Adoption and Use by SMEs: An Empirical Study Paper presented at The 46 Hawaii International Conferences on System Sciences (HICSS), Maui, Hawaii.
- Wan, S. D. (2003), "The Implications of E-Financing: Implications for SMEs", Bulletin on Asia-Pacific Perspective 2003/2004, United Nations.
- Wan, Z. and Bullard, S.H., 2008. Firm size and competitive advantage in the US upholstered, wood household furniture industry. Forest products journal, 58(1/2), p.91.
- Wandfluh, M., Hofmann, E. and Schoensleben, P., 2015. Financing buyer-supplier dyads: an empirical analysis on financial collaboration in the supply chain. International Journal of Logistics Research and Applications, pp.1-18.
- Ward, P.T., Duray, R., Leong, G.K. and Sum, C.C., 1995. Business environment, operations strategy, and performance: an empirical study of Singapore manufacturers. Journal of operations management, 13(2), pp.99-115.

- Waring, T. and Wainwright, D. (2008) 'Issues and Challenges in the Use of Template Analysis: Two Comparative Case Studies from the Field.' The Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods, 6(1) pp. 85-94.
- Warshaw, P.R., 1980. A new model for predicting behavioural intentions: An alternative to Fishbein. Journal of Marketing Research, pp.153-172.
- We are social (2015) Digital, Social & Mobile Worldwide in 2016 We Are Social UK accessed on Dec 2017 on https://wearesocial.com/uk/special-reports/digital-social-mobile-worldwide-2015
- Weber, M., 1964. The Theory of Social and Economic Organisation, trans, and ed. by AM Henderson and Talcott Parsons.
- Weber, T. (2010). Why companies watch your every Facebook, YouTube, Twitter move. Retrieved November 5, 2013, from http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-11450923
- Weck, M. and Blomqvist, K., 2008. The role of inter-organizational relationships in the development of patents: A knowledge-based approach. Research Policy, 37(8), pp.1329-1336.
- Weed, D.L., 2009. Toward a philosophy of epidemiology. Ethics and epidemiology, 2.
- Wei, L., 2009. Filter blogs vs. personal journals: Understanding the knowledge production gap on the Internet. Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, 14(3), pp.532-558.
- Weiber, R. and Kollmann, T., 1998. Competitive advantages in virtual marketsperspectives of "information-based marketing" in cyberspace. European Journal of Marketing, 32(7/8), pp.603-615.
- Weinberg, B. D. & Pehlivan, E. (2011). Social spending: Managing the social media mix. Business Horizons, 54, 275-282.
- Whipple, J.M., Lynch, D.F. and Nyaga, G.N., 2010. A buyer's perspective on collaborative versus transactional relationships. Industrial Marketing Management, 39(3), pp.507-518.
- Wilding R & Wagner B (2012) Building Theory in Supply Chain Management Through "Systematic Reviews" of the Literature - Part 2, Supply Chain Management, 17 (5) 475-477.
- Wilding, R. and Humphries, A.S., 2006. Understanding collaborative supply chain relationships through the application of the Williamson organisational failure framework. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 36(4), pp.309-329.
- Wilding, R., (2006). Understanding Collaboration: generating the multiplication effect, Financial Times, London pp 2-3.

- Wilhelm, M.M., 2011. Managing coopetition through horizontal supply chain relations: Linking dyadic and network levels of analysis. Journal of Operations Management, 29(7), pp.663-676.
- Williamson, O. E. (1979). Transaction-cost economics: the governance of contractual relations. Journal of law and economics, 22(2), 233-261.

Williamson, O. E. (1985). The economic institutions of capitalism. Simon and Schuster.

- Williamson, O.E., 1975. Markets and hierarchies. New York, 2630.
- Williamson, O.E., 1981. The economics of organization: The transaction cost approach. American journal of sociology, 87(3), pp.548-577.
- Williamson, O.E., 1988. Corporate finance and corporate governance. The journal of finance, 43(3), pp.567-591.
- Williamson, O.E., 1993a. Calculativeness, trust, and economic organization. The Journal of Law and Economics, 36(1, Part 2), pp.453-486.
- Williamson, O.E., 1993b. Opportunism and its critics. Managerial and decision economics, 14(2), pp.97-107.
- Williamson, O.E., 2008. Outsourcing: Transaction cost economics and supply chain management. Journal of supply chain management, 44(2), pp.5-16.
- Wilson, K., Fornasier, S. and White, K.M., 2010. Psychological predictors of young adults' use of social networking sites. Cyberpsychology, behaviour, and social networking, 13(2), pp.173-177.
- Wilson, T. D. (2010). Information sharing: an exploration of the literature and some propositions. Information Research, Vol. 15(4), paper 440. Available at: http://informationr.net/ir/15-4/paper440.html.
- Wincent, J., 2005. Does size matter? A study of firm behaviour and outcomes in strategic SME networks. Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development, 12(3), pp.437-453.
- Winch, G.M., 2000. Innovativeness in British and French construction: the evidence from Transmanche-Link. Construction Management & Economics, 18(7), pp.807-817.
- Winner, L. (1993). Upon opening the black box and finding it empty: Social constructivism and the philosophy of technology. Science, Technology, and Human Values, 18(3), 362-378
- Wong, C. Y., Boon-itt, S. & Wong, C. W. Y. 2011. The contingency effects of environmental uncertainty on the relationship between supply chain integration and operational performance. Journal of Operations Management, 29, 604-615.
- Wong, J.M., 2011. A relational view of resource-based theory: the case of internationalization of Li & Fung group. The Journal of Human Resource and Adult Learning, 7(2), p.34.

- Wong, K. Y. (2005). Critical success factors for implementing knowledge management in small and medium enterprises. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 105(3), 261-279.
- Wood, G. and McDermott, P., 1999. Searching for trust in the UK construction industry: an interim view. Profitable partnering in construction procurement, pp.107-116.
- Wood, L. G. and Williamson, D., 2014. Understanding SME responses to environmental regulation. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 57(8), pp.1220-1239.

World Bank (2016) GDP of Nations. Retrieved on 03/05/2018 http://www.worldbank.org/

- Worldbank (2015). Doing business. Retrieved on 20/03/2015 on http://www.doingbusiness.org/reports/globalreports/~/media/WBG/DoingBusiness/Documents/Annual-Reports/English/DB15-Chapters/DB15-About-Doing-Business.pdf
- Wu, F., Yeniyurt, S., KIM, D., & Cavusgil, S. T. (2006). The impact of information technology on supply chain capabilities and firm performance: a resource-based view. Industrial Marketing Management, 35(4), 493-504.
- Wu, I. L. & Chen, J. L. (2005). An extension of trust and TAM model with TPB in the initial adoption of online tax: an empirical study. International Journal of Human-Computer Studies, 62(6), 784-808.
- Wu, M.Y., Chou, H.P., Weng, Y.C. and Huang, Y.H., 2011. TAM-2 based study of website user behaviour-using web 2.0 websites as an example. WSEAS Transactions on Business and Economics, 4(8), pp.133-151.
- Wu, W.Y., Chiag, C.Y., Wu, Y.J. and Tu, H.J., 2004. The influencing factors of commitment and business integration on supply chain management. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 104(4), pp.322-333.
- Wu, Y. and Angelis, J., 2007. Achieving agility of supply chain management through information technology applications. Advances in Production Management Systems, pp.245-253.
- Wu, Z, Choi, T. Y. M. AND Rungtusanatham J. (2010) Supplier–supplier relationships in buyer-supplier–supplier triads: Implications for supplier performance. Journal of Operations Management, Volume 28, Issue 2, Pages 115–123.
- Wu, Z. and Choi, T.Y., 2005. Supplier–supplier relationships in the buyer-supplier triad: Building theories from eight case studies. Journal of Operations Management, 24(1), pp.27-52.
- Wu, Z., & Choi, T. Y. (2005). Supplier–supplier relationships in the buyer-supplier triad: Building theories from eight case studies. Journal of Operations Management, 24(1), 27-52.

- Wuyts, S., Stremersch, S., Van Den Bulte C., AND Franses P.H. (2004). Vertical marketing systems for complex products: a triadic perspective. Journal of Marketing Research, 41 (4) (2004), pp. 479–487.
- Wymer, S.A. and Regan, E.A., 2005. Factors influencing e-commerce adoption and use by small and medium businesses. Electronic markets, 15(4), pp.438-453.
- Wynstra, F., Spring, M. and Schoenherr, T., 2015. Service triads: A research agenda for buyer–supplier-customer triads in business services. Journal of Operations Management, 35, pp.1-20.
- Yafei, L., & Qianlong, C. (2009). Research on Measurement Methods of Foreign Technology Dependence [J]. Science & Technology Progress and Policy, 22, 035.
- Yan, T. and Dooley, K.J., 2013. Communication intensity, goal congruence, and uncertainty in buyer-supplier new product development. Journal of Operations Management, 31(7-8), pp.523-542.
- Yang, H.D. and Yoo, Y., 2004. It's all about attitude: revisiting the technology acceptance model. Decision Support Systems, 38(1), pp.19-31.
- Yang, T.M. and Maxwell, T.A., 2011. Information-sharing in public organizations: A literature review of interpersonal, intra-organizational and inter-organizational success factors. Government Information Quarterly, 28(2), pp.164-175.
- Yates, D. and Paquette, S., 2011. Emergency knowledge management and social media technologies: A case study of the 2010 Haitian earthquake. International journal of information management, 31(1), pp.6-13.
- YIN, R. K. (2009). Case study research: Design and methods (Vol. 5). , Thousand Oaks, CA Sage Publications.
- Yin, R.K., 2003. Designing case studies.
- Yin, R.K., 2013. Case study research: Design and methods. Sage publications.
- Zaheer, A. and Venkatraman, N., 1995. Relational governance as an interorganizational strategy: An empirical test of the role of trust in economic exchange. Strategic management journal, 16(5), pp.373-392.
- Zaheer, A., B. MCevily AND V. Perrone (1998)."Does Trust Matter? Exploring the Effects of Interorganizational and Interpersonal Trust on Performance," Organizational Science, (9:2), pp. 141-159.
- Zanon, C. J., Alceu Gomes Alves, F., Charbel Jose Chiappetta, J. C. and Lopes de Sousa Jabbour, A.B., 2013. Alignment of operations strategy: exploring the marketing interface. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 113(2), pp.207-233.
- Zare Mehrjerdi, Y., 2009. The collaborative supply chain. Assembly Automation, 29(2), pp.127-136.

- Zeng, S.X., Xie, X.M. and Tam, C.M., 2010. Relationship between cooperation networks and innovation performance of SMEs. Technovation, 30(3), pp.181-194.
- Zhang, S.H. and Cheung, K.L., 2011. The impact of information sharing and advance order information on a supply chain with balanced ordering. Production and Operations Management, 20(2), pp.253-267.
- Zhang, X., Ma, X. and Wang, Y., 2012. Entrepreneurial orientation, social capital, and the internationalization of SMEs: Evidence from China. Thunderbird International Business Review, 54(2), pp.195-210.
- Zhao, D. and Rosson, M.B., 2009, May. How and why people Twitter: the role that microblogging plays in informal communication at work. In Proceedings of the ACM 2009 international conference on Supporting group work (pp. 243-252). ACM.
- Zheng, J., Caldwell, N., Harland, C., Powell, P., Woerndl, M. and Xu, S., 2004. Small firms and e-business: cautiousness, contingency and cost-benefit. Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management, 10(1), pp.27-39.
- Zheng, M., 2015. Conceptualization of cross-sectional mixed methods studies in health science: a methodological review. Int J Qual Qual Res Methods, 3(2), pp.66-87.
- Zhou, H. and Benton, W.C., 2007. Supply chain practice and information sharing. Journal of Operations Management, 25(6), pp.1348-1365.
- Zhu, K., Dong, S., Xu, S. X., Kraemer, K. L (2006). Innovation diffusion in global contexts: determinants of post-adoption digital transformation of European companies. European Journal of Information Systems, 15, 601-616.
- Zhu, Q. and Sarkis, J., 2004. Relationships between operational practices and performance among early adopters of green supply chain management practices in Chinese manufacturing enterprises. Journal of operations management, 22(3), pp.265-289.
- Zucker, L.G., 1986. Production of trust: Institutional sources of economic structure, 1840–1920. Research in organizational behaviour.

APPENDICES

Appendix A 4.1: Interview questions for buyers

- 1) Theme: Supply Chain Relationship/ Relationship Management
 - a) How would you describe the relationship history between:
 - I. Your company (insert name) and company Y (insert name)
 - II. Your company (insert name) and company Z (insert name)
 - III. company Y (insert name) and company Z (insert name)
 - b) How does your firm currently manage the relationships between:
 - I. Your company (insert name) and company Y (insert name)
 - II. Your company (insert name) and company Z (insert name)
 - III. company Y (insert name) and company Z (insert name)
 - c) Has this relationship -in your view- changed over time? Why or Why not?
 - d) What are the key challenges in your relationship with company Y (insert name) and company Z (insert name)?
 - e) In your own view, what is your company's influence (if any) on the relationship between your firm Y (insert name) and firm Z (insert name) and vice versa?
- 2) Theme: Competitive advantage
 - a) How do you select your suppliers on projects? What are your criteria for selection?
 - b) How similar or different are the capabilities (unique strength) of company Y (insert name) and Z (insert name)?
 - c) How do these capabilities contribute to your firm performance?
 - d) In your view, what are the benefits of collaborating and sharing information with company Y (insert name) and Z (insert name)?
 - e) What are the key challenges in collaborating and sharing information with company Y (insert name) and Z (insert name)?
- 3) Theme: Technology Tool and Interactions
 - a) How does your company interact with:
 - I. Firm Y (insert name) employees
 - II. Firm Z (insert name) employees
 - b) Which is preferred? Which technology tools do you currently use to interact with them (emails, spreadsheets, meetings or visits)?
- 4) Theme: Use of social media
 - a. Which social media platform do you use and why?
 - b. How often does your firm use social media in its activities?
 - c. Is social media use limited to a limited amount of staff or do all the staff use social media
 - d. Can you mention specific social media tools and if their use differs? Can you explain that in more detail?
 - e. What factors, in your view, contributes/determines the use of social media? Is there any extent to which the use of social media in our personal lives affects business use?
 - f. To what extent does your firm apply social media in interacting with company Y (insert name) and Z (insert name) staff?
 - g. What are the benefits, if any, for using social media in facilitating better relationships and sharing of information? What are the challenges of using social media?
 - h. Based on your experience, how has social media used influenced the relationships between your firm and other supply chain members (company Y and Z)?

Appendix A 4.2: Interview questions for suppliers

- 1) Theme: Supply Chain Relationship/ Relationship Management
- a. How would you describe the relationship history between:
 - I. Your company (insert name) and company X (insert name)
 - II. Your company (insert name) and company Z (insert name)
 - III. Company X (insert name) and company Z (insert name)
 - a. How does your firm currently manage the relationships between:
 - I. Your company (insert name) and company X (insert name)
 - II. Your company and company Z (insert name)
 - III. Company X (insert name) and company Z (insert name)
 - Has this relationship -in your view- changed over time? Why or Why not?
 - c. What are the key challenges in your relationship with company X (insert name) and company Z (insert name)?
 - d. In your own view, what is your company's influence (if any) on the relationship between your firm X (insert name) and firm Z (insert name) and vice versa?
- 2) Theme: Competitive advantage

b.

- a. How do you select your projects? What are your criteria for selection?
 - e. How similar or different are the capabilities (unique strength) of company X (insert name) and Z (insert name)?
 - f. How do these capabilities contribute to your firm performance?
 - g. In your view, what are the benefits of collaborating and sharing information with company X (insert name) and Z (insert name)?
 - *h.* What are the key challenges in collaborating and sharing information with company X (insert name) and Z (insert name)?
- 3) Theme: Technology Tool and Interactions
- a. How does your company interact with:
 - I. Firm X (insert name) employees
 - II. Firm Z (insert name) employees

b. Which is preferred? Which technology tools do you currently use to interact with them (emails, spreadsheets, meetings or visits)?

- 4) Theme: Use of social media
 - a) Which social media platform do you use and why?
 - b) How often does your firm use social media in its activities?
 - c) Is social media use limited to a limited amount of staff or do all the staff use social media
 - d) Can you mention specific social media tools and if their use differs? Can you explain that in more detail?
 - e) What factors, in your view, contributes/determines the use of social media? Is there any extent to which the use of Social Media in our personal lives affects business use?
 - f) To what extent does your firm apply social media in interacting with company Y (insert name) and Z (insert name) staff?
 - g) What are the benefits, if any, for using social media in facilitating better relationships and sharing of information? What are the challenges of using Social Media?
 - h) Based on your experience, how has social media used influenced the relationships between your firm and other supply chain members (company X and Z)?

Appendix A 4.3: Cover/Request letter

Leeds University Business School Maurice Keyworth Building University of Leeds Leeds LS2 9JT

21/10/16

Dear Sir/Madam,

Reference: Request to Participate in Research into the Use of Social Media in Supply Chains by Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs).

I obtained your business details from Dr Alistair Norman who is my academic supervisor. I am a PhD student at Leeds University Business School, in the Management division. My research, entitled "*The use of social media in supply chains by SMEs*," seeks to better understand the use of social media by SMEs from a supply chain context. The research also fulfils and is in line with the University of Leeds' contribution towards government's efforts to assist SMEs in improving their competitive advantage and business relationships. As such, information from this study might help UK SMEs to better understand and improve their competitive edge through collaborative relationships and information sharing.

You are kindly requested to grant an interview for approximately 30- 45 minutes or less. The interview appointment if granted is scheduled to meet the availability and convenience of the participant. The research timeframe requires that the interview is completed by the end of April 2016. Please find attached:

- 1. Information sheet on the research project
- 2. A consent letter.
- 3. An interview guide
- 4. A letter of introduction/recommendation (sample)

We are confident that your participation will provide a rare opportunity to gain valuable insight into the current research topic. We only request that participants should have at least one or more SMEs in their supply chain and as this is a three-way study, it is important that we are able to contact three businesses involved in business-to-business or supply chain relationships. Please be assured that all responses provided will be treated with the utmost confidence and according to the Data Protection Act requirements. Interviews will be audio recorded with the participant's permission. Results arising from the data collection will be anonymized, and a summary of key findings can be made available if desired. Please note that your participation is valuable even if your company does not use social media. You are of course, entirely free to discontinue your participation at any time prior to, or during the interview.

We would appreciate if you could indicate your consent to participate in the study by contacting me with the details below. Should you have any questions regarding the project, please do not hesitate to contact me. I look forward to exploring the opportunities this project provides, and I hope to have the pleasure of an interview. Thank you for taking the time to read this request.

Yours sincerely,

Esere Ovie Project coordinator Email: <u>bneo@leeds.ac.uk</u> Mobile: +234 (0) 7494794875

Project advisors

Dr Nicola Shaw- Senior Lecturer in Operations Management (<u>nes@lubs.leeds.ac.uk</u>) Dr Alistair Norman – Senior Lecturer in Information management and Director of Adaptation Information Management and Technology (AIMTech) Research (<u>an@lubs.leeds.ac.uk</u>)

Appendix A 4.4: Research information sheet

Dear Sir/Madam

Research title: The Use of Social Media in Supply Chain by small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs).

You are being invited to take part in a research project. To aid your decision whether to participate, please find below a briefing on the research project. Kindly take time to read carefully and to ask questions where you require clarification. You can also contact us if you would like more information. Thanks.

Purpose of the Project

This study explores the use of social media in supply chains by SMEs. Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) remain an important issue at the heart of the economic and social development of nations. This is due to the contributions (such as revenue, and employment) made by SMEs to ensure the competitiveness, growth and financial performance of their supply chains and nation. Given these and other benefits (or challenges) that SMEs face from the use of social media, scholars have exerted efforts into exploring the exploitation of social media by businesses. Whilst the use of social media in businesses has focused largely on marketing, little is known about this phenomenon from a supply chain context. The study, in particular, seeks to address how the use of social media SMEs affect relationships with and between their supply chain members. Using multiple cases, data from semi-structured interviews with a total of eighteen (n=18) businesses based in UK and Nigeria is analyzed. A total of six (n=6) cases are conducted focusing on businesses in a triadic (three-way) relationships, with a least one SME in their supply chain. The participating firms would be in the manufacturing (food), high technology (IT) and low technology (fashion) industries.

Why have I been chosen?

For this study, we require 18 firms in the UK and Nigeria. As this is a triadic (three-dimensional) study, participants have been purposefully selected to involve firms with at least one SME (businesses having between 0-249 employees) in their supply chains.

Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide whether or not to take part. If you do decide to take part you will be given this information sheet to keep and be asked to sign a consent form. You can still withdraw at any time without it affecting any benefits that you are entitled to in any way, and you do not have to give a reason.

What will happen to me if I take part?

You will be one of 18 participants in the study and will be interviewed for approximately 30-40 minutes. The interview will be audio recorded. The questions will be regarding how social media use by SMEs affects relationships with and between supply chain members. The Interview questions are open-ended in nature.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

The research addresses important gaps in supply chain management, information management, relationship management and SME literature regarding queries on how the use of social media by SMEs affects relationships with and between supply chain members in the UK, and separately in Nigeria. This

project will address significant gaps in extant scholarly information on the use of social media and SMEs and delivers important recommendations for managers and public policy-makers.

Confidentiality

The information collected from you during the course of the research will be kept strictly confidential as required by law. Neither you nor your firm or partner firms will be able to be identified in any reports or publications. The information collected can be used in other publications pending further consent. If additional consent is not obtained before the conclusion of the project to keep the pseudonymised records, then they will be destroyed

What happens to the results of the research project?

Should the results of the research be published in conferences and/or scientific journals, be reassured that your identity will not be disclosed in any report or publication.

Who is organizing and funding the research?

The research is being conducted by the Leeds University Business School and is guided by its protocols for confidentiality.

Please contact for further Information:

PhD Researcher Esere Ovie Leeds University Business School University of Leeds Email: bneo@leeds.ac.uk Mobile phone: 07494794875 Doctoral Supervisor Dr Nicky Shaw Leeds University Business School University of Leeds Email: <u>N.E.Shaw@lubs.leeds.ac.uk</u> Telephone: +44 (0) 113 3436848

Doctoral Supervisor Dr Alistair Norman Leeds University Business School University of Leeds Email: <u>an@lubs.leeds.ac.uk</u> Telephone: +44 (0)113 3437818

What do you do next?

Please proceed to sign the informed consent form should you choose to take part in the research. Thank you for taking the time to read through this information sheet.

Appendix A 4.5: Consent forms

Please initial the box if you agree with the statement to the left			
1.	I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet/ letter explaining the above research project and I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the project.		
2.	I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason and without there being any negative consequences. In addition, should I not wish to answer any particular question or questions, I am free to decline.		
3.	I understand that I will not be able to withdraw information after data analysis has been concluded and write-up has begun.		
4.	I understand that my responses will be kept strictly confidential. I give permission for members of the research team to have access to my anonymised responses. I understand that my name will not be linked with the research materials, and I will not be identified or identifiable in the report or reports that result from the research. Data obtained will be pseudonymised, and if additional consent is not obtained before the conclusion of the research to keep the pseudonymised records, then the data will be destroyed. Interviews may be audio recorded subject to permission from the participant.		
5.	I agree with the data collected from me to be used in relevant future research in an anonymised form.		
6.	I agree to take part in the above research project and will inform the lead researcher should my contact details change.		

Participant's signature	.Date
Researcher's name	
Researcher's signature	.Date

Appendix A 4.6: Additional Information

INTERVIEW GUIDE INTO THE USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA IN SUPPLY CHAINS BY SMES

Esere Ovie (Project Coordinator) Dr Nicky Shaw (Research supervisor) Dr Alistair Norman (Research supervisor) Technology and Innovation Group (TIGr), Adaptation Information Management and Technology (AIM),

Leeds Business School, Woodhouse Lane, Leeds, LS2 9JT

Interview Themes

The interview is based on the following themes representing the key topics underlying the key areas of interest in the research.

Supply chain relationships: Explores the three-way relationship between firms of a supply chain, how they are developed, the perceived advantages and disadvantages.

Relationship Management Explores the management of these relationships closely, the technology and tools used, the perceived relevance of interaction, collaboration and information sharing or otherwise.

Competitive advantage: Explores the firm's push to compete and the contributing environmental factors.

Environment: Examine the nature of the environment, culture and competitiveness **Social media usage:** Explore the firm's use of social media, the likely effects on relationships between supply chain members.

The Dimension of enquiry

The enquiry list below will interrogate each of the themes above:

Current use/view of the theme: Understand the firm's present status with regards to the themes plus motivation for activities and its impact.

Benefits of the theme: Understand the impact of the themes on relationships and competitive advantage. Assess the importance of each party's contributions.

Challenges of the theme: Ascertain the push for these themes as well as challenges encountered.

Future intents

Triadic impact of the theme

Appendix A 4.7 Evolving templates

A priori themes

Chains of Inference	Themes	Authors / Articles
1. Supply Chain Relationship	a. Trust, dependency, Power and Control.	HBR (1998); Hsiao et al (2002); Sundtoft Hald et al (2009); Sahay (2003); Grandori and Soda (1995); Adamides et al (2008): Choi and Wu (2009), Benton and Maloni (2005); Hsiao et al (2002); Sundtoft Hald et al (2009); Li and Choi (2009); Williamson (2008): Adamides et al (2008); Wilding and Humphires (2006); Methusamy and White (2006); Choi and Krause (2006); Cox (2004); Wu and Choi (2005: 2009); Humphires and Wilding (2003); Grandori and Soda (1995); Harland et al (2004); Knight and Harland (2005): Skipper et al (2008); Grifin et al (2006); Maloni and Benton (1999): Frazier (1983): Lusch and Brown (1996): Moorman et al (1993): Mrogan and Hunt (1994): Cook (1997): Barney and Hansen (1994): Brenkert (1998): Mentzer et al (2000): Porter and Donthu (2008); Porter (1985): Cravens et al (1996): Wu et al (2004)
	b. The orientation of buyer- supplier relationship	Wu and Choi (2005): Stevens (1989): Dubois and Frediksson (2008): Berry et al. (2009): Akintoye et al. (2000): Bresen (2000)
	c. The orientation of supplier- supplier relationships	Choi and Wu (2009), Wu and Choi (2005), Dubois and Fredriksson (2008) & Obstfeld (2005); Li and Choi (2009) Wu and Choi (2005): Loforte (1991): Caplow (1959): Caplow (1968): Madhavan et al (2004): Mills (1954): Simmel (1950): Wuyts et al (2004): Walker et al (2005): Loforte (1991) : Lazzarini et al (2001): Lazzarini et al (2008)
	d. B2B interaction (formal and interpersonal)	Davis (1963): Lassar et al (1995): Gligor and Autry (2012); Chua et al (2009); Hsiao et al (2002); Goffin et al (2006): Chua et al (2009): Beck et al (2005): Castleman (2004): Zheng et al (2004): Heider (1958): Denzin (1989): Emmitt (2009); Lassar and Zinn (1995): Wilson et al (2009)
2. Exchange/ Transaction	a. Transactional exchange	Forrester 1958: Cook (1997): Danity et al 2001; Hingley 2001; Choi and Krause (2006); Samaddar et al (2006); Jammernegg and Kischka (2005); Harlan et al (2004); De Toni and Nassimbeni (1995); Grandori and Soda (1995); Ireland et al (2002); Garcia-Canal, et al (2003): Gravovetter (1995): Weber (1964): Williamson (1985): Williamson (1993): Gundlach et al (1995): Hoyt and Huq (2000)
	b. Contracting (Elusive and Inclusive)	Lambert et al (1996); Hsiao et al (2002): Somerby (1988): Ellram (1990): Lusch and Brown (1996): Spekman (1998): Rossetti and Choi (2005): Rossetti and Choi (2008): ACA (1999): Alderman and Ivory (2007): Cheng et al (2004): Cheng et al (2005): Cheng et al (2006a): Cheng et al (2006b): Green (1999): MacNeil (2000): Manley and Hampson (2000)
3. Competition and Competitive Advantage	a. Use of Relationship Management	Mentzel (1993): Berry (1983); Cox (2000): Cox (2004): Cheng et al (2004): Cheng et al (2005): Cheng et al (2006a): Cheng et al (2006b): Cheng et al (2007): Cox and Ireland (2002): Cox et al (2005): Gronroos (1996) : Gronroos (2002); Gronroos (2007): Gummesson (2001): Kale and Arditi (2001); Larson (1997): Sheth (1994): Day (2000): McDermott and Chan (1996)
	 b. Use of Resources, Capabilities and strategies to reduce uncertainties and risk. 	Ross (1998): Barney (1991), Ayers (1999): Cheng et al (2009): Imai (1986): Dolber et al (1998): Weiber and Kollmann (1998): Stalk (1988): Ayers (1999): Barney (1991): Croom (2001): Fox (1998); Loan- Clarke et al (2000): New and Mitropoulos (1995):
	c. Management of IT (innovativeness) and control	Obstfeld (2005): Powell and Dent-Micallef (1997): Bruns and Stalker (1994): Jassawall and Sashittal (1998): Khalfan and McDermott (2006): Walton (1985): Winch (2000): Alpar and Blaschke (2008): Mendonca and Sutton (2008): Prahalad and Krishnan (2008): Chesbrough (2003): Chesbrough (2006): Hippel (2005): Lambe and Spekman (1997): Weiber and Kollmann (1998): Rogers (2003): Strang and Soule (1998)
	d. Information Sharing or Information asymmetry	Mentzer et al (2001); Chua et al (2009); Johnsen et al (2000); Kemppainen and Vepsalainen (2003); Harland et al (2004); Harland et al (2001); Copper and Ellram (1990 & 1993): Lee et al (1997); Stank et al (2001); Naslud and Williamson 2010); Maloni and Benton (1999): Lee et al (2007): Urbany et al (1989) : Gruhl et al (2004): Nowell and Kelinberg (2008): Ayers (1999): Nelder and Skandalakis (1999): Guo (2006): Hayek (1945)
4. Social media Use	a. Internet Infrastructure	Chua et al. (2010); Premkumar and Roberts (1999): Golicic et al. (2002): Berry (2009): Greemstein and Feinman (2000): Hamill (1997)
	 b. Appropriateness of social media 	Matsura, (1991): Akintoye et al. (2000): Khazanchi (2005): Dais and Meyer (1998); Greemstein and Feinman (2000): Hoffman et al. (1995): Leskovec and Horvitz (2007): Ashcroft (2010a): Ashcroft (2010b):
	c. Overlapping and Evolving use of SM	HBR Analytic services report (2010); Petkovska-Mircevska and Markova (2013); Chua et al (2010);Rayport and Sviokla (1995): Chung and Kim (2008): Huberman et al (2005): Java (2007): Kempe et al (2003): Newman and Park (2003): Zhao and Rosson (2009): Rajagopal (2008)
5. Environment	a. Orientation between buyer- supplier relationship	Wu and Choi (2005): Stevens (1989): Dubois and Frediksson (2008): Berry et al. (2009): Akintoye et al. (2000): Bresen (2000)
	b. Differences in Market	Forrester (1958): Burt (1992): Briggs (1998), Lambert et al (1996); Harland (1996): Lambert et al (1996), Premkumar and Roberts (1999): Boso et al (2013): Ching and Ellis (2004): Chong (2006): Galloway and Mochrie (2005): Williamson (1975): Forrester (1958): Cravens et al (1996): Sanchez (1993): King et al (2010)
	c. Business Size/ supplier /buyer Power/ Risk	Porter (1985): Cravens et al (1996): Hingley (2001): Boso et al (2013); Burke (2005); Levenburg (2005): Premkumar and Roberts (1999); Burke (2005): Fillis et al (2004); Martin and Matlay (2003); Goffin et al (2006)
Initial template 1

Chains of Reference	Themes	Authors/Articles
1. Competition and Competitive Advantage	a. Use of Relationship Management	Mentzel (1993): Berry (1983); Cox (2000): Cox (2004): Cheng et al (2004): Cheng et al (2005): Cheng et al (2006a): Cheng et al (2006b): Cheng et al (2006b): Cheng et al (2007): Cox and Ireland (2002): Cox et al (2005): Gronroos (1996) : Gronroos (2002); Gronroos (2007): Gummesson (2001): Kale and Arditi (2001); Larson (1997): Sheth (1995): Day (2000): McDermott and Chan (1996)
	b. Use of Resources, Capabilities, and strategies to reduce uncertainties and risk.	Ross (1998): Barney (1991), Ayers (1999): Cheng et al (2009): Imai (1986): Dolber et al (1998): Weiber and Kollmann (1998): Stalk (1988): Ayers (1999): Barney (1991): Croom (2001): Fox (1998); Loan- Clarke et al (2000): New and Mitropoulos (1995):
	c. Management of IT (innovativeness) and control	Obstfeld (2005): Powell and Dent-Micallef (1997): Bruns and Stalker (1994): Jassawall and Sashittal (1998): Khalfan and McDermott (2006): Walton (1985): Winch (2000): Mendonca and Sutton (2008): Prahalad and Krishnan (2008): Chesbrough (2003): Chesbrough (2006): Hippel (2005): Lambe and Spekman (1997): Weiber and Kollmann (1998): Rogers (2003): Strang and Soule (1998)
	d. Information Sharing or Information Misuse	Mentzer et al (2001); Chua et al (2009); Johnsen et al (2000); Kemppainen and Vepsalainen (2003); Harland et al (2004); Harland et al (2001); Copper and Ellram (1990 & 1993): Lee et al (1997); Stank et al (2001); Naslud and Williamson 2010); Maloni and Benton (2000): Lee et al (2007): Urbany et al (1989) : Gruhl et al (2004): Nowell and Kelinberg (2008): Ayers (1999): Nelder and Skandalakis (1999): Guo (2006): Hayek (1945)
2. Social Media	a. Internet Infrastructure	Chua et al. (2010); Premkumar and Roberts (1999): Golicic et al. (2002): Berry et al. (2009): Greemstein and Feinman (2000): Hamill (1997)
Use	b. Appropriateness of social	Matsura, (1991): Akintoye et al. (2000): Khazanchi (2005): Dais and Meyer (1998); Greemstein and Feinman (2000): Hoffman et al. (1995): Leskovec
	c. Overlapping and Evolving	HBR Analytic services report (2010): Petkovska-Mircevska and Markova (2013): Chua et al (2010): Rayport and Sviokla (1995): Chung and Kim (2008):
	use of SM	Huberman et al (2005): Java (2007): Kempe et al (2003): Newman and Park (2003): Zhao and Rosson (2009): Rajagopal (2008)
3. Environment	a. Orientation between buyer- supplier relationship	Wu and Choi (2005): Stevens (1989): Dubois and Frediksson (2008): Berry et al. (2009): Akintoye et al. (2000): Bresen (2000)
	b. Differences in Market	Forrester (1958): Burt (1992): Briggs (1998), Lambert et al (1996); Harland (1996): Lambert et al (1996), Premkumar and Roberts (1999): Boso et al (2013): Ching and Ellis (2004): Chong (2006): Galloway and Mochrie (2005): Williamson (1975): Forrester (1958): Cravens et al (1996): Sanchez (1993): King et al (2010)
	c. Business Size/ supplier/buyer Power/ Risk	Porter (1985): Cravens et al (1996): Hingley (2001): Boso et al (2013); Burke (2005); Levenburg (2005): Premkumar and Roberts (1999); Burke (2005): Fillis et al (2004); Martin and Matlay (2003); Goffin et al (2006)
4. Competition and Competitive Advantage	a. Use of Relationship Management	Mentzel (1993): Berry (1983); Cox (2000): Cox (2004): Cheng et al (2004): Cheng et al (2005): Cheng et al (2006a): Cheng et al (2006b): Cheng et al (2007): Cox and Ireland (2002): Cox et al (2005): Gronroos (1996) : Gronroos (2002); Gronroos (2007): Gummesson (2001): Kale and Arditi (2001); Larson (1997): Sheth (1995): Day (2000): McDermott and Chan (1996)
	b. Use of Resources, Capabilities, and strategies to reduce uncertainties and risk.	Ross (1998): Barney (1991), Ayers (1999): Cheng et al (2009): Imai (1986): Dolber et al (1998): Weiber and Kollmann (1998): Stalk (1988): Ayers (1999): Barney (1991): Croom (2001): Fox (1998); Loan- Clarke et al (2000): New and Mitropoulos (1995):
	c. Management of IT (innovativeness) and control	Obstfeld (2005): Powell and Dent-Micallef (1997): Bruns and Stalker (1994): Jassawall and Sashittal (1998): Khalfan and McDermott (2006): Walton (1985): Winch (2000): Mendonca and Sutton (2008): Prahalad and Krishnan (2008): Chesbrough (2003): Chesbrough (2006): Hippel (2005): Lambe and Spekman (1997): Weiber and Kollmann (1998): Rogers (2003): Strang and Soule (1998)
	d. Information Sharing or Information Misuse	Mentzer et al (2001); Chua et al (2009); Johnsen et al (2000); Kemppainen and Vepsalainen (2003); Harland et al (2004); Harland et al (2001); Copper and Ellram (1990 & 1993): Lee et al (1997); Stank et al (2001); Naslud and Williamson 2010); Maloni and Benton (2000): Lee et al (2007): Urbany et al (1989) : Gruhl et al (2004): Nowell and Kelinberg (2008): Ayers (1999): Nelder and Skandalakis (1999): Guo (2006): Hayek (1945)
5. Social media	a. Internet Infrastructure	Chua et al. (2010); Premkumar and Roberts (1999): Golicic et al. (2002): Berry et al. (2009): Greemstein and Feinman (2000): Hamill (1997)
use	b. Appropriateness of social	Matsura, (1991): Akintoye et al. (2000): Khazanchi (2005): Dais and Meyer (1998); Greemstein and Feinman (2000): Hoffman et al. (1995): Leskovec
	media	and Horvitz (2007): Ashcroft (2010a):
	c. Overlapping and Evolving use of SM	HBK Analytic services report (2010); Petkovska-Mircevska and Markova (2013); Chua et al (2010); Rayport and Sviokla (1995): Chung and Kim (2008): Huberman et al (2005): Java (2007): Kempe et al (2003): Newman and Park (2003): Zhao and Rosson (2009): Rajagonal (2008)

Template 2

Themes	Subthemes	Authors
1. Supply Chain Relationship	a. Trust, Power - Dependence, and Control	HBR (1998); Hsiao et al (2002); Sundtoft Hald et al (2009); Sahay (2003); Grandori and Soda (1995); Adamides et al (2008): Choi and Wu (2009), Benton and Maloni (2005); Hsiao et al (2002); Sundtoft Hald et al (2009); Li and Choi (2009); Williamson (2008): Adamides et al (2008); Wilding and Humphires (2006); Methusamy and White (2006); Choi and Krause (2006); Cox (2004); Wu and Choi (2005: 2009); Humphires and Wilding (2003); Grandori and Soda (1995); Harland et al (2004); Knight and Harland (2005): Skipper et al (2008); Goffin et al (2006); Maloni and Benton (1999): Frazier (1983): Lusch and Brown (1996): Moorman et al (1993): Mrogan and Hunt (1994): Cook (1997): Barney and Hansen (1994): Brenkert (1998): Mentzer et al (2000): Porter and Donthu (2008); Porter (1985): Cravens et al (1996): Wu et al (2004)
	b. Triadic relationships (the impact of vertical and horizontal ties between buyer- supplier and supplier- supplier)	Choi and Wu (2009), Wu and Choi (2005), Dubois and Fredriksson (2008) & Obstfeld (2005); Li and Choi (2009) Wu and Choi (2005): Loforte (1991): Caplow (1959): Caplow (1968): Madhavan et al (2004): Mills (1954): Simmel (1950): Wuyts et al (2004): Walker et al (2005): Loforte (1991) : Lazzarini et al (2001): Lazzarini et al (2008)
	c. Interaction (formal and interpersonal) and communication	Davis (1963): Lassar et al (1995): Gligor and Autry (2012); Chua et al (2009); Hsiao et al (2002); Goffin et al (2006): Chua et al (2009): Beck et al (2005): Castleman (2004): Zheng et al (2004): Heider (1958): Denzin (1989): Emmitt (2009); Lassar and Zinn (1995): Wilson et al (2009)
2. Exchanges	a. Transactional exchange	Forrester 1958: Cook (1997): Danity et al 2001; Hingley 2001; Choi and Krause (2006); Samaddar et al (2006); Jammernegg and Kischka (2005); Harlan et al (2004); De toni and Nassimbeni (1995); Grandori and Soda (1995); Ireland et al (2002); Garcia-Canal, et al (2003): Gravovetter (1995): Weber (1964): Williamson (1971): Williamson (1985): Williamson (1993): Gundlach et al (1995): Hoyt and Huq (2000)
	b. Information Sharing and Overload	Mentzer et al (2001); Chua et al (2009); Johnsen et al (2000); Kemppainen and Vepsalainen (2003); Harland et al (2004); Harland et al (2001); Copper and Ellram (1990 & 1993): Lee et al (1997); Stank et al (2001); Naslud and Williamson 2010); Maloni and Benton (1999): Lee et al (2007): Urbany et al (1989) : Gruhl et al (2004): Nowell and Kelinberg (2008): Ayers (1999): Nelder and Skandalakis (1999): Guo (2006): Hayek (1945); Cheng et al 2001
	c. Contracting (Elusive and Inclusive)	Lambert et al (1996); Hsiao et al (2002): Somerby (1988): Ellram (1990): Lusch and Brown (1996): Spekman (1998): Rossetti and Choi (2005): Rossetti and Choi (2008): ACA (1999): Alderman and Ivory (2007): Cheng et al (2004): Cheng et al (2005): Cheng et al (2006a): Cheng et al (2006b): Green (1999): MacNeil (2000): Manley and Hampson (2000): Williamson (1998)
3. Competitive Advantage	a. Use of Relationship Management	Mentzel (1993): Berry (1983); Cox (2000): Cox (2004): Cheng et al (2004): Cheng et al (2005): Cheng et al (2006a): Cheng et al (2006b): Cheng et al (2007b): Cox and Ireland (2002): Cox et al (2005): Gronroos (1996) : Gronroos (2002); Gronroos (2007): Gummesson (2001): Kale and Arditi (2001); Larson (1997): Sheth (1994): Day (2000): McDermott and Chan (1996): Hingley (2001)
	b. Use of Resources, Capabilities and strategies to reduce uncertainties and risk.	Ross (1998): Barney (1991), Ayers (1999): Cheng et al (2009): Imai (1986): Dolber et al (1998): Weiber and Kollmann (1998): Stalk (1988): Ayers (1999): Barney (1991): Croom (2001): Fox (1998); Loan- Clarke et al (2000): New and Mitropoulos (1995): Koops et al (2002)
	c. Management of IT (innovativeness) and control	Obstfeld (2005): Powell and Dent-Micallef (1997): Bruns and Stalker (1994): Jassawall and Sashittal (1998): Khalfan and McDermott (2006): Walton (1985): Winch (2000): Alpar and Blaschke (2008): Mendonca and Sutton (2008): Prahalad and Krishnan (2008): Chesbrough (2003): Chesbrough (2006): Hippel (2005): Lambe and Spekman (1997): Weiber and Kollmann (1998): Rogers (2003): Strang and Soule (1998): Lazzarini et al (2008)
4. Information Technology Use	a. Technological Infrastructure (connectivity)	Chua et al. (2010); Premkumar and Roberts (1999):Golicic et al. (2002): Berry (2009): Greemstein and Feinman (2000): Hamill (1997): Chua et al. (2012);
	b. Appropriateness of technology- (Speed)	Matsura, (1991): Akintoye et al. (2000): Khazanchi (2005): Dais and Meyer (1998); Greemstein and Feinman (2000): Hoffman et al. (1995): Leskovec and Horvitz (2007): Ashcroft (2010a): Ashcroft (2010b): Khazanchi (2005
	c. Overlapping and Evolving use of SM	HBR Analytic services report (2010); Petkovska-Mircevska and Markova (2013); Chua et al (2010);Rayport and Sviokla (1995): Chung and Kim (2008): Huberman et al (2005): Java (2007): Kempe et al (2003): Newman and Park (2003): Zhao and Rosson (2009): Rajagopal (2008)
5. Environment	a. Competition and Collaboration	Wu and Choi (2005): Stevens (1989): Dubois and Frediksson (2008): Berry et al. (2009): Akintoye et al. (2000): Bresen (2000): Berry et al. (2009)
	b. Differences in Market Structures	Forrester (1958): Burt (1992): Briggs (1998), Lambert et al (1996); Harland (1996): Lambert et al (1996), Premkumar and Roberts (1999): Boso et al (2013): Ching and Ellis (2004): Chong (2006): Galloway and Mochrie (2005): Williamson (1975): Forrester (1958): Cravens et al (1996): Sanchez (1993): King et al (2010): Poole et al (1998)
	c. Business Size/ supplier/buyer	Porter (1985): Cravens et al (1996): Hingley (2001): Boso et al (2013); Burke (2005); Levenburg (2005): Premkumar and Roberts (1999); Burke (2005): Fillis et al (2004): Martin and Matlay (2003): Goffin et al (2006): Hingley (2001)

Template 3

Themes	Subthemes	Authors
1. Supply Chain Relationship	a. Trust,	HBR (1998); Hsiao et al (2002); Sundtoft Hald et al (2009); Sahay (2003); Grandori and Soda (1995); Adamides et al (2008): Choi and Wu (2009), Benton and Maloni (2005); Hsiao et al (2002); Sundtoft Hald et al (2009); Li and Choi (2009); Williamson (2008): Adamides et al (2008); Wilding and Humphires (2006); Methusamy and White (2006); Choi and Krause (2006); Cox (2004); Wu and Choi (2005: 2009); Humphires and Wilding (2003); Grandori and Soda (1995); Harland et al (2004); Knight and Harland (2005): Skipper et al (2008); Goffin et al (2006); Maloni and Benton (1999): Frazier (1983): Lusch and Brown (1996): Moorman et al (1993): Mrogan and Hunt (1994): Cook (1997): Barney and Hansen (1994): Brenkert (1998): Mentzer et al (2000): Porter and Donthu (2008); Porter (1985): Cravens et al (1996): Wu et al (2004) Choi and Wu (2000). Wu and Choi (2005): Leforte (1001):
	b. Orientation of relationships	Caplow (1959): Caplow (1968): Madhavan et al (2004): Mills (1954): Simmel (1950): Wuyts et al (2004): Walker et al (2005): Loforte (1991): Lazzarini et al (2001): Lazzarini et al (2008)
	c. Power and influence	Davis (1963): Lassar et al (1995): Gligor and Autry (2012); Chua et al (2009); Hsiao et al (2002); Goffin et al (2006): Chua et al (2009): Beck et al (2005): Castleman (2004): Zheng et al (2004): Heider (1958): Denzin (1989): Emmitt (2009); Lassar and Zinn (1995): Wilson et al (2009)
2. Exchanges	a. Transactional exchange	Forrester 1958: Cook (1997): Danity et al 2001; Hingley 2001; Choi and Krause (2006); Samaddar et al (2006); Jammernegg and Kischka (2005); Harlan et al (2004); De toni and Nassimbeni (1995); Grandori and Soda (1995); Ireland et al (2002); Garcia-Canal, et al (2003): Gravovetter (1995): Weber (1964): Williamson (1971): Williamson (1985): Williamson (1993): Gundlach et al (1995): Hoyt and Huq (2000)
	b. Information Sharing and hoarding	Mentzer et al (2001); Chua et al (2009); Johnsen et al (2000); Kemppainen and Vepsalainen (2003); Harland et al (2004); Harland et al (2001); Copper and Ellram (1990 & 1993): Lee et al (1997); Stank et al (2001); Naslud and Williamson 2010); Maloni and Benton (1999): Lee et al (2007): Urbany et al (1989): Gruhl et al (2004): Nowell and Kelinberg (2008): Ayers (1999): Nelder and Skandalakis (1999): Guo (2006): Hayek (1945); Cheng et al 2001
	c. Contracting (Elusive and Inclusive)	Lambert et al (1996); Hsiao et al (2002): Somerby (1988): Ellram (1990): Lusch and Brown (1996): Spekman (1998): Rossetti and Choi (2005): Rossetti and Choi (2008): ACA (1999): Alderman and Ivory (2007): Cheng et al (2004): Cheng et al (2005): Cheng et al (2006a): Cheng et al (2006b): Green (1999): MacNeil (2000): Manley and Hampson (2000): Williamson (1998)
3. Competitive Advantage	a. Use of Relationship Management formal and informal	Mentzel (1993): Berry (1983); Cox (2000): Cox (2004): Cheng et al (2004): Cheng et al (2005): Cheng et al (2006a): Cheng et al (2006b): Cheng et al (2007): Cox and Ireland (2002): Cox et al (2005): Gronroos (1996): Gronroos (2002); Gronroos (2007): Gummesson (2001): Kale and Arditi (2001); Larson (1997): Sheth (1994): Day (2000): McDermott and Chan (1996): Hingley (2001)
	b. Use of Resources, Capabilities	Ross (1998): Barney (1991), Ayers (1999): Cheng et al (2009): Imai (1986): Dolber et al (1998): Weiber and Kollmann (1998): Stalk (1988): Ayers (1999): Barney (1991): Croom (2001): Fox (1998); Loan- Clarke et al (2000): New and Mitropoulos (1995): Koops et al (2002)
	c. innovativeness	Obstfeld (2005): Powell and Dent-Micallef (1997): Bruns and Stalker (1994): Jassawall and Sashittal (1998): Khalfan and McDermott (2006): Walton (1985): Winch (2000): Alpar and Blaschke (2008): Mendonca and Sutton (2008): Prahalad and Krishnan (2008): Chesbrough (2003): Chesbrough (2006): Hippel (2005): Lambe and Spekman (1997): Weiber and Kollmann (1998): Rogers (2003): Strang and Soule (1998): Lazzarini et al (2008)
4. SM Use	a. Internet Infrastructure (connectivity)	Chua et al. (2010); Premkumar and Roberts (1999):Golicic et al. (2002): Berry (2009): Greemstein and Feinman (2000): Hamill (1997): Chua et al. (2012);
	b. Perceived usefulness and ease of use	Matsura, (1991): Akintoye et al. (2000): Khazanchi (2005): Dais and Meyer (1998); Greemstein and Feinman (2000): Hoffman et al. (1995): Leskovec and Horvitz (2007): Ashcroft (2010a): Ashcroft (2010b): Khazanchi (2005
	c. Overlapping and Evolving use of SM	HBR Analytic services report (2010); Petkovska-Mircevska and Markova (2013); Chua et al (2010); Rayport and Sviokla (1995): Chung and Kim (2008): Huberman et al (2005): Java (2007): Kempe et al (2003): Newman and Park (2003): Zhao and Rosson (2009): Rajagopal (2008)
5. Environment	a. transactional and Collaboration	Wu and Choi (2005): Stevens (1989): Dubois and Frediksson (2008): Berry et al. (2009): Akintoye et al. (2000): Bresen (2000): Berry et al. (2009)
	b. Structures	Forrester (1958): Burt (1992): Briggs (1998), Lambert et al (1996); Harland (1996): Lambert et al (1996), Premkumar and Roberts (1999): Boso et al (2013): Ching and Ellis (2004): Chong (2006): Galloway and Mochrie (2005): Williamson (1975): Forrester (1958): Cravens et al (1996): Sanchez (1993): King et al (2010): Poole et al (1998)

Themes	Sub-themes
1. Supply Chain	a. Trust,
Relationship	
	b. Power and control
	c. nature of relationships
2.Exchanges	a. Transactional exchange/ purchasing volumes
	b. Information Sharing and/or hoarding (information asymmetry)
3. Competitive Advantage	a. Use of Resources,
4. SM Use	a. internet Infrastructure (connectivity) and security risk
	perceived usefulness and ease of use
	c. Overlapping and Evolving use of SM
5. Environment	a. transactional and Collaboration
	b. Differences in Structures
	c. social influence

Template 5

1. Supply chain relationships				
III.	Nature of relationships			
IV.	Trust			
2. Transac	2. Transactional exchanges			
II.	Power and control			
3. Competitive advantage				
II.	Information sharing			
4, Social media use				
V.	Perceived usefulness			
VI.	Perceived ease of use			
VII.	Poor infrastructure			
VIII.	Security issues			
5. Environment				
III.	Nature of the industry			
IV.	Social factors			
6. SMEs				
IV.	Less formal structures			
V.	Lack of dedicated staff and resources			
VI.	Lack of innovativeness			